Public Document Pack

SOUTH LAKELAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
South Lakeland House, Kendal, Cumbria LA9 4UQ
www.southlakeland.gov.uk

You are requested to attend a virtual meeting of
the Cabinet
on Wednesday, 24 June 2020, at 10.00 a.m.
Please note that this meeting will be conducted remotely and in accordance with Section 78
of the Coronavirus Act 2020. Access details will be provided to Committee Members prior
to the meeting. Members of the public will be able to access a live broadcast of the meeting
here.
For those using an Apple Device to access the meeting, please note that Safari is not
compatible with Microsoft Teams, so you will not be able to watch the meeting using this
web browser. If you wish to watch a virtual meeting on any Apple device (iPad, iPhone or
Mac) you will need to download the Microsoft Teams App from the App Store, then click the
link on the relevant SLDC webpage or Agenda and follow the instructions on screen.
Agendas are divided into two parts, with Part I items being considered in the presence of
the press and public. Part II Items, if any, will be considered in the absence of the press
and public for the reasons indicated on the Agenda and relevant reports.
It should be noted that discussions held in Part I are recorded and that the recordings are
uploaded to the Council’s Website.

Membership
Councillors
Giles Archibald
Robin Ashcroft
Jonathan Brook
Andrew Jarvis
Dyan Jones
Eric Morrell
Suzie Pye

Leader and Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio Holder
Economy, Culture and Leisure Portfolio Holder
Deputy Leader and Housing and Innovation Portfolio Holder
Finance and Resources Portfolio Holder
Climate Emergency and Localism Portfolio Holder
Customer and Commercial Services and People Portfolio Holder
Health, Wellbeing and Financial Resilience Portfolio Holder

Note – Where relevant, agendas for Members are labelled “Private Document Pack” and
contain exempt information within the papers. Any relevant pages are marked as restricted
within Agendas labelled “Public Document Pack”.
Monday, 15 June 2020
Linda Fisher, Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead Specialist (Monitoring Officer)

For all enquiries, please contact Inge Booth, Senior Committee Services Officer.
Telephone:

01539 793190

Email:

committeeservices@southlakeland.gov.uk

AGENDA

Page Nos.
PART I

1

APOLOGIES
To receive apologies for absence, if any.

2

CABINET EXECUTIVE DECISIONS

5 - 18

To authorise the Chairman to sign, as a correct record, the Executive Decisions
made by Cabinet on 20 May 2020.

3

EMERGENCY DELEGATED EXECUTIVE DECISIONS
To receive Emergency Delegated Executive Decisions taken by the Chief
Executive in accordance with the Leader’s decision noted by Cabinet at
CEX/104 (2019/20).

a
4

007 29-05-20 Discretionary Business Grant Fund Scheme

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
To receive declarations by Members of interests in respect of items on this
Agenda.
Members are reminded that, in accordance with the revised Code of Conduct,
they are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or other
registrable interests which have not already been declared in the Council’s
Register of Interests. (It is a criminal offence not to declare a disclosable
pecuniary interest either in the Register or at the meeting.)
Members may, however, also decide, in the interests of clarity and
transparency, to declare at this point in the meeting, any such disclosable
pecuniary interests which they have already declared in the Register, as well as
any other registrable or other interests.
If a Member requires advice on any item involving a possible declaration of
interest which could affect his/her ability to speak and/or vote, he/she is advised
to contact the Monitoring Officer at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting.

5

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS
To consider whether the items, if any, in Part II of the Agenda should be
considered in the presence of the press and public.

6

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
Any member of the public who wishes to ask a question, make representations
or present a deputation or petition at this meeting should apply to do so by no
later than 0:01am (one minute past midnight) two working days before the
meeting. Information on how to make the application can be obtained by
viewing the Council’s Website www.southlakeland.gov.uk or by contacting the
Committee Services Team on 01539 733333.
(1)
Questions and Representations
To receive any questions or representations which have been received
from members of the public.
(2)
Deputations and Petitions
To receive any deputations or petitions which have been received from
members of the public.

19 - 32

7

FORWARD PLAN
To note the contents of the Forward Plan due to be published on 23 June 2020
(document to be circulated prior to the meeting).

8

LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
To receive any announcements from the Leader.

9

APPOINTMENT OF REPRESENTATIVE TO SOUTH LAKES HOUSING
Further to Councillor Rupert Audland’s recent resignation from the Board, to
appoint a representative to South Lakes Housing (to the end of their term on
South Lakeland District Council).

10

REVENUE AND CAPITAL OUTTURN 2019/20

33 - 62

To note the Council’s financial performance for 2019/20 and to approve
movements to and from reserves and the carry forward of budgets to 2020/21.

11

2019/20 ANNUAL TREASURY MANAGEMENT REPORT

63 - 76

To consider the Treasury Management Annual Report 2019/20.

12

LANCASTER AND SOUTH CUMBRIA JOINT COMMITTEE

77 - 90

To consider establishing a Joint Committee with Barrow Borough and Lancaster
City Councils covering all respective administrative areas to promote the
economic, social and environmental wellbeing of the areas.

13

CARBON REDUCTION TARGET AND GREEN TEAM UPDATE

91 - 158

To consider the Council’s Climate Change Policy Action Plan and related
matters.

14

CUSTOMER STRATEGY 2020

159 - 166

To consider a Strategy defining how the Council will redesign its customer
service focus to ensure that digital channels are straightforward and consistent.

15

CUMBRIA CHOICE BASED LETTINGS ALLOCATIONS POLICY REVIEW

167 - 372

To consider the approach for consultation on the draft Cumbria Choice
Allocations Policy.

16

COMMISSIONING STRATEGY 2020

373 - 382

To consider commencement of consultation on the Commissioning Strategy
2020.

17

REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2000 ANNUAL REVIEW
To review the operation of the Council’s surveillance policies and practices
under the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000.

PART II
Private Section (exempt reasons under Schedule 12A of the Local Government
Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information)
(Variation) Order 2006, specified by way of paragraph number)
There are no items in this Part of the Agenda.

383 - 404

This page is intentionally left blank

Item No.2
1
20.05.2020

Cabinet Executive Decisions
EXECUTIVE DECISION NOTICE

CABINET
A record of the decisions made at the meeting of the Cabinet held on
Wednesday, 20 May 2020, at 10.00 a.m.
Present
Councillors
Giles Archibald (Leader and Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio Holder) (Chairman)
Robin Ashcroft
Jonathan Brook
Andrew Jarvis
Dyan Jones
Eric Morrell
Suzie Pye

Economy, Culture and Leisure Portfolio Holder
Deputy Leader and Housing and Innovation Portfolio Holder
Finance and Resources Portfolio Holder
Climate Emergency and Localism Portfolio Holder
Customer and Commercial Services and People Portfolio Holder
Health, Wellbeing and Financial Resilience Portfolio Holder

Also in attendance at the meeting were Shadow Cabinet Members Roger Bingham (Shadow
Cabinet (Economy, Culture and Leisure Portfolio)), Tom Harvey (Shadow Cabinet Leader
(Climate Emergency and Localism Portfolio)), John Holmes (Shadow Cabinet Deputy Leader
(Finance and Resources)), Helen Irving (Shadow Cabinet (Customer and Commercial
Services and People Portfolio)), Janette Jenkinson (Shadow Cabinet (Health, Wellbeing and
Financial Resilience Portfolio)) and Kevin Lancaster (Shadow Cabinet (Housing and
Innovation Portfolio)), and Mark Wilson (Leader of the Labour Group).
An apology for absence was received from Shadow Executive Member James Airey (Shadow
Cabinet (Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio)).

Officers
Inge Booth
Lawrence Conway
Linda Fisher
Julia Krier
Claire Read
Simon Rowley
Helen Smith
David Sykes
John Davies
Sion Thomas

CEX/1

Legal, Governance and Democracy Specialist
Chief Executive
Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead Specialist (Monitoring Officer)
Legal, Governance and Democracy Specialist
Finance Specialist
Director of Customer and Commercial Services
Finance Lead Specialist (Section 151 Officer)
Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources
Case Management Officer
Operational Lead Delivery and Commercial Services

CHAIRMAN'S INTRODUCTION
Following confirmation that the live stream of the meeting had commenced, the Leader
and Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio Holder welcomed everyone to the first virtual
meeting of South Lakeland District Council’s Cabinet, in doing so, thanking all officers
involved in the process for their work on the project.

Page 5

2
20.05.2020

Cabinet Executive Decisions

The Leader referred to the new Government legislation allowing councils to conduct
remote meetings and explained in detail to all taking part, and for the benefit of
members of the public, the procedures for the meeting. He then invited Members of
the Cabinet, the Shadow Cabinet and the Leader of the Labour Group to introduce
themselves, to advise whether they were taking part by video or audio and to confirm
that they were able to see (where practicable) and hear all Members participating in the
meeting. All Members present, including the Leader himself, having indicated that this
was the case, he referred to officers present at the meeting who would introduce
themselves when asked to address the meeting.

CEX/2

CABINET EXECUTIVE DECISIONS
RESOLVED – That the Chairman be authorised to sign, as correct records, the
Executive Decisions made by Cabinet on 18 and 25 March 2020.

CEX/3

DELEGATED EXECUTIVE DECISIONS
RESOLVED – That the Delegated Executive Decisions made by Portfolio Holders
or Officers on 12 March 2020 be received.

CEX/4

EMERGENCY DELEGATED EXECUTIVE DECISIONS
An update having been sought in relation to 004 17-04-20 Kendal Leisure Centre
Temporary Recovery Centre, the Leader and Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio
Holder suggested that this could be addressed by the Chief Executive under Agenda
Item No.9 COVID-19 Emergency Update.
Attention was drawn 001 20-03-20 Business Rate Relief and to a compliment made by
a South Lakeland resident in relation to the excellent manner in which officers had
dealt with the process. The Leader expressed thanks for the comment and
commended officers for their work in this regard.
RESOLVED – That the Emergency Delegated Executive Decisions made by the
Chief Executive on 30 March, 3, 14, 17 and 30 April and 6 May 2020, in
accordance with the Leader’s decision noted by Cabinet at CEX/104 (2019/20), be
received.

CEX/5

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
RESOLVED – That it be noted that Shadow Cabinet Member Councillor
John Holmes declared an interest under Minute No.CEX/130 below.

CEX/6

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS
RESOLVED – That the item in Part II of the Agenda be dealt with following the
exclusion of the press and public.

CEX/7

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
No deputations, petitions or questions had been received in respect of this meeting.

Page 6

3
20.05.2020

CEX/8

Cabinet Executive Decisions

FORWARD PLAN
RESOLVED – That the contents of the Forward Plan published on 21 April 2020
be noted.

CEX/9

COVID-19 EMERGENCY UPDATE
The Leader and Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio Holder addressed Members with
regard to the COVID-19 pandemic. He stressed the fact that this was a major crisis
demanding a great deal of attention. He thanked officers for their excellent response to
the many new challenges, for example dealing with Government funding, housing the
homeless and facilitating virtual meetings. The Leader asked the Chief Executive to
pass on gratitude to the Council’s employees. He further extended thanks to
councillors for their work, for example, within their communities and supporting the
vulnerable. In addition, he thanked the other group leaders for their collaboration,
support and collegiality. The Leader also wished, most importantly to express thanks
to the National Health Service (NHS) and care workers for their fantastic work.
The Leader highlighted the Council’s role which was to support and implement
Government policy, protecting the health of residents and visitors and offering
assistance to businesses. Collaboration was critical, and the Leader referred to the
hard work being carried out together with authorities Cumbria-wide and beyond, district
leaders, parishes and the third sector. He drew particular attention to the Shielding
Programme and expressed appreciation for the work being carried out in this regard by
Cumbria County Council, the Health, Wellbeing and Financial Resilience Portfolio
Holder and officers. The Leader referred to businesses which were suffering and to the
Government grant being administered by the Council, stressing the need for those who
had not already applied to take up the opportunity.
The Leader referred to the Government’s request for town centres to re-open and to
the work required before June in order to prepare public spaces to facilitate social
distancing. The Economy, Culture and Leisure Portfolio Holder would be leading on
this project, as well as on an initiative to help local businesses rebound.
The Leader summarised, highlighting the vital role of local government and thanking
his Cabinet colleagues for their critical role. He pointed out that there was still a lot of
work to be carried out and decisions to be taken. This would not be easy but the
Leader stressed that together, we would get through.
The Leader then invited the Chief Executive to provide an update on the use of Kendal
Leisure Centre as a Temporary Recovery Centre. The Chief Executive explained that
the Centre had been identified as a recovery centre for the provision of additional
medical capacity in response to the COVID-9 emergency, capable of accommodating
between 60 and 70 patients. At the request of the NHS and Morecambe Bay NHS
Foundation Trust, the Leisure Centre continued at this time to be a recovery centre.
The Council was, however, in discussion with the NHS on the implications of the recent
Government Announcement regarding steps of adjustments to current measures and
the potential of re-opening leisure facilities from 4 July.
RESOLVED – That the verbal update be noted.

Page 7

4
20.05.2020

CEX/10

Cabinet Executive Decisions

PRESS AND PUBLIC
RESOLVED – That, under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972,
the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of
business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12 A of the Act as amended by the
Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006 by virtue of the
Paragraphs indicated.
Note – For the benefit of the public viewing the virtual meeting, the Leader and
Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio Holder explained that the open session
would now adjourn and that, once consideration and a decision on Exempt
Agenda Item No.10 was complete, Cabinet would move back into Part I, when the
live stream would recommence. Members disconnected from the Part I live
session and moved into the Part II private session. A roll call was taken, all
Members confirming that they were present, that they were able to see (where
practicable) and hear all Members participating in the meeting and that there was
nobody present in the room with them nor any recording devices nearby.

CEX/11

LEISURE PARTNERING AGREEMENT
- Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any
particular person (including the authority holding that information)
- Paragraph 5 - Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege
could be maintained in legal proceedings.
Summary
The Economy, Culture and Leisure Portfolio Holder presented a report seeking
consideration of amendments to the Leisure Partnering Agreement in response to the
Coronavirus emergency.
The Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead Specialist (Monitoring Officer) drew
attention and explained the need for an amendment to the recommendation at 2.1 (3)
of the report, to read as follows:“2.1 3) subject to approval of the recommendations 2.1 (2) and 2.1 (4) contained in the
public part of this report…” (the public part of the report being Agenda Item No.11
Finance Update – Impact of COVID-19).
The Economy, Culture and Leisure Portfolio Holder, the Chief Executive and the
Operational Lead Commercial and Delivery Services responded to questions raised by
Members.
Members expressed strong support for the proposals.
A vote was taken on the proposals during which all Cabinet Members confirmed that
they had, without interruption, heard the full presentation and discussion on the item.

Page 8

5
20.05.2020

Cabinet Executive Decisions

Decision
RESOLVED - That
(1)
the management fee payment of Quarters 1 and 2 to Greenwich Leisure
Limited (Quarter 2 in advance) be approved, subject to the conditions outlined
within the report;
(2)
the Director Customer and Commercial Services be delegated authority,
in consultation with the Portfolio Holder, the Operational Lead for Delivery and
Commercial Services, the Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead Specialist
and the Finance Lead Specialist:(a)
to work with Council’s Leisure Partner with an open book
approach, ensuring full transparency on the costs and savings to
establish the financial impact on the service and its continued future; and
(b)
subject to the conditions outlined within the report, to authorise
future payments of the 2020/21 management fee to best ensure the reestablishment of service delivery;
(3)
subject to approval of the Recommendations 2.1 (2) and 2.1 (4) contained
in the next item on the Agenda (Finance Update – Impact of COVID-19), and
subject to the conditions outlined within this exempt report, the Director
Customer and Commercial Services be delegated authority, in consultation with
the Portfolio Holder, the Operational Lead for Delivery and Commercial Services,
the Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead Specialist and the Finance Lead
Specialist, to agree additional payment to the contract above the management
fee on an open book basis which is within the revised budget for Leisure
Services for 2020/21 up to a value of £120,000, to include any associated
contractual amendments or variations; and
(4)
updates on the Leisure Partnership arrangements be provided through
the financial update reports.
Reasons for Decision
To assist in the delivery of the Council Plan – delivering a balanced community and
reducing health inequality in the District.
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected
Not to continue to make contract payments to Greenwich Leisure Limited, this is not
recommended as this will inevitably lead to failure of the service and the contract to be
terminated. This will have a greater impact on the Council’s financial resource and
capability to continue providing a leisure service for the District.
To continue with contract payments in line with contract requirements. This is not
recommended as this will likely lead to cash flow issues for the leisure provider. This
will have a greater impact on the Council’s financial resource and capability to continue
providing a leisure service for the District.

Page 9

6
20.05.2020

CEX/12

Cabinet Executive Decisions

RE-ADMISSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC
RESOLVED – That the press and public be re-admitted to the meeting.
Members disconnected from the Part II session and re-joined the Part I live
session. A roll call was taken, however, not all Members having confirmed that
they were present, the meeting adjourned at 11.05 a.m. The meeting reconvened
at 11.25 a.m., when the same Members were present, all confirming that they
were able to see (where practicable) and hear all Members participating in the
meeting, with the exception of Shadow Cabinet Member Councillor Helen Irving
who had been unable to re-join the Part I live session due to technical
difficulties. The Shadow Leader, however, consented to the meeting continuing
in her absence.

CEX/13

FINANCE UPDATE - IMPACT OF COVID-19
Note – Shadow Cabinet Member Councillor John Holmes declared a disclosable
pecuniary interest in part of this item of business by virtue of the fact that he was
one of South Lakeland District Council’s nominated Directors on the Board of
South Lakes Housing. He remained in the meeting during the introduction to the
report and was then disconnected from the meeting whilst Cabinet firstly
reached a decision on Recommendation No.(3) in relation to receiving of Right to
Buy receipts. Councillor Holmes was then re-connected to the meeting for the
remainder of the item and the meeting.
Summary
The Finance and Resources Portfolio Holder presented the report, stating that, even
before the announcement of lockdown on 23 March 2020, the Council had started
incurring additional expenditure and seeing reductions in income. The report
presented the latest forecast of the impact of Covid-19 on the budget forecast for
2020/21 and other emerging pressures, such as the pay award or any potential
reductions in approved expenditure through delays to projects and possible reduced
activity. The situation was summarised as at the start of May 2020, but it had to be
noted that the situation was moving very quickly, with new Government
announcements daily. The report recognised the exceptional seriousness of the
financial issues arising from the Covid19 and informed of the monitoring and
management of the situation.
The Council’s finances remained strong in the short term. The report attempted to take
a prudent view of what the impact was likely to be, however, the full picture would only
emerge in the next few months, and the position would change. It was clear that, over
the period of the current Medium Term Financial Strategy, the Council would need to
take action to bring the longer term forecast back into line and South Lakeland retained
the ability to manage its financial response in a controlled way over the medium term.
The first quarter monitoring report would be key in setting out a more complete picture
of the impact of Covid-19 and, more importantly, a strategy for bringing the budget
back in line over the medium term through the updated Medium Term Financial Plan.
The report provided details in relation to Covid-19 Expenditure, Income (excluding
Council Tax and National Non-Domestic Rates), the Capital Programme, Council Tax
and Non-Domestic Rates, Government Funding, Reserves, Treasury Management, a
summary of budget amendments required, 2019/20 Year-End, the longer-term outlook
and next steps.

Page 10

7
20.05.2020

Cabinet Executive Decisions

The Finance and Resources Portfolio Holder drew particular attention to the Council’s
statutory duty to deliver a balanced budget, including the use of reserves. He referred
to Section 3.7 of the report which highlighted that, due to the prudent way that the
Council had managed its finances, the level of non-earmarked reserves was around
£6.1m. Consequently, the Council was currently in a position where it could bear the
current impact of around £2m from the Covid crisis. The Section 151 Officer had
stated that it was unlikely that the Council would need to issue a Section 114 Notice
based on the Council’s expenditure to date, the current rate of income loss, the level of
reserves, and the Government funding to date. This reassurance is very welcome.
However, the Finance and Resources Portfolio Holder explained that this did not mean
that the financial challenge for the Council from Covid-19 was over. Firstly, the Council
could not continue to lose income and incur additional costs at the rate of £500,000 to
£600,000 per annum for a prolonged period without additional Government funding.
Secondly, although the currently had reserves, they were both limited and would need
to be rebuilt in future years. Thirdly, the current crisis had very significant implications
for future years. There would be a direct impact on next year’s budget from shortfalls
in tax collection this year; the base for non-domestic rates was likely to be severely
eroded; and the Council would face calls for greater expenditure to protect community
organisations and to help rebuild the economy. On top of that were the uncertainties
on Government funding. The Finance and Resources Portfolio Holder indicated that he
would cover these issues in the first version of the new Medium Term Financial Plan
due to be presented to Cabinet in July 2020.
The Finance and Resources Portfolio Holder thanked officers involved in the work, and
in particular the Finance Lead Specialist (Section 151 Officer) and her team, who were
closely monitoring the unprecedented financial situation, whilst overseeing huge flows
of cash in grants and changes to Non-Domestic Rates, all of this occurring at financial
year-end.
Councillor John Holmes having at this stage been disconnected from the meeting as
outlined above, Members considered Recommendation No.3 and endorsement of the
decision to receive the Right to Buy receipts by 20 June 2020. The Deputy Leader and
Housing and Innovation Portfolio Holder pointed out that this was an example of the
Council supporting its housing provider, South Lakes Housing, in its important work
throughout the District.
A vote was taken with regard to the proposal outlined at Recommendation No.3 during
which Cabinet Members, with the exception of the Customer and Commercial Services
and People Portfolio, confirmed that they had, without interruption, heard the full
presentation and discussion on the item. The Customer and Commercial Services and
People Portfolio was not able to be heard, however, the Leader wished to proceed on
the basis that the meeting was still quorate.
Councillor John Holmes was re-connected to the meeting and confirmed that he was
able to see (where practicable) and hear all Members participating in the meeting.
A number of questions were raised by Members. In response, the Finance and
Resources Portfolio Holder indicated that, although there had been savings on
meetings as a result of the COVID-19 situation, for example, through not having to
provide refreshments or paying for room hire, this was not significant in the context of
the overall loss being faced as a result of the crisis. With regard to moving forward with
the new Leisure Centre in Ulverston, he explained that work had had to be reprioritised as a result of the current crisis. There was, however, no intention to move
away from this project. The Chief Executive undertook for Members to be provided
with a written response as regards costs in relation to the support of virtual meetings.

Page 11

8
20.05.2020

Cabinet Executive Decisions

Members commended the work being carried out around the Council’s finances in
these unprecedented times.
A vote was taken on the proposals at Recommendations Nos.1, 2, 4, 5 and 6 during
which all Cabinet Members, including the Customer and Commercial Services and
People Portfolio Holder whose audio problem had by this stage been resolved,
confirmed that they had, without interruption, heard the full presentation and discussion
on the item.
Decision
RESOLVED – That
(1)

the contents of this report be noted;

(2)
the Chief Executive be recommended to approve the budget amendments
set out in section 3.9 of the report as an Emergency Non-Executive Decision;
(3)
the decision to receive the Right to Buy receipts by 30 June 2020 be
endorsed;
(4)
the Finance Lead Specialist (Section 151 Officer) be delegated authority to
approve variation of income payment terms and any associated contractual
variations, in consultation with the Legal Governance and Democracy Lead
Specialist (Monitoring Officer) and the Finance and Resources Portfolio Holder,
outlined in Tables 1 and 2 of the report and any in the future where the request is
both below and over the key decision threshold but within the approved budget
for the contract;
(5)
the Finance Lead Specialist (Section 151 Officer) be delegated authority
for the increasing of the expenditure budget for the recently announced
discretionary grant scheme for small businesses by the amount of grant
allocated and for which details are awaited; and
(6)
reserves be protected by not allowing carry forwards of underspend into
this financial year except in exceptional circumstances.
Reasons for Decision
The report sets out proposals that provide resources to implement the Council Plan
alongside responding to the pandemic. Budget monitoring forms part of the corporate
governance arrangements that support all Council priorities.
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected
The report presents proposals for a response to the potential budget pressures arising
from the pandemic. The proposals together meet the Council’s statutory duty to set a
balanced budget for 2020/21 and to monitor the budget during the year. . An alternative
option would be to reject some of the proposals; this would then require further work to
ensure the budget can be balanced.

Page 12

9
20.05.2020

CEX/14

Cabinet Executive Decisions

INTERIM COUNCIL TAX DISCRETIONARY RELIEF POLICY AND TEMPORARY
COUNCIL TAX: COVID-19 HARDSHIP FUND 2020/21
Summary
The Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead Specialist (Monitoring Officer) explained
the reasons for the matter being treated as a general exception exempt from call-in.
The proposal met the definition of a key decision in the Council’s Constitution as
it affected two or more wards and would potentially incur expenditure above
£100,000. Due to the matter having just arisen, it had not been possible for the
proposal to be included in a Forward Plan at least 28 clear days before the
decision was to be made. In accordance with paragraph 15 of the Access to
Information Procedure Rules in Part 4 of the Constitution, the Chairman of the
Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s had been informed that the taking of the
decision was urgent and could not reasonably be deferred because of the need
for a policy to follow the latest Government advice and some specific requests
from residents as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic which required addressing.
In addition, the Constitution stated that the call-in procedure should not apply
where a decision being taken by the Cabinet was urgent and any delay likely to
be caused by the call-in process would, for example, seriously prejudice the
Council’s or the public’s interests. In accordance with paragraph 16(j) of the
Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules within Part 4 of the Constitution, the
Chairman of the Council had been consulted and had agreed that the decision
proposed was reasonable in all the circumstances and for it to be treated as a
matter of urgency and that the call-in process should be waived.
The Finance and Resources Portfolio Holder presented the report. As part of the
measures of assistance in relation to Covid-19, the Government had announced
additional support to all those in receipt of Council Tax support. In order to speed up
the changes to Council Tax bills, the Government would provide s.31 grant to be
distributed through Council’s existing hardship funds. As in a number of other districts,
South Lakeland District Council did not have an existing hardship policy so, in order to
apply the additional discount, there was a need to agree a new policy.
South Lakeland District Council’s share of the Council Tax hardship fund was £487,092
based on 2,255 working age caseloads at Quarter 3 2019/20. The Government
expected that the majority of this fund would be used to provide Council Tax relief
alongside existing local Council Tax support schemes. In addition, it was expected that
the Council might also want to use some of this funding to deliver increased financial
assistance having considered local circumstances.
The Government’s strong expectation was that billing authorities would provide all
recipients of working age local Council Tax support (LCTS) during the financial year
2020/21 with a further reduction in their annual Council Tax bill of at least £150, using
their discretionary powers to reduce the liability of Council Tax payers outside of their
formal LCTS scheme design. South Lakeland District Council’s Emergency NonExecutive Decision 007 Council Tax Covid-19 Hardship Fund had approved payments
of up to £300 to recipients of the Council’s Council Tax Reduction Scheme, as set out
in Appendix 2 to the report. Software had now been received to enable the Council to
award this funding and to issue revised bills with the reduction applied.

Page 13

10
20.05.2020

Cabinet Executive Decisions

Having allocated grant to reduce the Council Tax bill of working age LCTS recipients,
billing authorities were being requested to establish their own local approach to using
any remaining grant to assist those in need. Billing authorities were expected to want
to revisit their broader approach at intervals during the financial year, in order to ensure
expenditure for 2020/21 remained within their allocation. The Government stated that,
in determining any broader approach to delivering support, local authorities were best
placed to reflect on the financial needs of their most vulnerable residents. In doing so,
they might wish to consider using their remaining grant allocation as part of wider local
support mechanisms. These might include, but were not restricted to
(a)

(b)
(c)

Council Tax relief using existing discretionary discount/hardship policies
(adapted where necessary in order to capture those most likely to be affected
by Covid-19);
additional support outside the Council Tax system through Local Welfare or
similar schemes;
a higher level of Council Tax reduction for those working age LCTS recipients
whose annual liability exceeded £150.

Local authorities were expected to use their discretionary powers under s.13A(1)(c)
Section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992.
South Lakeland District Council’s existing discretionary Council Tax Policy, the South
Lakeland District Council Tax Reduction Scheme Exceptional Hardship Policy had
been approved in November 2015 and was now out of date. A replacement Interim
Discretionary Council Tax Relief Policy was attached at Appendix 1 to the report. This
discretionary policy reflected those either approved or being considered elsewhere in
Cumbria and gave delegation to officers to award support.
This policy supported, but was not part of, the Council’s Council Tax Reduction
Scheme which formed part of the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework and was
subject to public consultation and consideration by the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee. Due to the urgent need to give support as soon as possible, it was not
practical to carry out the usual consultation period of “ideally be not less than eight
weeks but no longer than 12 weeks.” It was considered there were good reasons to
implement the interim policy and to carry out a consultation process for four weeks and
to report all feedback to the next scheduled Cabinet meeting and Council meeting on
30 June 2020. At that meeting, the Council would be asked to approve the final policy.
A report would be prepared for Council to consider on 30 June 2020 which would
summarise all comments made by consultees and recommend approval of a final
policy which reflected any comments received.
Having reviewed the current Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS) caseload within
South Lakeland, there were 2,410 claims, of which 1,976 received the full 100%
support. In total, the current scheme reduced the Council Tax payable by these
2,410 claimants by £2.745m from £3.013m to £0.267m for 2020/21. Modelling
suggested that the approved payments of up to £300 per claim would cost £113,000
based on current claims and would, therefore, be affordable. However, it was unknown
yet how many additional claims for CTRS would be received for 2020/21, all of whom
would be eligible for the additional mandatory relief of up to £300. Therefore, the
amount of remaining funding to be allocated under the new discretionary policy would
not be clear until March 2021. It was not practical to withhold consideration and award
of relief under the discretionary policy until March 2021, but officers would be mindful to
awards made when considering applications.

Page 14

11
20.05.2020

Cabinet Executive Decisions

Members welcomed the proposals, thanking officers and the Finance and Resources
Portfolio Holder for their work in this current, difficult situation and stressing the need to
care for the most vulnerable residents in South Lakeland, also commending the
Council’s own current local Council Tax Reduction Scheme. Concern was raised with
regard to the future and the potential increase in unemployment within the area given
the impact of COVID-19 on the leisure industry. Also raised was the importance of
communication of the Policy and Fund. The Health, Wellbeing and Financial
Resilience Portfolio Holder undertook to take this matter on board and to provide an
update at the next fortnightly councillor briefing session.
A vote was taken on the proposals during which all Cabinet Members confirmed that
they had, without interruption, heard the full presentation and discussion on the item.
Decision
RESOLVED – That
(1)
the Chief Executive be recommended to approve the draft interim policy
attached at Appendix 1 to the report as an Emergency Non-Executive Decision;
(2)
officers be authorised to commence consultation on the Interim Policy
under the Councils’ Budget and Policy framework for approval by Council on
30 June 2020;
(3)
the Councils Section 151 Officer be authorised, in consultation with the
Portfolio Holder for Finance and Resources, to immediately process claims
under the Interim Policy;
(4)
the Council’s Section 151 Officer be requested to explore the opportunity
to consider a further welfare scheme in the event that there are monies available
from the temporary Coivd-19 funding available; and
(5)
Appendix 2 to the report, which was introduced as a temporary scheme
with the Government’s funding relating to the impact of Covid-19, be endorsed.
Reasons for Decisions
The decision assists in the delivery of the Council Plan as the scheme contributes
towards working across boundaries to deliver sustainable communities, creating
balanced communities and reducing inequalities so no one is left behind.
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected
The scheme could be amended to increase, or reduce, discretion in making awards.
This would vary the assistance to be awarded. The proposed scheme gives a balance
between awarding additional relief and the cost of relief awarded.

CEX/15

2019/20 FINAL
REQUESTS

ACCOUNTS

-

CARRY

FORWARDS

AND

RE-PROFILING

Summary
The Finance and Resources Portfolio Holder presented a report detailing revenue carry
forward requests totalling £0.6m into 2020/21. These were made up of a number of
requests as detailed in Appendix 1 to the report and, as some of them were above
£100,000, they would need to be approved by Council on 30 June 2020 as part of the
outturn report. The largest areas related to:-

Page 15

12
20.05.2020
•
•
•

Cabinet Executive Decisions

£293,000 on the Customer Connect Programme
£81,000 on Economic Development projects; and
£85,000 on feasibility and design work on Ulverston Leisure Centre.

The approval of the carry forwards would enable the work that had been planned in
2019/20 to be delivered in 2020/21. Carry forward amounts had been reviewed against
the draft service expenditure to ensure that at corporate, directorate and service levels
there was sufficient budget to support the requests. This position could change as the
Statement of Accounts and year end position were finalised. Any corrections required
would be reported back to Cabinet and Council within the outturn report in June 2020.
Although the carry forward of budgets was an important flexibility within the financial
procedure rules, the services identified needed to be delivered as part of meeting the
Council Plan. To support this, spend of the carry forward amounts would be reported
on as part of the quarterly budget monitoring, throughout 2020/21.
The underlying reasons for carrying budget forward would be reviewed with managers.
Where improvements could be made to the method of profiling budgets, these would
be fed in to the 202/22 budget process.
The Finance and Resources Portfolio Holder turned to re-profiling of the Capital
Programme, advising that variations on spending on the Capital Programme usually
reflected changes in the progress of individual schemes. As these schemes spanned a
number of years, any variation needed to be reflected in an update to the profiled
spending in the Capital Programme.
Appendix 2 to the report showed those Capital Schemes in the 2019/20 Capital
Programme where expenditure varied to the approved Capital Programme. To enable
these schemes to continue and be completed, it was necessary to vary the Capital
Programme in 2020/21 to reflect the variations in phasing of expenditure. The total for
re-profiling was £3.2m. The Cabinet had delegated powers to approve these changes
in accordance with Para 8.2 of the Financial Procedure Rules.
Although some of the underspend related to third parties, it was pointed out that there
was still a significant amount directly in the control of the Council. Processes would
continue to be reviewed to minimise any future yearly underspends.
Thanks were expressed to officers and to the Finance and Resources Portfolio Holder
for their work and for the informative report.
A vote was taken on the proposals during which all Cabinet Members confirmed that
they had, without interruption, heard the full presentation and discussion on the item.
Decision
RESOLVED – That
(1)
Council be recommended to approve the revenue carry forwards as set
out at Appendix 1 to the report; and
(2)
the re-profiling of expenditure and associated budgets for the capital
schemes from 2019/20 into 2020/21 as set out at Appendix 2 to the report be
approved.

Page 16

13
20.05.2020

Cabinet Executive Decisions

Reasons for Decision
Approval of the carry forwards and re-profiling will allow the services identified within
the appendices to the report to be delivered.
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected
There are no alternative options presented. Members could decide to not approve
some or all of the proposed carry forwards or re-profiling. This would result in the
specific scheme not being delivered but would, on the other hand, increase unallocated
reserve balances that could be used for other purposes.

CEX/16

COUNCIL PLAN PERFORMANCE MONITORING REPORT QUARTER 4 2019/20
Summary
The Leader and Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio Holder presented the fourth
quarter Council Plan Performance Monitoring Report 2019/20 which set out the Council
Plan Priorities and Measures of Success. The measures listed, details of which were
set out within the report, were showing very good performance and demonstrated that
South Lakeland was a very desirable place to live, work and explore. However, in line
with the national trend and the influence of Covid-10, the number of homeless
households living in temporary accommodation was increasing. South Lakeland
District Council’s vision and strategy was to improve prosperity, ensuring a positive
benefit for the community. Detailed information for each measure was provided within
the report.
The Leader felt that the report demonstrated a successful trajectory overall, and
thanked both councillors and officers for their work in the delivery of the Council Plan.
He, however, raised the need to re-boost the measures, drawing attention to those
areas which were not moving in the right direction, for example food banks, alcohol
addiction and homelessness.
The report also included the latest Strategic Risk Register. Out of a total number of
17 risks, two of which were new, 11 were currently above the Council’s tolerance but
were, however, being managed effectively. The Leader stressed the fact that some of
the risks had increased significantly as a result of the COVID-19 crisis. He suggested
that the risks should be the subject of a discussion involving all Members of the
Council, open for the public to hear, so that all could be aware of what the Council was
facing. He informed Members that he would, therefore, bring this matter up with Group
Leaders later in the afternoon.
The Deputy Leader and Housing and Innovation Portfolio Holder took the opportunity to
refer to the summary of performance on homelessness and the detrimental impact of
COVID-19 on this target. He wished to point out that, although the numbers were in
excess of the target, officers were doing an excellent job in ensuring that those who
were homeless in the current conditions were receiving support and also that the
Council had additional capacity to deliver on this target in the short term.
Members supported the need for a discussion by all councillors on risks. A suggestion
was raised for the need to highlight the successes in relation to housing, for example
the number of empty homes brought back into use. Further raised was the need now
to publish details in relation to the Local Development Plan. The Deputy Leader and
Housing and Innovation Portfolio Holder pointed out that people’s attention had been

Page 17

14
20.05.2020

Cabinet Executive Decisions

elsewhere, however, agreed to take the suggestions on board; ensuring the future for
delivery of housing was crucial. The Health, Wellbeing and Financial Resilience
Portfolio Holder responded to a request for information on food banks, saying that there
had been an increase in demand, over and above the norm, but that the food banks
were coping, with plenty of volunteers and donations from the public who had
responded wonderfully. The Leader added that South Lakeland District Council would
ensure that nobody went hungry, pointing out that the Health, Wellbeing and Financial
Resilience Portfolio Holder was in constant contact with the relevant organisations.
A vote was taken on the proposals during which all Cabinet Members confirmed that
they had, without interruption, heard the full presentation and discussion on the item.
Decision
RESOLVED – That the following be noted:(1)

the Summary of Performance as detailed within the report; and

(2)

the detailed risks information contained within Appendix 1 to the report.

Reasons for Decision
The report links directly to the Council Plan commitment to ensure that the Council is
equipped to provide the best, most cost-effective services.
Details regarding
performance monitoring are published in line with the Council’s Performance
Management Framework.
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected
None – The purpose of the report is to receive a performance update. The Council
must note successes, monitor progress and take action where appropriate.

CEX/17

CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENT
The Leader and Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio Holder, prior to closing the
meeting, expressed thanks to all who had participated and officers for their efforts for
facilitating the meeting. He acknowledged the technical difficulties in re-joining Shadow
Cabinet Member Councillor Helen Irving to the meeting, apologising for this and
thanking the Shadow Leader, Councillor Tom Harvey, for agreeing for the meeting to
proceed. The Leader was proud of the achievement in making the decision-making
process accessible to all through virtual meetings and further expressed pride in the
Council for the way in which it performed during these difficult times.

The meeting ended at 12.43 p.m. and it was confirmed that the live stream had ended.

Page 18

Item No.3a
Please note this is a Part 1 (Public) report and will be published on the website any
Part 2 (Confidential) information should be included in a separate document as an
Appendix.
EMERGENCY DELEGATED EXECUTIVE DECISION
In accordance with the Leaders decision and noted by Cabinet on 25/03/2020 to delegate to the Chief
Executive any executive decision in this COVID 19 Global pandemic emergency or that is urgent or
that would be necessary or expedient, or which would otherwise protect the Council’s interests,
including key decisions.

South Lakeland District Council
Emergency Delegated Executive Decision
LOCAL AUTHORITY DISCRETIONARY BUSINESS GRANT FUND
SCHEME
Date: 29/05/2020

Reference:

Reason for emergency
Chief Executive received emergency delegated executive decision making powers on the
25th March 2020. It is considered that this decision is necessary or arises from the Covid19 Global pandemic emergency. The matter is urgent, necessary and expedient and is
needed to protect the Council’s interests.
The decision is required to be taken due to the Government’s recent announcement for a
new package of discretionary financial support grants for businesses that will be
administered by local authorities to pay the grants. Funding will be provided by the
Government for the new grants. The Government have requested the grants are
processed and paid as soon as possible, with the funding expected to be paid to the
Council in early June 2020. It is expected that the payment of grants will ease financial
pressures for eligible businesses.
Due to the timing of the receipt of the Government Guidance (updated on the 23rd May
2020) and the date of the next Cabinet meeting being on the 24th June 2020 we require an
emergency decision.
This is a Key Decision: Yes (A key decision means an executive decision which, in
relation to an executive function, has a significant effect on communities in two or
more Wards of the Council and / or is likely to result in the Authority incurring
expenditure or making savings above £100,000)

Portfolio:

Finance and Resources Portfolio Holder

Decision Maker:

Chief Executive

Report Author:

Gareth Candlin – Operational Lead (Specialist Services)
Ruth Leahy – Specialist (Economy and Culture)

Wards:

All

Forward Plan:

Exemption from publication requirements / Forward Plan (key
decision) requirements and call in obtained

Page 19

1.0

Expected Outcome and Reasons for Proposed Decision

1.1

Many businesses remain closed or have seen a significant reduction in income as a
result of Coronavirus pandemic and government restrictions.

1.2

South Lakeland District Council has been awarded an additional £3.75m from
Government to distribute to eligible businesses under the Local Authority
Discretionary Busines Grant Fund. This will support property costs of small and micro
businesses who have not been able to access financial support packages in the
Government financial schemes announced since the pandemic situation.

1.3

The Discretioanry Business Grant Fund follows the Small Business Grant Fund and
Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grant Fund. SLDC will grant funding to eligible
businesses through an online application and validation process, used in the
aforementioned grant schemes.

1.4

It is expected that the payment of grants will ease financial pressures for eligible
businesses.

1.5

This decision will contribute significantly to assisting businesses during COVID 19
helping with job retention and business viability in difficult circumstances; avoiding
economic collapse by giving additional resources to businesses with properties within
the district.

2.0

Proposed Decision

2.1

It is recommended that the Chief Executive:(1)
Approve the Discretionary Business Grant Fund Scheme as Attached at
Appendix 1 to the report and as announced by Government in May 2020 of up
to £3.75million for South Lakeland; and
(2)
That a non executive emergency decision is taken to confirm
appropriate budgets be established outside the approved budget and policy
framework to receive the monies and distribute funds as per Government
guidance; and
(3)
Agree to delegate the identification, determination and payment of the
grants in accordance with the scheme at Appendix 1 to qualifying businesses
to the Director of Customer and Commercial Services.
(4)
Delegate to the Director of Customer and Commercial services in
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Finance and Resources to make any
amends to Discretionary Business Grant policy to reflect changes in
Government guidance.

Review Date:

01/09/2020

3.0

Background and Proposals

3.1

The government has announced a Discretionary Business Grant Fund Scheme to be
targeted at small businesses that have high fixed property related costs but are not
eligible for the current Small Business Grant Fund or Retail, Hospitality and Leisure
Grant Fund.

3.2

South Lakeland District Council has been awarded £3.75m to distribute to eligible
businesses. The government has set some national criteria which the Council must

Page 20

follow in terms of which businesses it can support but has given discretion to local
authorities to determine which businesses to support within those criteria. In
determining this policy, the Council has sought to balance the amount of overall
money it has received to distribute, with the number of businesses it can support.
For the avoidance of doubt, the council does not have the discretion to assist
businesses that fall outside the criteria set out below.
3.3

The government has set the following criteria that a business must meet in order to
be eligible to apply (not necessarily be granted) for the Discretionary Business Grant
Fund:


Must be a Small or Micro businesses, as defined in Section 33 Part 2 of the Small
Business, Enterprise and Employment Act 2015 and the Companies Act 2006 (see
points 3.4 and 3.5 below);
 Businesses with relatively high ongoing fixed property-related costs;
 Businesses which can demonstrate that they have suffered a significant fall in
income due to the COVID-19 crisis;
 Businesses which occupy property, or part of a property, with a rateable value or
annual rent, annual mortgage payments below £51,000 (where a rateable value
exists this will be the figure used);
 The business must have been trading on the 11th March 2020;
 The business must not have been eligible or received a grant from the existing
grant scheme or other support schemes - please check with the Business Grants
team prior to applying if you are unsure which grant scheme you might be eligible
for.
3.4
Under the Companies Act 2006, a Small business must satisfy two or more of the
following requirements in a year:
 Turnover: Not more than £10.2 million
 Balance sheet total: Not more than £5.1 million
 Number of employees: a staff headcount of less than 50.
3.5

Under the Companies Act 2006, a Micro business must satisfy two or more of the
following requirements:




Turnover: Not more than £632,000;
Balance sheet total: Not more than £316,000;
Number of employees: a staff headcount of not more than 10.

3.6

The government criteria can be seen in full here:
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachme
nt_data/file/885011/local-authority-discretionary-grants-fund-guidance-localgovernment.pdf

3.7

Please see Appendix 1 for the full details of the SLDC scheme, including the local
criteria.

4.0

Consultation

4.1

A common and consistant approach has been agreed by all District Councils in
Cumbria, allowing for specific references to business areas within districts to support
their own economic make up.

4.2

A working group of officers including specialists and case managers have agreed the

Page 21

process for collecting information for payment of grants.
4.3

The Portfolio Holder for Finance and Resources, the Leader of the Council and
Cabinet have been consulted on the detail of the policy.

5.0

Alternative Options

5.1

SLDC do not accept this funding: this would not comply with the request from
Government and would not give assistance to businesses operating within South
Lakeland District, and therefore this is not a recommended option.

5.2

SLDC administer grants beyond the shceme set out by Government: this is not
affordable for the Council, and therefore is not the recommended option.

6.0

Links to Council Priorities

6.1

Supporting our Economy: To aid job retention and business viability in difficult
circumstances; avoiding economic collapse and enhancing the culture of the district
by giving additional resources to businesses, including eligible cultural organsiations,
with properties within the district.

7.0

Implications

Financial, Resources and Procurement
7.1

The Government has made it clear that Councils can recover the additional cost
incurred by the Council in administering this scheme.

7.2

The Government are funding the entirety of the scheme up to the value of £3.75m.

Human Resources
7.2

There are no direct human resources implications of this report. Staff from around the
Council will assist in the processing of grant claims.

Legal
7.3

The Council has powers under the Localism Act 2011 to make these payments.
Legal advice has been provided on the grants application form and the state aid
implications. A separate non executive decision will be taken to address the changes
to the Budget and Policy Framework.

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental
7.4
Have you completed a Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact
Assessment? No
7.5

If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: This
has not been deemed as necessary in this instance. The impact of the scheme
applies to businesses which are eligible within the district and is vital to
prevent many small businesses becoming insolvent following Government required
closure.

7.6

Summary of health, social, economic and environmental impacts: n/a

Equality and Diversity
7.7

Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No

7.8

If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: This
has not been deemed as necessary in this instance, this applies to all those with
businesses which are entitled within the district.

7.9

Summary of equality and diversity impacts: n/a

Page 22

Risk
Risk

Consequence

Controls required

Grants are not given in
accordance with Government
guidance

Government will not
reimburse the Council for
payments made outside
the Government schemes

Policy reviewed to be
compliant with
Government Policy

Grants are given to fraudulent
claimants

Grants are not given to the
businesses requiring
support

Grants are not issued
promptly

Businesses will not receive
financial assistance as set
out by Government

Online application and
verification processes to
manage a multi-million pound
scheme in just a few days in
order to get grants paid to
businesses with minimal delay

Reputational impact to the
Council and delays to the
processing of payments

Verification has been built
into the grant process
including requesting
evidence and using
Government tools
Online portal developed
for efficient application of
grants, resource trained
and in place to review and
approve.
Learning from previous
scheme will significantly
reduce risk. Robust
process in place to
expediate payments.

Contact Officers
Gareth Candlin, Operational Lead (Specialist Services), 01539 793382, gareth.candlin@southlakeland.gov.uk

Appendices Attached to this Report
Appendix No.

Name of Appendix

1

Discretionary Business Grant Fund Scheme

Background Documents Available
Name of Background document

Where it is available

Department for Business, Energy &
Industrial Strategy: Grant Funding
Schemes Local Authority
Discretionary Grant Fund –
guidance for local authorities

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/u
ploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/885011/l
ocal-authority-discretionary-grants-fund-guidancelocal-government.pdf

Approved by:
Chief Executive
Or such person as delegated by
the Chief Executive in writing
In consultation with
The Leader of the Council
And Relevant Portfolio Holder
CMT Directors
The following interests were
declared – disclosable pecuniary
interest or other or none

Signature and Date (or email confirmation)
28/05/2020
n/a

29/05/2020
29/05/2020
29/05/2020
n/a

Page 23

Due to COVID 19 and Government
announcements, it has not been possible
for this Key decision to be included in a
Forward Plan at least 28 clear days before
the decision was to be made. It is not
possible to comply with the General
Exemption procedure.

29/05/2020

In accordance with Part 4 of the
Constitution - Rules of Procedure –
Access to Information Rules – Paragraph
16, the Chairman of the Overview and
Scrutiny Committee (Cllr Hughes) has
agreed that the taking of the decision is
urgent and could not reasonably be
deferred because for the reasons outlined
in this report and the timescales required
to protect the public/business interest and
to comply with Government advice.
This being “special urgency”
In accordance with Part 4 of the 28/05/2020
Constitution – Rules of Procedure –
Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules paragraph 16(j), the Chairman of the
Council (Cllr Coleman) agrees that this
decision is reasonable in all the
circumstances and that it is treated as
urgent for the reasons outlined above and,
therefore, the decision is exempt from
call-in.

Page 24

Appendix 1

Discretionary Business Grant Fund Scheme
Background
1.

The Government has announced a Discretionary Business Grant Fund to be
targeted at small businesses that have high fixed property related costs but are not
eligible for the current Small Business Grant Fund or Expanded Retail Discount
Grant Fund.

2.

South Lakeland District Council has been awarded £3.75m to distribute to eligible
businesses. The government has set some national criteria which the Council must
follow in terms of which businesses it can support but has given discretion to local
authorities to determine which businesses to support within those criteria. In
determining this policy, the Council has sought to balance the amount of overall
money it has received to distribute, with the number of businesses it can support.
For the avoidance of doubt, the council does not have the discretion to assist
businesses that fall outside the criteria set out below under point 3.

National Criteria
3.

The government has set the following criteria that a business must meet in order to
be eligible to apply (not necessarily be granted) for the Discretionary Business Grant
Fund:




Must be a Small or Micro businesses, as defined in Section 33 Part 2 of the
Small Business, Enterprise and Employment Act 2015 and the Companies
Act 2006 (see points 4 and 5 below);
Businesses with relatively high ongoing fixed property-related costs;



Businesses which can demonstrate that they have suffered a significant fall
in income due to the COVID-19 crisis;



Businesses which occupy property, or part of a property, with a rateable
value or annual rent, annual mortgage payments below £51,000 (where a
rateable value exists this will be the figure used);



The business must have been trading on the 11th March 2020;



The business must not have been eligible or received a grant from the
existing grant scheme or other support schemes - please check with the
Business Grants team prior to applying if you are unsure which grant
scheme you might be eligible for.

4.

Under the Companies Act 2006, a Small business must satisfy two or more of the
following requirements in a year:



Turnover: Not more than £10.2 million;
Balance sheet total: Not more than £5.1 million;

Page 25


5.

Under the Companies Act 2006, a Micro business must satisfy two or more of the
following requirements:




6.

Number of employees: a staff headcount of less than 50.

Turnover: Not more than £632,000;
Balance sheet total: Not more than £316,000;
Number of employees: a staff headcount of not more than 10.

The government criteria can be seen in full here:
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach
ment_data/file/885011/local-authority-discretionary-grants-fund-guidance-localgovernment.pdf

Eligibility
7.

This grant funding is for businesses that are not eligible for other support schemes.
Businesses which are eligible and have received cash grants from any central
government COVID-related scheme are not eligible for funding from the
Discretionary Business Grants Fund. Such grant schemes include but are not limited
to:


Small Business Grant Fund;



Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grant;



The Fisheries Response Fund;



Domestic Seafood Supply Scheme (DSSS);



The Zoos Support Fund;



The Dairy Hardship Fund.

8.

Businesses who have applied for the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme and Self
Employment Income Support Scheme are eligible to apply for this scheme.

9.

Companies that are in administration, are insolvent or where a striking-off notice has
been made are not eligible for funding under this scheme.

10. Only businesses which were trading on 11 March 2020 are eligible for this Scheme.

Priority Businesses
11. In addition to the criteria above the government has also asked the Council to
prioritise the following types of business.


Small businesses in shared offices or other flexible workspaces. Examples
could include units in industrial parks, science parks and incubators which do
not have their own business rates assessment;



Regular market traders with fixed building costs, such as rent, who do not
have their own business rates assessment;

Page 26



Bed & Breakfasts which pay Council Tax instead of business rates; (please
see definition)



Charity properties in receipt of charitable rates relief which would otherwise
have been eligible for Small Business Rates Relief or Rural Rate Relief, and
are not eligible for a grant through the Expanded Retail Discount Relief
scheme.

12. Government has made it clear that this list is not exhaustive but is intended to guide
local authorities and that the Council has the discretion to issue grants to businesses
not covered by the above list but that we do not have discretion to help businesses
that don’t meet the criteria set out under the national criteria or eligibility criteria list.

Guiding Principals
13. It is recognised that each local authority area will have its own specific economic
make up and that need will be different in each area. The council anticipates that
the demand for the discretionary grants will be greater than the amount of money we
have received from government and as such it is important that we clearly set out the
principals that will guide the council in determining which businesses it is able to help
and which it will not.
14. The goal is to try and support as many businesses as possible with the money
received from government while keeping the individual grant amounts high enough
that they will provide meaningful support to those businesses.
15. In addition to the criteria set out by government above, the council recognises
through its experience in administering the current grants scheme and through its
knowledge of the local economy that certain business types that are particularly
prevalent in South Lakeland have not been eligible for support under the existing
grant scheme. As such the Council has made the decision to include them within the
discretionary element of this scheme. These are as follows:
Category A
Small manufacturing businesses with an RV of under £51,000 and not eligible
for Small Business Rate Relief or Expanded Retail Discount Relief.
Category B
Local wholesalers and supply chain/services businesses whereby the majority
of their business relates to the hospitality or leisure sector, with a Rateable
Value of under £51,000. The definition of ‘majority’ in this case is over 60%.
Category C
Businesses that do not fall into the above categories but in the view of the
Council can demonstrate exceptional hardship relating to ongoing fixed
property related costs. This category will only be considered if there are
adequate remaining funds once the other categories have been assessed.
16. It is important to note that this grant scheme is per business not per hereditament
(property). Businesses with more than one property will only be eligible for one
grant. If a business has received a grant under the Small Business Rate Relief,
Expanded Retail Discount Relief or other schemes (see point 7) for other properties,
they will not be eligible for this grant, as per the government guidelines.

Page 27

How much is available?
17.

The Council has received £3.75m in additional funding from the government to
facilitate this Discretionary Business Grant Fund scheme. It is the intention of the
Council to facilitate this scheme within that total amount without additional local top
up which would be unaffordable for a small District Council.

18.

How much a business receives will depend on their specific circumstances with a
maximum cap of £10,000 for any one business. The main factor considered in the
determination of the grant payable will be ongoing property related costs and the
impact of the COVID-19 crisis and the number of employees. While the maximum
cap is £10,000 grants will range from £2,500 up to £10,000.

Application process
19.

It is not possible for the Council to quantify how many businesses are in our area
which will potentially meet the criteria set out in the policy. The reason for this is that
the council does not hold enough data on how many businesses may fall into these
categories. Therefore to process applications on a first come first served basis may
lead to some businesses with greater need missing out on a grant because the
money allocated by government becomes fully committed. The Council believes this
is unfair and that it is important that the money is allocated on the basis of need not
those quickest to make an application.

20.

To overcome this issue the Council will launch a 14 day window for businesses that
think they may be eligible for the grants under this scheme to lodge an application
with relevant supporting documents. Once the 14 day window has expired the
Council will review the applications against the criteria set out above. If the number
of grants applied for does not exceed the amount of funding available then all eligible
grants will be paid. If the number of valid applications exceeds the amount of
funding available, applications will be determined based on need. The definition of
‘need’ in this case will be businesses with a higher % of turnover that is used for
property related costs and the businesses with a higher % of dropped revenue based
on income, such as April 2020 income, compared to April 2019 (see point 34).

21.

The businesses defined by government as priority businesses (see point 10) will be
reviewed first. Once the Council are able to establish the outstanding amount of
funding remaining, the businesses that meet the eligibility criteria in Categories A
and B and C (see point 15) will then be reviewed.

22.

The Council has created an online form for applications, this is the only mechanism
through which the Council will accept applications. For businesses who do not have
access to the internet, the Council will be able to assist you in completing the form by
taking your information over the phone and complete the form on your behalf. You
will need to provide documentary evidence to support your application, so please
ensure you have collated relevant documentation prior to seeking support from the
Council.

23.

It will be important that you provide all the information accurately and truthfully, and
provide all the supporting documents that are requested. Failure to do so could lead
to your application being declined or significantly delayed.

24.

Once the 14 day application window has closed, the Council will seek to reach a
decision within 10 working days, payments usual take 3 working days to arrive in
accounts.

Page 28

25.

If there is additional funding remaining after the first round, the Council will open up
additional funding rounds.

26.

You must answer all of the questions honestly when completing your application, if
the Council suspects any business is trying to fraudulently claim the grant, it will
investigate accordingly. Where evidence of fraud is present, we will prosecute the
offending business.

Appeals Process
27.

There is no right to appeal and the decision of the Council is final.

28.

The Council’s interpretation of this document is at its own discretion and it will be the
final arbiter of the definitions contained within this policy.

29.

This scheme is not intended to cover all businesses that have not been included in
the initial government grant scheme. There are other avenues of support that
businesses have available through the other government schemes.

State Aid
30.

The United Kingdom left the EU on 31 January 2020, nonetheless under the
Withdrawal Agreement the State aid rules continue to apply during a transition
period, subject to regulation by the EU Commission. The local authority must be
satisfied that all State aid requirements have been fully met and complied with when
making grant payments, including, where required, compliance with all relevant
conditions of the EU State aid De Minimis Regulation, the EU Commission
Temporary Framework for State aid measures to support the economy in the current
COVID-19 outbreak, the approved COVID-19 Temporary Framework for UK
Authorities, and any relevant reporting requirements to the EU Commission.

31.

The Council will require each business receiving grant funding under the
Discretionary Business Grant Funding scheme to confirm that it is receiving the grant
funding under either the De Minimis rules or the COVID-19 Temporary Framework
for UK Authorities (and that all relevant conditions are met). Grant recipients will be
asked to sign a declaration provided by the Council as part of the application process
to confirm the State Aid position.
Businesses should note the conditions attached to the Temporary Framework,
including the €800,000 threshold per undertaking (€120 000 per undertaking active
in the fishery and aquaculture sector or €100,000 per undertaking active in the
primary production of agricultural products), and requirement for recipients to declare
they were not an undertaking in difficulty on 31 December 2019. An ‘undertaking in
difficulty’ is defined by GBER (2014) as an undertaking in which at least one of the
following circumstances occurs:
a) In the case of a limited liability company (other than an SME that has
been in existence for less than three years), where more than half of its
subscribed share capital has disappeared as a result of accumulated losses.
This is the case when deduction of accumulated losses from reserves (and
all other elements generally considered as part of the own funds of the
company) leads to a negative cumulative amount that exceeds half of the
subscribed share capital.

Page 29

b) In the case of a company where at least some members have unlimited
liability for the debt of the company (other than an SME that has been in
existence for less than three years), where more than half of its capital as
shown in the company accounts has disappeared as a result of accumulated
losses.
c) Where the undertaking is subject to collective insolvency proceedings or
fulfils the criteria under its domestic law for being placed in collective
insolvency proceedings at the request of its creditors.
d) Where the undertaking has received rescue aid and has not yet
reimbursed the loan or terminated the guarantee, or has received
restructuring aid and is still subject to a restructuring plan.
e) In the case of an undertaking that is not an SME, where, for the past two
years:
i) The undertaking’s book debt to equity ratio has been greater than
7.5; and
ii) The undertaking’s EBITDA interest coverage ratio has been below
1.0.

Tax
32.

Grant income received by a business is taxable therefore funding paid under the
Discretionary Business Grants Fund will be subject to tax. Only businesses which
make an overall profit once grant income is included will be subject to tax.

What evidence will I need to provide?
33.

The Council is relying on businesses to be honest and open with the Council and
present to us their evidence of need and eligibility for the Discretionary Business
Grant Fund.

34.

As part of your application you will need to provide the following information:
Information

Evidence Required

Comment

Payment details

Copy of bank statement clearly showing
bank account name, business address,
sort code and account number and a
utility bill clearly showing your business
address

This must match the name of
the business or individual
listed on the business rates
bill or lease/mortgage
agreement

Evidence of
ongoing Rental
or Mortgage
costs or other
fixed property
related costs

You will need to provide a copy of your
current lease agreement or mortgage
agreement

This must clearly show the
financial contribution you are
required to make as part of
the agreement

Evidence you
are a small or
micro business

This will be done by way of selfdeclaration on the online application
form

Please see points 4 and 5 for
definitions

Evidence of a
significant fall in

You will need to provide evidence of
loss of income, this might include a
variety of documentary evidence
including comparative bank statements

Where a company was not
trading in April 2019 we will
accept another month’s
turnover. It is at the

Page 30

income due to
COVID-19

or turnover such as for April 2019 and
April 2020; proof of loss of
contracts/bookings/demand for
services; proof of loss of ongoing
income

businesses discretion what
form this evidence takes but
it must clearly show the
turnover of the businesses
for these periods

Evidence of
trading on 11
March 2020

Where you have a business rates
account this will be sufficient as the
date liable will be used. For businesses
that are not rated you will need to
provide evidence.

This could be in the form of
stock orders (pre dating 11
March 2020), lease
agreements etc.

Evidence of
eligibility under
State aid rules

This will be done by way of selfdeclaration on the online application
form

If you are unsure whether
State aid applies to your
business, you will need to
seek independent legal
advice.

Definitions
35.

“Relatively high fixed property related costs” – this relates to your mortgage or rental
cost associated (including bills) with your property.

36.

“Significant fall in income” – you must be able to demonstrate the fall in income is
related to COVID-19, “significant” for the purpose of this scheme will mean a drop of
25% or more when comparing turnover for April 2019 to April 2020. Where income
has dropped less than 25% but you are able to demonstrate a significant increase in
costs due to COVID-19, then this will also be considered.

37.

“Bed and Breakfast” - you will need to be registered as a food businesses with the
Council to be eligible as a Bed and Breakfast. Accommodation that does not serve
breakfast and is not registered with the Council as a food business are specifically
excluded from this scheme.

Data Protection
38.

The Council treats all its information that it holds on file with the upmost care and
confidentiality. For more on our Privacy Policies and to see how we use and share
your data, please see here: www.southlakeland.gov.uk/your-council/councilbusiness/data-protection-and-privacy-policy/privacy-policies/

Right to Update this Policy
39.

The Council reserves the right to update and change this policy without notification
or prior warning in the event that the government updates or changes its guidance to
us or in the event of an error or omission.

Page 31

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 32

Item No.10
South Lakeland District Council
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 22 June 2020
Cabinet 24 June 2020
Council 30 June 2020

Revenue and Capital Outturn 2019/20
Portfolio:

Cllr Andrew Jarvis, Finance and Resources Portfolio Holder

Report from:

Helen Smith – Finance Lead Specialist (Section 151 Officer)

Report Author:

Helen Smith – Finance Lead Specialist (Section 151 Officer)

Wards:

All wards

Forward Plan:

Budget and Policy Framework Decision included in the Forward Plan
as published on 26 May 2020

1.0

Expected Outcome

1.1

To note the Council’s financial performance for 2019/20 and to approve movements
to and from reserves and the carry forward of budgets to 2020/21.

2.0

Recommendation

2.1

It is recommended that Overview and Scrutiny note the outturn figures.

2.2

It is recommended that Cabinet:-

2.3

3.0

(1)

note the outturn figures and variance explanations set out in the report
and appendices;

(2)

approve the virement relating to the Reopening High Streets Safely
grant set out in paragraph 3.9 and Appendix 1d; and

(3)

request Council approve the contributions to and from reserves detailed
in Appendix 1a.

It is recommended that Council:(1)

approve the contributions to and from reserves detailed in Appendix 1a;
and

(2)

approve the working budgets for 2020/21 set out in Appendix 1d.

Background and Proposals
General Fund Revenue Expenditure and Outturn

3.1

Appendix 1a shows the final overall General Fund outturn against budget for
2019/20 and Appendix 1b shows service expenditure and income variances against
budget. Explanations are included in Appendix 1b generally where variances are
over £10k.
The overall net General Fund had a net overspend of £89k for 2019/20 once the
£740k of target savings from Customer Connect were met. This includes a number

Page 33

of additional costs relating to covid-19 in March 2020, the largest of which was a
reduction of £92k in car park income. Without the impact of covid-19 there would
have been a small underspend, as projected as part of the 2019/20 Q3 revenue
monitoring.
This represents a variance of 0.3% based on a gross expenditure budget of £33.5m
3.2

Table 1 shows the majority of the variance relates to running costs, mainly supplies
and services and contracted services. The variance on supplies and services relates
to a number of budgets across a variety of services, as shown in Appendix 1b. The
largest variances are analysed in paragraphs 3.3 and 3.4 below.
Table 1: Summary of service variances by type of expenditure
2019/20
Working
Budget
£000
Employees (including Customer Connect savings)
15,513
Running Costs (net of housing benefits subsidy)
12,987
Capital
5,043
Gross Expenditure
33,543
Income (excluding housing benefits subsidy)
(14,513)
Net Service Variances
19,030
Non-Service Net Expenditure (see table 3 for details)
(19,030)
Net Overspend transferred from General Reserve
0

3.3

2019/20
Actual
£000
15,423
11,883
5,043
32,349
(14,048)
18,301
(18,212)
89

2019/20
Variance
£000
(90)
(1,104)
0
(1,194)
465
(729)
818
89

The largest single element of expenditure for the Council relates to employee costs,
mainly salaries but also pension contributions and the cost of agency and contract
staff. There was an overall underspend on employees of £90k after taking into
account the Customer Connect savings target of £740k and the vacancy allowances
(which is based on 4% of salary costs).
Table 2: Summary of employee budgets and variance

Gross employee budgets
Less vacancy allowance
Less Customer Connect savings target
Employee working budget
Actual employee expenditure
Underspend on employees – before carry-forward

2019/20
£000
16,818
(565)
(740)
15,513
15,423
(90)

This is a particular achievement in a year when the Council has implemented the
Customer Connect restructure and has had the impact of a national pay
restructuring. Overall the savings target of £740k from Customer Connect has been
virtually met with savings of £735k identified as part of budget monitoring. The
employee expenditure includes expenditure of £1,239k relating to agency and
contract staff: in the majority of cases this offsets salary savings where recruitment
was delayed until after the Customer Connect structure was agreed or where
recruitment was unsuccessful during the year. The major exception is within
streetcare services were contract and agency staff were mainly required to cover
staff sickness. There is a carry-forward requested of £242.6k relating to
underspends in the Customer Connect implementation team.

Page 34

3.4

Other major variances after carry-forwards included:
a. Savings relating to the Council’s insurance costs following a re-tender
exercise of £188k while the level of cover was slightly increased.
b. Cost of Collection on Council Tax and NNDR: net overspend of £66k,
mainly due to a reduction in income from charging costs. This is mainly
due to delayed recovery action following conversion to new software and
the absence of a key member of staff. Overall the Council was due to
collect £43m of NNDR and £81m of Council tax during 2019/20.
c. Rent Allowances: £166k net overspend due to write off of older debts and
a reduction in Government grant for administration costs.
d. Local Plan: net underspend of £62k, mainly due to lower than budgeted
use of consultants as a result of re-profiling of activity related to the
refresh of the local plan.
e. Caravan Site: £83k net overspend, due to lower than budgeted income.
This is mainly due to the delayed completion of the extension of the
caravan site and the timing of the expiry of the management contract and
retender exercise.
f.

Car Parking: £97k overall net overspend, due to lower than expected
income. This includes a projected loss of £92k in March due to Covid-19.

g. The overall cost of the homelessness was in-line with budget with
additional homelessness prevention grant and additional net costs relating
to the running of Town View Fields hostel.
h. Kerbside recycling: £81k overall net overspend excluding employee costs,
due to a combination of reduced income from sale of recycling materials
due to low demand and price. In addition there is an overspend of £206k
on employees, including additional contract and agency staff of £133k and
to £72k where the vacancy target could not be met. Both the vacancy
target and the estimated income from sale of recyclates have been
reduced for 2020/21.
3.5

The General Fund working balance includes a number of transactions made to reflect
statutory accounting practices. Contributions to and from reserves and corporate
interest payments and receipts are shown in Appendix 1a. The net impact of these
will be a net increase in the contribution to General Fund working balance of £89k.
Major variances included:
a. The Council retains a share of income from business rates (properly known
as National Non-Domestic Rates or NNDR). The amount retained has
increased, mainly due to a reduction in the provision for appeals and changes
in Small Business Rate Relief and how this is funded by Government. The
Council joined a Cumbria Business Rates pool from 1 April 2014 which aimed
to reduce NNDR levy paid to the Government under the new process. The
actual saving due to the Council as a result of the pool for 2019/20 was
£1.1m.
b. Slightly higher than budgeted contributions to capital programme, detailed in
Appendix 1a, this is mainly due to timing of capital expenditure originally
budgeted in 2018/19.
c. There have been a number of changes to the budgeted transfers to and from
reserves. These are detailed in Appendix 1a and mainly relate to differences
in timing between the recognition of income and expenditure between years.

Page 35

d. Higher than budgeted income from interest due to fluctuations in market rates
as a result of changing market expectations on interest rates and a stepped
maturity profile for deposits.
3.6

The movement on the General Fund working balance is shown in the following table:
Table 3: Summary General Fund variances
Description
Carry forward requests
Other service variances
Decreased net interest payable
Decreased Minimum Revenue Provision
Accounting for Collection Fund
Support to capital programme
Additional income from Non-Domestic Rates after
contribution to pool
Net adjustments to reserves relating to carry forwards
Other net increases in contributions to reserves
Net Overspend transferred from General Reserve

Variance
£000
(1,206)
477

£000

(729)
(66)
(33)
(46)
73
(580)
1,206
264
89

3.7

The Council, on 28 February 2014 approved the General Fund working balance
should be set at £1.5m and that any surplus above this level should be transferred to
the General Reserve. Accordingly the net overspend after all other transfers to
reserves, totalling £89k, has been transferred to the GF working balance from the
General Reserve.

3.8

Revenue carry forwards were approved at Cabinet on 20 May 2020 subject to the
actual expenditure being in accordance with the projected underspend.
As a result of the net overspend, the carry forward requests have been reviewed and
reduce where the request does not relate to grants received in advance, where the
expenditure is funded from reserve or where the Council is contributing to a partner’s
costs.
The requested carry forward relating to Customer Connect has increased from
£293,200 to £875,900. This has no impact on the overall bottom line of the Council
as this is offset by a reduction in the use of the Customer Connect reserve.
Appendix 1c summarises the recommended revenue carry forward requests.

3.9

The Government has allocated the Council £92,936 of European Regional
Development Fund (ERDF) grant funding for the Reopening High Streets Safely
Fund. The monies are to be spent between 1 June 2020 and 30 March 2021.
Cabinet are requested to approve a virement to create expenditure and income
budgets of £92,936 for the receipt and spending of this grant.

3.10

Appendix 1d show the budgets for 2020/21 including all the budget amendments
reported to Cabinet on 20 May 2020 which relate to the additional income and
expenditure relating to Covid-19, the new virement set out above and also including
the carry-forwards detailed in Appendix 1c.
Capital Expenditure

3.11

Appendix 2 shows the approved Capital Programme and expenditure for 2019/20.
There was an underspend of £3,167k with re-profiling of expenditure of £3,208k
approved by Cabinet on 20 May 2020.

Page 36

The majority of re-profiling relates to schemes where the Council is working with
other partners in the delivery of projects and where the Council was waiting for
actions by the other parties before the project could progress. Details are included in
Appendix 2.
Table 4: Capital Expenditure 2019/20
Actual Expenditure
Revised Capital Programme
Net underspend before carry forwards
Approved re-profiling

(3,167)
3,208

Variance after re-profiling

3.12

£000
4,074
7,241

41

The capital programme will be updated in July 2020 as part of the preparation of the
Medium Term Financial Plan to reflect this reprofiling of budgets and other required
reprofiling of spend to reflect slippage due to covid-19 and re-prioritisation of
schemes.

Reserves
3.13

Appendix 1a shows the detailed movements on reserves and the comparisons with
budgeted movements for 2019/20. The main changes in the movements relate to
timing adjustments and the charging of customer connect costs to the Customer
Connect reserve.

3.14

The Council’s Reserve Policy, which sets out the desired level of reserves, both
overall and for each reserve, is reviewed annually as part of the Medium Term
Financial Plan which will be reported to Cabinet and Council in July 2020.

4.0

Consultation

4.1

The report presents historic data in relation to out-turn for 2019/20. Budget holders
and Members have been presented with monitoring information throughout the year.
Budget and Portfolio Holders have been consulted with respect to variances and
carry forward requests.

5.0

Alternative Options

5.1

No alternative options are proposed. Not approving the proposed capital programme
may challenge service delivery during 2019/20 and beyond.

6.0

Links to Council Priorities

6.1

This report forms a key part of the financial governance arrangements that support all
Council priorities.

7.0

Implications

Financial, Resources and Procurement
7.1

As detailed in the report

Human Resources
7.2

This report has no direct human resource implications.

Legal
7.3

This report has no direct legal implications.

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental
7.4

Have you completed a Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact
Assessment? No

Page 37

7.5

If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: this
is a report of past actions and has no health, social, economic and environmental
implications,

Equality and Diversity
7.6

Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No

7.7

If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: this
is a report of past actions and has no equality and diversity implications.

Risk
Risk

Consequence

Controls required

Out-turn position not
disseminated to Members and
Officers.

Financial position and
performance not
embedded into wider
organisational strategies

Reporting of out-turn to
clarify performance during
2019/20 and usable
reserves position to
support ongoing activity.

Contact Officers
Helen Smith, Finance Lead Specialist, 01539 793147, h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk
Appendices Attached to this Report
Appendix No.

Name of Appendix

1a

General Fund Expenditure and Income Variances 2019/20 summary

1b

General Fund Expenditure and Income Variances 2019/20 by service

1c

Revenue Carry Forward requests 2019/20

1d

General Fund budgets 2020/21 including covid-19 changes and carryforwards

2

Capital Expenditure 2019/20

Background Documents Available
Name of Background document

Where it is available

2019/20 budget book
Quarter 3 budget monitoring
2019/20 Revenue and Capital
Carry forward report
Tracking Information
Signed off by
Section 151 Officer
Monitoring Officer
CMT

Date sent
10/06/2020
10/06/2020
10/06/2020

Circulated to
Lead Specialist
Human Resources Lead Specialist
Communications Team
Leader

Date sent
10/06/2020
N/A
N/A
10/06/2020

Page 38

Date Signed off
10/06/2020
11/06/2020

Circulated to
Committee Chairman
Portfolio Holder
Ward Councillor(s)
Committee
Executive (Cabinet)
Council

Date sent
N/A
10/06/2020
N/A
22/06/2020
24/06/2020
30/06/2020

Page 39

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 40

Appendix 1a

General Fund Expenditure and Income Summary 2019/20
2019/20
Approved
Budget

2019/20
Working
Budget

2019/20
Actual

2019/20
Variance

2019/20
Carryforward

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

5,078.8
1,469.7
9,818.4
476.4
5,081.5
21,924.8

8,333.8
2,493.3
1,289.9
2,708.7
4,204.3
19,030.0

7,008.3
2,439.6
1,550.0
2,383.2
4,919.5
18,300.6

(1,325.5)
(53.7)
260.1
(325.5)
715.2
(729.4)

972.9
0.0
118.1
30.0
85.0
1,206.0

567.0
(223.1)

567.0
(223.1)

566.8
(289.0)

(0.2)
(65.9)

0.0
0.0

92.0
42.2
1,113.8

92.0
42.2
1,113.8

92.0
42.2
1,088.8

0.0
0.0
(25.0)

0.0
0.0
0.0

751.7

751.7

718.8

(32.9)

0.0

Reversal of Capital Charges
Adjustments relating to Pension

(9,085.1)
0.0

(4,075.1)
(1,258.0)

(4,075.1)
(1,258.0)

0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

Direct Revenue Financing
Transfers to/from Reserves
Transfers from Reserves - Customer Connect

705.7
147.3
(2,031.0)

1,242.5
(1,264.3)
(2,031.0)

1,315.9
(781.2)
(1,133.3)

73.4
483.1
897.7

0.0
(330.1)
(875.9)

Corporate Items

(7,919.5)

(5,042.3)

(3,712.1)

1,330.2

(1,206.0)

Net Revenue Budget

14,005.3

13,987.7

14,588.5

600.8

0.0

Retained Business Rates
Council Tax
Rural Services Delivery Grant

(4,650.4)
(8,903.9)
(451.0)

(4,650.4)
(8,903.8)
(433.5)

(5,204.9)
(8,950.1)
(433.5)

(554.5)
(46.3)
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0

(0.0)

(0.0)

(0.0)

0.0

(1,500.0)
0.0
(1,500.0)

(1,500.0)
(0.0)
(1,500.0)

(1,500.0)
(0.0)
(1,500.0)

0.0
0.0
0.0

Net Service Expenditure
Strategy, Innovation and Resources
includes Customer Connect savings
Customer and Locality Services
Specialist Services
Case Management
Delivery and Commercial Services
Net Service Budget after Customer Connect Savings
Corporate items
Interest Payable
Interest Receivable
Parish Grant
Collection Fund surplus/deficit
Contribution to pool Reserve

Page 41

Effect of Statutory and Proper Accounting Practices:
Minimum Revenue Provision

Net General Fund
General Fund Working Balance
Balance 1 April 2018
Surplus/deficit for year
Balance 31 March 2019

2019/20
Variance Comment
after Carryforwards
£000
(352.6)
(53.7)
378.2
(295.5)
800.2
476.6

Reduced Borrowing requirement from
Capital programme 2018/19

See below for details
See below for details
See below for details

Appendix 1a

General Fund Expenditure and Income Summary 2019/20

Page 42

DIRECT REVENUE FINANCING
Capital Expenditure met by transfers from:
IT replacement programme
LIPS and Affordable Housing
SLH/KTC Design Work
Coronation Hall
Car Park machine upgrades
South Lakeland House car park resurface
Ferry Nab revelopment
Braithwaite Fold Caravan Site
Abbot Hall playground
Abbot Hall playground
Yew Tree playground
Broadgate Meadow playground
Broadgate Meadow playground
Broadgate Meadow playground
Other playgrounds
Affordable Homes
Homeless accommodaiton for families
Community Housing fund
Disabled Toilet Improvement
LIPS - general grants
Digital Innovation Project
IT replacement programme
Burton Heritage Scheme
Greenbank Play Area
Greenbank Play Area
Maryfell Play Area
North Lonsddale Road play area
Biskey Howe improvements
Car Park resurfacing
Grange Prom
Total
CONTRIBUTIONS TO RESERVES:
Contribution equivalent to income from pool
Annual contribution
Annual contribution
Annual contribution
Annual contribution
2019/20 Underspends/Carry Forwards
2019/20 Underspends/Carry Forwards
2019/20 Underspends/Carry Forwards
2019/20 Underspends/Carry Forwards
2019/20 Underspends/Carry Forwards
2019/20 Underspends/Carry Forwards
2019/20 Underspends/Carry Forwards

IT replacement reserve
New Homes Bonus reserve
Direct Revenue Financing
Direct Revenue Financing
Direct Revenue Financing
Direct Revenue Financing
Direct Revenue Financing
Direct Revenue Financing
Direct Revenue Financing
LIPS
Direct Revenue Financing
Direct Revenue Financing
LIPS
Major Repairs Reserve
Direct Revenue Financing
New Homes Bonus reserve
Revenue Monies for Capital Purposes
Community Housing fund
LIPS
LIPS
Customer Connect Reserve
IT replacment reserve
LIPS
LIPS
Major Repairs Reserve
LIPS
LIPS
LIPS
Revenue Monies for Capital Purposes
New Homes Bonus reserve

NNDR Pool Income Reserve/Volatility Reserve
General Reserve
Fund of Revenue Monies for Capital Purposes
General Fund Properties Major Repairs Reserve
IT Replacement Reserve
Carry Forward Reserve
Carry Forward Reserve
Carry Forward Reserve
Carry Forward Reserve
Carry Forward Reserve
Carry Forward Reserve
Carry Forward Reserve

2019/20
Approved
Budget

2019/20
Working
Budget

2019/20
Actual

2019/20
Variance

2019/20
Carryforward

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

40.0
465.7
200.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
705.7

40.0
465.7
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
20.0
0.0
0.0
20.0
15.0
0.0
40.0
7.0
144.2
20.0
216.6
88.3
0.0
24.3
20.0
10.0
20.0
2.2
2.3
12.8
74.1
1,242.5

0.0
0.0
0.0
32.7
53.2
272.9
5.0
36.5
25.0
20.0
8.2
6.5
20.0
15.0
1.1
40.0
7.0
144.2
20.0
216.6
88.3
138.0
24.3
20.0
10.0
20.0
2.2
2.3
12.8
74.1
1,315.9

(40.0)
(465.7)
0.0
32.7
53.2
272.9
5.0
36.5
25.0
0.0
8.2
6.5
0.0
0.0
1.1
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
138.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
73.4

1,113.8
200.0
100.0
50.0
80.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

1,113.8
200.0
100.0
50.0
80.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

1,088.8
200.0
100.0
150.0
80.0
1.6
21.4
30.0
35.0
24.5
85.0
4.1

(25.0)
0.0
0.0
100.0
0.0
1.6
21.4
30.0
35.0
24.5
85.0
4.1

n/a
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
(1.6)
(21.4)
(30.0)
(35.0)
(24.5)
(85.0)
(4.1)

2019/20
Variance Comment
after Carryforwards
£000

Appendix 1a

General Fund Expenditure and Income Summary 2019/20

2019/20 Underspends/Carry Forwards
Unclaimed Member Allowances
To retain balance at £150k
To offset 2018/19 Deficit
Total
CONTRIBUTIONS FROM RESERVES:
General Reserve timing
Facilities Manager post
Contribution to offset GF in-year deficit

Page 43

Sustainability Coordinator
GF Growth
Additional Use of Pool Reserve
Business development projects
Carry Forward 2018/19
Carry Forward 2018/19
Funding revenue expenditure 2019/20
Anti-poverty initiatives
Supporting legal costs relating to planning
Supporting legal costs relating to planning
Funding capital expenditure
Funding capital expenditure
Funding capital expenditure
Funding capital expenditure
Funding capital expenditure
Funding capital expenditure
Funding capital expenditure
Funding capital expenditure
Funding revenue expenditure 2019/20
To offset 2019/20 Deficit
To offset 2019/20 Deficit
To offset 2019/20 Deficit
Total
CONTRIBUTIONS BETWEEN RESERVES:
General Reserve
Climate Change Reserve
Total

Economic Development Fund
Improving Personal Financial Resilience
Statutory Duties Reserve
Licensing Reserves

General Reserve
General Reserve
General Reserve
General Reserve
Climate Change Reserve
NNDR Pool Income Reserve
NNDR Pool Income Reserve
NNDR Pool Income Reserve
Carry Forward Reserve
Economic Development Reserve
Customer Connect Reserve
Personal Financial Resilience Reserve
Statutory Duties Reserve
NNDR Pool Income Reserve
s106 Income reserve
LIPS
Major Repairs Reserve
Revenue for Capital Reserve
New Homes Bonus
Community Housing Fund Reserve
Customer Connect Reserve
IT Replacement Reserve
Community Housing Fund Reserve
Building Control Reserve
Licensing Reserve
Land Charges Reserve

to Climate Change Reserve
from General Reserve

2019/20
Approved
Budget

2019/20
Working
Budget

£000

£000

2019/20
Actual

2019/20
Variance

2019/20
Carryforward

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
1,543.8

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
1,543.8

£000
81.2
33.4
99.8
93.1
2,127.9

£000
81.2
33.4
99.8
93.1
584.1

£000
(81.2)
(33.4)
0.0
0.0
(316.2)

(29.7)
(44.0)
0.0
0.0
0.0
(25.0)
(25.0)
(50.0)
(69.0)
0.0
(2,031.0)
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
(40.0)
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
(2,313.7)

(29.7)
(44.0)
0.0
(100.0)
(6.3)
(25.0)
(25.0)
(50.0)
(361.3)
(65.0)
(2,031.0)
(5.6)
(47.8)
(23.1)
0.0
(345.4)
(25.0)
(19.8)
(114.1)
(144.2)
(88.3)
(40.0)
(134.7)
0.0
0.0
0.0
(3,725.3)

0.0
(44.0)
(88.9)
0.0
(6.3)
(25.0)
(25.0)
(50.0)
(361.3)
(65.0)
(1,133.3)
(5.6)
(47.8)
(23.1)
(1.5)
(345.4)
(25.0)
(19.8)
(114.1)
(144.2)
(88.3)
(138.0)
(120.8)
(10.8)
(61.0)
(9.2)
(2,953.4)

29.7
0.0
(88.9)
100.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
897.7
0.0
0.0
0.0
(1.5)
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
(98.0)
13.9
(10.8)
(61.0)
(9.2)
771.9

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
(875.9)
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
(13.9)
0.0
0.0
0.0
(889.8)

0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

(200.0)
200.0

(200.0)
200.0

0.0
0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

n/a

2019/20
Variance Comment
after Carryforwards
£000

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 44

Appendix 1b
The purpose of this appendix is to set out the revenue budget variances for the 2019/20 financial year
Service

Portfolio

Expenditure
Budget Full
Year
£

Income Budget
Full Year
£

Expenditure
Variance
to Date
£

Income
Variance
to Date
£

Overall
Variance
to Date
£

Carry
Forward
Requests

Variance after
CarryForwards

Commentary

Customer
Connect
Savings

Strategy, Innovation and Resources

Page 45

DSS

Strategy

Promoting South
Lakeland

299,418

-15,000

19,941

0

19,941

0

19,941 Due to being fully staffed the vacancy saving allowance of £11k will
not be achieved for this area

0

GLP

Development Plans

Promoting South
Lakeland

153,897

-114

-100,554

-2,370

-102,923

24,500

-78,423 Potential carry forward of £25k Neighbourhood Planning Grant;
underspend on Local Plans £45k; underspend on salaries £15k due
to vacant post in old structure

0

EXS

Policy and Performance

Housing and
Innovation

1,796,672

0

-923,571

0

-923,571

875,900

-47,671 Potential underspend on salaries, this underspend is required to be
carried forward to fund a Senior Business Analyst and 2 Shared
Digital Development Officers £96k. Delayed work due to
Coronavirus, Training £140k and Bloom/Ignite £57k . 440k for IT
hardware and 150k for software

0

DSO

Support Services

Customer Comm
Serv and People

863,247

-5,400

-13,426

5,400

-8,026

0

-8,026

ERP

Promoting South
Lakeland

82,420

-2,636

-7,820

0

-7,820

0

-7,820 Gandlake software, no longer needed. Customer Connect Saving

GEL

Printing and Graphic
Design
Elections

Climate Emergency
and Localism

378,445

-208,227

185,235

-169,756

15,479

0

15,479 Large Income and Expenditure variance due to December 2019
Parliamentary Election. Also May 2019 Euro Election costs exceed
the maximum recoverable amount by £10k but anticipate this will be
fully reimbursed.

0

DXC

Management Team

Promoting South
Lakeland

398,672

0

12,889

0

12,889

0

EFS

Financial Services

91,297

0

39,645

-7,431

32,214

0

12,889 Due to being fully staffed the vacancy saving allowance will not be
achieved for this area
32,214 £36k Additional cost of interim cover identified as service critical

0

Finance and
Resources

ERA

Internal Audit

73,832

0

-16,425

0

-16,425

0

GTH

Other Items

Finance and
Resources
Finance and
Resources

228,136

-35,000

-206,681

-49,623

-256,304

35,000

GZZ

Other GF Items

Finance and
Resources

-61,333

0

61,333

0

61,333

0

DSH

Human Resources

Customer Comm
Serv and People

113,012

0

-10,088

0

-10,088

0

-10,088 £10k salary underspend

0

ERS

Employee Relations

Customer Comm
Serv and People

338,233

-3,379

-80,202

-6,173

-86,375

0

-86,375 Underspend due to vacant posts part offset by interim cover £43k;
potential underspend of £47k for corporate training budget.

0

DSL

Legal Governance
Democracy

Customer Comm
Serv and People

470,745

-33,025

11,630

4,679

16,309

0

16,309 Additional legal costs and legal fees due to workload: partially funded
by use of the Statutory Duties reserve.

0

ECL

Legal, Democratic and
Members

Customer Comm
Serv and People

25,380

0

34,524

0

34,524

0

34,524 £18k overspend due to one off employee costs and use of temporary
staff to cover vacancies.

0

GMM

Members

Customer Comm
Serv and People

389,196

0

-35,654

0

-35,654

33,400

-2,254 Underspend on unclaimed Member's Allowance, to be transferred to
Financial Resilience Reserve

0

ERI

Information Services

Housing and
Innovation

1,039,232

0

-41,765

0

-41,765

0

Other Strategy, Innovation and Resources

2,499,366

-543,257

-4,980

-4,924

-9,904

5,700

Total Strategy, Innovation and Resources

9,179,867

-846,038

-1,075,969

-230,198

-1,306,166

974,500

-16,425 £15k underspend due to delay in Business Rates audit
-221,304 £190k Saving made on insurance costs following re-tendering the
contract
61,333 This cost centre includes the adjustment for the Customer Connect
Phase 1 saving of £581k and the Phase 2 savings of £144k and
adjustments for transition costs

-41,765 Underspend due to vacant posts
-4,204 Individual variances <£10k
-331,666

0
-10,000

0
0
0
-725,000

0
0
-735,000

Service

Portfolio

Expenditure
Budget Full
Year
£

Income Budget
Full Year
£

Expenditure
Variance
to Date
£

Income
Variance
to Date
£

Overall
Variance
to Date
£

Carry
Forward
Requests

Variance after
CarryForwards

Commentary

Customer
Connect
Savings

Customer and Commercial Services
Operational Lead Customer and Locality Services
Customer Comm
Customer and Locality
DCL
Serv and People
ServLead
ECU

Customer Services

GPK

Parks and Open Spaces

Customer Comm
Serv and People
Customer Comm
Serv and People

453,411

-71

8,429

71

8,500

0

8,500 £53k overspend on salaries due to Phase 2 early transition part offset
by £34k underspend on salaries for Phase 2 posts not yet recruited
into
1,829 £12k underspend on salaries

0

293,545

0

1,829

0

1,829

0

1,599,421

-107,726

-40,977

-16,044

-57,021

0

259,357
Other Customer and Locality Services
Total Operational Lead Customer and Locality Services 2,605,734

-4,683
-112,480

-10,180
-40,900

927
-15,046

-9,253
-55,945

0

648,355

0

60,518

0

60,518

0

60,518 £50k overspend on salaries due to Phase 2 early transition part offset
by £4k underspend on salaries for Phase 2 posts not yet recruited
into - mostly filled by agency staff to continue service delivery

0

Customer Comm
Serv and People

471,959

0

11,514

-120

11,394

0

11,394

0

Housing and
Innovation
Finance and
Resources

270,821

-335,641

1,936

27,059

28,995

0

28,995 £36k projected shortfall on building inspection income

0

0

-65,826

0

-11,005

-11,005

0

Housing and
Innovation
Housing and
Innovation

148,633

0

-13,898

0

-13,898

13,900

524,275

-536,880

93,700

19,438

113,137

0

10,000

-11,260

-7,806

30,357

22,551

0

269,340

-52,330

-64,424

-26,121

-90,545

81,200

Operational Lead Specialist Services
Customer Comm
Specialist Services Lead
DCS
Serv and People

GBC

AD Cummunity Invest and
Dev
Building Control

GBN

Council Tax Benefits

GCH

Community Housing Fund

GDC

Development Control

GDS

Dangerous Structures

GED

Economic Development

GEN

Housing Enabling Role

GFN

NNDR Collection

GFT

Council Tax Collection

GHP

Noise, Air and Water
Pollution

GHT

Housing Standards

GLC

Local Land Charges

GRA

Rent Allowances

GRB

Discretionary Housing
Benefit
Water Sampling

EUR

Page 46

GWS

Housing and
Innovation
Economy Culture
and Leisure

-57,021 £11k surplus income relating to recharge to CCC for grass verge
maintenance dating back to 17/18 following grass verges being remeasured; £32k underspend on salaries due to Phase 2 early
transition and vacant posts
-9,253 Individual variances <£10k
-55,945

0
0

0
0

-11,005 Localised Council Tax Support Admin Grant greater than anticipated
£11k.
2

0

113,137 £122k overspend on salaries, £100k relating to agency posts to cover
to end of Dec 19, £31k one off employee costs bot part offset by
£8.6k salary saving following member of staff transitioning into new
post early; £19k demand led shortfall in income
22,551

0

-9,345 Underspend on Econ Dev projects £16k to be carried forward into
20/21; underspend on Business Support Programme being delivered
with Cumbria Chamber of Commerce £34k to be carried forward into
20/21; Income £8k for LSCER project to be carried forward; Income
£18k from Arts Council to be carried forward
-65,721 £47k potential underspend on salaries due to vacant posts

0

0

0

Housing and
Innovation
Finance and
Resources
Finance and
Resources
Climate Emergency
and Localism

588,045

-30,000

-66,618

897

-65,721

0

7,800

-325,589

3,808

9,243

13,051

0

13,051

0

33,400

-175,938

-8,954

61,934

52,980

0

52,980

0

20,930

-14,614

-9,237

-1,315

-10,552

0

Housing and
Innovation
Housing and
Innovation

882,817

-764,271

-44,703

20,288

-24,415

21,400

149,997

-250,000

-18,736

24,847

6,111

0

Finance and
Resources
Finance and
Resources

15,719,775

-16,074,477

-1,233,598

1,399,509

165,911

0

107,000

-107,000

-16,666

16,689

23

0

78,972

-125,507

-15,470

31,628

16,159

0

543,983
20,476,102

-316,910
-19,186,243

-33,120
-1,361,754

14,816
1,618,143

-18,304
256,389

116,500

Climate Emergency
and Localism

Other Specialist Services
Total Operational Lead Specialist Services

-10,552 Individual variances less than £10k
-3,015 Stock Condition Survey Carry Forward £21.4k
6,111 Potential demand led shortfall of £30k on land charge income; offset
by underspend £15k on payments to other local authorites for land
charge enquiries
165,911
23
16,159 Income shortfall of £35k offset by underspend on sampling charges
£15k
-18,304 Individual variances <£10k
372,889

0

0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

Service

Portfolio

Operational Lead Case Management
Customer Comm
Case Management
DCM

Expenditure
Budget Full
Year
£

Income Budget
Full Year
£

Expenditure
Variance
to Date
£

Income
Variance
to Date
£

Overall
Variance
to Date
£

Carry
Forward
Requests

Variance after
CarryForwards

-3,758

-41,428

3,758

-37,670

0

-37,670 £37k underspend majority from reductions in photocopier rentals
/leasing costs beyond primary lease and reduction in paper supplies
due to increase in digital communications

0

1,235,412

-84,315

-40,178

-9,114

-49,292

0

-49,292 £49k underspend on salaries due to vacant posts in old structure

0

ERB

Revenues and Benefits

Finance and
Resources

EUN

Community Services

Customer Comm
Serv and People

957,946

0

-140,275

-950

-141,225

0

GHM

Homelessness

Housing and
Innovation

468,951

-217,229

-42,709

-50,849

-93,557

30,000

GOT

Environmental Other

Health Wellbeing
Financial Res

17,208

-2,000

-14,278

1,660

-12,618

0

323,118
3,587,955

-571,907
-879,209

-2,090
-280,957

6,753
-48,741

4,664
-329,698

30,000

147,689

0

14,457

0

14,457

0

542,338

-8,271

-15,712

3,497

-12,215

0

Operational Lead Delivery and Commercial Services
Customer Comm
Delivery Commercial
DCD
Serv and People
Services

Customer
Connect
Savings

585,320

Serv and People

Other Case Management
Total Operational Lead Case Management

Commentary

-141,225 £140k salary underspend due to various vacant posts in old structure

0

-63,557 £93k underspend on homelessness prevention, £30k to be carried
forward to assist with emergency accomodation over the coming
months related to COVID-19.

0

-12,618 £12k underspend due to grants and contributions to organisations expectation that organisations will seek grants and contributions in
2020/21 in light of COVID 19

0

4,664 Individual variances <£10k
-299,698

0
0

14,457 £18k overspend on salaries due to Phase 2 early transition

0

Page 47

EPX

Offices

Finance and
Resources

GCK

Car Parks

Customer Comm
Serv and People

2,589,458

-4,675,184

-36,255

94,990

58,735

0

58,735 £37k salary underspend due to vacant posts; £110k shortfall on car
park income following free car parking due to COVID-19

0

GCS

Caravan Site

Customer Comm
Serv and People

217,724

-514,214

-2,771

86,580

83,809

0

83,809 Potential shortfall in income £27k due to current contract ending
31.01.20, therefore there will be no income for Feb and Mar 20.
Lease has now been issued to the proposed tenant. Caravan site
expected to open in line with Government guidelines for the 2020/21.

0

GHL

Town View Field Hostel

Housing and
Innovation

347,500

-233,083

-5,384

82,940

77,556

0

77,556 Income variance due to bad debts from hostel residents.
Considertaioin being given in the future as to how to re-coup debts in
timely manner and to ensure payments are made routinely and debts
not allowed to go unchallenged.

0

GLE

Leisure Centres (incl
Pools)

Economy Culture
and Leisure

1,073,852

-21,121

-87,678

-434

-88,113

85,000

-3,113

0

GLW

Lake Windermere

Economy Culture
and Leisure

497,727

-1,459,540

-2,617

17,153

14,536

0

14,536 £11k demand led shortfall on Moorings due to reduction in sites let;
£22k shortfall on Encroachment Rent income

0

GMK

Markets

Economy Culture
and Leisure

169,915

-205,133

1,966

42,286

44,251

0

44,251 £14k overspend on salaries due to delay with Kendal Market tender,
staff required until 31.03.20; shortfall in income of £23k

0

GPH

Public Halls

Economy Culture
and Leisure

385,478

-125,579

-22,488

43,253

20,765

0

20,765 £22k overspend on salaries, £17k of which is due to use of casual
staff to cover long term absences and the remaining £5k is the
vacancy saving budget which will not be achieved

0

GPL

Planned Maintenance

Finance and
Resources

-35,970

0

44,981

0

44,981

0

44,981 Push in 19/20 to complete Planne Maintenance works in the first part
of the year. Service Contracts were re-tendered and increase in cost
needed to meet with current regulations. Therefore little scope for
scaling back costs towards the end of the year as all planned mtce
works had been completed. Going forward, 50%of planned mtce
works will be completed at the start of the year , and service contracts
now fixed and cost known, reactive mtce will be monitored through
the year, and final 50% of planned mtce will be committed when we
are confident with the budget moving into the final months of the
financial year.

0

-12,215 Underspend on salaries for Building Cleaners £30k

0

0

Service

Portfolio

Expenditure Income Budget
Budget Full
Full Year
Year
£
£
55,255
-41,700

Expenditure
Variance
to Date
£
2,413

Income
Variance
to Date
£
41,700

Overall
Variance
to Date
£
44,113

Page 48

GSE

District Special Expenses

Customer Comm
Serv and People

GSY

Sundry Properties

-154,001

23,425

4,772

Transport

Finance and
Resources
Customer Comm
Serv and People

181,714

GTS

2,099

-80,502

59,246

19,157

GWK

Kerbside Coll Recycling
Client

Customer Comm
Serv and People

4,909,416

-1,580,636

211,474

2,493,505
Other Delivery and Commercial Services
Total Operational Lead Delivery and Commercial Services
13,577,700

-274,460
-9,373,424

Carry
Forward
Requests

Variance after
CarryForwards

Commentary

Customer
Connect
Savings

0

44,113 Offset by underspend on parish precepts below, reflecting lighting
costs where parish have not adopted lights.

0

28,197

0

28,197

0

78,403

0

78,403 £34k overspend on salaries, £25k of which is due to use of casual
staff/overtime to support vehicle contracts with CCC and Cumbria
Waste and to cover long term absence, remaining £9k is vacancy
saving which will not be achieved; £20k overspend on vehicle
repairs/maintenance; potential £22k shortfall in income. Agency use
will be monitored over 20/21. New vehicles have been ordered and
due in 20/21 will reduce the need for vehicle maintenance and repairs
which therefore will reduce overall service costs. Going forward
procurement of new vehicles to be monitored closely and brought
forward where possible to ease budget concerns for this area.

0

76,601

288,075

0

288,075 £130k shortfall on sale of materials due to current market price of
materials; £192k salary overspend (of which £99k vacancy saving
which was not achieved) due to vacant posts and long term absence;
£20k underspend on fuel; £20k overspend on tipping and disposal.
Unable to control value of materials and therefore can only monitor
the situation and feed in to the budget monitoring exercises and
monitor against other contracts to ensure that we are receiving value
for money for materials compared to other Council's. Salary
overspend due to covering short and long term sickness. Process
now in place to monitor and limit use of agency workers where
possible.

0

383
185,440

8,098
520,592

8,481
706,032

85,000

8,481 Individual variances <£10k
791,032

0
0
0

Total Customer and Commercial Services

40,247,491

-29,551,356

-1,498,170

2,074,949

576,779

231,500

808,279

Total Services

49,427,358

-30,397,394

-2,574,139

1,844,751

-729,388

1,206,000

476,612

0

-735,000

Appendix 1c
Revenue Carry Forward Requests 2019/20

Ref

Budget
Service Area
Code

Portfolio

Cabinet
May 2020
£000

General Requests
1
ERA
Internal Audit
Conservation
2
GCV
Environment
3
GHT
Housing Standards

Finance and Resources
Economy Culture and Leisure

£000
14.8
1.6

Housing and Innovation
Customer Comm Serv and
People

21.4

85.0

Page 49

4

GMM

Members

5

GLE

Leisure Services

Economy Culture and Leisure

6

GXW

Carbon Change
Programme

Climate Emergency and
Localism

Total General Requests
Grants Received 2019/20
7
GHM
Housing and Innovation
Homelessness
8

GTH

Other Services

9

GLP

Neighbourhood Planning Economy Culture and Leisure

Finance and Resources

Total Grants Received 2019/20
Expenditure Funded from Reserves

Cabinet
Comment
June 2020

33.4

4.1
160.3
30.0
35.0
24.5
89.5

0.0 Internal Audits delayed due to Covid19
1.6 Cost of village design statement, part of Burton in Kendal PISCA scheme
21.4 Stock condition survey - joint project with other authorities
Underspend on Members Allowances to be transferred to the Personal
33.4
Financial Resilience Reserve
85.0 Feasibility and design work for Ulverston Leisure Centre
This is payment to LDNPA for our contribution for the provision of a Carbon
4.1 Reduction Officer. Post is ongoing and carry forward required to continue
our committment.
145.5
30.0 Homelessness Prevention Grant unspent in 2019/20
Govt grant received 2019/20 for Covid19 cost but additinal cost fall into
35.0
2020/21
24.5 Neighbourhood Planning Grant unspent in 2019/20
89.5

10

EXS

Customer Connect

Housing and Innovation

293.2

11

GCH

Community Housing
Fund

Housing and Innovation

13.9

13.9 Delays due to complex contractual negotations

12

GED

Economic Development Economy Culture and Leisure

81.2

81.2

Total Expenditure Funded from Reserves
Total Requested Carry Forwards

388.3
638.1

875.9 Training and Ignite contract delayed due to COVID 19

971.0
1,206.0

These include ongoing projects to be continued throughout the new financial
year.

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 50

2020/21 Budget Summary updated for Covid-19 and Carry-forwards

Appendix 1d
Budget Amendment
Carry
Approved Budget
Covid-19
Forwards
February 2020

Description
Expenditure
Employee Costs
Projected Additional Costs Q1: Temporary Staff
Projected Additional Costs Q1: Processing Additional
Benefit Claims
Carry-forwards requested - Customer Connect
Running Costs
Projected Additional Costs Q1: Waste Collection
Projected Additional Costs Q1: Homelessness
Projected Additional Costs Q1: Leisure Services
Projected Additional Costs Q1: Bereavement Services
Projected Additional Costs Q1: Training - Virtual Meetings

Page 51

Projected Additional Costs Q1: IT - Costs Incurred
Projected Additional Costs Q1: IT - Additional Kit
Requested
General Provision
GTH45
Council Tax COVID-19 Hardship Fund
GFT02
Business Rate: Grant scheme, estmated based on SLDC
GTH53/4
projections of use
Business Rate: Grant scheme, additional budget to
GTH53/4
Government allocation
Kendal Leisure Centre - Recovery Centre
GHT56
Discretionary Business Rate Grant Scheme
GTH57
Reopening High Streets Safely
GTH58
Carry-forward: Conservation
GCY
Carry-forward: Housing Standards
GHT
Carry-forward: Members
GMM
Carry-forward: Customer Connect
EXS
Carry-forward: Homelessness
GHM
Carry-forward: Other Services
GTH
Carry-forward: Neighbourhood Planning
GLP
Carry-forward: Community Housing Fund
GCH
Carry-forward: Economic Development
GED
Carry-forward: Leisure Services
GLE
Carry-forward: Carbon Change Programme
GXW
Total Service Expenditure

Decision Decision
Ref
Date

Cabinet
Cabinet
new

20/05/2020
20/05/2020

£000

£000

Amended Budget
June 2020
£000

13,737.3

14,114.9

9,768.9

90,067.3

23,506.2

104,182.2

75.0
60.0
242.6

new

Cabinet
Cabinet
Cabinet
Cabinet
Cabinet

20/05/2020
20/05/2020
20/05/2020
20/05/2020
20/05/2020

30.0
150.0
120.0
50.0
5.0

Cabinet
Cabinet

20/05/2020
20/05/2020

10.0
77.0

Cabinet
EDD007
EDD001

20/05/2020
29/04/2020
30/03/2020

250.0
487.1
60,000.0

EDD001

30/03/2020

14,844.0

EDD004
Cabinet
new
Cabinet
Cabinet
Cabinet
new
Cabinet
Cabinet
Cabinet
Cabinet
Cabinet
Cabinet
Cabinet

17/04/2020
20/05/2020
new
20/05/2020
20/05/2020
20/05/2020
new
20/05/2020
20/05/2020
20/05/2020
20/05/2020
20/05/2020
20/05/2020
20/05/2020

20.0
3,199.0
92.9

79,470.0

1.6
21.4
33.4
633.3
30.0
35.0
24.5
13.9
81.2
85.0
4.1
1,206.0

Budget Amendment
Carry
Approved Budget
Covid-19
Forwards
February 2020
Description

Page 52

Income
Car Parking Income
Projected Reduced Income Q1: Car Parking
GCK
Contributions from other Local Authorities and Public Bodies
Kendal Leisure Centre - Recovery Centre
GHT56
General Income
Projected Reduced Income Q1: Building Control
Projected Reduced Income Q1: Development Control
Projected Reduced Income Q1: Land Charges
Projected Reduced Income Q1: Licensing
Projected Reduced Income Q1: Caravan Site
Projected Reduced Income Q1: Markets
Projected Reduced Income Q1: Public Halls
Projected Reduced Income Q1: Water Sampling
Projected Reduced Income Q1: Bulky Waste
Projected Reduced Income Q1: Other Rents
Government Grants
Business Rate: Grant scheme, estmated based on SLDC
GTH53/4
projections of use
Business Rate: Grant scheme, increase budget to
GTH53/4
Government allocation
Discretionary Business Rate Grant Scheme
GTH57
Council Tax COVID-19 Hardship Fund
GFT02
Covid-19 Support
GTH55
Reopening High Streets Safely
GTH58
New Homes Bonus
Lake Income
Projected Reduced Income Q1: Lake Charges (rents
included above in general income)
Recycling Credits
Temporary Suspension of Green Waste Collections
Projected Reduced Income Q1: Recycling Credits
Total Service Income
Net Service Budget before Capital Charges
Capital Charges
Net Service Budget after Capital Charges

Decision Decision
Ref
Date

£000

£000

Cabinet

20/05/2020

1,152.0

EDD004

17/04/2020

(20.0)

Cabinet
Cabinet
Cabinet
Cabinet
Cabinet
Cabinet
Cabinet
Cabinet
Cabinet
Cabinet

20/05/2020
20/05/2020
20/05/2020
20/05/2020
20/05/2020
20/05/2020
20/05/2020
20/05/2020
20/05/2020
20/05/2020

86.0
138.0
63.0
77.0
130.0
33.0
24.0
18.0
10.0
381.0

EDD001

30/03/2020

(60,000.0)

EDD001

30/03/2020

(14,844.0)

Cabinet
EDD007
Cabinet
new

20/05/2020
29/04/2020
20/05/2020
new

(3,199.0)
(487.1)
(1,080.5)
(92.9)

Cabinet

20/05/2020

38.0

EDD002
Cabinet

03/04/2020
20/05/2020

65.0
65.0
(77,443.5)
2,026.5
0.0
2,026.5

0.0
1,206.0
1,206.0

Amended Budget
June 2020
£000

(4,609.7)

(3,457.7)

(16.7)

(36.7)

(3,990.6)

(3,030.6)

(669.1)

(80,372.6)

(338.0)
(1,492.6)

(338.0)
(1,454.6)

(1,438.1)

(1,308.1)

(12,554.8)
10,951.4
11,795.6
22,747.0

(89,998.3)
14,183.9
11,795.6
25,979.5

Budget Amendment
Carry
Approved Budget
Covid-19
Forwards
February 2020
Description

Decision Decision
Ref
Date

Page 53

Corporate items
Net Interest
Capital Charges, Minimium Revenue Provision and Capital Programme Funding
Other Government Grants
Income from Council Tax (net of Parish Precept)
Parish Grant
Collection Fund surplus/deficit
Retained Business Rates
Additional Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Releif and
VGR44
Cabinet
20/05/2020
Nursery Relief schemes - cost of relief awarded
Additional Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Releif and
VGR44
Cabinet
20/05/2020
Nursery Relief schemes - additional Government grant
Contribution to Pool Reserve
new
new
Transfers to/from Reserves
new
new
Transfers from Reserves: Customer Connect
Use of reserves to meet one-off costs
Use of Resreves to fund Q1 net cost of Covid-19
Cabinet
20/05/2020
Total Corporate Items
(Surplus)/Deficit

£000

£000

Amended Budget
June 2020
£000

586.8
(10,597.9)
(433.0)
(9,121.4)
92.0
85.1
(5,512.8)

586.8
(10,597.9)
(433.0)
(9,121.4)
92.0
85.1
(5,512.8)

(330.1)
(875.9)

947.9
1,206.3
0.0

947.9
(2,026.2)

(1,206.0)
0.0

(22,747.0)
(0.0)

(25,979.5)
(0.0)

27,012.0
(27,012.0)

(2,026.5)
(2,026.5)
0.0

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 54

SLDC 2019/20 Capital Programme Outturn

Lead/code

Scheme

Portfolio

Full Year
Budget
£

Appendix 2
Changes
required to
2019/20
£

Variance
to Date
£

Expenditure
£

Anticipated reprofiling
£

Commentary

Digital

Page 55

KIT27

Mobile Working for
Streetscene

Housing and Innovation

120,000

0

-120,000

120,000 Specification and integration with new digital platform to be
assessed before project can begin. Requires carry-forward into
2020/21.

KIT30

Digital Innovation Project

Housing and Innovation

468,300

161,004

-307,297

307,296 Planning system now to be provided by a new supplier and
twelve month implementation time. Likely to be some carryforward required into 2020/21.

KIT90

IT Replacement Fund

Housing and Innovation

146,700

138,030

-8,670

735,000

299,034

-435,966

Specialist Services
KDE06
ERDF Funded Flood Defence Climate Emergency and
Works
Localism

0

0

0

0 Planning permission granted and EA Internal Business Case in
place. Grant and partnership agreements signed. Budget reprofiled to 2020/21.

KDE07

Coastal Communities Fund

Climate Emergency and
Localism

0

0

0

0 CCF project started 1 May 2019, funded by MHCLG. Scheme is
over two years. We will received funding for SLDC and
Morecambe Bay Partnership, then we will pay over to MBP their
share. SLDC is accountable body. Scheme is for works at
Grange promenade and will start on site in March 2020. Funding
agreement with MBP being drawn up for their proportion of
MHCLG funding.

KAH10

Affordable Homes TC Prop
Empty

Housing and Innovation

471,000

40,000

-431,000

431,000 Empty homes grants £40k paid so far in year. Housing
association grant payments delayed. Cabinet have approved a
grant of £282k to SL Housing for purchase of houses at Station
Cottages, Newby Bridge - subject to the completion of the grant
agreement in time, this could be paid in 2019/20, but unlikely it
will be ready by end of March. No other spend until next financial
year.

KAH11

Other Housing Schemes
(Cross-a-Moor junction
improvements)

Housing and Innovation

300,000

0

-300,000

300,000 Highways England leading scheme to build a roundabout to
enable delivery of 1000 homes. Agreement with CCC to be
renegotiated, payment will be in 2020/21.

Total Digital

8,670 Remaining funds allocated to purchase of mobile phones and
tablets. Review of officer/ member requirements being
undertaken and funds will be spent according to outcome - some
carry forward into 2020/21 will be required.
0

435,966

SLDC 2019/20 Capital Programme Outturn

Full Year
Budget
£

Appendix 2
Changes
required to
2019/20
£

Variance
to Date
£

Expenditure
£

Anticipated reprofiling
£

Page 56

Lead/code

Scheme

KAH13

Commuted Sums Affordable
Housing

Housing and Innovation

86,000

0

-86,000

86,000 Grant applications re-profiled from 2018/19. Plans for use of
funds not yet determined so will require carry forward to 2020/21.

KGD21

Mand Disabled Fac Grants

Housing and Innovation

735,280

668,976

-66,304

66,300 Ongoing high uptake on scheme. Applications expected to
exceed budget - methods of controlling demand being
considered. Budget increased to reflect actual government
funding received for 2019/20.

KRT10

Right To Buy Replacement

Housing and Innovation

495,000

247,500

-247,500

247,500 Payment of £495k grant to SLH to be made in two instalments in
2019/20 when contractual obligations are met - first instalment
paid May 2019. Second instalment due on practical completion,
estimated to be March 2020 - there is a chance this will therefore
fall into 2020/21.

KCH01

Community Housing Fund

Housing and Innovation

470,000

144,219

-325,781

325,780 Legal agreement being drawn up for £90k Windermere scheme.
£148k homes for Ulverston on old brewery site progressing.
Holme Farm (£185k) legal agreement being drawn up. Levens
scheme (£350k) delayed due to issues with legal agreement.
£2.2m in earmarked reserve for this purpose to be drawn upon if
budget needs increasing. Unlikely to be much more spend this
financial year.

KIF01

Housing Investment Fund

Housing and Innovation

0

0

0

0 Re-profiled to 2020/21.

KMR31

Festival Infrastructure

Customer Comm Serv and
People

0

0

0

0 Budget can be given up as scheme for lamp post banners in
Kendal unlikely to go ahead.

KPE18

Towpath Trail KendalLancaster

Economy Culture and
Leisure

120,000

0

-120,000

KRE53

Kendal Public Realm

Economy Culture and
Leisure

12,000

12,000

0

2,689,280

1,112,695

-1,576,585

4,032

0

-4,032

Portfolio

Total Specialist Services
Delivery and Commerical Services
KCD01
Castle Dairy

Economy Culture and
Leisure

Commentary

120,000 Remaining £120k payment to CCC to be made. Delay due to
new land agent and requirement for agent to deliver a report
following land owner consultation. Funding agreement awaiting
outcome of the report - payment now expected to be delayed
until 2020/21.

0 CCC and SLDC joint experimental traffic order for Kendal Market
Place finished end of December. Payment of £12k made Jan
2020.
0

1,576,580

4,032 Approval from administrators for remedial works granted,
awaiting for works to be carried out and invoiced.

SLDC 2019/20 Capital Programme Outturn

Page 57

Lead/code

Scheme

KEG35

Flood Related Works

Climate Emergency and
Localism

KEP52

Disabled Toilet
Improvements

Health Wellbeing and
Financial Resilience

KAH14

Homeless Accommodation

Housing and Innovation

KFL01

Footway Lighting

KLH02

Portfolio

Full Year
Budget
£

Appendix 2
Changes
required to
2019/20
£

Variance
to Date
£

Expenditure
£

Anticipated reprofiling
£

Commentary

0 Final invoice value less than anticipated, leading to small credit.

0

0

0

60,000

20,000

-40,000

230,700

6,972

-223,728

Customer Comm Serv and
People

25,000

4,465

-20,535

Ulverston Asset Transfer
programme

Economy Culture and
Leisure

32,660

32,652

-8

KLH07

SL House & KTH
reconfiguration

Economy Culture and
Leisure

0

37,012

37,012

-37,012 Tenders received and being evaluated. Preparatory work started main works expected to start in April 2020 as awaiting listed
building planning to be submitted - budget reprofiled to 2020/21.

KLH08

Abbot Hall redevelopment

Economy Culture and
Leisure

50,000

0

-50,000

50,000 Scheme has been paused as various prerequisites need to be in
place (lease extension, flood alleviation project) and agreed by
Arts Council before their funding can be released. Payment will
therefore need to be carried forward to 2020/21.

KLL17

Ferry Nab redevelopment

5,000

5,000

0

KMR21

Kendal Museum alterations

Economy Culture and
Leisure
Customer Comm Serv and
People

85,000

0

-85,000

KMR33

Braithwaite Fold Caravan
Park
Kendal Castle

223,359

223,922

563

41,000

0

-41,000

KMR34

Customer Comm Serv and
People
Customer Comm Serv and
People

40,000 Applications received from Cartmel, Outside In community group
and Millerground. DED has been approved to grant £20k to
each of the 3 applicants - £10k transfer from LIPS has been
arranged to increase this budget to £60k. Outside In £20k paid
Jan 2020. Millerground and Cartmel commencement date and
timing of payments yet to be determined. Grant agreements
currently being drafted for signing. Community groups are to be
given 12 months to expend the funds and therefore likely carry
forward required.

223,728 Work to convert facilities at 14 Peppercorn Lane, Kendal and
Hampsfell Depot, Grange for family accommodation. Tenders
back and contract to start end of March. Carry forward required.
20,530 Spend dependant on Electricity North West and Cumbria CC
programming works.
0 UCE now developing a business case for long-term use of funds,
so payment will be delayed until completed - likely to be 3-5
years before payment made, so budget re-profiled into 2021/22.

0 Work complete.
85,000 Museum agreement between Kendal Town Council and Kendal
College not yet signed - payment to be made once signed.
0 Works complete, retention outstanding.
41,000 Tender back in March. Work to start on site in June.

SLDC 2019/20 Capital Programme Outturn

Full Year
Budget
£

Appendix 2
Changes
required to
2019/20
£

Variance
to Date
£

Expenditure
£

Anticipated reprofiling
£

Page 58

Lead/code

Scheme

KPY42

Car Park machines update

Customer Comm Serv and
People

137,395

53,195

-84,200

84,199 Payment of first half of project cost agreed and paid. Remainder
pending resolution of outstanding issues and will not be paid now
until 2020/21.

KPY44

Town and Car Park/public
information Signs

Customer Comm Serv and
People

11,700

0

-11,700

11,700 Works agreed, but will take place in new financial year.

KPY45

SLH Car Park - structural
Customer Comm Serv and
repair and re-surfacing works People

288,086

272,856

-15,230

15,230 Work complete, retention outstanding.

KPY46

Car Park Resurfacing

Customer Comm Serv and
People

105,270

12,803

-92,467

92,467 Contractor arranged for work at Grasmere car park and Parkside
Road. Parkside Road to be done first, so this budget likely to
require carry forward into 2020/21.

KPY48

Parkside Rd Car Park

Customer Comm Serv and
People

153,826

8,528

-145,298

KPY49

Windermere Rd Car Park
Grange

Customer Comm Serv and
People

95,075

93,013

-2,062

0 Cumbria County Council leading on scheme, SLDC's contribution
will be a one-off payment as determined by CCC's progress.
Complete.

KPY50

Dowker Lane Car Park

Customer Comm Serv and
People

325,000

325,000

0

0 Purchase of Booths portion of car park agreed and completed 31
July.

KRE04

Grange Regeneration
Programme

Economy Culture and
Leisure

0

0

0

0 Scheme linked to Coastal Communities Fund scheme above.
Work will take place in 2020/21 financial year so budget reprofiled.

KRE55

New Road Common

Economy Culture and
Leisure
Grange Promenade structural Economy Culture and
works
Leisure

800

0

-800

0

74,068

74,068

0

0

0

152,250

138,743

-13,507

KRE66

KRE67

Grange LIDO

KSC91

Refurb Replace Recycled
Bins

Portfolio

Economy Culture and
Leisure
Customer Comm Serv and
People

Commentary

145,298 Planning approved. Parking study appraisal confirmed need for
car park. Works planned for Mar 2020.

0 Scheme complete.
-74,067 Budget re-profiled to 2020/21. Preparation fees (survey work on
sea wall, etc.) starting to be incurred so will be a need to reprofile some funds back into 2019/20. Main works to start in
June.
0 Work expected to start in June.
13,500 Procurement has taken place and bins ordered for delivery in
phases throughout the year. Extra demand and new policies
have led to anticipated increase in costs.

SLDC 2019/20 Capital Programme Outturn

Full Year
Budget
£

Expenditure
£

Appendix 2

Variance
to Date
£

Changes
required to
2019/20
£

Anticipated reprofiling
£

Lead/code

Scheme

KSC91

Vehicle Purchase

Customer Comm Serv and
People

181,700

181,683

-17

KXB27

Energy Saving Building
Enhancement

Climate Emergency and
Localism

139,200

10,035

-129,165

2,347,053

1,499,947

-847,106

273,370

212,151

-61,219

61,219 Original scheme gross £240k, funded jointly by SLDC, Heritage
England and Burton PC. Scheme phased over 2 years - £165k
2019/20 (funded SLDC £70k, Heritage England £80k and Burton
PC £15k) and £75k in 2020/21 (funded SLDC £35k, Heritage
England £40k). £108k extra contributions received from CCC
(£86k), Members budgets (£1.5k) and Parish Council (£21k), due
to the cost of the scheme being more than anticipated. Grant
scheme established for improvements to heritage buildings and
attracting much interest. Public realm enhancements also to be
taken from this pot and design work underway. First grant
towards the repair of the Royal Hotel has been offered. Work on
improvements to the square is due to complete in March. Carryforward of balance will be required.

0

44,341

44,341

0 Discussions with CCC over education contributions and local
transport links. Forecast to grow quite significantly in the next few
years. Implications of new regulations on CIL spending being
considered.

341,646

216,650

-124,996

124,996 Contracts have been arranged for many schemes and payments
have been made, some payments to be made shortly and some
to be made in instalments. Draft funding agreements being
drawn up for the remaining schemes. Some schemes will require
re-profiling in to 2020/21.

615,016

473,142

-141,874

Portfolio

Total Delivery and Commercial Services

Commentary

0 Romaquip vehicle (£148k) and lake boat engine (£34k)
purchased. Order placed for 5 x Dennis Eagle vehicles £187k
each and for 1 12t RCV £115k. Procurement also to start this
year for 10 3.5t vans £37k each. Due to length of procurement
exercises and lead times, unlikely to receive and pay for these
vehicles in 2019/20. Other vehicle specifications being reviewed
with hybrid options and future service delivery in mind.

129,160 TVF's and Mintworks Solar Panelling to take place. Work at Ferry
Nab (c. £60k) delayed. Will take place next financial year.
0

844,765

Strategy

Page 59

KMR35

Burton Heritage Grant
Scheme

Customer Comm Serv and
People

KIL01

Community Infrastructure
Levy (CIL)

Housing and Innovation

KIP01

Locally Important Projects

Economy Culture and
Leisure

Total Strategy

0

186,215

SLDC 2019/20 Capital Programme Outturn

Lead/code

Scheme

Customer and Locality Services
KLL18
Cockshott Point entrance
improvements

Full Year
Budget
£

Portfolio

Economy Culture and
Leisure

Appendix 2
Changes
required to
2019/20
£

Variance
to Date
£

Expenditure
£

1,470

0

-1,470

Anticipated reprofiling
£

Commentary

1,470 LIPS funded scheme, will complete in 2020/21.

Page 60

KNM51

Play Areas

Customer Comm Serv and
People

0

0

0

0 £20k budget has been re-allocated to individual play area works
at Broadgate Meadow (£6k), Hayclose Crescent (£10k) &
Millerground (£4k).

KNM54

Rinkfield Playground

0

0

0

0 Project complete.

KNM55

Hallgarth Phase 2

Customer Comm Serv and
People
Customer Comm Serv and
People

40,852

16,290

-24,562

24,560 Main works completed, final jobs being done. Awaiting invoices.

KNM56

Millerground Play Project

101,700

84,680

-17,020

17,019 Main work completed.

KNM58

Kendal Parks playground

Customer Comm Serv and
People
Customer Comm Serv and
People

22,400

0

-22,400

22,400 Budget to be used for Hayclose Crescent. Further consultation
required but scheme cost will be approximately £20k. Installation
likely to be in spring 2020.

KNM59

Lightburn Park MUGA &
playground

Customer Comm Serv and
People

47,700

0

-47,700

47,700 Total scheme cost will be £127k. Funding agreements received
and contract signed by Legal. Hope to install after easter 2020.

KNM60

Abbot Hall Playground

and

125,230

125,226

-4

and

74,227

74,000

-227

and

75,285

75,625

340

and

10,000

0

-10,000

10,000 Total scheme cost will be £200k. Major fundraising taking place work to take place summer 2020.
3,820 Final scheme cost will be £107k, work still underway, delayed by
bad weather.

KNM61
KNM62
KNM63

Customer Comm Serv
People
Yew Tree Playground Grange Customer Comm Serv
People
Greenbank & Castlefield Play Customer Comm Serv
Area
People
Queens Park play area
Customer Comm Serv
People

KNM64

Broadgate Meadow
Grasmere

Customer Comm Serv and
People

109,400

105,580

-3,820

KNM65

Maryfell Sedbergh Play Area Customer Comm Serv and
People
Rayrigg Meadow Play Area
Customer Comm Serv and
People

67,100

67,066

-34

120,000

107,174

-12,826

Customer Comm Serv and
People
Customer Comm Serv and
People

11,329

11,329

0

20,000

2,150

-17,850

Customer Comm Serv and
People

4,805

4,865

60

KNM66
KNM67

Beck trim Trail

KNM68

North Lonsdale Road Play
Area

KNM69

Biskey Howe

0 Scheme complete.
0 Installation complete.
0 Scheme complete.

0 Work complete and playground open.
12,800 Playground installed. Final payment made, additional work to
fencing.
0 Scheme complete.
17,850 Fund-raising and due to start consultation. Total scheme cost
£80k, £40k funding currently assured, other £40k being sought.
0 Work complete.

SLDC 2019/20 Capital Programme Outturn

Lead/code

Scheme

KNM70

HMCLG funded schemes

Customer Comm Serv and
People

KLR31

Nobles Rest park
improvements

Economy Culture and
Leisure

Total Customer and Locality Services

GRAND TOTAL

Portfolio

Full Year
Budget
£

Expenditure
£

Appendix 2

Variance
to Date
£

Changes
required to
2019/20
£

Anticipated reprofiling
£

Commentary

15,020

11,680

-3,340

3,340 Budget reflects HMCLG funding received March 2019. Allocation
to projects has been done and work is progressing. Outstanding
works at Beresford Road (£2.5k) and Lightburn Park skate ramp
(£2k).

8,240

3,887

-4,353

4,350 Final payment made. Bog garden project expected to take place
May 2020.

854,758

689,552

-165,206

0

165,309

7,241,107

4,074,369

-3,166,738

0

3,208,835

Page 61

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 62

Item No.11
South Lakeland District Council
Cabinet
Wednesday, 24 June 2020

2019/20 Annual Treasury Management Report
Portfolio:

Finance and Resources Portfolio Holder

Report from:

Section 151 Officer

Report Author:

Claire Read – Specialist 3 (Finance)

Wards:

All Wards

Forward Plan:

Budget and Policy Framework Decision included in the Forward Plan
as published on 26/05/2020

1.0

Expected Outcome

1.1

The attached report reviews treasury performance during 2019/20 against the
Council’s Treasury Management Strategy. This is a historic review for noting by
members.

2.0

Recommendation

2.1

It is recommended that Cabinet:(1)

Consider the 2019/20 Annual Treasury Management Report; and

(2)

Recommend it to Council for approval

3.0

Background and Proposals

3.1

The Council is required through regulations issued under the Local Government Act
2003 to produce an annual treasury management report. This is to include a review
of activities and the actual prudential and treasury indicators for 2019/20.

3.2

The report at Appendix 1 meets the requirements of both the Chartered Institute of
Public Finance and Accounting (CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury Management
(the Code) and the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities
(the Prudential Code).

3.3

In line with requirements of the code, the Treasury Management Framework
(including Prudential Indicators) was approved prior to the start of the financial year
by Council on 26th February 2019. Detailed reports have been presented to Overview
and Scrutiny Committee, Cabinet and Council throughout the year.

3.4

The level of actual external debt has remained at £12.8m, below the Capital
Financing Requirement of £18.5m. This shows the Council has not funded revenue
activity through borrowing, a key prudential indicator. This has been a prudent
strategy which is constantly under review so as to avoid incurring higher borrowing
costs in the future when the Council may not be able to avoid new borrowing.

3.5

Interest Receipts from the Council’s Investments have brought in £61k more income
than budgeted for, as we benefited from fluctuations in market rates as a result of

Page 63

changing market expectations on the next move by the Monetary Policy Committee
(MPC) re the Bank of England base rate and a stepped maturity profile for deposits.
3.6

Interest payable on borrowing was in line with budget as no new borrowing was
expected or taken in 2019/20 as a result of using internal cash balances to fund
capital rather than borrowing.

3.7

Looking forward, the COVID-19 outbreak has introduced a large amount of
uncertainty into the market. Officers will keep this under constant review with support
from the Council’s external treasury advisors, Link Asset Services. The current
strategy of using internal cash balances to fund prudential borrowing continues to
minimise the interest rate gap (where loans cost more than investments earn) and to
help reduce counterparty risk.

4.0

Consultation

4.1

The Treasury Management Framework satisfies statute and guidance issued by
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) and CIPFA. It is
mainly a technical document that reflects the decisions made as part of the wider
budget process. It was prepared in consultation with the Council’s Treasury Advisor
(Link Asset Services). Senior management and the Portfolio holder have been
consulted. The report presents historic data on treasury performance during 2019/20.
The report will be presented to the Overview and Scrutiny on the 22nd June 2020
and will proceed to Council on the 30th June 2020.

5.0

Alternative Options

5.1

There are no alternative options, the report presents historic data on treasury
performance during 2019/20

6.0

Links to Council Priorities

6.1

The Treasury Management Framework including Prudential Indicators forms part of
the corporate governance arrangements that support all Council priorities.

7.0

Implications

Financial, Resources and Procurement
7.1

The report is historic with the financial and resource implications forming part of the
out-turn report for 2019/20

Human Resources
7.2

This report has no direct impact on the staffing of the Council/

Legal
7.3

This report has no direct legal implications

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental
7.4

Have you completed an Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact
Assessment? No

7.5

If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons:
Treasury management out-turn relates to a historic review of activities already
approved as part of the 2018/19 Treasury Management Framework

Equality and Diversity
7.7

Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No

Page 64

7.8

If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons:
Treasury management out-turn relates to a historic review of activities already
approved as part of the 2018/19 Treasury Management Framework

Risk
Risk

Consequence

Controls required

Reporting is not compliant with
the statutory guidance.

Members do not have the
opportunity to scrutinise
the Treasury function

Full year treasury
management report to be
presented to Overview
and Scrutiny, Cabinet and
Council

Investment and borrowing
activity is outside of the
approved Treasury Management
Framework

The Council is exposed to
an unauthorised level of
Treasury related risk

Robust governance
arrangement to control
day to day operations,
based on the approved
strategy, with regular
reporting of compliance

Contact Officers
Claire Read, Finance Specialist and Deputy Section 151 Officer; Tel 01539 793152;
Claire.Read@southlakeland.gov.uk
Appendices Attached to this Report
(delete if no appendices attached)
Appendix No.

Name of Appendix

1

2019-2020 Annual Treasury Management Report

Background Documents Available
Name of Background document

Where it is available

Council Minute C/79 (2018/2019)

https://shorturl.me/yaIdeRg

Tracking Information
Signed off by
Section 151 Officer
Monitoring Officer
CMT

Date sent
02/06/2020
02/06/2020
02/06/2020

Circulated to
Lead Specialist
Human Resources Lead Specialist
Communications Team
Leader
Committee Chairman
Portfolio Holder
Ward Councillor(s)
Committee
Executive (Cabinet)
Council

Date sent
02/06/2020
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
02/06/2020
N/A
*** or N/A
*** or N/A
*** or N/A

Page 65

Date Signed off
09/06/2020
09/06/2020
04/06/2020

Page 66

2019-2020 Annual Treasury Management
Appendix 1
Report

Contents
1. Introduction ........................................................................................................... 2
2. Capital Expenditure and Financing 2019/20 ......................................................... 3
3. Borrowing ............................................................................................................. 5
4. Investments .......................................................................................................... 8
5. The Economy and Interest Rates ....................................................................... 10
6. Conclusions ........................................................................................................ 10

1

Page 67

2019-2020 Annual Treasury Management
Report
1.

Introduction

1.1.

The Council is required by regulations issued under the Local Government Act
2003 to produce an annual treasury management report including a review of
activities and the actual Prudential and Treasury Indicators for 2019/20.This report
meets the requirements of both the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and
Accounting (CIPFA) Code of Practice in Treasury Management (the Code) and the
CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the Prudential
Code).

1.2.

The report includes:


Capital Activity during the year;



Impact of this activity on the Council’s underlying indebtedness (the Capital
Financing Requirement, CFR);



Reporting of the required prudential and treasury indicators;



Overall treasury position identifying how the Council has borrowed in relation
to this indebtedness, and the impact on investment balances;



Summary of interest rate movements in the year;



Review of debt and investment activity.

1.3.

During 2019/20 the Council complied with its legislative and regulatory
requirements. Detailed reports have been presented to Overview and Scrutiny
Committee, Cabinet and Council throughout the year as part of the Quarterly
Corporate Financial Reports.

1.4.

We had only one breach of counterparty limits in 2019/20 and this was reported in
the Corporate Financial Update Quarter 2. Following procedure, we consulted with
the portfolio holder, the Section 151 officer and then the counterparty and we were
able to recall the excess. As a result were only exposed for an additional amount
of £1 million for 5 working days.

2

Page 68

2019-2020 Annual Treasury Management
Report
1.5.

Table 1 below provides a summary of the key data for 2019/20:
Table 1: Capital Expenditure, Capital Financing Requirement and Cash
Resources
2018/19
Actual
Capital expenditure
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR)
External debt
Total Investments (inc. call accounts)

£000
4,030
18,354
12,800
20,329

2019/20
Feb 19
estimate
£000
12,339
20,543
12,800
12,925

2019/20
Feb 20
estimate
£000
7,479
18,791
12,800
17,732

2019/20
Actual
£000
4,074
18,505
12,800
28,798

2.

Capital Expenditure and Financing 2019/20

2.1.

The Council incurs capital expenditure on long-term assets. These activities may
either be:

2.2.



Financed immediately through the application of capital or revenue resources
(capital receipts, capital grants, revenue contributions etc.), which has no
resultant impact on the Council’s borrowing need;



Un-financed capital expenditure which leads to an increase in the Council’s
CFR. This increases the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP see 2.6) charged
to the revenue account to ensure that resources are set aside to pay for the
asset over its useful life.

Table 2 below shows the actual capital expenditure and how this was financed.
Table 2: Capital expenditure and financing.
2018/19

£000
4,030

2019/20
Feb 19
estimate
£000
12,339

2019/20
Feb 20
estimate
£000
7,479

887
1,334
877
932

4,376
3,204
1,942
2,817

1,522
2,231
2,570
1,156

Actual
Capital expenditure
Resourced by:
·
Capital receipts
·
Capital grants
·
Revenue Reserves
Unfinanced capital expenditure

3

Page 69

2019/20
Actual
£000
4,074
1,263
626
1,316
869

2019-2020 Annual Treasury Management
Report
2.3.

Explanations of the variances are included within the out-turn report to Council on
30 June 2020. A lot is delivered through partnerships with third party organisations
and it has taken longer than anticipated to get the schemes under way.

2.4.

The CFR represents the Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital
expenditure. It increases when the Council incurs capital expenditure and reduces
as resources are applied to capital expenditure.

2.5.

The CFR is the cumulative unfinanced capital expenditure which has not yet been
‘paid for’. It can be understood in terms of an outstanding ‘mortgage’ balance on
the Council’s non-current assets.

2.6.

There are statutory controls in place to ensure that the cost of capital assets is
charged to revenue over the life of the assets. This is the annual MRP charge.

2.7.

The total CFR can also be reduced by:


The application of additional capital financing resources (such as unapplied
capital receipts); or



Charging more than the statutory minimum revenue charge each year
through a Voluntary Revenue Provision (VRP)

2.8.

The Council’s 2019/20 MRP Policy (as required by MHCLG guidance) was
approved as part of the Treasury Management Strategy Report for 2019/20 on
26th February 2019.

2.9.

The Council’s CFR for the year is shown in Table 3, and represents a key
prudential indicator.
Table3: CFR Movement
2018/19
CFR

£000
17,995

2019/20
Feb 19
estimate
£000
18,478

2019/20
Feb 20
estimate
£000
18,354

932

2,817

1,156

869

(573)
18,354

(752)
20,543

(719)
18,791

(719)
18,505

Actual

Opening balance
Add unfinanced capital expenditure
(as above)
Less MRP
Closing balance

4

Page 70

2019/20
Actual
£000
18,354

2019-2020 Annual Treasury Management
Report
3.

Borrowing

3.1.

A key prudential indicator is to compare the level of gross debt against the CFR.
Gross debt should not exceed the CFR in the medium term in order to remain
prudent and to ensure revenue activities are not being funded by borrowing. Table
4 highlights the Council’s gross borrowing position against the CFR and shows
that the Council has complied with this prudential indicator.
Table 4: Gross Debt v CFR
31 March 2019
£000
12,800
18,354
(5,554)

Gross Debt
CFR
Over / (under) borrowing

31 March 2020
£000
12,800
18,505
(5,705)

3.2.

During 2019-20, the council maintained an under-borrowed position of £5.7m. This
means that the capital borrowing need, the CFR, was not fully funded with loan
debt, as cash supporting the Council’s reserves, balances and cash flow was used
as an interim measure. This strategy was prudent as investment returns were low
and minimising counterparty risk on placing investments also needed to be
considered.

3.3.

The policy of avoiding new borrowing by running down spare cash balances has
served well over the last few years. However this was, and will continue to be,
kept under review to avoid incurring higher borrowing costs in the future when the
Council will not be able to avoid new borrowing to finance capital expenditure.

3.4.

In October 2019, HM treasury imposed a change in the margin over gilt yields for
PWLB rates by adding 1%, making the PWLB Certainty rate 1.8% over gilts, and
while this has been partially reversed for some forms of borrowing in the
Chancellor’s March 2020 Budget, this affects the affordability of the Councils
capital plans and has resulted in some having their business cases reviewed and
updated.

3.5.

The government announced in the March budget a consultation with local
authorities (LA’s) on PWLB margins, the closing date of which has now been
extended until 31 July 2020. It seems that the treasury intends to put a stop to
LA’s borrowing money from the PWLB to purchase commercial property if the aim
is solely to generate an income stream.

5

Page 71

2019-2020 Annual Treasury Management
Report
3.6.

Included in the Prudential Code are a number of other indicators for debt, the
levels for which are shown in Table 5
Table 5: Summary of Debt and Debt Indicators

Gross Debt
Authorised limit
Operational boundary
Estimate of Financing Costs :
Net revenue stream (Feb 18 estimate)
Estimate of Financing Costs :
Net revenue stream (Feb 19 estimate)
Actual of Financing Costs :
Net revenue stream

2019/20
£000
12,800
26,815
20,600
8.57%
8.22%
6.48%

3.7.

The Authorised limit; is the “affordable borrowing limit” required by section 3 of the
Local Government Act 2003. This is the level of debt that while not desirable,
could be afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable in the longer term. Once
set the Council does not have the power to borrow above the authorised limit.

3.8.

The Operational Boundary; is the limit beyond which external debt is not normally
expected to exceed. This is set at a level consistent with the borrowing need
(CFR) plus an allowance for unexpected expenditure.

3.9.

As demonstrated in Table 5 the council has maintained gross borrowing within
both its authorised limit and operational boundary for 2019/20.

3.10. The ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream identifies the trend in the cost of
capital (borrowing and other long term obligation costs net of investment income).
This shows the percentage amount of the net revenue stream which is spent
before the Council provides any services. For 2019/20 the actual was 6.48%,
which came in below estimates for the year, due to no increase in borrowing and
hence interest payable.

6

Page 72

2019-2020 Annual Treasury Management
Report
3.11. In addition to the previously mentioned indicators for debt it is also important to be
aware of the maturity structure of borrowing and limits places on fixed and variable
rate debt. These are shown in Table 6 below.
Table 6 Maturity Structure of Debt and Limits on Fixed and Variable rate
debt.
31 March
2019
Actual

Fixed Interest Borrowings:
Under 12 months
12 Months to 2 Years
2 - 5 Years
5 to 10 years
10 to 20 years
20 to 30 Years
30 to 40 Years
40 years plus

0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
6.25%
46.87%
46.88%
100.00%

Limits on Borrowing at
Fixed rate
Variable rate (maturing<1
year)

31 March
2020
Approved
Up to 25%
Up to 25%
Up to 25%

31 March
2020
Actual
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%

Up to 100%
Up to 100%
Up to 100%
Up to 100%
Up to 100%

0.00%
0.00%
6.25%
93.75%
0.00%
100.00%

£m
12.8

£m
24.6

£m
12.8

0

0

0

7

Page 73

2019-2020 Annual Treasury Management
Report
4.

Investments

4.1.

The Council’s investments are all managed in house by the Council’s finance
team, with the objective to manage risk to ensure the security of investments and
maintain adequate liquidity for revenue and capital activities. Procedures and
controls to achieve this are well established both through member reporting and
officer activity detailed in the Council’s Treasury Management Practices.

4.2.

At the beginning and end of 2019/20 the Council’s investment position was as
follows:
Table 7 Investment Position
31 March 2019
Principal
£000
Call Accounts
Cash Flow (Operational)
Core Cash
Total Investments

1,330
7,998
11,000
20,329

Rate/
Return
%
0.65%
0.70%
0.74%
0.71%

31 March
2020 Principal
£000
9,798
8,000
11,000
28,798

Rate/
Return
%
0.71%
0.81%
0.91%
0.81%

4.3.

Chart 1 shows how investment balances have fluctuated over the course of the
year.

4.4.

Investment returns remained low during 2019/20 with the Bank of England Bank
Rate falling twice in March, first to 0.25% and then to 0.10%, due to measures
taken to support the country though the COVID-19 virus outbreak.
8

Page 74

2019-2020 Annual Treasury Management
Report
4.5.

Overall the Council earned £284k on its investments against a budget of £223k as
it benefited from fluctuations in market rates as a result of changing market
expectations on the next move by the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) on the
Bank of England Bank Rate and a stepped maturity profile for deposits.

4.6.

Table 8 Investment Performance
Average
Annual Return
0.71%
0.81%
0.91%

Call Accounts
Cash Flow (Operational)
Core Cash

Benchmark
0.52%
0.63%
0.70%

Variance
0.19%
0.18%
0.21%

Non-Treasury Investments
4.7.

The Council owns and has previously purchased properties that are now classified
as investments. These properties were purchased for economic development
reasons, to provide employment opportunities in areas where the market had
failed to do so and are now classified as investment properties.
An example, is the investment in 2015 to create the Mint Works, which came
about due to the Council recognising that there was a lack of start-up units for
businesses in the district and stepping in to meet this need.

4.8.

During 2019/20 the Council purchased the remaining interest in Dowker Lane car
park, to secure public parking provision in Kendal. As part of the deal the Council
gained two new investment properties.

4.9.

The Council continues to hold 25 investment properties with a fair value of
£4.185m. All these properties are within the boundaries of SLDC. After expenses
the Council earned £0.348m in income, creating a return on investment of 8.32%
overall down from 8.85% in 2018/19.

9

Page 75

2019-2020 Annual Treasury Management
Report
5.

The Economy and Interest Rates

5.1.

The Bank of England Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) held the Bank rate at
0.75% until March 2020 due to Brexit uncertainty. However when it became clear
that the COVID-19 virus outbreak posed a huge threat to the UK economy, the
MPC delivered two emergency cuts in rates. The first to 0.25% and the second to
0.10%, along with an increase in quantitative easing.

5.2.

CPI inflation has fell in 2020 to finish at 1.5% in March 2020, within the MPC’s
target of 2% +/- 1%. The outlook for inflation is for it to continue to fall as the world
economy heads into a recession. This has already lead to a fall in oil prices and
has seen wage inflation being to fall. While inflation could turn negative in the
Eurozone it is currently not thought likely in the UK.

5.3.

Following a very volatile year, annual growth for 2019 came in at 1.1%. 2020
started well with optimistic business surveys as the general election provided a
decisive result. Since then expectations have deteriorated all over the world due to
COVID 19 outbreak.

5.4.

Looking forward, the COVID-19 outbreak continues to put pressure all economies,
with many central banks and governments taking emergency action effectively
stalling the economy though lockdowns and unprecedented amounts of central
government support to business and individuals.
Recovery from this global recession, will depend on when and how quickly we
move out lockdown, which business survive and how government spending is
impacted. At the time of writing this report there are a number of uncertainties in
the market including the prospect of negative rates in the UK, another round of
austerity and a second wave of the virus.
In addition, the UK also still have Brexit on the agenda with the final deadline for
leaving and getting a trade deal being December 2020.

5.5.

Elsewhere the US economy grew by 2.1% in 2019, while growth in the EU fell to
0.9% in 2019.

6.

Conclusions

6.1.

The Council has operated in line with its Treasury and Prudential Indicators and
overall investments have performance well earning the council an extra £61k in
income. Uncertainty continues over the UK economy and interest rates into
2020/21.

6.2.

The capital programme out-turn has led to no new borrowing being required as
cash reserves have been used to fund capital. The borrowing position will
continue to be kept under review.
10

Page 76

Item No.12
South Lakeland District Council
Cabinet
Wednesday 24th June 2020
Council
Tuesday 30th June 2020

Lancaster and South Cumbria Joint Committee
Portfolio:

Councillor Giles Archibald – Leader and Promoting South Lakeland
Portfolio Holder

Report from:

Lawrence Conway – Chief Executive

Report Author:

David Sykes - Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources

Wards:

All Wards

Forward Plan:

Included in the Forward Plan as published on 26th May 2020

1.0

Expected Outcome

1.1

The shaping and driving of economic development across the Lancaster and South
Cumbria Economic Region through the creation of a robust, formally constituted joint
committee between Barrow Borough Council, South Lakeland District Council and
Lancaster City Council.

1.2

The Joint Committee will be known as the Lancaster and South Cumbria Joint
Committee.

2.0

Recommendations

2.1

It is recommended that Cabinet:
(1)

Establish a Joint Committee with Barrow Borough and Lancaster City
Councils covering all respective administrative areas to promote the
economic, social and environmental well being of the areas.

(2

Delegates the Executive Functions within the Terms of Reference and
adopts the Procedure Rules as attached in Appendix 1 and outlined in
the report, to the Joint Committee

(3)

Agrees that Lancaster City Council act as the initial host authority for
one year.

(4)

Subject to the Cabinet approving the establishment of the Joint
Committee, appoint the Leader and the Portfolio Holder for Economy,
Culture and Leisure to the Joint Committee.

(5)

Request Council authorises the Councils Monitoring Officer to make all
necessary constitutional amendments to the Councils Constitution and
to update the Councils Scheme of Delegation in Part 3 of the
Constitution.

Page 77

3.0

Background and Proposals

3.1

In summer 2017, the three authorities approved a joint statement of intent to work
collaboratively to drive forward agreed approaches to economic development across
the Lancaster and South Cumbria Economic Region.

3.2

This statement was rooted in the findings of 2016 economic study work which
confirmed the region as a functioning economic area with a combined Gross Value
Added comparable to other major North West economic centres eg Warrington.
Strengths were identified in the sectors of marine engineering, energy generation,
nuclear skills, advanced manufacturing and higher education. In conclusion,
development opportunities could be better identified and realised working
strategically across administrative boundaries.

3.3

In June 2019, the three authorities produced and launched a prospectus ‘Driving
Growth Together’ at an event at Lancaster University attended by a wide range of
businesses, agencies, authorities and media from across the region. The prospectus
and approach to collaborative working was well received.

3.4

The authorities produced an outline proposal for a ‘Growth Deal, and presented it to
the Minister for the Northern Powerhouse ahead of the Convention of the North, held
in September 2019. This collaborative approach has successfully raised the profile of
the region amongst the Northern Powerhouse, Ministers and local MP’s and outlined
potential investments in infrastructure, the business environment and place.

3.5

Current work is taking place to refine and focus proposals for a growth deal type
programme to attract significant public investment to transformational growth projects
and importantly drive COVID19 resilience to the region’s economy. This requires a
strong case, backed by demonstrable collaborative action, supported by visible
commitment and accountability.

3.6

As such, it is considered beneficial to establish a formal arrangement between the
three Councils to drive this, reinforcing the sense of developing a functional economic
area. The proposal is to establish the Lancaster and South Cumbria Economic
Prosperity Board. This would be established as a Joint Committee, using powers
under the Local Government Acts 1972 and 2000 and under the Local Authorities
(Arrangement for the Discharge of Functions) (England) Regulations 2012.

3.7

The proposed Joint Committee’s Procedure Rules are presented in Appendix 1. The
Joint Committee’s remit will be to provide political and democratic accountability and
in doing so:
a)

act as a key strategic forum for sustainable economic prosperity issues in the
Lancaster and South Cumbria Region and to make representations and
recommendations on sustainable economic development opportunities,
programmes and investments to other bodies, to include Government, Local
Government and the Cumbria and Lancashire Local Enterprise Partnerships
(LEPs);

b)

act as a key strategic forum for meeting the climate emergency across the
Lancaster and South Cumbria Region and to make representations and
recommendations on sustainable economic development opportunities,
programmes and investments to other bodies, to include Government, Local
Government and the Cumbria and Lancashire Local Enterprise Partnerships
(LEPs);

Page 78

c)

act as the key strategic forum for reducing inequality across the Lancaster and
South Cumbria Region and to make representations and recommendations on
sustainable economic development opportunities, programmes and
investments to other bodies, to include Government, Local Government and the
Cumbria and Lancashire Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs);

d)

actively engage with a range of experts, community organisations, businesses
and institutions in the Lancaster and South Cumbria Region in relation to
economic, social and environmental wellbeing development decision making
and to engage with other stakeholders where appropriate

e)

consider and advise on the appropriateness and viability of alternative,
successor economic, social and environmental governance arrangements.

f)

to have direct and strategic oversight of key growth focused projects and
iniatives that the Joint Committee has influence over the funding of and across
the Lancaster and South Cumbria Economic Region

3.8

Membership will comprise two members from each constituent authority. The joint
committee will be able to co-opt members or non-authority members up to a maximum
of three. If a member is co - opted this would need to be a Cabinet member under the
2012 Regulations

3.9

Each of the constituent authorities will rotate the hosting of the joint committee. Initially,
Lancaster City Council will host the joint committee. Meetings will be no less than
quarterly in frequency.

3.10 The joint committee will not hold funds or monies on behalf of the constituent
authorities.
3.11 The approach utilises existing powers available to the constituent authorities and is
considered to be an optimal means of achieving greater focus and political and
democratic accountability to the joint endeavours of the Councils to promote
development and strengthened resilience of the region’s economy, social and
environmental wellbeing.
3.12 It is proposed that the Terms of Reference will be reviewed at the first meeting of the
Joint Committee with any changes brought back to a future meeting.
4.0

Consultation

4.1

Promoting a strategic economic development approach across the region has been
promoted via the prospectus, the event at Lancaster University and directly with
Ministers, MP’s and bodies such as the Northern Powerhouse Partnership. The
approach has been broadly welcomed and encouraged.

4.2

The Leaders and Chief Executives of the constituent authorities have discussed
options for creating more formal and accountable arrangements for the Councils to
progress growth initiatives.

5.0

Alternative Options

5.1

The constituent authorities could continue with an informal collaboration. This option
is not recommended as the requirements and options for promoting growth and
investment proposals to Government and local partners will be strengthened if
backed by demonstrable joint commitment a formal arrangements represents. The

Page 79

existing informal collaboration is not open to political and democratic scrutiny other
than individually through each of the constituent authorities.
5.2

The constituent authorities could consider establishing an Economic Prosperity
Board through an alternative legislative route provided by the Local Democracy,
Economic Development and Construction Act 2009 and the Cities and Local
Government Devolution Act 2016. This option would establish the Board as a
corporate body, however this option is reliant on securing secretary of state consent.
This takes the creation of a formal joint arrangement beyond the control of the
constituent authorities. The Joint Committee could be separate from the Board or
develop into this in due course. Whilst this may be an option at a further date, it is
considered the Joint Committee route provides an appropriate formal arrangement at
this time. As such this option is not recommended.

6.0

Links to Council Priorities

6.1

The proposal directly supports the Council’s priority of working across boundaries
to deliver economic growth.

6.2

Specific contribution is made to the following Council Plan outcomes:

7.0



working across Morecambe Bay and the North West to secure inward investment



attracting external funding and delivering critical infrastructure



Working collaboratively on our climate emergency priorities, policy and action
plan.



participating in the Northern Powerhouse and contributing to the preparation and
implementation of the Local Industrial Strategy



promoting unique selling points such as marine and cultural and creative
industries



intervening to deliver major sites and critical infrastructure and remove barriers to
delivery



working with partners to deliver critical transport and other infrastructure



supporting delivery in neighbouring authorities



attracting new delivery partners



using our distinctive environment to create opportunities for all

Implications

Financial, Resources and Procurement
7.1.1

South Lakeland District Council will need to share the burden of hosting the joint
committee. It is intended to achieve this through rotating the hosting of the joint
committee between the three authorities. As such there are not intended to be
significant additional direct costs incurred through hosting the joint committee.
Appointed Members attendance at formal meetings will be an approved duty and as
such some additional travel expenses may be incurred.

7.1.2

The joint committee will not hold funds or monies on behalf of the constituent
authorities. Any finance or accountable body implications and requirements arising
from recommendations of the joint committee will be subject to the separate
consideration and approval of the respective authorities.

Human Resources
7.2.1

As described in 7.1.1 there will be a requirement to act as host authority on a
rotational basis. This will require the organisation of four joint committee meetings in

Page 80

a year when the Council acts as host. It is considered that this will be undertaken
from within current resources.
7.2.2

The most significant demand on the Council’s employees will be the involvement in
joint working by specialist officers on strategy, programme and delivery tasks.
Strategic economic development work already has focus on the initiatives which may
comprise future investments. This represents a focussing of existing resources.

7.2.3

However, the COVID 19 response brings greater demands to develop initiatives to
restart and create greater resilience in the region’s economy. There may be need for
additional specialist resources.

7.2.4

Specialist and administrative resources will be kept under review subject to the
needs and opportunities of the local economy. If additional resources are required,
potentially to be funded by the NNDR Pooling Reserve, a separate report would be
prepared for consideration by Cabinet.

Legal
7.3.1

The joint committee will be established pursuant to powers under the Local
Government Acts 1972 and 2000 and under the Local Authorities (Arrangement for
the Discharge of Functions) (England) Regulations 2012.

7.3.2

Article 11, paragraph 11.1 of the Council’s Constitution enables the Council or the
Cabinet to make arrangements to promote well being.

7.3.3

Paragraph 11.2(b) enables the Cabinet to establish joint arrangements with one or
more local authorities to exercise functions which are executive functions. Such
arrangements may involve the appointment of joint committees with these other local
authorities.

7.3.4

Paragraph 11.2(c) subject to exceptions listed in paragraph 11.2(d) the Cabinet may
only appoint Cabinet members to a Joint Committee and those members need not
reflect the political composition of the local authority as a whole.

7.3.5

Paragraph 11.2 (e) states that details of any joint arrangements including any
delegations to Joint Committees will be found in the Council's scheme of delegations
in Part 3 of the Constitution.

7.3.6

With regard to Access to Information, as one of the constituent authorities does not
operate a Cabinet system, the Access to Information rules in Part VA of the Local
Government Act will apply.

7.3.8

General economic development activity also now comes under the General Power of
Competence in section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 (previously the well-being power
and before that the economic development power in the Local Government and
Housing Act 1989.

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental
7.4

Have you completed a Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact
Assessment? No

7.4.1

The summary of the assessment undertaken in July 2017 remains relevant:
Collaborative working will help to attract high quality development that will improve
the built environment. It will create higher paid jobs which will in turn have positive
outcomes for income and poverty. Working with the colleges and universities and
ensuring they are outputting students with relevant skills for the local job market will
further increase opportunity for local people.

Page 81

Equality and Diversity
7.5

Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No

7.5.1

The operation of the joint committee will be conducted in accordance with the
Equalities Schemes of each of the constituent authorities. Any proposed programmes
and projects resulting from the work of the joint committee will be subject to separate
Equalities Impact Analysis.

Risk
Risk

Consequence

Controls required

Each or any of the three
constituent authorities do not
agree or continue the joint
arrangements

Benefits and opportunities
of collaborative working
are not realised

Continued development of
programme and promotion
of benefits of collaborative
working.
Ensure progress is
regularly reviewed and
changes made as required
to maintain focus and
progress

Joint arrangements are not
recognised by other partners
and Government

Reduced effectiveness of
collaborative working

Ensure regular dialogue
with partner organisations,
businesses, Ministers and
MPs regarding progress
and opportunities
Consider use of co-option
of members to the joint
committee

The coherence of the functional
economic area is not recognised
in the strategies for local
industrial development, the
Northern Powerhouse,
devolution and including the
renewal planning post COVID19

Reduced effectiveness of
collaborative working
Opportunity cost to the
economic potential of the
region

Ensure regular dialogue
with partner organisations,
businesses, Ministers and
MPs regarding progress
and opportunities
Ensure good intelligence
and ‘horizon scanning’ to
support the positioning
and promotion of the
regions opportunities

Contact Officers
David Sykes – Director Strategy, Innovation and Resources.
D.Sykes@southlakeland.gov.uk
Appendices Attached to this Report
Appendix No.

Name of Appendix

1

Lancaster and South Cumbria Economic Prosperity Board
Joint Committee Procedure Rules

Page 82

Background Documents Available
Name of Background document

Where it is available

Previous Cabinet report – July 2017

https://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/doc
uments/s18881/Morecambe%20Bay%20Joi
nt%20Statement%20of%20Intent%20to%20
Collaborate%20on%20Economic%20Devel
opment%20Initiatives.pdf

Morecambe Bay – Joint Statement of
Intent to collaborate on economic
development initiatives

https://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/doc
uments/s18882/Morecambe%20Bay%20Joi
nt%20Statement%20of%20Intent%20to%20
Collaborate%20on%20Economic%20Devel
opment%20Initiatives%20-%20Appendi.pdf

Tracking Information
Signed off by
Section 151 Officer
Monitoring Officer
CMT

Date sent
25 May 2020
25 May 2020
4 June 2020

Circulated to
Strategy Lead Specialist
Operational Lead, Specialist
Services
Human Resources Lead Specialist
Communications Team
Leader
Committee Chairman
Portfolio Holder
Ward Councillor(s)
Committee
Executive (Cabinet)
Council

Date sent
25 May 2020
25 May 2020
25 May 2020
25 May 2020
25 May 2020
Not applicable
22 May 2020
Not Applicable
Not Applicable
24th June 2020
30th June 2020

Page 83

Date Signed off
08/06/2020
08/06/2020
4 June 2020

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 84

Lancaster and South Cumbria Joint Committee

Appendix 1

JOINT COMMITTEE – PROCEDURE RULES
1.
1.1

Purpose
The purpose of the Joint Committee (‘JC’) will be to bring together local authority partners
in a robust, formally constituted arrangement which will help shape and drive economic
development across the Lancaster and South Cumbria Economic Region. This will be
undertaken by collaboration and mutual co-operation. The fact that some functions will be
discharged jointly by way of these procedure rules does not prohibit any of the constituent
authorities from promoting economic wellbeing in their own areas, independent of the
Joint Committee.

2.0
2.1

Governance
The JC will be a Joint Committee pursuant to powers under the Local Government Acts
1972 and 2000 and under the Local Authorities (Arrangement for the Discharge of
Functions) (England) Regulations 2012.

2.2

The JC will comprise of Barrow Borough Council, Lancaster City Council and South
Lakeland District Council (“constituent authorities") and up to three co-opted members, one
each from each constituent area. Any reference to ‘executive’, ‘executive arrangements’,
‘executive function’ or ‘committee system’ has the meaning given by Part 1A of the Local
Government Act 2000.

2.3

The JC is not a self-standing legal entity but is part of its constituent authorities. Any
legal commitment entered into pursuant of a decision of the JC must be made by all
constituent authorities.

2.4

Political Proportionality rules will not apply to the JC as so constituted.

2.5

The JC may establish sub-committees or advisory groups, to undertake elements of its
work, if required.

2.6

The JC may agree its name as appropriate and in light of any future change to the titling of
the Lancaster and South Cumbria Economic Region.

2.7

The JC has powers delegated to it by the constituent authorities these are set out in the
Terms of Reference in 3.0 below.

2.8

The JC will not hold funds or monies on behalf of the constituent authorities.

2.9

Each constituent authority operating executive arrangements will be responsible for
considering whether it is necessary [in order to comply with Access to Information
legislation regarding the publication of agendas including Forward Plan requirements] to
treat prospective decisions as ‘key decisions’ and/ or have them included in their Forward
Plan. A constituent authority operating a committee system will apply its own local
statutory procedures.

3.0
3.1

Terms of Reference
The terms of reference of the JC will be to provide political and democratic accountability
and in doing so:
a)

act as a key strategic forum for sustainable economic prosperity issues in the
Lancaster and South Cumbria Region and to make representations and
recommendations on sustainable economic development opportunities, programmes
and investments to other bodies, to include Government, Local Government and the
Cumbria and Lancashire Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs);

Page 85

Lancaster and South Cumbria Joint Committee

Appendix 1

b)

act as a key strategic forum for meeting the climate emergency across the Lancaster
and South Cumbria Region and to make representations and recommendations on
sustainable economic development opportunities, programmes and investments to
other bodies, to include Government, Local Government and the Cumbria and
Lancashire Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs);

c)

act as the key strategic forum for reducing inequality across the Lancaster and South
Cumbria Region and to make representations and recommendations on sustainable
economic development opportunities, programmes and investments to other bodies, to
include Government, Local Government and the Cumbria and Lancashire Local
Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs);

d)

actively engage with a range of experts, community organisations, businesses and
institutions in the Lancaster and South Cumbria Region in relation to economic, social
and environmental wellbeing development decision making and to engage with other
stakeholders where appropriate

e)

consider and advise on the appropriateness and viability of alternative, successor
economic, social and environmental governance arrangements.

f)

to have direct and strategic oversight of key growth focused projects and initiatives
that the Joint Committee has influence over the funding of and across the Lancaster
and South Cumbria Economic Region

4.0
4.1

Membership
Membership will consist of two members from each constituent authority. Such members
to include the Leader of the Council and/or other executive member, in an authority
operating executive arrangements (or Leader of the Council or committee chair, or vice
chair from a council operating committee system arrangements) and for the purposes of
these procedure rules, these members will be known as the ‘principal member(s)’.

4.2

Each principal member to have a named substitute member who must be an executive
member where the authority operates executive arrangements. Where governance in a
constituent authority is by a committee system form of governance, that substitute
member shall be as per that authority’s rules of substitution. All constituent authorities
must provide no less than twenty four hours’ notice to the Secretary where a substitute
member will be attending in place of the principal member. Regardless of any such
notification, where both the principal member and the substitute member attends a
meeting of the JC, the principal member shall be deemed as representing their authority.

4.3

In the event of any principal member of the JC ceasing to be a member of the constituent
authority which appointed them, the relevant constituent authority shall as soon as reasonably
practicable appoint another principal member in their place.

4.4

Each constituent authority may remove its principal members or substitute members and
appoint different members or substitutes as per that authority’s rules of substitution and by
providing twenty-four hours’ notice to the Secretary.

4.5

The JC has power to co-opt non authority members or another member to the JC, with the
number of co-opted members being half the number of principal members from the
constituent authorities. Each co-opted member will represent their relevant constituent area
and the appointment and term of office of these co-opted members will be determined by
formal decision of the JC. There are no substitute arrangements for co-opted members.

4.6

Each constituent authority may individually terminate its membership of the JC by providing
six months’ written notice of its intent to leave the JC to the Secretary. At the end of these
six months, but not before, the authority will be deemed to no longer be a member of the
JC.
Page 86

Lancaster and South Cumbria Joint Committee

Appendix 1

4.7

Where an authority has previously terminated its membership of the JC it may re-join the JC
with immediate effect on the same terms as existed prior to its departure, where the JC
agrees to that authority re-joining via a majority vote.

4.8

Any other qualifying authority seeking to be a constituent member, may join the JC with
immediate effect on the terms set out in these procedure rules, where the JC agrees to
that authority joining via a majority vote.

5.0
5.1

Quorum
The quorum shall be three constituent authority members (and where co-optees have been
appointed) one co-opted member with a requirement that each of the three authority areas
be represented (either an authority member or co-opted member from each constituent area
must be present). Should the constituent authorities change in number the quorum will be
increased to reflect the change, the precise arrangements to be determined by agreement.
No business will be transacted at a meeting unless a quorum exists at the beginning of a
meeting. If at the beginning of any meeting, the Chair or Secretary after counting the
members present declares that a quorum is not present, the meeting shall stand adjourned.

6.0
6.1

Chair and Vice Chair
The Chair of the JC will rotate annually between each of the principal members. The Chair or
in their absence the Vice-Chair (if one is appointed) or in their absence the member of the JC
elected for this purpose, shall preside at any meeting of the JC.

6.2

Appointments will be made for a maximum period not extending beyond each principal
member’s remaining term of office as a councillor.

6.3

Where, at any meeting or part of a meeting of the JC both the Chair and Vice Chair (if
appointed) are either absent or unable to act as Chair or Vice Chair, the JC shall elect one of
the principal members of the JC present at the meeting to preside for the balance of that
meeting or part of the meeting, as appropriate. For the avoidance of doubt, the role of Chair
and Vice- Chair (if appointed) vests in the principal member concerned and in their absence
the role of Chair or Vice-Chair (if appointed) will not automatically fall to the relevant
constituent Authority’s substitute member.

7.0
7.1

Voting
The JC’s decision making will operate on the basis of mutual co-operation and consent and
will take into account the views of the co-opted members. It is expected that decisions will
be taken on a consensual basis wherever possible. Where a formal vote is required it shall
be one vote each made by the principal members for each constituent authority, or in their
absence, their nominated substitute. Co-opted members are not permitted to have a vote.

7.2

All questions shall be decided by a majority of the votes of the members present, the
Chair having the casting vote in addition to their vote as a member of the Committee.
Voting at meetings shall be by show of hands.

7.3

Where immediately after a vote is taken at a meeting, if any member so requests, there
shall be recorded in the minutes of the proceedings of that meeting whether each person
cast their vote for or against the matter or whether they abstained from voting.

8.0
8.1

Hosting, Administration and Lead Authority
The JC will be hosted by each constituent authority in turn, with the rota determined by a
formal decision of the JC and the host authority’s Monitoring Officer shall be Secretary to
the JC (‘the Secretary’) (the position may be taken by a representative on their behalf).
The Host Authority will also identify representatives to provide relevant financial,
governance and legal advice to the JC. For the avoidance of doubt, the Monitoring Officer
of the host authority shall be ‘Proper Officer’ for the purposes of publishing the agendas,
background papers and recordingPage
decisions.
87 The historic official records of the JC will

Lancaster and South Cumbria Joint Committee

Appendix 1

pass to each host authority. The administrative costs of supporting the JC will be met
equally by the constituent authorities, with each authority being responsible for receiving
and paying any travel or subsistence claims from its own members, or co-opted members
representing that area.
8.2

A ‘Lead Authority’ will be appointed by a formal decision of the JC to deliver the
functions delegated to the JC. This Lead Authority, may be the same as the Host
Authority, or may be another constituent authority.

8.3

The functions of the Secretary shall be:
a.
b.
c.

d.

e.

f.

to maintain a record of membership of the JC and any sub-committees or
advisory groups appointed;
to summon meetings of the JC or any sub-committees or advisory groups;
to prepare and send out the agenda for meetings of the JC or any subcommittees
or advisory groups; in consultation with the Chairman and the Vice Chairman of the
Board (or sub-committee/ advisory group);
to keep a record of the proceedings of the JC or any sub-committees or
advisory groups, including those in attendance, declarations of interests and
to publish the minutes;
to take such administrative action as may be necessary to give effect to decisions of
the
JC or any sub-committees or advisory groups, and;
to perform such other functions as may be determined by the JC from time to time.

9.0
9.1

Meetings
The JC will meet no less than quarterly, unless the JC formally decides otherwise.

9.2

Meetings will be held at such times, dates and places as may be notified to the members
of the JC by the Secretary, being such time, place and location as the JC shall from time
to time resolve. Meeting papers will be circulated five clear working days in advance of
any meeting.

9.3

The Chair may choose to accept or reject urgent items that are circulated in a shorter
timescale or tabled at any meeting. Any such urgent items will be by reason of
‘special circumstances’ and will be specified in the minutes, as to the reason the Chair
is of the opinion that the item should be considered as a matter of urgency.

9.4

‘Special circumstances’ justifying an item being considered as a matter of urgency will
relate to both why the decision could not be made at a meeting allowing proper time for
inspection by the public as well as why the item or report could not have been available
five clear days before the meeting.

9.5

Additional ad hoc meetings may be called by the Secretary, after consultation, where
practicable, with the Chair and Vice Chair of the Committee (if one is appointed), in
response to receipt of a request in writing, which request sets out an urgent item of
business within the functions of the JC, addressed to the Secretary:
(a)
(b)

9.6

from and signed by two members of the JC, or
from the Chief Executive of any of the constituent authorities.

The Secretary shall settle the agenda for any meeting of the JC after consulting, where
practicable, the Chair or in their absence the Vice Chair (if one is appointed); and shall
incorporate in the agenda any items of business and any reports submitted by:
a) the Chief Executive of any of the constituent authorities;
b) the officers responsible for legal, governance, finance and economic development
at any of the constituent authorities;
Page 88
c) any Member of the JC.

Lancaster and South Cumbria Joint Committee

Appendix 1

9.7

The JC shall, unless the person presiding at the meeting or the JC determines
otherwise in respect of that meeting, conduct its business in accordance with these
procedure rules.

10.0
10.1

Access to Information
Meetings of the JC will be held in public except where confidential or exempt information,
as defined in the Local Government Act 1972, is being discussed. Only members of the
JC and relevant advising officers from the constituent authorities and any person referred
to in paragraph 11.2 below, will be permitted to be present for such items.

10.2 These rules do not affect any more specific rights to information contained elsewhere under
the law.
10.3

The Secretary will ensure that the relevant legislation relating to access to information
is complied with. Each constituent authority is to co-operate with the Secretary in
fulfilling any requirements.

10.4

Any Freedom of Information Act requests received by the JC should be directed to the
relevant constituent authority for that authority to deal with in the usual way, taking account
of the relevant legislation. Where the request relates to information held by two or more
constituent authorities, they will liaise with each other before replying to the request.

11.0
11.1

Attendance at meetings
The Chair may invite any person, whether a member or officer of one of the
constituent authorities or a third party, to attend the meeting and speak on any matter
before the JC.

11.2

Where agenda items require independent experts or speakers, the officer or authority
proposing the agenda item should indicate this to the Secretary and provide the
Secretary with details of who is required to attend and in what capacity. The participation
of independent experts or speakers in JC meetings will be subject to the discretion of the
Chair.

12.0
12.1

Order of Business
Subject to paragraph 12.2, the order of business at each meeting of the JC will be:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.

v.

Apologies for absence
Declarations of interests
Approve as a correct record and sign the minutes of the last meeting
Matters set out in the agenda for the meeting which will clearly indicate which are
key decisions and which are not and which items are subject to ‘call in’, in
accordance with procedure rule 18.1.
Matters on the agenda for the meeting which, in the opinion of the Secretary are
likely to be considered in the absence of the press and public.

12.2

The person presiding at the meeting may vary the order of business at the meeting.

13.0
13.1

Codes of Conduct and Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
Principal members of the JC (and their substitute members) are governed by the
provisions of their own Council’s Codes and Protocols including the code of conduct for
members and the rules on Disclosable Pecuniary Interests. Co-opted members are
governed by the code of conduct for members of the ‘Lead Authority’.

14.0
14.1

Minutes
There will be no discussion or motion made in respect of the minutes, except as to their
accuracy. If no such question is raised or if it is raised then as soon as it has been
disposed of, the Chairman shall sign
the minutes.
Page
89

Lancaster and South Cumbria Joint Committee

15.0
15.1

Appendix 1

Role of the Chair
A Member wishing to speak shall address the Chair and direct their comments to the
question being discussed. The Chair shall decide the order in which to take
representations from members wishing to speak and shall decide all questions of order.
Their ruling upon all such questions or upon matters arising in debate shall be final and
shall not be open to discussion.

15.2 The Chair shall have the discretion to regulate the behaviour of all individuals present at the
meeting in the interests of the efficient conduct of the meeting, including excluding
members of the press and public in the event of a disturbance.
16.0
16.1

Motions / Amendments
A motion or amendment shall not be discussed unless it has been proposed and seconded.
When a motion is under debate no other motion shall be moved except the following:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.
v.
vi.
vii.

To amend the motion
To adjourn the meeting
To adjourn the debate or consideration of the item
To proceed to the next business
That the question now be put
That a member be not further heard or do leave the meeting
To exclude the press and public under Section 100A of the Local Government Act
1972.

17.0
17.1

Application to Sub-Committees
These procedure rules shall apply to meetings of any sub-committees of the JC.

18.0
18.1

Scrutiny of decisions
Decisions of the JC which relate to the executive functions of a constituent authority will be
subject to scrutiny and ‘call-in’ arrangements (or any other arrangements equivalent to
‘call-in’ that any constituent authority operating a committee system, may have). This
would only apply where the decision is one which could have been made locally by that
constituent Authority acting alone. No decision in this circumstance shall be implemented
until the call-in period has either expired or if ‘called-in’ the matter concluded, in
accordance with the call-in procedures of the relevant constituent Authority.

19.0 Winding up of the JC
19.1 T he JC may be wound up immediately by a unanimous vote of all constituent authorities.
20.0 Amendment of these Procedure Rules.
20.1 These Procedure Rules can only be amended by unanimous resolution of the JC, following
the consideration of advice from the Monitoring Officers of each of the constituent
authorities.

Page 90

Item No.13
South Lakeland District Council
Cabinet
Wednesday 24th of June

Carbon Reduction Target and Green Team Update
Portfolio:

Cllr Dyan Jones - Climate Emergency and Localism Portfolio Holder

Report from:

David Sykes - Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources

Report Author:

Hannah Girvan – Strategy Specialist (Sustainability)

Wards:

All

Forward Plan:

Budget and Policy Framework Decision included on Forward Plan
published on 24 March 2020

1.0

Expected Outcome
Climate change is an existential threat to our way of life. Action is needed to tackle
climate change at international, national and local level to help to reduce the negative
impacts of climate change on our communities and communities around the world
The Council declared a Climate Emergency in February 2019 and adopted a Climate
Change Policy which committed the Council to play its part in meeting emissions
targets set internationally and through UK Carbon budgets. Adoption of the carbon
reduction targets recommended in this report will ensure that South Lakeland will make
its contribution to addressing the International Panel on Climate Change (2018)
recommendations to limit global warming to 1.5oC. In showing a lead on this important
issue, the Council hopes to influence other local authorities, Government and other
stakeholders to play their part.
Cabinet have already agreed to recommend to Council the proposal to adopt carbon
reduction targets for SLDC as an organisation and to support a Cumbria wide target
which has been recommended by an expert report as necessary to meet international
targets. These are outlined below.


To commit the Council as an organisation to be seeking to achieve net carbon
neutrality by 2030; and



to support a Cumbria wide target of Carbon Neutrality by 2037 and to take the
necessary steps within its powers and resources to achieve this.

These have now been inserted into the Policy at Appendix 4 and will be considered by
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the 22nd June 2020 and by Council on the
30th June 2020.
The Covid emergency has provided experience of working across sectors, across
organisations and across boundaries to address a serious, complex threat to our lives
and our local economy. The opportunity exists to capture that learning and apply it to
the greater but longer term threat of climate change.

Page 91

The outcome expected from this report is the noting of the progress on the Climate
Change Action Plan and the approval of the establishment of a Climate Change
Community Fund.
2.0

Recommendation

2.1

Cabinet to:
(1)

Note progress on the Climate Change Action Plan, and

(2)
Approve the establishment of the Climate Change Community Fund set
out in Paragraph 3.8.2.
3.0

Background and Proposals
The Climate Emergency

3.1

Cabinet has already agreed to recommend to Council the proposal to adopt carbon
reduction targets for SLDC as an organisation and to support a Cumbria wide target
which has been recommended by an expert report as necessary to meet international
targets.


To commit the Council as an organisation to be seeking to achieve net carbon
neutrality by 2030; and



to support a Cumbria wide target of Carbon Neutrality by 2037 and to take the
necessary steps within its powers and resources to achieve this.

These amendments to the Climate Change Policy are attached at Appendix 4 and will
proceed through the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Council at the June
meetings.
.

In February 2019, South Lakeland District Council declared a Climate Emergency. At
the same time, it adopted a Climate Change policy setting out a strategic approach to
reducing the Carbon footprint both of the District Council and of the District as a whole.
An Action Plan has been prepared containing a series of measures to guide
implementation of the policy. At the same time, three series of climate conversations
were held and the feedback from these has fed into various iterations of the Action
Plan.
The Climate Change Action Plan is attached at Appendix 1 and Cabinet will note the
changes since the last update at the Cabinet meeting on the 18th March 2020. The
Action plan will be the subject of further scrutiny by the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee on the 22nd of June. The Committee having last considered it on the 8th
January 2020.
The Council Plan

3.2

The SLDC’s Council Plan adopted in December 2019 sets a strategic priority of
meeting the challenge of Climate Change as well as the following actions:






Working with partners to develop energy saving and energy efficiency
initiatives
Providing energy advice and additional support to households at risk of fuel
poverty
Implementing the Cumbria Public Health Strategy
Promoting environmental technologies and the green economy
Working to achieve a carbon neutral South Lakeland

Page 92





Promoting sustainable and active transport including cycling and walking
Conserving and enhancing the biodiversity of the District
Phasing out the use of single-use plastics

In March 2019, the Council, along with all other Cumbrian authorities and the National
Parks, adopted the Cumbria Public Health Strategy. The strategy includes a key aim
of becoming a ‘carbon neutral’ county and to mitigate the likely impact of existing
climate change.
Towards a Cumbria Carbon Reduction Target
3.3

In response to the above the Director of Public Health has convened a Climate Change
Working Group on which are represented all Cumbrian Local Authorities and National
Park Authorities, representatives of the business community, environmental groups
and statutory undertakers. That group has been tasked with identifying a deliverable
carbon reduction target for the County and priority actions for delivery.

3.4

The Climate Change working group has commissioned Smallworld Consulting, a
Lancaster University based consultancy led by local climate change expert Mike
Berners-Lee to prepare a study which identifies the County’s current carbon footprint
and recommend appropriate targets. At the time of writing, the Smallworld report was
still being finalised. Early indications however are that, if a consumption based
approach is adopted, which looks not just at emissions from energy consumption but
also at embedded emissions in goods purchased and food consumed by residents and
visitors, a 2030 target is unachievable for the County as a whole. A 2037 target is
ambitious but achievable and targets of 2040 and 2045 would be more achievable but
harder to justify in terms of meeting national targets and addressing the issue with
sufficient urgency.

3.5

Meeting the 2037 target will require major technological change, behavioural change,
land-use change and resource for delivery, much of which will be outside the direct
influence of SLDC. Meeting the target will require very substantial reductions in the
use of gas, oil and solid fuel heating, electricity to be substantially decarbonised,
substantial increases in carbon absorption through land management, major
improvements to energy efficiency in buildings, the phasing out of petrol and diesel
vehicles.

3.6

In setting a carbon target, there are issues which need to be scoped out. South
Lakeland and Cumbria can have little influence on emissions from through traffic on
the M6. Similarly the footprint of international air travel for visitors to Cumbria is difficult
to attribute or quantify directly.

3.7

The engagement of local and national partners will be critical. Much remains to be
done to understand the full implications of meeting the target and to influence
Government and other partners to play their part in making sure it is achieved.
Nonetheless, a clear stance by SLDC will help to add impetus and influence other
partners. On balance, the adoption of a 2037 target strikes the right balance between
making a real impact on the problem, being deliverable and driving the necessary
immediate action. It is therefore recommended that the Council support the adoption
of a Cumbria wide target of Carbon neutrality by 2037.

3.8

To bring the target into effect, it is proposed to amend the Council’s policy on Climate
Change as set out in Appendix 4 to


commit the Council as an organisation to be seeking to achieve net carbon
neutrality by 2030; and



to support a Cumbria wide target of Carbon Neutrality by 2037 and to take the
necessary steps within its powers and resources to achieve this.

Page 93

The Climate Change Action Plan
3.9

At the same time as this strategic work has been undertaken, SLDC has developed an
Action Plan looking at the measures it can implement directly to address its own carbon
footprint and to influence others in the short to medium term. The full public action plan
is attached as Appendix 1. This also gives a breakdown of our current carbon footprint
both for the council and the district, a forecast for how we can reduce our carbon
emissions, how we will monitor progress and the support networks in our community.
From what has already been achieved we are hopeful that South Lakeland District
Council as an organisation can achieve production based carbon neutrality by 2030,
that is emissions produced on site.

3.10

Two of the first actions proposed as part of the Action Plan are the following:
(1) The Climate Change Community Fund. SLDC will provide a community grant of an
initial £20,000. The funding must be spent to benefit the local community on addressing
the climate emergency. The fund will support up to 50% of costs (up to a maximum
of £5000) for voluntary and community groups who wish to deliver community based
carbon reduction projects. The full funding criteria are attached as Appendix 2 with the
application for Appendix 3. The CCF will be funded from existing climate change
resources.
(2) Investigating switching SLDC’s electricity tariff to a green tariff from April 2021.

4.0

Consultation

4.1

Cabinet considered the content of this report at their meeting on the 18 th March 2020
and resolved to make recommendations to Council. Minute CEX/98 refers. They also
received an earlier version of the Climate Change Action Plan.

4.2

There have been three rounds of climate conversation meetings around the District.
Consultation with Cumbria Action for Sustainability, other local partners and District
councils has taken place and a variety of stakeholders are represented on the Climate
Change group. Progress on the Climate Change Agenda has been reported to the
Overview and Scrutiny Committee in August 2019 and in December 2019 and their
views incorporated into the Action Plan. Officers across the council have been
consulted and engaged with in the development of the action plan.

5.0

Alternative Options

5.1

The Council could choose not to adopt a climate change target, or to adopt a later date
to achieve carbon neutrality by 2040 or 2045.
Clearly there is a global risk in failing to address the challenges of Climate Change in
increased severe weather events and flooding, increased refugee flows, competition
for water resources, impacts on food production and many others. The actions South
Lakeland takes must be seen in the context of global solutions to a global problem.
However the global issue will only be addressed if local communities, local authorities,
County and sub-regional bodies and national Governments take ownership of it. South
Lakeland’s actions, whilst they may have limited impacts in themselves, help to build
resolve and influence others. Non-adoption of a target or adoption of later targets
would reduce the impetus for action locally.

6.0

Links to Council Priorities

Page 94

The Council Plan
6.1

The SLDC’s Council Plan adopted in December 2019 sets a strategic priority of
meeting the challenge of Climate Change as well as the following actions;









7.0

Working with partners to develop energy saving and energy efficiency
initiatives
Providing energy advice and additional support to households at risk of fuel
poverty
Implementing the Cumbria Public Health Strategy
Promoting environmental technologies and the green economy
Working to achieve a carbon neutral South Lakeland
Promoting sustainable and active transport including cycling and walking
Conserving and enhancing the biodiversity of the District
Phasing out the use of single-use plastics

Implications
Financial, Resources and Procurement

7.1

The Council has funded a number of initiatives to specifically support carbon
reduction. An annual contribution of £50,000 has been made to Cumbria Action for
Sustainability (CAFS) since 2018/19 and is included in the budgets until
2021/22. Other funding has been given to CAFS to support individual initiatives. A
budget of £200,000 has been approved to cover 24 months between 2019/20 to
2021/22 to employ a climate change co-ordinator and to provide a budget for grants
and environmental projects. The £20,000 Climate Change Community Fund will be
funded from the existing Climate Change resource. The capital programme includes
£139,200 for energy-saving building enhancements.
The Council is reviewing its Commissioning framework and Procurement Strategy to
emphasise the requirement to consider social value, including environmental impacts,
and consideration of whole-life costs when procuring all goods and services. For
example, procurement exercises for vehicles already include the option of diesel,
electric or alternative fuels.

7.3

Meeting the Cumbria wide target for 2037 may well have implications which are not
known at the moment for the Council. For example, car parking fees are a significant
revenue stream for the Council. If car use falls or if charging regimes change, there
could be impacts on revenue. Where individual proposals for climate change mitigation
and/or adaptation have significant financial impacts, these will be reported on
separately.

.
Human Resources
7.4

A full-time member of staff has been employed to coordinate carbon reduction and
steer implementation of the climate action plan.
All staff to engage and take responsibility to enable change to a low carbon
organisation.
Legal

7.5

The Climate Change Act 2008 sets out a target for the year 2050 for the reduction of
targeted greenhouse gas emissions. Whilst there is no specific legislative framework
for Local Government, there are specific references within legislation that we adhere

Page 95

to which cover climate change. For example, Section 9 of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, “Development Plans documents must (taken as a
whole) include policies designed to secure that development and use of land in the
area contribute to mitigation of, and adaption to Climate Change.” Through
commissioning and procurement, we can consider the Public Services (Social Value)
Act 2012 and implement the proposed changes in our Policy Framework. Legal
Services will look to existing legislation to support the Council in its delivery of the
proposed target. We will also review our Governance and Decision-Making Framework
to ensure that we are aware of the Climate Change impact of decision-making.
Health, Social, Economic and Environmental
7.6

Have you completed a Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact
Assessment? Yes (Attached at Appendix 5).
Equality and Diversity

7.7

Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? Yes (Attached at Appendix 6).
Risk

Risk

Consequence

Controls required

Failing to address climate
change will result in grave global
impacts

Including: increased
severe weather events
and flooding, increased
refugee flows, competition
for water resources,
impacts on food
production and many
others

Implement an action plan
to reduce the council and
districts greenhouse gas
emissions.

Contact Officers
Hannah Girvan Sustainability Coordinator
Direct Tel: 01539 793353| Email: Hannah.Girvan@southlakeland.gov.uk
Appendices Attached to this Report
Appendix No.

Name of Appendix

1

SLDC Climate Change Action Plan - Public

2

Climate Change Community Funding Criteria

3

Climate Change Community Funding Application Form

4

Council Policy on Climate Change – Update

5

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact Assessment

6

Equality Impact Analysis

Signed off by
Legal Services

Date sent
20 February 2020

Date Signed off
10th June 2020

Section 151 Officer

20 February 2020

10th June 2020

Page 96

Monitoring Officer

20 February 2020

10th June 2020

CMT

20 February 2020

10th June 2020

Circulated to
Lead Specialist
Human Resources Lead Specialist
Communications Team
Leader
Committee Chairman
Portfolio Holder
Ward Councillor(s)
Committee
Executive (Cabinet)
Council

Date sent
19 February 2020
N/A
21 February 2020
21 February 2020
21 February 2020
21 February 2020
N/A
N/A
18 March 2020
30 June 2020

Page 97

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 98

APPENDIX 1

DRAFT
South Lakeland District Council

Climate Change
Action Plan

May 2020

Page 99

Contents
South Lakeland District Council’s role
Co-benefits of addressing the climate emergency
South Lakeland District Council’s Carbon Footprint
The whole of South Lakeland District’s emissions
Production-based emissions
Consumption-based emissions
SLDC Climate Change Action Plan
Monitoring progress
Working with communities, businesses and organisations
Governance
Finance
Engagement
Glossary
Appendix 1
References

Page 100

5
6
7
11
12
13
21
26
26
26
26
27
29
31
31

South Lakeland District Council Climate Change Action Plan

South Lakeland District Council’s
Climate Change Action Plan
Climate change poses one of the greatest threats to humanity and we are already seeing some
of its very severe impacts around the world. An increase in global temperatures has led to more
forest fires, extreme droughts, flooding, and storm events that are all threatening human lives
and livelihoods across the globe and contributing to a biodiversity crisis. Since the millennium
we have had 20 of the 22 hottest years on record.
Figure 1 shows how the average temperatures have changed since records began in
1884.

Figure 1: Graph showing warmer years in red and cooler years in blue. (Metoffice, 2018)

Cumbria too in recent years has had to deal with the impacts of a changing climate. Three
flooding events in 10 years, including Storm Desmond, caused damage and disruption across
Cumbria highlighting the vulnerability of our area. These storms statistically were expected to
be one in a 100-year flood events, but were predictable with climate change trends: which
highlight that we should expect more frequent flooding in the future. We can expect hotter,
drier summers, rising sea levels and more frequent extreme weather events. April 2020 has
been the driest April on record with Levens, Kendal having 11.6mm of rainfall compared to the
average of 65.7mm and the summer looks set to be one of the hottest and driest on record (UK
Metoffice 2020).
These weather events threaten people’s lives, properties and health but also have a longer-term
impact on people’s physical, emotional and financial livelihoods.
This is a global issue that has been caused by an increase in greenhouse gas emissions; South
Lakeland must work with the rest of the world to address our emissions and mitigate the
impacts of climate change. The International Panel on Climate Change (2018 report)
recommended we must limit global warming to 1.5oC to limit the negative impacts on
humanity. This would entail a global reduction in carbon emission of 45% by 2030, and
becoming carbon-neutral by 2050. South Lakeland (and Cumbria) are embracing these targets,
and looking to go further and faster. As this is a global issue - we must all do what we can to
reduce our carbon footprint and lead by example showing that a low carbon world is not only
possible, but essential and desirable.

Page 101

page 3

South Lakeland District Council Climate Change Action Plan

Figure 2 shows the UK’s plan to be carbon-neutral by 2050 and why it is so
important that we act now.

Figure 2: Infographic from the Committee on Climate Change (2019)
page 4

Page 102

South Lakeland District Council Climate Change Action Plan

South Lakeland and Cumbria have an opportunity to lead a new low carbon future, which is
beneficial to all - giving us a more beautiful, cleaner Cumbria, where the economy thrives with
the growth of green industries, sustainable tourism appreciating the natural beauty and local
cultures of the area, and residents take pride in their local area, buying local produce and
helping meet our sustainable goals.

South Lakeland District Council’s role
In February 2019 South Lakeland District Council (SLDC) declared a climate emergency - its
Council Plan committing the council to “working to achieve a carbon-neutral South Lakeland”.
Our 2019 climate change policy acknowledges that climate change is occurring, that manmade greenhouse gas emissions are a primary cause and that climate change will continue to
have far-reaching effects on people and places, the economy, society and environment in the
district, across the UK and the world.
The council seeks to maximise the social, economic and environmental benefits which come
from combating, and developing resilience to climate change and developing a sustainable
economy.
South Lakeland District Council’s ambition is to be a “carbon-neutral” council by 2030.
SLDC has also signed up to the Cumbria Joint Public Health Strategy: To become a “carbonneutral” County and to mitigate the likely impact of existing climate change. SLDC have
confirmed a target date for South Lakeland of 2037. To achieve this, over the next decade, we
need to rethink how we live, work and invest in the District.
The council believes that becoming carbon-neutral will improve our quality of life in South
Lakeland and help to build new green, clean growth opportunities for our economy.

Our ambitions:
Zero-Carbon Council by 2030 and Zero-Carbon
District by 2037.

Page 103

page 5

South Lakeland District Council Climate Change Action Plan

Co-beneﬁts of addressing the climate
emergency
The council’s approach will be through collaboration and seeking co-benefits and positive
outcomes. An example of a co-benefit is that moving towards more active travel to tackle airquality also has benefits for physical health and mental wellbeing, as well as reducing carbon
emissions, helping to make towns more attractive and safer places to be. Sustainability,
economic growth, alleviating poverty and tackling climate change can all be complementary
and interlinked.

Figure 3: An example of the co-benefits with health (the BMJ,2016)

page 6

Page 104

South Lakeland District Council Climate Change Action Plan

South Lakeland District Council’s carbon
footprint
The carbon footprint measures greenhouse gas emissions that are under the council’s direct
control. This includes the emissions from the council’s buildings, fleet vehicles and outsourced
services. SLDC currently emits around 2600 tonnes of greenhouse gases (GHG) annually – this is
largely from transport (waste and recycling and business transport), and our utilities (including
contactors such as Leisure Centres).
Figure 4 shows our energy usage broken down by sector as a percentage of the
total emissions.

Figure 4: SLDC's Carbon Footprint 2018/19 (see appendix 1 for the actual CO2 emissions by sector).

We have been measuring our GHG emissions in detail since 2010 and SLDC organisational
carbon emissions have seen a 50% decrease falling from 5259 tonnes in 2010 to 2611 tonnes in
2018/19 (see figure 5).

Page 105

page 7

South Lakeland District Council Climate Change Action Plan

SLDC's CO2e Emissions by sector over time

Figure 5: SLDC Carbon emissions by sector over the last 10 years

This drop has come partly from increased efficiency throughout our estate, but also it must be
noted that for electricity the carbon factor used has reduced by nearly 40% in the UK due to an
increase in renewable energy in the energy mix of electricity UK wide (2016: 0.41205 kgCO2e
per KWh and 2019: 0.2556 kgCO2e per KWh). Additionally the council has sold some properties
so the size of the council’s estate has reduced. Therefore, while the council has made significant
progress on reducing emissions through mitigation actions, the greening of the national grid
and organisational changes have also had significant impacts.

What is the council measuring when it calculates its carbon
emissions?
Government guidelines categorise emissions as:
•

Scope 1: Direct emissions (such as council-owned vehicles or buildings)

•

Scope 2: Energy indirect emissions (such as bought-in electricity)

•

Scope 3: Other indirect (such as purchased materials)

Scopes 1 and 2 are recommended to be included in reporting; emissions falling under Scope 3
are optional. Needless to say, the more components that are considered ‘in scope’, the higher
the total emissions will be, as it will be closer to a realistic figure. The figures are best estimates
as we are trying to ‘measure the unmeasurable’ as best as possible.

page 8

Page 106

South Lakeland District Council Climate Change Action Plan

At SLDC we are measuring:
Scope 1: Emissions by authority owned vehicles and emissions from gas and oil boilers, the
energy used for operational work such as maintaining the parks
Scope 2: Grid electricity usage across the estate
Scope 3: Business travel, leased assets such as leisure centres and the emissions from some
contractor companies. In the future we are hoping to include water consumption and emissions
from other smaller contractors.
Figure 6: SLDC’s total emissions and forecasts

Figure 6: SLDC's target of 2030

SLDC have already reduced their carbon emissions by 50% since 2008 but would need to
accelerate that reduction to reach the target of net-zero carbon by 2030. The red dotted line
shows that business as usual is not enough for reaching this target. With offsetting and a more
ambitious decrease of around 25% per annum we can reach our target of net-zero (orange
dotted line), although the actual year on year reductions may look very different as it will
depend on the impacts of unknown national policy and technological change.

Page 107

page 9

Page 108

South Lakeland District Council Climate Change Action Plan

The whole of South Lakeland District’s
emissions
However, the council must go further than just its own operations to reduce emissions and will
support the District and the local community to lower its carbon footprint. We all play our part
in preventing the catastrophes associated with a warmer planet.
Cumbria as a whole have used Small World Consultancy to analyse our carbon footprint by
production and consumption so that it is clearer where and when we are producing
greenhouse gases (GHGs). They have concluded that if we are to achieve the Paris target of
1.5oC of warming Cumbria should aim to be carbon-neutral by 2037, which is what the South
Lakeland District are setting out to do.
Small World Consultancy produced one possible vision of a low-carbon Cumbria:

A vision for low-carbon Cumbria
The targets and recommendations that follow are intended as part of wider roadmap to a
better future for Cumbria. We imagine them to be implemented in ways that maximise cobenefits, especially in terms of health, community and economy. We now sketch out that
vision from the perspective of residents, visitors and businesses.
For residents
Although there are more visitors, it feels less crowded. People are spending less time on the
roads and have more freedom to take more exercise. The diets are improved, nutritionally
balanced and sustainably sourced. Homes are more comfortable to live in; warmer, safer,
and cheaper to run and more resilient to the climate crisis. Residents stay for longer, as there
is no need to move on for better pastures. Communities are more integrated thanks to
greater co-operation between residents, businesses and local government to improve
people’ s lives.
For visitors
Cumbria is more beautiful, quieter and cleaner. It’s exciting to visit because you can feel the
sustainability transition taking place here. It is easier than ever to leave the car behind. Bikes
(electric and conventional) are everywhere. There are fewer cars, and all are electric. The
roads in towns and countryside are cleaner, quieter and calmer. You can get any and every
kind of food you desire, but delicious, healthy, plant-based options are everywhere. People
come to Cumbria for a glimpse of a better future; tourism is thriving.
The stunning landscape looks all the more beautiful with more wildlife, more trees, less
erosion and no pollution in our lakes and rivers.
For businesses
The economy thrives with more jobs, especially in tourism, land management, and green
energy. Emphasis on the green economy sectors shows that Cumbria is leading the way
toward Net Zero, and this is a major attraction for young, educated workers to take up the
job opportunities the county has to offer in both new and traditional industries. The quality
of the environment is recognised as the best in England. Plenty of leisure time provides
opportunities for employees to live active healthy outdoor lives, and this is a major draw for
inward investment.
cont.

Page 109

page 11

South Lakeland District Council Climate Change Action Plan

Farming thrives, maintaining a strong link with our cultural heritage whilst taking a leading
role in its response to the emerging science on sustainable agriculture. Farming still
produces some high-quality meat as well as grazing for improved biodiversity, as well as an
increase in crop production where appropriate. Cumbria has an even stronger reputation
for high quality agricultural produce that commands a high price and is increasingly
exported.
Figure 7: A vision of a Low Carbon Cumbria – Small World Consulting 2019.

The Small World Consulting Report has taken a broad look at the emissions in Cumbria from
three different perspectives - extraction, production and consumption-based emissions allowing for analysis that prioritises industry and individuals. Because South Lakeland does not
have any planned extraction-based emissions we do not need to include that section here.

Production-based emissions
Production-based emissions are the net emissions that are actually released in the South
Lakeland area, for example, those released in the burning of fossil fuels, or those released from
the production of electricity. The UK Government department BEIS (Department for Business,
Energy & Industrial Strategy) annually release each summer local authority carbon dioxide
emissions (no other GHGs). We are using data from 2017.
South Lakeland District (the geographical area) produces 665 Kilotonnes of carbon per year,
split quite evenly between industrial and commercial fuel use, domestic energy and transport.
We have also taken into account our potential for offsetting some essential carbon produced
through Land Use, Land Use Change and Forestry (LULUCF) which has the potential of saving
around 80 ktCO2e (Kilotonnes of Carbon Dioxide Equivalent).
Figure 8 shows South Lakeland’s production-based CO2 emissions compared to the
rest of Cumbria and ﬁgure 9 divides that by the total population to give a per capita
ﬁgure:

Figure 8: Total production-based CO2 emissions by sector, broken down by Cumbrian local authorities (from A
Carbon Baseline for Cumbria, A report by Small World Consulting Ltd, 2019)
page 12

Page 110

South Lakeland District Council Climate Change Action Plan

Figure 9: Production-based CO2 emissions by sector and region, per capita basis (from A Carbon Baseline for
Cumbria, A report by Small World Consulting Ltd, 2019)

Production-based emissions do not take into account the production of goods and services that
are used in the local area (by residents, visitors or industry) when they are produced elsewhere.
This is why it is important to look at the consumption-based emissions as well.

Consumption-based emissions
Using data collected by Small World Consulting Ltd in 2018 we have an estimate of the
Greenhouse Gas ‘footprint’ for residents and visitors to Cumbria, this includes transport to and
from Cumbria, the food we eat, and the supply chain of everything that is bought or used. For
example, the carbon footprint of using a car is not only the fuel used but the carbon cost of
manufacturing and decommissioning the car as well. This gives a more complete and realistic
view of the impacts of residents, visitors and industries on the climate.
The figures are best estimates as it is nearly impossible to get accurate data for these tests,
which include the main greenhouse gases.

Page 111

page 13

South Lakeland District Council Climate Change Action Plan

Figure 10 shows the importance that tourism plays in our carbon emissions,
especially visitors travel to and from Cumbria.

Total consumption-based green house gas emissions in
Cumbria

Figure 10: Total consumption-based GHG emissions by category and customer for the whole of Cumbria (Small
World Consultancy Ltd).

page 14

Page 112

South Lakeland District Council Climate Change Action Plan

Figure 11 shows the average carbon footprint for a resident in South Lakeland. This
shows that changes across the board are needed to address our emissions. Personal
ﬂights were higher here than in other areas of the county.

The average emissions per South Lakeland resident

Figure 11: Per capita resident emissions broken down by category in South Lakeland

Page 113

page 15

South Lakeland District Council Climate Change Action Plan

The scale of the change in Cumbria required is shown in the graph below:
Figure 12 shows the change needed in all aspects of our lives to bring about netzero emissions by 2037 and includes the important role changes in land use will
play to be a carbon sink (an absorber of greenhouse gases).

Figure 12: Change needed to reach net-zero emissions by 2037

To achieve this target there are significant changes that must take place in our district, including
a 13% cut in CO2 energy each year and we would need to look at offsetting our carbon, aiming
for four-times as much offsetting each year.
As we approach 2030, many of these changes we can start to implement much sooner. Here are
some suggestions of what changes will be needed and how they can be brought about:
Reduction in household fuel use – Improving insulation and efficiency within homes can
cut emissions and fuel bills: Cumbria Action for Sustainability (CAfS) can give advice and
training with this.
Electricity decarbonisation - For example, switching to a renewable energy provider,
installing a heat pump or solar panels instead of an oil system.
Reduction in carbon intensity of driving – For example switching to an electric or hybrid
vehicle. Try to prioritise active travel, and only travel when necessary. Switch your next holiday
to a local trip.
Reduction in residents driving – For example by using public transport, car share schemes,
cycling, and walking where possible.
Cut waste – For example plan meals to eliminate food waste, use up leftovers, be creative with
surplus food. Then use a compost bin/ wormery for any raw food waste left.
Make sustainable food choices – Think about the carbon footprint of the food you eat eg.
Buying locally, having less imported meat. Extend this to all consumption including clothes,
electronics and toiletries.
Cut in air freight - Buy locally grown/produce where possible to reduce the food miles and
carbon footprint of food.

page 16

Page 114

Page 115

South Lakeland District Council Climate Change Action Plan

Reduction in emissions from visitors travelling to and from the area – encouraging
visitors to stay longer or reduce their carbon intensity of travelling to our district, using public
transport, buses and ferries, cycling and walking. Enjoy the area and see more by travelling in
different ways.

How are we going to achieve net-zero emissions?
The council has created an action plan, both for our own operations and for the wider district to
transition to net-zero emissions.

page 18

Page 116

South Lakeland District Council Climate Change Action Plan

Page 117

page 19

Page 118

South Lakeland District Council Climate Change Action Plan

SLDC Climate Change Action Plan
The Action Plan is broken down into three sections:
1.

SLDC’s own operations and buildings.

2.

SLDC’s services and collaboration with partners.

3.

SLDC’s inﬂuence with stakeholders (including the local community and
national government).

To ensure the action plan remains valid until 2037, it will be reviewed on an annual basis. This
will allow the latest research, technologies and regulations to be incorporated over time, as well
as learning from previous actions. This flexible approach will allow new partners, collaborators
and stakeholders to continually contribute to the plan and its actions. The plan identifies key
objectives for achieving net-zero emissions and the steps we can take towards it.
Timescales for implementation are as follows:
1.

Short term: Actions that can start now and aim to complete within the first
three years of the plan (2020 – 2022)

2.

Medium term: Actions which require further development to be
implementable within years three to six of the plan (2023 – 2025).

3.

Long term: Actions that have dependencies or require substantial
development to be implementable within the final three years of the plan
(2026 – 2028).

4.

Ongoing: Actions that will need regular review throughout the 10-year plan.

Page 119

page 21

South Lakeland District Council Climate Change Action Plan

SLDC Climate Change Action Plan
Objective

Action

Timescale

SLDC’s own operations and buildings

Target 2030

Achieve required carbon
efficiencies at SLDC

Short term

Create a council project team and governance to implement
action plan.
Create a tailored carbon emissions database to inform
systematic reductions.
Devise a carbon emissions impact tool to support informed
and positive council decision making.

Achieve net-zero emissions in
council buildings

Commission building by building reports on external and
internal measures with recommendations (utilising the
energy hierarchy: use less energy, improve your energy
efficiency, and create new energy from renewable sources).

Short term

Maximise water efficiency.
Assess the potential for
minimising emissions and
improving biodiversity on
SLDC owned land and assets

Commission report(s) on enhancing biodiversity of SLDC
land and parks, linking with our Green Infrastructure
Strategy, Local Nature Recovery Strategy and Nature
Recovery Networks.

Short term

Review streetlights and potential energy-saving technology.
Assess and implement
measures to significantly
reduce SLDC business travel
emissions

Develop and embed employee green travel protocol

Assess and implement
measures to significantly
reduce carbon emissions from
SLDC waste and recycling
service

Look at the efficiency of existing waste collection rounds
making changes where appropriate.

Short term

Investigate potential for electric vehicle and bike use for
employees on council business
Encourage councillors to minimise travel.
Long term

Investigate emerging technologies to support reduced
emissions.
Investigate enhanced recycling options (e.g. food waste)
Encourage community engagement with our recycling
service.

Assess and implement
measures to significantly
reduce carbon emissions from
SLDC contractors

Review procurement to optimise carbon-efficient
operations in council contractors.

Short term

Work with partner agencies
across Cumbria to share best
practice and achieve joint
outcomes

Invest and support in partnership working arrangements
across Cumbria.

Short term

Develop a productive and
positive interaction with
communities to stimulate
actions

Develop and implement a communications plan and seek to
proactively engage with the public.

Short term

page 22

Page 120

South Lakeland District Council Climate Change Action Plan

Objective

Action

Timescale

SLDC’s own operations and buildings (cont.)

Target 2030

Develop and implement a
carbon offsetting plan

Medium term

Assess our offsetting potential and work with local partners
to create an offsetting and biodiversity strategy for SLDC.

Oﬀ-setting: This plan prioritises carbon reduction measures to achieve our targets. However we recognise that it is currently not
possible to achieve zero carbon emissions solely through reducing our carbon usage, so we will look to offset our irreducible emissions
through working with partners such as the Lake District National Park and the Yorkshire Dales National Park at offsetting measures for
example tree planting, biodiversity creation and other options.

SLDC services and collaboration with partners

Target 2037

Review transport
arrangements, improving
travel, parking and roads in the
district to move to a greener
network

Medium term

Review licensing and permits, encourage electric vehicles
and discourage vehicle idling.
Install Electric Vehicle charge points and look in to discount
parking rates for low emission vehicles.
Collaborate with Cumbria County Council to improve
pedestrian and cycle routes across the district and support a
review of public transport.
Facilitate cycle hire provision, including electric bikes.

Encouraging all festivals and
events to be low carbon

Request sustainability plans for our own events and events
organised by third parties including travel plans, stalls and
sound/lighting systems.

Medium term

Support Businesses to become
low carbon organisation

For example helping with green audits, hosting workshops
and collaborate with companies on community energy
groups.

Short term

Help the tourism industry
transition to low carbon

Work with the National Park Authorities to support carbon
reduction, better environmental management and
increasing transport choices.

Medium term

Encourage cleaner and
greener utilities and services

Working with utility companies and services to help
neighbourhoods to be energy efficient and reduce
waste.

Medium term

Help residents to have more
energy-efficient homes

Promoting schemes such as LEAP/ Cold to Cosy and offering
grants. Working with registered housing providers to
implement higher energy-efficient standards.

Short/Medium
term

Ensure local planning
documents prioritise
sustainability and energy
efficiency

Review all planning documents, making sure they integrate
sustainable initiatives such as layouts that encourage
walking and cycling and incorporate public transport,
energy-efficient housing, green infrastructure and net gains
for biodiversity.

Long term

Influencing UK wide initiatives

Councillors to lobby national government on low carbon
initiatives and relevant policies.

Ongoing

Page 121

page 23

South Lakeland District Council Climate Change Action Plan

Objective

Action

Timescale

SLDC inﬂuence with stakeholders

Target 2037

Working with community
groups to encourage wider
participation

Ongoing

Promote schemes and programmes that reduce our carbon
footprint.
Facilitate a citizens’ jury.
Work with schools, local businesses, farmers and
landowners.

Ongoing

Provide a funding pot for community projects.

Helping to keep the
community up to date with
changes on the green agenda
and staying transparent and
contactable.

Engage with parish councils and other local authorities.

Ongoing

Work with local organisations and charities such as Cumbria
Action for Sustainability (CAfS).

Ongoing

Using our website, working with the local press and
attending local events we are keen to know and share best
practices across our district.

Ongoing

Please email Climate.Action@southlakeland.gov.uk with any
thoughts or queries.

So far, South Lakeland District Council has:
·

Adopted a climate change policy and a biodiversity policy.

·

Approved a council plan commitment to reduce our carbon footprint.

·

Fitted PV panels to some council owned buildings.

·

Commissioned an energy audit of SLDC owned buildings.

·

Introduced the Fill-up scheme, offering free water refills.

·

Provided financial support to enable the delivery of environmental projects.

·

Financed a business leader event around sustainability issues.

·

Continued to encourage ‘reduce, reuse, and recycle’ message around refuse and waste.

·

Planted almost 4,000 trees in four years.

·

Hired a dedicated sustainability coordinator.

·

Continued to promote and support the handyperson scheme, LEAP (Local Energy
Advice Partnership) and Cold to Cosy scheme to help residents improve energy
efficiency

·

Worked with Cumbria County to commission a Carbon Baseline Report for Cumbria

·

Helping to fund an initiative in Ambleside called the A to Z - Ambleside to Zero Carbon by
2030.

page 24

Page 122

Page 123

South Lakeland District Council Climate Change Action Plan

Monitoring progress
At the end of each financial year, the review of the action plan will inform an understanding of
the anticipated carbon saved. The council will publish a yearly review sheet showing carbon
emissions for that year, and how we are performing with this target.
To support this SLDC will:
•

Establish a flexible and dedicated internal project team to work across and with all
appropriate council services.

•

Develop a climate impact assessment tool to consider how everything that is proposed or
implemented by the council can be carbon-neutral or contribute to reducing carbon.

•

Develop new forms of democratic involvement – including “citizens’ panels”, crowdsourcing and crowd-funding initiatives.

Working with communities, businesses and
organisations
Working effectively with and in South Lakeland’s local communities and neighbourhoods will
be vital. Communities, businesses and organisations will be invited to be engaged in the
projects’ design and implementation in order to create genuinely sustainable solutions.
Improving a community’s green space, for example, can only be sustainable if local citizens feel
a sense of ownership, empowerment and for it to realise its benefits long into the future. The
greatest impact will come from working together across all sectors.

Governance
Achieving our target to be carbon-neutral by 2030 (and for South Lakeland by 2037) will not
work through ‘business-as-usual’ approaches. It will require us to work in different and new
ways to ensure we effectively solve and tackle the issues we face. We will all need to focus on
how to generate and capture more ideas, actions and resources from across the council, its
partners and the district.

Finance
Key to implementing many of the actions to achieve the target will be funding. Building a
carbon-neutral economy will create new opportunities for private and public sector investment.
SLDC will take the following actions:
•

Consider how internal budgets are used effectively to value and support work on carbon
reduction.

•

Identify appropriate ways to support and incentivise internal carbon reduction or
offsetting projects.

page 26

Page 124

South Lakeland District Council Climate Change Action Plan

Engagement
Effective engagement with organisations, workforces, partner agencies, sectors and all people
who live and work in, or visit, the District is vital to making the ambition of being carbon-neutral
by 2030 possible.
Innovative and effective ways of doing this that are currently under consideration include:
•

Develop a community fund to encourage and support new community carbon reduction
ideas.

•

Have a more open process on carbon plans, working with key partners and experts across
the District.

•

Develop collaborative intelligence for wider District/ County carbon work.

•

Reach out to community groups and stakeholders, mapping connections across the
District and beyond.

•

Develop a dialogue with key groups and individuals in the community.

•

Engage and involve schools and colleges across the District.

•

Develop and deliver local campaigns focused on the climate emergency.

We are keen to have public involved from the start – please email us with any thoughts and
ideas: climate.action@southlakeland.gov.uk
SLDC is part of the Cumbria Climate Change Group, and works with many different
environmental and sustainability focused community groups. If you would like more
information about any of these or you are part of another group that would like to be included
please get in touch

Figure 13: Organisations and community groups helping South Lakeland achieve carbon neutrality.

Page 125

page 27

Page 126

South Lakeland District Council Climate Change Action Plan

Glossary
Carbon emissions: The Kyoto Protocol lists six different greenhouse gases (GHGs) that are
emitted differentially by different processes. Each of these contributes differently to the
greenhouse effect in magnitude and timescale, measured by ‘global warming potential’ (GWP).
Although it is possible to report on these individually, general government recommendations
are to report on the overall effect of all of these using ‘carbon dioxide equivalent’ (CO2e) as the
common measure to bring different GWPs onto a common scale.
Carbon-neutral/ Net-zero carbon: Where the carbon emissions caused by an entity (e.g.
individual, business, product, etc.) have either been eliminated, or balanced by removals of
greenhouse gases (including offsetting). This can sometimes be referred to as net-zero carbon.
For the purposes of this strategy, we have used “carbon-neutral” as shorthand for greenhouse
gas emission neutrality.
Consumption-based emissions: We assess the greenhouse gas ‘footprint’ of residents,
visitors and industry, including the supply chains of everything that residents and visitors buy
and do whilst in Cumbria. Consumption-based reporting is important for looking at the climate
change impacts that people and businesses have through their entire lifestyles, including the
food they eat and the things they buy. For example, taking a consumption-based approach, the
impact of driving includes not just the exhaust pipe emissions, but also emissions resulting
from the manufacture and maintenance of cars and emissions resulting from the extraction,
refining and transport of fuels to the pump. - For businesses, it includes the full impact of
business practices, including procurement supply chains.
Production-based carbon emissions: These are the net emissions that are physically
produced in Cumbria, most notably by the burning of coal, oil and gas, plus those arising from
the production of electricity used in the county (wherever that generation takes place).
Carbon oﬀsetting: To counterbalance the carbon produced there is a possibility of taking in
more CO2 for example through planting trees and restoring peat bogs. But these processes take
time to absorb so it should be used as a last resort.
Scope for carbon emissions:
Government guidelines categorise emissions as:
•

Scope 1: Direct emissions (such as council-owned vehicles or buildings)

•

Scope 2: Energy indirect emissions (such as bought-in electricity)

•

Scope 3: Other indirect (such as purchased materials)

Page 127

page 29

Page 128

South Lakeland District Council Climate Change Action Plan

Appendix 1
South Lakeland District Council
Greenhouse Gas Emissions Data for period 1 April 2018 – 31 March 2019
(Tonnes of CO2e)
Scope 1
Gas Consumed

254

Owned Transport Emissions

1,219

Scope 2
Electricity Consumed

314

Scope 3
Business travel

179

Contracted out leisure Management – gas

336

Electric

204

Other contractor – Operational

106

Total Gross Emissions

2,612

Total Annual Net Emissions

2,612

References
Carbon Trust. (2020) – What are Scope 3 emissions?
https://carbontrustmedia.azureedge.net/cache/5/0/5/8/4/d/50584d0640a379b1e9
b84174a3e5bb1bed73b2b1.jpg (Accessed 7th May 2020)
Committee on Climate Change (2019) Net Zero – The UK’s Contribution to stopping
global warming
www.theccc.org.uk/publication/net-zero-the-uks-contribution-to-stopping-globalwarming/ (Accessed 7th May 2020)
Metoffice (2020) – What is Climate Change?
www.metoﬃce.gov.uk/weather/climate-change/what-is-climate-change
(Accessed 11th May 2020)
Moss, J. Berners-Lee, M. Freitag, C. and Donaldson, S. (2020) – A Carbon Baseline for
Cumbria. Small World Consulting Ltd
Stahl-Timmins, W. and Watts, N. (2016) – The UK Health Alliance on Climate Change. The
British Medical Journal.
www.bmj.com/campaign/climate-change (Accessed 7th May 2020)
Tyndall Centre (2019) – Setting Climate Commitments for South Lakeland.
https://carbonbudget.manchester.ac.uk/reports/E07000031/print/
(Accessed 7th May 2020)

Page 129

page 31

Page 130

Appendix 2
SLDC Climate Change Fund
V0.2
1 May 2020

South Lakeland District Council Climate Change Community Fund
Purpose
To make financial grants which help local communities to implement projects supporting SLDC’s aim of
achieving net zero carbon emissions for South Lakeland District by 2037.
The funding must be spent to benefit the local community, and we expect applicants will work with other
funders and community organisations and agencies to maximise benefit.
For example the funding could support:









Community schemes (eg community energy, repair/ reuse, community food initiatives,
community car share schemes)
Schemes to support local people to reduce their energy use (e.g. their use of electricity or gas)
Schemes to support local people in moving toward cleaner renewable sources of energy
Environmental technologies and the green economy
Sustainable and active transport initiatives including cycling and walking
Conserving and enhancing the biodiversity of the District
Behaviour change initiatives towards cleaner, greener ways of living
Phasing out the use of single-use plastics

The Fund
Initially, £20,000.
The fund can support all costs relating to your project or activity, including: core costs (e.g. staff, office
costs), project costs (e.g. venue hire, project worker) and capital costs (can support the cost of a
renewable installation).
Grants are targeted at small organisations with charitable or community focused aims that are based and
working in South Lakeland.
The fund will support up to a maximum of 50% of total costs for the project for voluntary and community
groups who wish to deliver community based carbon reduction projects.

What will we not fund?










100% of your project
Funding of running costs of your organization
Activities that show very little or no appreciable reduction in CO2e
Projects not benefiting people living in South Lakeland
Building projects that just comply with current Building Regulations requirements
Direct replacement of statutory obligation and public funding
Groups that cannot justify having significant unrestricted reserves e.g. where a Group has £10k
or more in unrestricted reserves
Private members’ sports/social clubs
National charities/organisations

Who Can Apply?

Page 131

Appendix 2
SLDC Climate Change Fund
V0.2
1 May 2020

The Council will consider applications from local charities, community interest companies, parish
councils, voluntary groups and other not for profit organisations in South Lakeland.
Minimum and maximum awards
To ensure focus and impact, grants will be for a minimum of £500 and a maximum of £5,000
Context
South Lakeland must work with the rest of the world in order to address our greenhouse gas emissions
and mitigate the impacts of climate change. The International Panel on Climate Change 2018 report
recommended that we must limit global warming to 1.5oC, to limit the negative impacts to humanity.
This would be achieved a global reduction in carbon emissions of 45% by 2030, to carbon neutrality by
2050. South Lakeland and Cumbria are embracing these targets, and looking to go further. This is a global
issue where everyone plays their part, we must all do what we can to reduce our carbon footprint, and
lead by example to show other places that a low carbon world is not only essential and desirable, but also
possible.
SLDC’s Council Plan 2019 commits the council to “working to achieve a carbon neutral South Lakeland”.
Our Climate change policy acknowledges that climate change is occurring, that man-made greenhouse
gas emissions are a primary cause and that climate change will continue to have far reaching effects on
people and places, the economy, society and environment in the District, across the UK and across the
world.
The Council seeks to maximise the social, economic and environmental benefits which come from
combating, and developing resilience to, climate change and developing a sustainable economy.
In consultation with local partners South Lakeland District Council’s declared ambition is to become a
carbon neutral Council by 2030.
SLDC has also signed up to the Cumbria Joint Public Health Strategy: To become a “carbon neutral”
County and to mitigate the likely impact of existing climate change. SLDC have confirmed a target date
for South Lakeland of 2037. To achieve this, over the next decade, we need to radically rethink how we
live, work and invest in the District.
Becoming carbon neutral will improve quality of life and build new green, clean growth opportunities for
our economy.
Procedure
Community groups/ organisations will submit a short proposal on their project, explaining how they
would meet the criteria and what they request from SLDC. An application form will be used to ensure all
necessary information is supplied.
Decision making on the scheme and awarding of grants will rest with SLDC. Proposals will be assessed by
the Climate Emergency and Localism Portfolio Holder and designated officers. (In the event of the
Portfolio Holder’s unavailability, the Leader will nominate an alternative Portfolio Holder).
Criteria


Does the proposal address climate change through measures to reduce carbon, enhance
biodiversity, initiate carbon offsetting measures (through for example tree planting or peat
restoration), address community behaviour change and consumption habits or promoting
community/ domestic energy efficiency.

Page 132

Appendix 2
SLDC Climate Change Fund
V0.2
1 May 2020







Does the requested funding link to a clear proposal with clear and measurable outputs and do
the costs look reasonable?
Has your project secured a minimum of 50% match funding?
Does the proposal explain how the grant would fit with a wider package of funding if applicable?
Have you provided evidence of public support and community involvement
Projects must be completed within one year and recognize the support of this fund in all
publicity.

Decision making
The decision to award a grant will be made by the Strategy Lead Specialist (or an officer delegated by
them) as an administrative decision, acting on the advice of the Portfolio Holder and officers assessing
the proposal.
The grant agreement will comprise:



An offer letter – with standard terms included. For the organisation to counter sign as an
acceptance of the offer and terms
The proposal

On receipt of an accepted offer, SLDC will raise a purchase order, against which the community group will
invoice the Council.
Organisations will be required to provide a short written report on how the funds have been applied.

Page 133

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 134

Appendix 3

Application for Climate Change Community
Fund 2020 to 2021
This application is made up of 5 sections that must be completed before you submit your application.
Please answer each question as clearly as possible.
Who Can Apply?
The Council will consider applications from charities, community interest companies, parish councils,
voluntary groups and other not for profit organisations in South Lakeland.
The funding must be spent to benefit the local community, and we expect applicants will work with other
funders and community organisations and agencies to maximise benefit.
Minimum and maximum awards
Grants will be for a minimum of £500 and a maximum of £5,000
Criteria







Does the proposal address climate change through measures to reduce carbon, enhance
biodiversity, initiate carbon offsetting measures (through for example tree planting or peat
restoration), address community behaviour change and consumption habits or promoting
community/ domestic energy efficiency.
Does the requested funding link to a clear proposal with clear and measurable outputs and do the
costs look reasonable?
Has your project secured a minimum of 50% match funding?
Have you provided evidence of public support and community involvement
Projects must be completed within one year and recognize the support of this fund in all publicity.

The grant programme can support all costs relating to your project or activity, including: core costs (e.g.
staff, office costs), project costs (e.g. venue hire, project worker) and capital costs (can support the cost of
a renewable installation).
Applications can be submitted at any time. If you have any further questions please contact us at:
climate.action@southlakeland.gov.uk

Section 1: Contact details
This section asks for the contact details of the applicant.
1.1

Name of main contact

Click here to enter text.

1.2

Email address

Click here to enter text.

1.3

Contact Number

Click here to enter text.

Page 135

Appendix 3

Section 2: Your community group/ organisation
This section asks for the details of your organisation.
2.1

Name of your
community group or
organisation

Click here to enter text.

Click here to enter text.

2.2

Community group/
organisation address
including post code

Click here to enter text.

Click here to enter text.

2.3

Type of community
group/ organisation

Choose an item.

If you selected Parish Council as your organisation type please skip forward to Question 2.4

2.3.1

2.3.2

2.3.3

2.3.4

2.4

Charity registration
number (if applicable)
What does your
community group/
organisation do?
(50 words maximum)
How much is the yearly
membership fee? (if
applicable)

Click here to enter text.

Click here to enter text.

Click here to enter text.

Please attach the governance documents of your organisation to this application
form (e.g. constitution, terms of reference, or proof of a formalised structure)
Is your community
group/ organisation the
accountable body for
the project?

If no, who is the
2.4.1 accountable body for
the project?

Choose an item.

Click here to enter text.

Section 3: Your Project
This section asks for all of the important information about your project.
3.1

Project Title
(15 words maximum)

Click here to enter text.

Page 136

☐

Appendix 3
Amount of Climate
3.2
Change grant applied
for
3.3

What is the full cost of
your project?

Click here to enter text.

Click here to enter text.

3.4

Why is this project
needed?

Click here to enter text.

3.5

What outputs would
your project seek to
deliver?

Click here to enter text.

3.6

How would these
Project outputs be
measured?

3.7

If successful, who
would deliver your
Project and how?

3.8

If available, please attach a community plan or local survey that demonstrates
there is a need for your project

3.9

3.10

3.11

What alternative
options have been
considered, and why is
your project the most
appropriate solution?

Are there ongoing
maintenance costs and
how will you cover
them?

What other sources of
funding have you
applied for, please
state if they have been
successful

☐

Click here to enter text.

Click here to enter text.

Source of funding
Click here to enter
text.

Amount applied for
Click here to enter
text.

Page 137

Successful or
unsuccessful
Choose an item.

Appendix 3
Click here to enter
text.

Click here to enter
text.

Choose an item.

Click here to enter
text.

Click here to enter
text.

Choose an item.

Click here to enter text.

Section 4: Funding criteria
This section asks for the links between your project and our funding criteria.
Please provide supporting information on how your project will meet the criteria.




4.1





Reducing carbon
emissions
Enhancing
biodiversity
Initiating carbon
offsetting
measures (through
for example tree
planting or peat
restoration),
Addressing
positive
community
behaviour change
Promoting
community or
domestic energy
efficiency

Click here to enter text.

Section 5: Project Plan
If your bid is successful, the information that you provide here will be used in a legal agreement with
SLDC.
5.1

When will your project
start?

Click here to enter a date.

5.2

When will your project
be completed?

Click here to enter a date.

5.3

If awarded, what exactly
will the grant pay for?

Click here to enter text.

Page 138

Appendix 3

5.4

What are the key
milestones in your
project?

Stage or task

Date of
completion

Click here to enter text.

Click here to
enter a date.

Click here to enter text.

Click here to
enter a date.

Click here to enter text.

Click here to
enter a date.

Click here to enter text.

5.5

How will you
demonstrate that your
project has been
successful?

Click here to enter text.

This will be monitored and you will be asked to provide more information
after the project has been completed.

What safe operating practices are, or will be, in place for your delivery of the Project? e.g. systems of work,
training, monitoring, identifying and addressing safeguarding risks for young people or vulnerable adults,
etc.

Does your organisation have appropriate DBS check in place for employees and volunteers who may be
involved in delivery of the Project? Please detail what DBS checks are in place below.

Please confirm that all statutory approvals, land-owner consents and/or other
permissions/authorisations required for the delivery of the Project are already
in place:

The Council expects those organisations that have been awarded grants to
have appropriate Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policies in place to create an antifraud culture and maintain high ethical standards in the administration of
public funds. A copy of the Council’s Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy is
available on the Council’s website here
(https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/media/1915/anti-bribery-fraud-and-

Page 139

CONFIRM Y/N

CONFIRM Y/N

Appendix 3
corruption-policy.pdf). Please confirm that your organisation has read and
agrees the contents of the Council’s Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy and
adopts similar standards:

On behalf of the organisation listed in this Application Form, I confirm that the
organisation has in place the following documents and policies (please
provide a link or scanned/electronic copy):
☐ Equality policy;
Y/N
☐ Safeguarding policy;
Y/N
☐ Approved final accounts for financial year 18/19;
Y/N
☐ Public liability and employers’ liability insurance.

Y/N

Declaration: I have full authority on behalf of the organisation to make this application and have read and
agreed to the Grant Scheme Criteria and Award Terms & Conditions and have attached the required
documents where applicable.
Please note that electronic signatures/scanned signatures are acceptable.

Signed:
Date:
Name in block capitals:
Position in Organisation:

Please email your completed application form with supporting information to:
climate.action@southlakeland.gov.uk

Page 140

Appendix 4

Council Policy on Climate Change
South Lakeland District Council acknowledges that climate change is occurring, that man-made
greenhouse gas emissions are a primary cause and that climate change will continue to have far
reaching effects on people and places, the economy, society and environment in the District, across the
UK and across the world.
South Lakeland District Council seeks to maximise the social, economic and environmental benefits
which come from combating, and developing resilience to, climate change and developing a sustainable
economy. South Lakeland District commits to playing its part in meeting emissions targets set
internationally and through UK Carbon budgets.
South Lakeland District Council will work in partnership to respond at a local level, encouraging and
helping local residents, local businesses and other organisations to reduce their energy costs, to reduce
congestion, to adapt to the impacts of climate change, to improve the local environment and to deal with
fuel poverty in our communities.

We commit our Council to


Be seeking to achieve net carbon neutral as a Council by 2030



Supporting a Cumbria wide target of carbon neutrality by 2037 and taking the necessary steps
within our powers to achieve this



Work with central government and neighbouring Councils to contribute, at a local level, to the
delivery of the target for carbon dioxide reduction set out in the UK Carbon budget by 2022.



Participate in local and regional networks for support.



Develop plans and support projects with our partners and local communities to progressively
address the causes and the impacts of climate change, according to our local priorities, securing
maximum benefit for our communities.



Publicly declare, within appropriate plans and strategies, the commitment to achieve a reduction
of greenhouse gas emissions from our own authority's operations, especially energy sourcing
and use, travel and transport, waste production and disposal and the purchasing of goods and
services.



Assess the risk associated with climate change and the implications for our services and our
communities of climate change impacts and adapt accordingly.



Encourage all sectors in our local community to take the opportunity to adapt to the impacts of
climate change, to reduce their own greenhouse gas emissions and to make public their
commitment to action.



Monitor the progress of our plans against the actions needed and publish the result.

Page 141

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 142

Appendix 5

South Lakeland District Council
Health, Social, Economic & Environmental Impact Guidance & Proforma
Project, policy or programme: Carbon Reduction Target and Green Team Update
Health Impacts

Potential Impacts
Positive

No
impact

Negative

Not
sure

Comments

Recommendations

Implementing this
target will help with air
quality cutting the
pollution from cars
and burning of fossil
fuels
More sustainable
land management
and better flood
management will
have a positive
impact on water
conservation and
water quality

Continue to monitor air
quality and implement
Kendal Air Quality
Management Plan

Please tick the appropriate box

Environmental Conditions
Air quality
x

Water quality and
pollution

x

Built environment

x
Carbon neutral
homes, the retrofitting
of existing homes and
micro renewables
may result in changes
to the appearance
and character of
buildings and open
spaces

That the Local Plan
examine policies on
building design and
design quality to
ensure that they strike
the right balance
between ensuring that
development respects
the character of its
surroundings and that
it is energy efficient.
That National Parks be
encouraged to do the
same in their local
plans

Natural environment
and biodiversity

x
In general, offsetting
with tree planting,
reducing pollution will
all have a positive
impact on
biodiversity. Land
management will
however have to
strike the right
balance between
carbon sequestration,
food production,
natural flood
management and
biodiversity. Land

Page 143

Develop green
infrastructure policies
through SLDCs and
other local plans and
through relevant open
spaces strategies and
National Park and
AONB management
plans to allow the right
balance to be struck
between different
objectives for land
management.

Appendix 5
Project, policy or programme: Carbon Reduction Target and Green Team Update
Health Impacts

Potential Impacts
Positive

No
impact

Negative

Not
sure

Comments

Recommendations

Please tick the appropriate box

Energy
consumption/efficiency

x

Noise

x

Transport

x

Recycling

x

Food production

x

management within
the Lake District
World Heritage Site
will be particularly
sensitive.
Meeting the target will
require significant
decarbonisation of
energy generation as
well as much more
energy efficient
buildings
Decarbonising of
traffic and transport
will reduce traffic
noise
Reducing traffic will
reduce noise pollution
Significant
Improvements to
cycle, public transport
and walking networks
adaptations to meet
emerging
technologies such as
electric car charging
networks and
innovative solutions to
visitor transport and
community transport
in sparsely populated
rural areas will be
needed to maximise
modal shift.
Meeting the target will
require a focus in the
first instance on
minimising resource
consumption and in
the second instance
in maximising
recycling

Food production, food
consumption, food
waste, food storage

Page 144

Monitor progress of
Future Homes
Standard and consider
the need for energy
efficiency standards in
the Local Plan

Work with County
Council and National
Park Authorities to
deliver attractive,
sustainable transport
choices

Continue to maximise
recycling in the
Council’s own
activities and make the
most effective
interventions in our
waste collection
service to maximise
recycling.
Through our economic
development
strategies, encourage
the development of
recycling based
industries in the local
economy

Appendix 5
Project, policy or programme: Carbon Reduction Target and Green Team Update
Health Impacts

Potential Impacts
Positive

No
impact

Negative

Not
sure

Comments

Recommendations

Please tick the appropriate box

and food transport are
major sources of
greenhouse gas
emissions.
Meeting the target will
mean a greater focus
on locally produced
and seasonal produce
as well as sustainable
farming practises

Social and Economic Factors
Employment

X

There will be a need
for businesses to
examine their carbon
footprints and those
of their supply chains.
Decarbonisation of
transport, energy and
heating will lead to
major change in these
sectors

Ensure that local, subregional and LEP
economic strategies
encourage the growth
of environmental
technologies and
solutions and provide
support for businesses
seeking to adapt

Environmental
technologies will be a
major growth area.
Income

Poverty

x

x

The major
behavioural and
technological
changes will have
wide ranging impacts
on the local economy,
not all of which are
foreseeable at the
present time

Through our economic
development
strategies, monitor
changes and provide
support for change

Vulnerable people
and people on low
incomes will need
support, for example,
with energy efficient
homes.

Through housing
strategies ensure that
vulnerable people
have access to
assistance with energy
efficiency.

In sparsely populated
areas, care needs to
be taken about the
impact of
decarbonising
transport on people
on low incomes.

Work with the County
Council and National
Park authorities to
enhance public
transport and develop
effective community
transport in sparsely
populated areas.

Page 145

Appendix 5
Project, policy or programme: Carbon Reduction Target and Green Team Update
Health Impacts

Potential Impacts
Positive

No
impact

Negative

Not
sure

Comments

Recommendations

Please tick the appropriate box

Education, skills and
training

x

Housing

x

Training and
upskilling will be
needed to facilitate
this target. Working
closely with local
schools, colleges and
universities to help
young people be part
of the shift.
New housing will be
built more efficiently
and old housing
improved to reduce
energy loss.
There will be a need
to ensure that the
costs of meeting
energy efficient
housing is managed
to ensure that
affordable housing
delivery is
maintained.

Crime
Work environment

Monitor progress of
Future Homes
Standard and consider
the need for energy
efficiency standards in
the Local Plan and
ensure that the right
balance between
energy efficiency and
affordable housing
delivery is achieved.

x
x

Both for SLDC and for
other businesses,
meeting the target will
mean energy efficient
working
environments, more
flexible workspaces,
more mobile, agile
and home based
working, greater use
of technology to
reduce work travel
and innovative
solutions to travel to
work.

For SLDC, develop
agile and remote
working, maximising
use of IT solutions to
minimise travel,
looking at business
travel, looking the
potential for locality
working to reduce the
need for site visits.

Factors that impact a person’s ability to improve their own health and wellbeing
Nutrition and diet

x

Physical activity

x

Reducing carbon
usage encourages
people to buy local
healthier options
Meeting the target will
require very
significant increases
in active travel such
as cycling and

Page 146

Promote healthy food
choices through
Population Health
strategies
Work with County
Council and National
Park Authorities to
deliver attractive,
sustainable transport
choices

Appendix 5
Project, policy or programme: Carbon Reduction Target and Green Team Update
Health Impacts

Potential Impacts
Positive

No
impact

Negative

Not
sure

Comments

Please tick the appropriate box

walking, which will
have significant
benefits
Alcohol

x

Drugs

x

Risk taking behaviour

x

Smoking

x

Loneliness and
isolation

x

It will require more
community led
initiatives so people
working closely with
neighbours. Active
travel and
concentration of
services in
sustainable locations
such as town centres
will also increase
interactions.

Access to services, spaces or social opportunities that impact health
Communication
methods

x

Active travel

x

Access to leisure

x

Access to culture

x

Minimising transport
will mean greater
reliance on the
internet for home
working and
accessing services.
A very significant
increase in active
travel by foot, by
cycle or by e-cycle is
essential to meet the
carbon reduction
target.
Working closely with
the development of
leisure centres to be
low carbon impact
Community events to
share best practice.
Major sporting events,
cultural events and
festivals will need to
consider their CO2
footprint in terms of
energy use, food and
goods use and
transport strategies.

Page 147

Recommendations

Appendix 5
Project, policy or programme: Carbon Reduction Target and Green Team Update
Health Impacts

Potential Impacts
Positive

No
impact

Negative

Not
sure

Comments

Recommendations

Very important that
people are being out
in the cleaner greener
environment.

Develop green
infrastructure policies
through SLDCs and
other local plans and
through relevant open
spaces strategies and
National Park and
AONB management
plans to allow the right
balance to be struck
between different
objectives for land
management.

Please tick the appropriate box

Access to green
spaces

x

Page 148

Appendix 6

EIA Title:

1.0

Carbon Reduction Target and Green Team Update
The public sector equality duty (2011) covers the following eight protected
characteristics:
Age, disability, ethnicity, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation, gender
reassignment, pregnancy and maternity.
The duty also covers marriage and civil partnership, but only relating to the
elimination of unlawful discrimination (see below, 2.0).

1.1

SLDC includes “rurality” and “socio-economic disadvantage” as additional
categories in its equality impact assessments. Although socio-economic status and
rurality are not recognised protected characteristics under the Equality Act, people on
low incomes or in rural isolation are highly likely to be affected by services that are
intended to support vulnerable people.

2.0

The General Equality Duty.
SLDC, in the exercise of its functions, should:
a. Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other
conduct prohibited by the Act.
b. Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a
protected characteristic and those who do not.
c. Foster good relations between people who share
a protected characteristic and those who
do not.

Page 149

Appendix 6
Step 1
Summarise the subject and expected outcomes of this EIA.
The purpose of this EIA is to continue to ensure that our strategic Council Policy on
Climate Change does not prompt any disproportionate negative impact on people with any
of the protected characteristics.
The expected outcome of this EIA is the identification of any potential issues and a
commitment to undertake the recommended mitigating actions to ensure our services are
adequately accessible to the whole community.
This EIA will be monitored and published onto our website for public accessibility.
Who are your main stakeholders and list any engagement undertaken (include
surveys, feedback forms, complaints, statistics etc.).
Recent data available at District level. Data is not available to breakdown population
statistics for all Protected Characteristics.
Population - In mid-2017 South Lakeland’s resident population was estimated to be
104,321. In 2016 18 million visitors came to South Lakeland, of which 85% were day
trippers and 15% were staying visitors.
Over the last ten years the population of the district has increased by 355 residents.
Age
In mid-2017 it was estimated that 13.8% of the population of South Lakeland are aged 014 years of age, 58.5% are 15-64 years of age, and 27.7% are aged over 65.
Children and young people
It is projected that numbers of 0-14 year olds in South Lakeland will decrease from 2017
onwards to 20411. Between 2017 and 2041, the number of young people aged 0-14 is
forecast to fall by 12.0%.
Working age
In South Lakeland the number of 15-64 year olds are projected to decrease by 8,400 (14%) to 2041.
South Lakeland has the lowest proportion of young and working age people in the county
and both are in decline. Since mid-2007 the greatest percentage decrease occurred in the
30-44 age groups (-23.9%).
Older people
In South Lakeland numbers of residents aged 65+ are projected to increase by 8,300
persons (+28.4%) to 2041.
Since mid-2007 the greatest percentage increase occurred in the 90+ age group (+140%).
Disability
18.8% of the population have a long-term health problem or disability, while 4.6% describe
their general health as bad or very bad.
Race
95.6% of South Lakeland residents are White British, 2.8% are White Other, 0.6% are
mixed race, 0.8% are Asian, 0.2% are Black, and 0.1% are from other ethnic groups.
Of Cumbria’s six districts, South Lakeland has the second highest proportion of residents
from BAME groups (4.4%).
Religion and Belief
68% of residents are Christian, 23% have no religion. 0.4% are Buddhist, 0.2% are
Muslim, 0.1% are Hindu, 0.1% are Jewish and 0.4% are members of other religions.
Gender
49% of residents are male, 51% are female.
There is a gender pay imbalance in South Lakeland, the median gross weekly earnings of
a male in full time employment is £579, whereas for a female in full time employment the
figure is £479.
SLDC Employee and Member information

Page 150

Appendix 6
As of 1 April 2017, SLDC employs 422 staff and has 51 councillors.

Page 151

Appendix 6

Page 152

In providing this service, what are the
impacts for the following people?
1. Age (young and old)
2. Black and Minority Ethnic
3. Disabled
4. Faith/Belief
5. Sexual Orientation
6. Gender
7. Gender reassignment
8. Pregnancy and maternity
9. Marriage and Civil Partnership
10. Socio-economic disadvantage
(including rural deprivation,
‘rurality’)

Step 2
Equality Action Plan
Positive
impacts

Negative impacts

Mitigating actions (to avoid negative impact):

Energy efficient
housing.

Potential costs of
adaptation

Work with vulnerable communities to promote
energy efficiency through schemes such as
Cosy Homes

(See glossary below for definitions)
Age

Better transport
options

Work with Cumbria County Council and other
stakeholders to widen transport choice and
improve walking and cycling choices

BME

No specific
impacts

No specific
impacts

Disabled

Better walking,
cycling and
public realm will
make centres

Risk of limitation
ns on car access
prejudicing
accessibility

Ensure that local plan policies take needs of
people with disabilities into account and that
public spaces and buildings are accessible and
adaptable.

Lead
Officer
&
When

Com
plete
Y/N

Appendix 6
In providing this service, what are the
impacts for the following people?
1. Age (young and old)
2. Black and Minority Ethnic
3. Disabled
4. Faith/Belief
5. Sexual Orientation
6. Gender
7. Gender reassignment
8. Pregnancy and maternity
9. Marriage and Civil Partnership
10. Socio-economic disadvantage
(including rural deprivation,
‘rurality’)

Positive
impacts

(See glossary below for definitions)

Page 153

more accessible
for wheelchair
users
Faith/Belief

Gender and Gender reassignment

Pregnancy and Maternity

Energy efficient
and accessible
places of
worship
Better public
spaces, more
transport
choices. More
energy efficient
homes
Better public
spaces, more
transport
choices. More
energy efficient

Negative impacts

Mitigating actions (to avoid negative impact):

Lead
Officer
&
When

Com
plete
Y/N

Appendix 6
In providing this service, what are the
impacts for the following people?
1. Age (young and old)
2. Black and Minority Ethnic
3. Disabled
4. Faith/Belief
5. Sexual Orientation
6. Gender
7. Gender reassignment
8. Pregnancy and maternity
9. Marriage and Civil Partnership
10. Socio-economic disadvantage
(including rural deprivation,
‘rurality’)

Positive
impacts

Negative impacts

Mitigating actions (to avoid negative impact):

Page 154

(See glossary below for definitions)
homes

Marriage and Civil Partnership

Socio/Economic Disadvantage

No obvious differential impacts

Energy efficient
housing.
Better transport
options

Potential costs of
adaptation

Work with vulnerable communities to promote
energy efficiency through schemes such as
Cosy Homes
Work with Cumbria County Council and other
stakeholders to widen transport choice and
improve walking and cycling choices

Lead
Officer
&
When

Com
plete
Y/N

Appendix 6
In providing this service, what are the
impacts for the following people?
1. Age (young and old)
2. Black and Minority Ethnic
3. Disabled
4. Faith/Belief
5. Sexual Orientation
6. Gender
7. Gender reassignment
8. Pregnancy and maternity
9. Marriage and Civil Partnership
10. Socio-economic disadvantage
(including rural deprivation,
‘rurality’)

Positive
impacts

Negative impacts

Mitigating actions (to avoid negative impact):

(See glossary below for definitions)

Page 155

The Policy acknowledges that climate change
is occurring, that man-made greenhouse gas
emissions are a primary cause and that
climate change will continue to have far
reaching effects on people and places, the
economy, society and environment in the
District, across the UK and across the world.

The Council Policy sets out the following
commitments:
• Work with central government to the delivery of
the target for carbon dioxide reduction set out in
the UK Carbon budget by 2022.
• Participate in local and regional networks for
support.
• Develop plans and support projects to
progressively address the causes and the
impacts of climate change
• Publicly declare, within appropriate plans and
strategies, the commitment to achieve a
reduction of greenhouse gas emissions
• Assess the risk associated with climate change
and the implications for our services and our
communities of climate change impacts and
adapt accordingly.
• Encourage all sectors in our local community
to take the opportunity to adapt to the impacts of

Lead
Officer
&
When

Com
plete
Y/N

Appendix 6
In providing this service, what are the
impacts for the following people?
1. Age (young and old)
2. Black and Minority Ethnic
3. Disabled
4. Faith/Belief
5. Sexual Orientation
6. Gender
7. Gender reassignment
8. Pregnancy and maternity
9. Marriage and Civil Partnership
10. Socio-economic disadvantage
(including rural deprivation,
‘rurality’)

Positive
impacts

Negative impacts

Mitigating actions (to avoid negative impact):

Page 156

(See glossary below for definitions)
climate change,
• Monitor the progress of our plans against the
actions needed and publish the result.

Lead
Officer
&
When

Com
plete
Y/N

Appendix 6
Step 3
Examples of good equality practice you have put in place (For example, all venues used are
accessible for people with mobility, hearing and sight impairments)
South Lakeland District Council seeks to maximise the social, economic and environmental
benefits which come from combating, and developing resilience to, climate change and
developing a sustainable economy. South Lakeland District commits to playing its part in
meeting emissions targets set internationally and through UK Carbon budgets.
South Lakeland District Council will work in partnership to respond at a local level, encouraging
and helping local residents, local businesses and other organisations to reduce their energy
costs, to reduce congestion, to adapt to the impacts of climate change, to improve the local
environment and to deal with fuel poverty in our communities.
The Council recognises that this policy will have specific needs and challenges for some equality
groups in adapting behaviours and use of their resources to reduce their carbon footprint.
The council has a list of equality contacts who can be contacted for consultation or to ask advice.
The list is on the intranet under Equality and Diversity. If you need any support when completing
this Equality Impact Analysis, please contact the Partnerships and Funding Officer.
Date:

20/02/2020

EIA Author(s):

H Girvan

Assistant Director:

D Hudson

Document version number:

V.1

Date for Review:
EIA forwarded to Policy Officer

N

Glossary
Age: This refers to a person having a particular age (for example, 32 year-olds) or being within
an age group (for example, 18-30 year-olds).
Civil partnership: Legal recognition of a same-sex couple’s relationship. Civil partners must be
treated the same as married couples on a range of legal matters.
Disability: A person has a disability if they have a physical or mental impairment which has a
substantial and long-term adverse effect on their ability to carry out normal day-to-day activities.
Includes: Physical/sensory disability, mental health or learning disability.
Gender reassignment: A person has the protected characteristic of gender reassignment if the
person is proposing to undergo, is undergoing or has undergone a process (or part of a process)
for the purpose of reassigning the person's sex by changing physiological or other attributes of
sex.
Maternity: The period after giving birth. It is linked to maternity leave in the employment context.
In the non-work context, protection against maternity discrimination is for 26 weeks after giving
birth, including as a result of breastfeeding.
Race: It refers to a group of people defined by their colour, nationality (including citizenship),
ethnic or national origins. Includes, Asian, Black and White minority ethnic groups inc. Eastern
Europeans, Irish people and Gypsy Travellers.
Religion or belief: “Religion” means any religion, including a reference to a lack of religion.
“Belief” includes religious and philosophical beliefs including lack of belief (for example,

Page 157

Appendix 6
Atheism). The category includes Christianity, Islam, Judaism, Hinduism, Buddhism, and nonreligious beliefs such as Humanism.
Sexual orientation: This is whether a person's sexual attraction is towards their own sex, the
opposite sex or to both sexes.
Socio-economic disadvantage: This includes people on low incomes, as well as issues around
rural and urban deprivation, such as access to services and transport. Rurality should be
specifically considered as South Lakeland is defined as ‘Rural-80’ – this means we have at least
80 percent of our population in rural settlements and larger market towns.

Page 158

Item No.14
South Lakeland District Council
Cabinet
Wednesday, 24 June 2020

Customer Strategy 2020
Portfolio:

Councillor Eric Morrell - Customer and Commercial Services and
People Portfolio Holder

Report from:

David Sykes - Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources

Report Author:

Dan Shiels - Specialist, Digital

Wards:

All Wards

Forward Plan:

Included in the Forward Plan as published on 26 May 2020

1.0

Expected Outcome

1.1

A strategy is in place defining how the Council will redesign its customer service
focus to ensure that digital channels are straightforward and convenient. We want
our digital services to be so good that they become customers’ first choice.

2.0

Recommendation

2.1

That the cabinet approves the Customer Strategy 2020

3.0

Background and Proposals

3.1

Demand for public services and expectations of levels of service are ever increasing.
Citizens and businesses expect the same levels of access, ease of use and
customer service that they see online from large private sector organisations.

3.2

They expect to be able to access their services from multiple locations and in ways
that suit them. In recognition of this, this strategy represents the transition from a
traditional service based strategy to a combined digital Customer Strategy.

3.3

The Customer Strategy underpins how we achieve key Council Plan objectives.

3.4

Primarily the strategy ensures that we have the right communications channels
available for customers to quickly and easily:


find the information they need,



complete the tasks they need to do; and



better use of customer feedback to drive further improvements.

Page 159

3.5

3.6

The strategy sets out the following outcomes:


Customer and community needs drive how we design and deliver our services,



Customers can get the information and services they need easily,



Our digital services are so good that they are customers’ first choice,



We are clear about what customers can expect from us and everyone receives
the same high standard of service,



Our services are great value for money,



We will enable customers to have better access to our services at times which
are more convenient, so putting them more in control; and



We will be a more efficient council by having digitally enabled services available
online which makes it easier for customers to do business with us.

The response to COVID-19 has shown us that customers are able to use digital
channels. Examples include:
 The high take-up, usage and positive feedback about the online business grant
form
 Higher website usage
 Growth in customers accessing the site through social media channels

4.0

Consultation

4.1

More and more people prefer to access services on their mobile phone or computer.
We want to improve out digital services so we can focus our limited resources on
customers who are unable to do it online themselves:

4.2

We want digital channels to become our customers’ first choice:

4.2.1 The chart below shows which methods respondents used to contact the council (our
‘channel profile’) overall in 2017 and 2019.

Page 160

4.2.2 By 2025 we’d like our channel profile to look more like this.

4.3

The chart below shows the increase in the use of available digital services:

5.0

Alternative Options

5.1

The Council’s Customer Strategy is a critical element of our transformation and
supports the delivery of the Council’s Commissioning Strategy and the Council Plan
priorities and outcomes.

6.0

Links to Council Priorities

6.1

Open and transparent: Being courteous, efficient and transparent in our dealings with
the public and seeking continuous improvement in what we do, ensuring that our
actions address the needs of South Lakeland.

7.0

Implications

Financial, Resources and Procurement
7.1.1

It costs us to deal with:





Face to face enquiry - £14.00
A letter - £12.00
A phone call - £05.00
A web visit - £00.17

Page 161

Human Resources
7.2.1

There are no human resource issues associated with this report.

Legal
7.3.1

There are no legal implications associated with this report.

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental
7.4

Have you completed a Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact
Assessment? No

7.5

The Customer Strategy sets out our vision to ensure a positive benefit for every part
of our community.

Equality and Diversity
7.6

Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No

7.7

The Customer Strategy sets out our vision to ensure accessibility and a positive
benefit for every part of our community.

Risk
Risk

Consequence

Controls required

Services and customer
interaction continue as currently
provided

This will result in continued
volumes of customer face
to face and traditional
costly communication and
interaction.
Not consider the whole
customer requirement for
digital transformation.

help customers
understand the benefits of
our working towards
developing a more usable
digital interface
Establish key messages
as to how channel shift
benefits the people across
the District, how this
strategy can help save
money, how channel shift
frees up time for the most
vulnerable people in South
Lakeland.

Focus solely on internal digital
transformation.

Contact Officers
Dan Shiels, Digital Specialist - daniel.shiels@southlakeland.gov.uk
Appendices Attached to this Report
Appendix No.

Name of Appendix

1

Customer Strategy 2020

Background Documents Available
None.
Tracking Information
Signed off by
Section 151 Officer
Monitoring Officer
CMT

Date sent
15 May 2020
15 May 2020
4 June 2020

Circulated to
Lead Specialist

Date sent
15 May 2020

Page 162

Date Signed off
08/06/2020
08/06/2020
04/06/2020

Circulated to
Human Resources Lead Specialist
Communications Team
Leader
Committee Chairman
Portfolio Holder
Ward Councillor(s)
Committee
Executive (Cabinet)
Council

Date sent
15 May 2020
15 May 2020
22 May 2020
22 May 2020
22 May 2020
Not Applicable
Not Applicable
24 June 2020
Not Applicable

Page 163

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 164

Appendix 1
South Lakeland District Council

Customer Strategy 2020-25

We want to put all of our customers at the heart of everything
we do. We aim to use their feedback in the design and delivery
of our services.
We will provide services which are easy to use, simple and effective. We want to be easy to deal
with.
More and more people prefer to access services on their mobile phone or computer. We want
to improve out digital services so we can focus our limited resources on customers who are
unable to do it online themselves.

Customer contact
How customers contact us now:
We deal with lots of
customer enquiries each
year. Broken down
into different
channels
phone
on
calls
average
44%
they are:

social media
post
1%
11%
face-toface
11%

What we want to achieve
Outcome

What this means

Customer and community
needs drive how we design
and deliver our services

• Use data and research to understand customer
needs
• Involve customers in designing services and pilot
testing
• Learn from customer feedback
• Share information and data across our services

Customers can get the
information and services they
need easily

web visits:
-there are over
607,000 web visits
every year

• Make our services easy to use
• Reduce demand on services, nobody needs to tell us
something twice
• Share information across our services
• Monitor channel usage to manage and encourage
customers to migrate to digital self-serve channels

We are clear about what
customers can expect from us
and everyone receives the
same high standard of service

• Be open and willing to change
• Be clear and consistent about what customers can
expect from our services
• Consider and manage the way we develop our
services so they are accessible and easy for
customers to use
• Develop the skills, knowledge and behaviour of staff
to support a ‘customers first’ culture

Our services are great value for
money

• Seek out and take every opportunity to do things
more efficiently, cost effectively
• Share information to avoid duplication
• Help customers use best value channels by choice

web forms 13%

How we would like our customers to
contact us by 2025:
social media
11%

• Encourage customers, who can, to self-serve
• Develop high quality digital services
• Understand what works well, build on established
services co-design services with community
organisations
• Our information is easy to understand and
accessible to everyone

Our digital services are so
good that they are customers’
first choice

emails
20%

phone calls
26%

post 7%
face-to-face
6%

emails 10%
web
forms 40%

Our customers
Why our customers contact us
We deal with all sorts of people around and beyond South
Lakeland. That includes people living, working, visiting,
investing, volunteering, studying and running businesses
in our district.
Customers contact us for all sorts of reasons:
•
To get information and to give us information
•
To apply for services and help
•
To make payments
•
To report issues

Facts and ﬁgures in South Lakeland
How our customer strategy ﬁts in

i

82% of people in South Lakeland use home
broadband to access the internet

56% of people use our website
Council Plan

How will we know we’re
getting it right?
Commissioning strategy
•
•

Medium term
financial plan

Customer
strategy

Commercial
strategy

People
strategy

Page 165

•
•

Services are easy to use and focussed on the needs
of customers
The information we put out is easy to understand
and our services are easy to use
You only ever have to tell us something once
Our staff treat customers with respect, are
competent and understand our customers’ needs
June 2020

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 166

Item No.15

South Lakeland District Council

Cabinet
24 June 2020
CUMBRIA CHOICE BASED LETTINGS
ALLOCATIONS POLICY REVIEW
Portfolio:

Councillor Jonathan Brook- Housing and Innovation Portfolio Holder

Report from:

Simon Rowley – Director of Customer and Commercial Services

Report Author:

Julie Jackson – Principal Specialist (People)

Wards:

All

Forward Plan:

Key Decision - Budget and Policy Framework Decision included in the
Forward Plan as published on 26 May 2020

1.0

Expected Outcome
Approval of the Cumbria Choice Based Lettings Allocations Policy will ensure that
there is greater clarity for households in South Lakeland who are currently registered
for social housing or who may register in the future. The proposed policy will help to
ensure that there is a consistent and fair approach amongst registered providers with
regard to letting homes in South Lakeland to meet the greatest housing needs. The
revisions will meet legislative changes relating to the Homelessness Reduction Act
2017 and resultant Statutory Guidance. It is expected that the proposed changes will
simplify the operation of the policy to the benefit of all who use it and to customers.

2.0

Recommendation

2.1

It is recommended that Cabinet:
(1)

Consider the consultation draft Cumbria Choice Allocations Policy and
approve the approach outlined in paragraph 4.2 of the report for local
consultation in South Lakeland.

3.0

Background and Proposals

3.1

Operation of the Cumbria Choice Allocation Policy began in May 2011 and it has now
been operational for a period of nine years. One of the key aims outlined in the current
policy is to “improve the means by which local people in Cumbria gain access to social
rented housing by providing a modern and easy to understand allocation system which
allows choice and is fair, transparent and accountable”. The review has undertaken to
streamline the Policy so that it is easier to understand and apply for people who need
to access social housing and to the Registered Providers who administer the Scheme.
Further aims are to “make best use of available housing stock” and to “to ensure that
there is a social housing lettings service that embraces equality and diversity by being
open and fully accessible to all individuals”.

Page 167

3.2

The Cumbria Choice Based Lettings (CCBL) is a partnership, comprising the 6 housing
authorities in Cumbria and 8 housing associations. It enables local authorities to hold
a housing register, users to seek accommodation using a single application, and
providers to allocate properties. The CCBL Partnership is governed by a Partnership
Board comprising representatives from all of the Partners. Previously, local authorities
had nomination agreements with Registered Providers and customers were required
to fill in several applications if they wished to access social housing. According to the
Partnering Agreement dated 28 July 2010, the Lead Authority with responsibility for
management of the CCBL scheme is South Lakeland District Council. All local housing
authorities are required to have an allocation scheme for determining priorities and
procedures for the allocation of social housing in the authority area (regardless of
whether the authority has its own housing stock).

3.3

The CCBL Allocations Policy has been reviewed on a number of occasions since its
operation in May 2011 to keep in line with relevant legislation and statutory
instruments, together with good practice in this area. The last review was undertaken
in 2016. Following on from this there have been legislative change with the
Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 and associated Code of Guidance and further
Allocations regulations arising from the UK’s exit from the EU issued 2019

3.4

In order to conduct the review of the current Policy, South Lakeland District Council
led on a procurement exercise on behalf of the Board and appointed a consultant,
Andy Gale (who led on the previous review) to undertake the review. Andy Gale has
considerable experience in the field of allocations and homelessness. A Task and
Finish Group was set up by the Board to help lead on this. The timescale for the
Policy review is crucial as the changes need to feed into the procurement of a new IT
platform. The contract for the current system expires 31 March 2021 and in order to
ensure that the new system goes live on 1 April 2021, the procurement needs to be
concluded by July 2020. This will allow the necessary implementation of the new
system and migration of data as well as any training that is needed. The IT
procurement has been included in the Council’s Procurement Schedule for 2020 to
2021.

3.5

Any major change to the policy can only be made after a copy of the proposed
amendments have been consulted on by sending to every Registered Provider
Housing Association in Cumbria, regardless of whether an association is a
participating member of the CCP. (Section s166A (13) Housing Act 1996). The Policy
review has:
 Taken all the views of partners into account;
 Considered consultation responses from a range of stakeholders undertaken by
the Board as detailed in 4.0 and in line with the legislative requirements set out
above in 3.3.

3.6

Following on from the consultation outlined in 4.0 below, there are a number of
changes required (summarised in Appendix 1). The changes are to satisfy legislative
change identified in 3.2 above, reduce any ambiguities in the operation of the policy
so it is applied consistently and fairly, and to ensure greater clarity and simplicity. The
full draft policy is attached at Appendix 2. Consultation responses from the Board
consultation are attached at Appendix 3. Some headline figures are set out in
Appendix 4.

3.7

As this is a common Allocations Policy all Partners have to seek approval from their
representative organisations to enable the revised policy to be published by July
2020. This could result in some minor alterations arising after approval at Full
Council. Therefore, it will be recommended that delegated authority be given to the

Page 168

Director of Customer and Commercial Services, in consultation with the Portfolio
Holder – Housing and Innovation to make minor drafting changes in light of any
comments made by partners arising from their approval of the policy.
3.8

It is proposed that a local consultation be launched in South Lakeland to provide
further opportunity for comments from key stakeholders including Members, Parish
Councils and other stakeholders with an interest in social housing allocations from
the statutory and voluntary sector.

4.0
4.1

Consultation
Board consultation has been held with key stakeholders April to 21 May 2020 as
detailed in 3.5. Consultation was held with service users who acknowledged that they
would be happy to take part in the review to identify improvements to the policy. All
South Lakeland District Council Members and Parish Councils were consulted at this
time.

4.2

It is proposed that a local consultation takes place in South Lakeland to capture any
further views. The consultation responses and amended draft Policy can then be
considered at the July Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting and at the 22 July
2020 Cabinet meeting for recommendation to Council.

4.3

The Project Board considered the proposed changes at their meeting on 4 June
2020. The Equality Impact Assessment and Accessibility Policy is being reviewed
and updated as part of this policy review. This is attached at Appendix 6.

4.4

The Portfolio Holder’s Housing Advisory Group will be considering the proposed
changes at a meeting of 17 June 2020. The Strategic Homelessness Group has not
met and therefore the relevant stakeholders who attend this meeting have been
consulted.

5.0
5.1

Alternative Options
Members could choose not to undertake a further local consultation. This is not
recommended as due to the Covid-19 pandemic there were limited responses to the
Board consultation process. The local consultation would give further opportunity for
responses.

6.0
6.1

Links to Council Priorities
The proposed amendments to the policy will assist the Council in meeting the priority
to provide ‘Homes to Meet Need’.

7.0

Implications

Financial, Resources and Procurement
7.1

There are no financial implications to the Council in the adoption of the amended
Allocation Policy.

Human Resources
7.2
Not applicable.
Legal
7.3
As a housing authority, the Council is legally required to have in place appropriate
arrangements for the allocation of housing regardless of whether or not it owns its
own housing stock. Providing it complies with its homelessness duties, it is largely,
open to the Council to decide the criteria to apply when allocating housing.

Page 169

7.4

The revised Cumbria Choice Allocation Policy has been produced with full
consideration of Local Authority and Housing Association legal responsibilities in
relation to the allocation of housing including:
 The Housing Act 1996, Part 6 as amended by Localism Act 2011 (England)
 The Housing Act 1996, Part 7 as amended by the Homelessness Reduction Act
2017
 Allocation of Accommodation: Guidance for Local housing Authorities in England
(2012, DCLG) “the Code”
 Providing social housing for local people; Statutory guidance on social housing
allocations for local authorities in England (DCLG, December 2013)
“Supplementary Code”
Plus the following statutory regulations:
a. Allocation of Housing (Procedure) Regulations 1997, SI 1997/483
b. Allocation of Housing (England) Regulations 2002, SI 2002/3264
c. Allocation of Housing and Homelessness (Eligibility) (England) Regulations 2006 SI
2006/1294 and all subsequent amendments
d.Allocation of Housing (Qualification Criteria for Armed Forces) (England)
Regulations 2012, SI 2012/1869;
e. Housing Act 1996 (Additional Preference for Armed Forces) (England) Regulations
2012, SI 2012/2989.
f. The Allocation of Housing (Qualification Criteria for Right to Move) (England)
Regulations 2015
g. The Allocation of Housing and Homelessness (Eligibility) (England) (Amendment)
(EU Exit) Regulations 2019 (SI 2019/861)
In framing the allocations scheme regard has also been given to the Council’s
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy, Housing Strategy, and Tenancy
Strategy as well as the Equality Act 2010

7.5

Under the Equality Act 2010, the Council has a duty to ensure that any policies it
adopts do not directly or indirectly discriminate against any particular groups of
people. The Council has undertaken an equality impact assessment to ensure that
the policy is fair to all customers and to demonstrate that the Council has discharged
its public sector equality duty in this respect.

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental
7.6

Have you completed a Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact
Assessment? — Yes (attached at Appendix 5)

7.7

Summary of health, social, economic and environmental impacts: It is considered
that the revisions to the policy will have a positive effect on meeting housing need,
improving transparency and consistency in the application of the Policy

Equality and Diversity
7.8

Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis— Yes (attached at Appendix 6)

7.9

Summary of equality and diversity impacts:
It is considered that the revisions to the policy will address potential negative impacts
on protected characteristics by providing a clearer and more consistent approach to
the allocation of social housing.

Page 170

Risk
Risk

Consequence

Controls required

The current Policy does not
meet statutory requirements

The Council could be open
for legal challenge,
particularly in the role of
Lead Authority.

Approval of the draft
CCBL Allocations Policy

Partner organisations are unable
to agree changes or put forward
additional substantive changes.

Delay in approving the
Policy that could also
impact on the procurement
of the IT system, the
contract for which expires
31.3.21.

Approval of the Allocations
Policy by all of the partner
organisations.
Project Board to monitor
approval and agree any
further minor amendments
as appropriate.
Delegated authority be
given to the Director of
Customer and Commercial
Services to approve minor
changes required following
Cabinet/Council approval.

Covid-19 issues result in delays
to approval in Partner
organisations.

Delay in approving the
Policy that could impact on
the IT procurement as
above.
Legal challenge to the
Council in the role of Lead
Authority.

Approval of the Allocations
Policy by all of the partner
organisations.
Project Board to monitor
approval and agree any
further minor
amendments.
A substitute Officer be put
forward to attend the
CCBL Board by all Partner
organisations to mitigate
against timetable delays
caused by Covid-19.
Delegated authority be
given to the Director of
Customer and Commercial
Services to approve minor
changes required following
Cabinet/Council approval.

Contact Officers
Report Author – Julie Jackson, Principal Specialist (People), 01539 793371
j.jackson@southlakeland.gov.uk.
Appendices Attached to this Report
Appendix No.

Name of Appendix

1

Summary of Proposed Changes

2

Cumbria Choice Based Lettings Allocations Policy draft 2020

3

Cumbria Choice Based Lettings Board Consultation responses

Page 171

Appendix No.

Name of Appendix

4

Allocations Headline Figures

5

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Assessment

6

Equality Impact Assessment

Background Documents Available
Name of Background document

Where it is available

South Lakeland District Council
Housing Strategy 2016 – 2024

South Lakeland District Council Housing Strategy.

South Lakeland District Council
South Lakeland District Council Homelessness and
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Rough Sleeping Strategy.
Strategy 2019 – 2024
South Lakeland District Council
Tenancy Strategy 2013

South Lakeland District Council Tenancy Strategy.

Tracking Information
Signed off by
Legal Services
Section 151 Officer
Monitoring Officer
CMT

Date sent
13.5.20
13.5.20
13.5.20
21.5.20

Circulated to
Lead Specialist
Human Resources Lead Specialist
Communications Team
Leader
Committee Chairman
Portfolio Holder
Ward Councillor(s)
Committee
Executive (Cabinet)
Council

Date sent
23.4.20
N/A
N/A
14.5.20
14.5.20
14.5.20
23.4.20
17.7.20
24.6.20
tbc

Page 172

Date Signed off
08/06/2020
09/06/2020
08/06/2020
21.5.20

Appendix 1

Cumbria Choice Based Lettings Policy – Summary of Proposed Changes
Changes to Policy

Details

Impact of
Changes

Initial Board Change made to Policy in
Consultation line with recommendation
Responses

Statutory Guidance

Policy updated in line with legislative
changes since the last review of policy.
An equality impact assessment has been
undertaken as a result of which changes to
syntax have been made throughout.

Low.

None identified

High.
A significant number
of customers are
classed as vulnerable.
Medium.

None

13 = yes agree
3 = no

Yes draft Policy updated.

Low.

15 = yes agree
1 = no

None required.

Medium.

15 = yes agree
there should be
a local
connection rule

Some changes made to cover the
local connection criteria.

Equality Act 2010

Reduction in number of
Bands from 5 to 3

Page 173
Keep an ‘open Register’.

Proposed changes to
qualification rules

It is proposed that the number of bands
reduce from 5 to 3 to make the Policy
easier to understand and administer. The
first two bands would cover the
‘reasonable preference’ categories as
identified in relevant legislation with the
remaining Band for any other applicants.
Determination of priority would then be
based on date of application.
This means that anyone can apply to join
the Housing Register. This does not change
the current position.
1 – Local Connection changes to allow
those with local connection to Cumbria for
the past year, or for 3 years in the last 5
years by way of immediate family in the
area, permanent employment, or
exceptional need (includes but not limited
to: fleeing violence; armed forces, care
leavers)

Yes updated in line with latest
Homelessness legislation.
None

Proposed changes to
qualification rules

2 = requirement to give permission to
obtain and share an applicant’s personal
information.
3 = Homeownership or legal interest in
home ownership. Should people who own
their own home not qualify for higher
bands A and B.

Low.

15 = yes agree

Yes draft Policy updated.

Low as applicants who
own their own home
have a low need for
social housing.

10 = yes agree
5 = no

Proposed changes to
qualification rules

4 = financial resources. People with a
certain level of income/savings will not
qualify for higher bands A and B.

Low as applicants can
satisfy their housing
need on the open
market.

12 = yes agree
3 = no

Proposed changes to
qualification rules

5 = failure to bid for a period of 12 months.

13 = yes agree
2 = no

Proposed changes to
qualification rules

6 = Fraud or giving false information will
result in removal from the Register for a
period of 12 months.

Proposed changes to
qualification rules

7 = circumstances where an applicant has
current or former social housing rent

Medium to ensure
that applicants who
are vulnerable are not
discriminated against.
Medium depending on
reasons why
important information
was upheld and
whether any
vulnerability
identified.
Medium depending on
reasons why debt has
accrued in the first

Yes draft Policy updated. However, if
as a result of divorce settlement a
Court has ordered that an applicant
may not reside in the home in which
they have a legal interest for a
period likely to exceed 5 years then
this will not be taken into account.
Yes draft Policy updated. Applicants
(single persons and couples) with
total savings, investments and/or
assets of £25,000 or more can
qualify for Band C. Applicants with
gross income exceeding £45,000 or
more (single) or joint income of
£60,000 (couple) can qualify for
Band C.
Yes draft Policy updated.

Proposed changes to
qualification rules

Page 174

15 = yes agree
1 = no

Yes draft Policy updated.

11 = yes agree
4 = no

Yes draft Policy updated:

Page 175
Proposed changes to
qualification rules

arrears or another relevant recoverable
housing related debt.
Debts £1000+ who have made no
arrangement to address the debt will be
ineligible.
Debts £1000+ who have made an
arrangement to address can join but will
need to maintain a payment arrangement
for 13 weeks and have either: repaid at
least £750 or at least 25% or the original
debt.
Debts £1-£499 – eligible to join and bid
unless evidence of risk of future nonpayment such as history of housing
debt/poor rent payments or breached
payment arrangements.
Debts £500-£999 – eligible to join but not
to bid unless no real risk of future nonpayment such as history of not having
housing debts, history of regular rent
payments, maintained payment
arrangements. Alternatively, evidence of
rehabilitation such as maintaining a
payment arrangement 8-26 weeks,
reducing debt to below £500,
demonstrating cause of previous problems
addressed.
8 - serious unacceptable behaviour
updated.
Applicants guilty of serious unacceptable
behaviour may not be admitted to the
register or where there is evidence of rent
arrears from the last private rented

place and vulnerability
issues.

Medium. This will
need to be monitored
to ensure that
vulnerabilities are
taken account of.

Yes agree= 13

Policy updated.

Proposed changes to
qualification rules

Page 176

Proposed changes to
make the rules clearer
regarding when a direct
letting outside of the
choice based letting
system will be allowed.

Proposal to introduce a
penalty for applicants
who refuse 3

tenancy. The non-qualification will apply
unless the applicant can demonstrate that
the previous conduct is unlikely to reoccur.
This could include demonstrating
cooperation with support agencies leading
to a substantial improvement in behaviour.
9 - CCP Tenants not assessed as Band A or
Band B Housing Need and wanting to
transfer should seek to do so through the
Mutual Exchange Scheme.

Clarity provided on when direct lettings are
allowed for example, urgent re-housing due
to property being uninhabitable or where
there are serious health and safety issues,
or discharge of a statutory homeless duty;
urgent housing need where it would be
unreasonable to wait for the bidding
process, threat to life, natural disaster,
facilitate a three way (or greater) mutual
exchange to make best use of housing
stock; persons where the Council has a duty
to rehouse due to the Land Compensation
Act 1973, lettings due to annual lettings
plans, adapted property, cases where Adult
Social Care work is ongoing, cases of high
risk such as Multi Agency Public Protection
Arrangements (MAPPA).
Applicants in reasonable preference Bands
A and B who refuse 3 reasonable offers in a
12 month period will be ‘downgraded’ to
Band C for 12 months.

Low
Applicants can seek a
transfer through
mutual exchange or if
assessed as Band A or
B will qualify.
Medium.
Cases will need
monitoring by the
Board where direct
lets are permitted.

Yes agree = 14
No = 1

Policy updated.

Yes agree = 15

Policy updated.

Medium. Cases of
vulnerable applicants
will need to be
monitored.

Yes agree = 14
No = 1

Policy updated and ‘reasonable’ is
defined in the draft Policy.

reasonable offers in a
12 month period.
Proposal to remove the
‘Cumulative Need’ rule
from the Policy

The ‘Cumulative Need’ rule was difficult to
understand and administer and often
resulted in ‘band chasing’ where applicants
seek to move bands if they could
demonstrate more than one need.
Ensure bandings are applied consistently.

Page 177

Proposal for expanded
criteria for when a
customer will qualify for
the statutory housing
need bands A and B and
a clearer criteria for
when a band will be
awarded to ensure
assessments are always
consistently applied.
A number of changes are Changes are detailed in the Table below.
proposed to the banding
system and these are
out in the summary
table below.

Low. The bandings
allow for prioritisation
of applicants based on
need.

Yes agree = 14
No = 1

Policy updated.

Low.
Clarity in awarding
Bands. Less likely to
be challenged.

Yes agree = 8

Policy updated (Bands table outlined
below).

Low.
Changes will make the
application of the
Policy clearer.

Yes agree = 8

Policy updated.

Revised Bands
Band A: Additional preference for certain homelessness duties
(This is assessed and verified by the Partner Council’s Housing Options Team)
This banding applies where a Cumbrian Council have accepted:
1) The Section 193(2) main homelessness duty or the Section 193C(4) ‘reduced’ Section 193 duty, or
2) A section 189B (2) Relief duty and the applicant is, at the point of that 189B duty being accepted, considered likely to be in priority need and
unintentionally homeless, whether a decision to that effect has been made or not, and the applicant is in temporary accommodation provided by
the Council to meet a section 188 interim accommodation duty.

Page 178

In these circumstances where an applicant is homeless and in temporary accommodation and owed a Section 189B(2) relief duty, or 193(2) main duty
or a section 193C(4) reduced main duty the Council will need to move applicants out of temporary accommodation to manage the budgetary or legal
impact on the Council. The applicant may still bid for properties advertised but due to the budgetary pressures faced by the Council and the need to
maintain a supply of available temporary accommodation for new cases presenting as homeless, the Council is likely to make a direct offer of suitable
accommodation into the private rented sector or social housing regardless of the preferences expressed by the applicant.
Band A: Additional preference for medical or disability (See appendix 1.8 for full details of the medical need assessment process)
Where an applicant (or a member of their household) is unable to continue to occupy their current accommodation due to high medical need or disability.
Examples of when Band A may be awarded include:
Applicants ready to be discharged from hospital who: have somewhere to live but their accommodation is unsuitable due to their medical needs and
cannot be made suitable through adaptations because of cost effectiveness or structural difficulties or the property cannot be adapted within a
reasonable amount of time.
Applicants who have urgent need to move due to them having medical problems or disabilities that are being exacerbated by their current housing
situation. This includes applicants:
a) Whose life is at risk due to their current housing conditions or who are housebound, effectively housebound or cannot access the essential facilities
in their home and there are critical concerns about their safety, for example through falls due to difficulties with access.
b) Whose condition is terminal and rehousing is required to provide a basis for the provision of suitable care
c) Whose condition is life threatening and their existing accommodation is a major contributory factor

d) Whose health is so severely affected by the accommodation that it is likely to become life threatening for example, where an applicant has significant
mental health problems which are exacerbated by their accommodation
e) With disabilities, who have restricted mobility and are limited by their accommodation such that they are unable to carry out day-to-day activities
or have difficulties accessing facilities inside and outside of their accommodation and require rehousing into accommodation suitable for their use.
f) In overcrowded accommodation which puts the applicant at risk of infection, for example, where an applicant is suffering from late-stage or advanced
HIV infection
Band A: Additional preference where there is a need to move on welfare grounds due to exceptional impact on the applicant or a member of their
households well being
Not every circumstance that may present can be captured by the policy so below are examples of welfare ground cases that will be considered. The list
is not exhaustive:

Page 179

a) Suffering extreme violence, harassment or discrimination, whether a hate crime or otherwise, and that it is not safe for them to remain in their
present home/locality.
b) Applicants who need to move due to domestic abuse threats from an ex partner or family member they do not live with, extreme threats of
violence, extreme harassment, or other extreme circumstances deemed to significantly affect a household’s welfare and wellbeing.
c) Exceptional circumstances due to significant problems associated with the tenant’s occupation of a dwelling in the social or private rented sector
and there is high risk to the tenant or their family’s safety if they remain in the dwelling/area.
d) For applications in circumstances where there is a serious threat to the well being of a child and their accommodation is a major contributory
factor to that risk. This will be in circumstances where the relevant manager in Children’s Services or equivalent assesses the level of risk exposure
in relation to the child or children remaining in the current property as being so critical that no other reasonable options in relation to
accommodation are available to protect the child.
Band A: Additional preference Armed Forces
Applicants with urgent housing who:
a) Is serving (and will soon leave) the regular forces and is suffering from serious injury, illness, mental ill health, or disability which is attributable to
the person’s service

b) Has recently ceased, or will ceased to be entitled, to reside in accommodation provided by the MOD following the death of that person’s spouse or
civil partner who has served in the regular forces and whose death was attributable (wholly or partly) to that service or
c) Is serving or has served in the reserve forces and is suffering from a serious injury, illness or disability which is attributable (wholly or partly) to the
persons service
Band A: Additional preference for unfit or unsatisfactory housing
There are 3 circumstances where Band A may be awarded:

Page 180

1: Applicants without access at all to any of the following facilities:
No access to:
a) A bath or shower
b) A toilet
c) Cooking facilities
d) Running hot water supplies
e) Electric/gas needed for essential activities
Applicants who have access to shared facilities re cooking; bathroom and toilet will not qualify under these criteria.
2: Exceptional impact cases.
Applicants who currently occupy a private sector property which has at least one Category 1 Hazard (excluding overcrowding) under the Housing Health
and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) and where a Prohibition Order has been served or is intended to be served under the Housing Act 2004 and the effect
of the Prohibition Order is likely to mean that the applicant(s) will lose the use of their home on a permanent basis. The relevant conditions at the
property must be life-threatening or present an immediate threat of serious injury to the occupant(s)
This includes a property that has severe damp, major structural defects including subsidence, flooding, collapse of roof, or have living conditions which
are a statutory nuisance, and there is no prospect of the problems being remedied within a period considered to be reasonable by the Council and the
household are not able to afford to resolve their own housing problem by moving to alternative private sector accommodation.
Note - this does not include Council or Housing Association homes as there is a legal requirement on social landlords to urgently remedy defects that
pose a risk to their tenants
3: Demolition or Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO) cases.

Where the applicant’s property is subject to demolition or subject to a Compulsory Purchase Order for redevelopment
Band A: Additional preference for severe overcrowding as defined as 2 bedrooms or more overcrowded Note: the measurement of overcrowding is
based on the "bedroom standard" (with some exceptions adopted see below). This is the non-statutory standard set out in the government's allocation
of accommodation guidance.
Where an applicant household is severely overcrowded defined as requiring 2 or more additional bedrooms to reach the bedroom standard. In calculating
the overcrowding the following circumstances will be disregarded unless there are exceptional circumstances:





Children over the age of 16 will be excluded from the calculation
Cases where extended family had moved into accommodation causing the 2 bedroom plus level of overcrowding
Where the household contains non-dependent adults as there is more chance of non dependents being able to resolve their housing
The CCP will take account of the space and layout of rooms and bedrooms in deciding whether the 2 bedroom plus priority will be awarded

Page 181

Band A: Additional preference for applicants nominated by Cumbria Adult Social Services/Children’s Services in the following circumstances:





Where there is an essential need to move due to child protection issues
Fostering carers for Cumbria County Council where there is a need to move to a larger home in order to accommodate a looked after child (this
would not apply where the home required would be 4 bedrooms or more)
Adoption arrangements where there is a need to move to a larger home in order to accommodate a looked after child (this would not apply where
the home required would be 4 bedrooms or more)
Applicants owed a duty by Adult Social Services under the Care Act 2014 / Mental Health Act 1983/2007 who have been assessed by the housing
team as being ready to move onto independent living and have an appropriate support package in place

Band A: Additional preference for Cumbria County Council Care Leavers (Former Relevant children) as defined by the Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000
and need to move on
Applicants must be a former “Relevant Child” as defined by the Children Leaving Care Act 2002 and be a young person at risk of homelessness. The
evidence to support this award will be provided by the council’s leaving care service and will consist of confirmation that:
a) All referrals by Children’s Services will be made following the provision of Cumbria’s Joint Protocol for young people
b) The care leaver is ready to move to independent settled housing and is genuinely prepared for a move to independent living
c) The care leaver possesses the life skills to manage a tenancy including managing a rent account.

d) The care leaver has either long term or medium term tenancy support arranged, as required.
e) Ongoing support needs have been assessed and, where appropriate, a support plan is in place and
f) The CCP’s assessing officer agrees that due to the nature and extent of their vulnerability, accommodation in the private rented sector would, through
its short-term nature, have a detrimental effect on their well-being
Note: Care leavers will be awarded Band A on proof of their status. If an application for housing is made before it has been determined by the CCP
assessing officer that the individual is ready for independent living, taking into account information from the applicant’s support worker and other
agencies, the application will not have any bid considered until the support worker presents the evidence to the CCP that the individual is ready to move
on and the CCP agree with that evidence.
Band A: Additional preference for applicants who are part of a multi-agency public protection agreement (MAPPA).

Page 182

Band A would apply only where:
a) On the recommendation of the MAPPA partnership the applicant requires and is suitable for independent housing and qualify for the Housing Register,
and
b) The CCP assessing officer agrees that due to the nature and extent of the circumstances of the MAPPA case accommodation in the private rented
sector would, through its short-term nature, have a detrimental effect on the multi agency planning for that individual
Band A: Additional preference for certain MARAC assessed cases
Applicants fleeing domestic violence and abuse that have been assessed by
MARAC (or any subsequent multi agency arrangement) as needing to move urgently for the safety and security of themselves and or any dependent
children and are assessed as being in immediate danger, and
a) The MARAC partnership has referred the case and provided evidence as to why the applicant requires social housing, and
b) The CCP assessing officer agrees that due to the nature and extent of the circumstances of the MARAC case accommodation in the private rented
sector would, through its short-term nature, have a substantial detrimental effect on individual or household
Band B – Reasonable preference for certain homelessness duties owed (This is assessed and verified by the Partner Council’s Housing Options Team)
Any of the following statutory homeless duties owed by a Cumbrian Council:

a) People where it has been verified that they are rough sleeping in a Cumbrian Council area regardless of whether they have made a homeless
application
b) Applicants owed the prevention of homelessness duty under Section 195(2) by any Cumbria local authority
c) Applicants owed the ‘relief of homelessness duty under Section 189B(2) (Note: applicants owed a relief duty and are likely to be in priority need,
unintentionally homeless and are in temporary accommodation will be placed in Band A)
d) Where the relief duty has been brought to an end and an applicant has been assessed at that point as not being in priority need
Band B: Reasonable preference for insecure accommodation arrangements

Page 183

“A pregnant woman or applicant with a child or children who are sharing a home with family who are not part of their household and where:
a) They have no ownership or tenancy rights and the arrangement is short term and very insecure and only available whilst the applicant is actively
seeking an offer of social housing or alternative accommodation with friends or in the private rented sector, and
b) They were owed a prevention of homelessness duty as they were assessed as likely to become homeless within 56 days, and that duty has ended
because they have been allowed to remain at home whilst they bid for social housing with their Band B priority and it is likely that they can remain for
at least 6 months to a year.
c) The family member with the interest in the home has agreed to allow the applicant to remain for at least 6 months to a year.
Band B: Reasonable preference for medical or disability housing need (See appendix 1.8 for full details of the medical need assessment process)
Applicants who have need to move due to them having medical problems or disabilities where their housing conditions exacerbates a serious medical
condition or disability but do not qualify for an award of Band A. This includes (the examples are to illustrate the level of housing need to be awarded
Band B and is not an exhaustive list).
a) The applicant’s current accommodation to a significant extent directly exacerbates an existing medical condition, is the direct cause of a medical
condition or impacts on the ease of use of the facilities within their home for a disabled person.
b) Applicants who have mobility issues and it has been assess need to move to ground floor or level access accommodation
c) Applicants who have mobility issues and need to move to accommodation that has level access showering facilities
d) Applicants who have a significant physical or mental health condition that is directly affected by their accommodation and where a move to
alternative accommodation would help to ease or resolve their condition
e) Applicants who have a medical need for an additional bedroom (e.g. because they need an overnight carer or need to accommodate a substantial
amount of medical equipment)

Band B: Reasonable preference under the Government’s ‘Right to move’ regulations
Existing social tenants of accommodation in England who the CCP have assessed as qualifying under the Government’s Right to Move regulations will be
placed into Band B
Allocation to those Applicants who qualify is limited to a maximum of 2% of all lettings.
Band B: Reasonable preference for ‘move on’ from supported housing
Where the CCP assessing officer after considering evidence from the applicant’s support officer agrees that due to the nature and extent of their
vulnerability, accommodation in the private rented sector would, through its short-term nature, have a detrimental effect on their well being.
Before the award is made, ongoing support needs will need to have been assessed and, where appropriate, a support plan put in place to increase the
chances of the tenancy succeeding and the person must have been assessed as ready to move on from supported to independent housing.

Page 184

Band B: Reasonable preference where it is agreed there is a need to move on welfare or hardship ground:
1) Applicants who need to move closer to a specialist organisation, agency or institution located in a specific area of Cumbria, where moving would
prevent significant physical, psychological or financial hardship. (The assessment will include the availability and ability to use public transport)
2) Hardship on support grounds: Applicants that have demonstrable evidence that they provide or receive substantial and on-going support to or
from relatives or friends and where moving would prevent significant physical, psychological or financial hardship. This award will only be
considered where there are significant medical or welfare issues including grounds relating to disability. This award for applicants who give or
require support from relatives or friends will only be considered where there is a severe disability or mental ill health, medical or welfare issue
(relating to the applicant or their household or the relatives or friends) and there are reasons why this support cannot be made available through
reliance on public transport or the persons own transport. (The assessment will include the availability and ability to use public transport).
3) Employment Hardship - Priority will only be given in exceptional circumstances and applicants will need to show that they need to move to take
up or continue an employment opportunity not available elsewhere. They will only be considered where they do not live within a reasonable
commuting distance and will be required to provide confirmation of employment details from the employer. Employment purposes are defined
as: applicants including people needing to move from outside Cumbria and between Cumbrian Districts, taking up or continuing permanent
employment for a minimum of 16 hours per week. Under this clause applicants will only be considered where they do not live within a reasonable

commuting distance and will be required to provide confirmation of employment details from the employer. (The assessment will include the
availability and ability to use public transport)
Band B: Reasonable preference for being overcrowded by 1 bedroom Note: the measurement of overcrowding is based on the "bedroom standard"
(with some exceptions adopted see below). This is the non-statutory standard set out in the government's allocation of accommodation guidance.
Applicant’s living in overcrowded conditions and whose housing circumstances have been assessed as being 1 bedroom short of what they need as
measured by the bedroom standard.
Or alternative wording
Where an applicant household is overcrowded by one bedroom as measured by the bedroom standard. In calculating the overcrowding the following
circumstances will be disregarded unless there are exceptional circumstances:

Page 185

 Children over the age of 16 will be excluded from the calculation
 Cases where extended family had moved into accommodation causing the 1 bedroom level of overcrowding
 Where the household contain non-dependent adults as there is more chance of non dependents being able to resolve their housing
The CCP will take account of the space and layout of rooms and bedrooms in deciding whether the 1 bedroom priority will be awarded
Band B: Reasonable preference for unsatisfactory housing conditions or issues of property fitness
Private sector tenants that the relevant Council has determined that the property poses a category 1 hazard under the Health and Safety fitness rating
and the CCP assessing officer is satisfied that the problem cannot be resolved by the landlord within 6 months and as a result continuing to occupy the
accommodation will pose a considerable risk to the applicant’s health. This includes a property that has severe damp, major structural defects including
subsidence, flooding, collapse of roof, or have living conditions which are a statutory nuisance, and there is no prospect of the problems being remedied
within a 6 month time period, and the household are not able to resolve their own housing problem by moving to alternative private sector
accommodation
Band B: Reasonable preference for under-occupation
Applicants who have a social housing tenancy with a Cumbrian CCP Partner and are under-occupying social rented accommodation by two or more
bedrooms. The exception to the 2 or more bedroom under occupation rule will be:

a) Where a tenant occupies a house that they are under occupying by 1 bedroom and a move to a flat would free up that house

b) Where it is agreed that under-occupancy by 1 bedroom will cause significant financial hardship for tenants. This is where there is clear
evidence that tenants on lower incomes are forced to spend significant percentages of their incomes on servicing 1 bedroom underoccupancy deductions
Band B: Local preference for recent ex armed forces applicants
Members of the Armed Forces persons who are serving in the regular forces who will be discharged within three months and have served for five years
preceding their application for an allocation of housing accommodation as long as this has not been a dishonorable discharge.

Page 186

Band B: Local preference for identified ‘Key Workers’
The following key workers whose total gross household income from all sources does not exceed an annual income of £45,000 or more (for single
persons) or joint income of £60,000 or more (for couples).
1) National Health Service Staff and Social Care staff
2) Community Support Officers
3) Members of the Territorial Army
4) Volunteer Fire Officers
Band C – All other applicants in housing need: This is the housing need band awarded where an applicant is not assessed as coming under the criteria
adopted by the policy for being in a statutory housing need. Applicants placed in band C can still bid for properties but will not be considered above
applicants from Bands A or B who have bid for the same property.
Band C will include applicants who have been assessed as being intentionally homeless by any Council and since that award has not had settled
accommodation (defined by the CCP assessing officer)

Appendix 2

Allocations Policy
(2020 Policy Review)
Section 1: Introduction and background
Members of the Cumbria Choice Based Letting Partnership
Legal context
The key aims and objectives set for the Policy
Making changes to the Policy
General Data Protection Regulations 2018
Equality, accessibility and monitoring
Complaints
Statement on Choice
Section 2: Who can apply to the Housing Register and the
criteria for assessing applications
The eligibility persons from abroad qualification rules
The qualification rules adopted by the CCP
Qualification rule 1 – Local Connection
Qualification rule 2: The requirement to give permission to obtain
and share an applicant’s personal information
Qualification rule 3: Homeownership or legal interest in home
ownership
Qualification rule 4: Financial resources
Qualification rule 5: Failure to Bid
Qualification rule 6: Fraud or giving False Information
Qualification rule 7: Circumstances where an applicant has current
or former social housing rent arrears or another relevant recoverable
housing related debt
Qualification rule 8: Serious unacceptable behaviour
Qualification rule 9: CCP Tenants not assessed as Band A or Band
B Housing Need
How the CCP will consider exceptional circumstances when
applying any of the qualification rules
Section 3: Applying to join the Housing Register
How to apply
When a band will be allocated and what date this will be from
Assessing Applications
Checks into any court cases or unspent criminal convictions
Who can be included in the application?
How joint applications will be considered and when will a joint
tenancy normally be granted?

1

Page 187

3
3
4
6
6
7
7
8
9
14
14
15
15
17
17
18
19
19
19

23
24
24
26
26
27
27
28
29
30

Households with access to children/shared residency order or Child
Arrangement Orders
The requirement to inform the CCP of any change of circumstances
Applications from Councillors, Board Members or staff of a CCP
partner
Reviewing the Register
Cancelling Applications
Deliberate Worsening of Circumstances
When an applicant can request a review
Section 4: How an applicant’s housing needs and
circumstances will be assessed
The Banding system
The Banding Table setting out the 3 Bands and the housing need
criteria required to qualify for each
Advertising properties
Sheltered Housing
Section 106 Developments
Local Lettings Policies
Specific Local Lettings Policies for villages or rural parishes
Appendix 1 – Operational and Procedural Instructions, Guidance
and detail for how the Policy will be applied
Appendix 1.1: Lettings not covered by the Policy
Appendix 1.2: The details for how the scheme will apply:
1) The General Data Protection Regulations 2018
2) The ‘Privacy Notice’ for the policy, and
3) An applicant’s right to information
Appendix 1.3 Details of how alleged fraud or providing false
information will be assessed
Appendix 1.4: Additional procedural information on the consideration
of exceptional circumstances and how applications where there is a
‘Debt Relief Order’, ‘Bankruptcy Declaration’ or ‘Individual Voluntary
Agreement (IVA)’
Appendix 1.5: Additional guidance for assessing officers and the
framework to be used to apply the test of unacceptable behaviour
Appendix 1.6: How a request for a review will be administered
Appendix 1.7: Further operational and procedural details covering:
a) Advertising properties
b) The bidding and selection process
c) Offers of accommodation
d) Feedback on lettings
Appendix 1.8: Assessing whether an applicant qualifies for a priority
band A or B on the basis of medical priority
Appendix 2: Definition of terms
Appendix 3: How local lettings policy will be applied and reviewed
Appendix 4: Definition of a reasonable offer
Appendix 5: Contact details for all CCP Partners
Appendix 6: Household type and property size allowed
Appendix 7: Right to move criteria
Appendix 8: List of person/s who will take specific decisions
Appendix 9: How major changes will be considered by each of the 6
Cumbrian Councils

2

Page 188

30
30
31
32
32
32
33
34
34
35
44
44
45
46
46
47
47
49

51

54
56
57

61
68
70
72
74
76
78
80
81

Appendix 10: Revised equality Impact Assessment June 2020

Section 1

82

Introduction and Background

Members of the Cumbria Choice Based Letting Partnership
This document is the revised Housing Allocation Policy for the Cumbria Choice
Partnership (CCP).
The Allocation Policy is called ‘Cumbria Choice’ and it is a choice based letting
scheme where applicants can bid for advertised vacant properties. Cumbria
Choice is a sub-regional partnership between the 6 Local Council Districts and
7 Registered Provider Housing Associations that own social housing stock
across Cumbria.
The following are members of the Cumbria Choice Partnership:
Allerdale Borough Council
Barrow Borough Council
Carlisle City Council
Copeland Borough Council
Eden District Council
South Lakeland District Council
Plus the following Housing Associations:
Accent Housing
Eden Housing
Home Group
Impact Housing
Riverside Housing
South Lakes Housing
Castles and Coasts Housing Association
Each of these Registered Providers (commonly known as and referred to in this
policy as Housing Associations) have voluntarily signed up to the policy to
ensure that all applicants applying for social housing in Cumbria are provided
with a single route of access to social housing and are assessed using a single
policy. Where any individual housing association in Cumbria is not a partner to
the policy and continues to let vacant properties owed to the Council under a
nominations arrangement, this policy will apply to the nominations owed.
The participating Housing Associations listed above (contact details are set out
in appendix 5) have agreed to advertise the majority of their available vacant
properties through the scheme and in accordance with this policy.
The ‘Cumbria Choice Partnership’ is overseen by a ‘Sub Regional Project
Board’, which is governed by a partnership agreement. The membership
consists of one senior officer representative from each organisation. Each
organisation has one vote within the partnership.

3

Page 189

The Project Board will meet at least six times a year to oversee the running of
the scheme and to monitor its compliance with local and national policy and
guidance. The partnership will continue to monitor, fund, develop and make
policy decisions about the scheme as appropriate.
The policy covers the nomination of any applicant under the scheme to be an
assured or an assured short hold tenant of housing accommodation held by any
participating Housing Association across Cumbria, whether by way of a legally
enforceable arrangement or not. This includes a nomination of a ‘starter
tenancy’. Of the 6 Cumbrian Councils only Barrow still owns Council stock and
the policy applies to allocations made for that stock.
This policy sets out who is, and who isn’t, eligible for social housing in Cumbria
and how the CCP will make this assessment. It details how applications to join
the CCP Housing Register can be made, the priority they will be given, and how
offers of social housing will be made.
This is a revised ‘Housing Allocation Policy’ and will take effect in respect of all
allocations of housing on or after insert date here. The assessment of need and
qualifying criteria set out in this policy will be applied to all new and existing
Applicants from this date.
Legal context
This is the 6 Cumbrian Councils Housing Allocation Policy as required by Part 6
of the Housing Act 1996. Applicants are able to apply for housing and all
applications will be fully assessed.
When applying an applicant will be asked to choose a local authority or housing
association partner to administer their application. Where a housing association
partner assesses and administers an application they will, on behalf of the 6
Cumbrian local authorities, be formally discharging the legal responsibility for a
local authority to receive applications and apply their adopted allocation policy
to assess that application. All applications will be assessed and administered
through applying this allocation policy: this being the legally adopted allocation
policy for all 6 Cumbrian local authorities.
In developing this policy the Councils have followed and fully considered the
following housing legislation, regulations, statutory guidance, and strategies:
1) The Housing Act 1996, Part 6 as amended by Localism Act 2011 (England)
2) The Housing Act 1996, Part 7 as amended by the Homelessness Reduction
Act 2017
3) Allocation of Accommodation: Guidance for Local housing Authorities in
England (2012, DCLG) “the Code”;
4) Providing social housing for local people: Statutory guidance on social
housing allocations for local authorities in England (DCLG, December 2013)
“Supplementary Code”.

4

Page 190

5) Plus the following statutory regulations:
a. Allocation of Housing (Procedure) Regulations 1997, SI 1997/483;
b. Allocation of Housing (England) Regulations 2002, SI 2002/3264;
c. Allocation of Housing and Homelessness (Eligibility) (England) Regulations
2006, SI 2006/1294 and all subsequent amendments
d. Allocation of Housing (Qualification Criteria for Armed Forces) (England)
Regulations 2012, SI 2012/1869;
e. Housing Act 1996 (Additional Preference for Armed Forces) (England)
Regulations 2012, SI 2012/2989.
f. The Allocation of Housing (Qualification Criteria for Right to Move) (England)
Regulations 2015
g. ‘The Allocation of Housing and Homelessness (Eligibility) (England)
(Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019 (SI 2019/861)’
In framing our allocations scheme this policy has had regard to the District
Council’s Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy, Housing Strategy, and
Tenancy Strategy as well as the Equality Act 2010.
In relation to f) above in accordance with the Right to Move statutory guidance
on housing allocations for local housing authorities in England (Department for
Communities and Local Government, March 2015) the Policy sets a limit of no
more than 2% of lettings will be allocated to social housing tenants from outside
of Cumbria who need to move for employment purposes.
All references to statutory materials are by way of summary and for convenience
only, and are not to be used as substitutes for the details within the original.
Where the Policy refers to the Cumbrian Choice Partnership, or CCP, this is to
be taken to mean each of the 6 Cumbrian Councils. Each Council has adopted
this Policy as its legal Allocation Policy to meet the statutory duty under Part 6
of the Housing Act 1996.
This Allocation Policy applies when a Cumbrian Council:
a) Selects a person to be a secure or introductory tenant of housing
accommodation (i.e. in practice accommodation owned by Barrow Borough
Council as the other 5 Council Partners no longer retain social housing
stock).
b) Nominates a person to be a secure or introductory tenant of housing
accommodation (i.e. in practice accommodation held by another housing
authority).
c) Nominates a person to be an assured tenant or assured shorthold tenant of

5

Page 191

housing accommodation held by a Registered Provider (commonly referred
to in the Policy as Housing Associations).
The above includes Affordable Rent properties and Flexible (i.e. fixed term)
tenancies.
For details of lettings not covered by the policy see appendix 1.1
The key aims and objectives set for the Policy
The key aims and objectives adopted for the Policy are:
1. A Policy that meets the legal requirements placed on each Cumbrian Council,
namely to give appropriate priority to applicants who fall within the Housing
Act “reasonable preference” categories
2. To ensure there is a social housing lettings service that embraces equality
and diversity by being open and fully accessible to all individuals.
3. To improve the means by which local people in Cumbria gain access to social
rented housing by providing a modern and easy to understand allocation
system which offers realistic choices.
4. A Policy that is simple to understand and use, is transparent and is seen as
fair by the general public and applicants
5. To support the objective of making the best use of the social housing stock
in Cumbria, and to support mobility across Cumbria especially where
residents need to access to employment.
6. A Policy that contributes to creating balanced and sustainable communities,
and helps attract new customers to areas of low demand thereby reducing
void times on any ‘harder to let’ properties.
Making changes to the Policy
Any major change to the Policy can only be made after a copy of the proposed
amendments have been consulted on by sending to every Registered Provider
Housing Association in Cumbria, regardless of whether an association is a
participating member of the CCP. (Section s166A (13) Housing Act 1996).
All major changes must first, be agreed by the CCP Partnership Board who will
make recommendations that will then be considered:
a) By each of the 6 Cumbrian Councils, and
b) By each participating Partner Housing Association.
Details of how major changes will be considered by each of the 6 Cumbrian
Councils are set out in appendix 9.
For minor changes to the policy or the operational procedures, decisions will be
delegated to the CCP Board who will consult with the lead officer responsible for
housing in each Council, (or their delegated officer), and with the Chief Executive
for each CCP Partner Housing Association (or their delegated officer).

6

Page 192

All major changes to the policy will be notified to those it may affect within a
reasonable period of time.
General Data Protection Regulations 2018
We will ensure for any person on the housing register their information is stored
lawfully and we act in a fair and transparent way in processing their data. We
will only collect data that is specific, explicit and legitimate for the purpose of the
application and lettings processes set out in this policy. The data will be kept up
to date and not held unnecessarily or without appropriate security measures in
place. Information will only be shared with other organisations or individuals in
order to legitimately assess and progress a person’s housing, for the prevention
of fraud or with the person’s explicit consent.
An applicant’s permission to share their personal information is a qualification
condition of being accepted onto the CCP housing register.
Appendix 1.2 sets out the details for how the scheme will apply:
1) The General Data Protection Regulations 2018
2) The ‘Privacy Notice’ for the policy, and
3) An applicant’s right to information
Equality, accessibility and monitoring
The CCP is committed to ensuring that the Policy and the implementation of all
associated guidance and procedures are non-discriminatory and that all
applicants are able to access the service, especially taking account of any
vulnerability or other specific needs, and also the needs of different groups
protected by the Equality Act 2010; the Human Rights Act 1998; and for
Children, Section 11 of the Children Act.
To identify the needs of our applicants the application contains specific
questions relating to vulnerability, ethnic origin, sexual orientation, disability and
other relevant criteria. The information obtained will be used to monitor the
impact of the policy on minority and specific needs groups and to evidence the
need for amendments, as may be required.
Under the Equality Act 2010 and in particular section 149 of the Public Sector
Equality Duty, Councils are required to give due regard to eliminate
discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations
between those who share a protected characteristic and those who do not, when
exercising a public function such as their legal Housing Allocation Policy.
The protected characteristics are: age, disability, gender reassignment,
marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief,
sex and sexual orientation.
The CCP will ensure that the policy complies with the current equality legislation
and with all relevant statutory codes and guidance. The new policy has been
subject to a full, detailed ‘Equality Impact Audit’ before it has been adopted (see

7

Page 193

appendix 10). This EIA will be regularly reviewed as more monitoring information
regarding the impact of the policy is obtained.
The outcomes for applicants identified as having specific needs or who meet the
definition of a protected characteristic under the Equality Act will be monitored
regarding the outcomes for applications to join the register and offers of social
housing.
The CCP will monitor the policy and outcomes to ensure that it is meeting all
legal requirements and that the aims and objectives set for the policy are being
met. Monitoring will be used to ensure that:




Those in the ‘reasonable preference’ categories are given priority for housing
The Policy is complying with its Equality Act duties
There is overall customer satisfaction with the scheme

Complaints
Complaints are separate to the circumstances where an applicant wishes to
seek a review of a decision made on their application. Such a request should be
made under the review procedure set out in section 4 and not through the
complaints procedure.
Where an applicant wishes to make a complaint about poor service, or the way
they have been treated, this should be made using the complaints procedure for
the Cumbrian District Council where they currently live. A copy of the current
complaints procedure for each of the 6 Councils is available on their websites.
Complaints regarding the handling of an application by a partner Housing
Association should be made through that Association’s complaints procedure
which will be detailed on the Association’s website.
Where a complaint relates to how an applicant has been dealt with under this
policy an applicant has the right to continue with their complaint to the Local
Government Ombudsman Service if they are unhappy with the response to their
complaint.
The Local Government Ombudsman is an independent service run by Central
Government to make sure that Councils provide the required standard of service
to their customers.
The Ombudsman can investigate complaints about how the Council has done
something, but they cannot question what has been done simply because
someone did not agree with it.
The Ombudsman will normally deal with a complaint if a customer feels they
have been treated unfairly as a result of maladministration.
For example, if a Council has:
 Delayed taking action without good reason

8

Page 194

 Taken into account facts which are not relevant or ignored facts which are
relevant
 Not followed their own rules or complied with the law
 Not taken action that they had promised to
 Given a customer the wrong information
 Not reached a decision in the correct way
The Ombudsman will not normally investigate a complaint:
 Until a Council has had the opportunity to review its decision (normally by
accessing the complaints process), or
 If it is a matter which has been, are, or could be dealt with by the courts or
an internal review procedure
 If it was a matter which the applicant was aware of more than twelve months
before making the complaint
All complaints to the Ombudsman must be in writing. Applicants can request
assistance from their local Councilor or ask an advocate to write on their behalf.
The contact details for the Local Government Ombudsman are:
Local Government Ombudsman
PO Box 4771
Coventry CV4 0EH
Tel: 0300 061 0614.
You can also text ‘call back’ to 0762 480 3014.
Fax: 024 7682 0001
Website: www.lgo.org.uk
Statement on Choice
One of the key objectives of the Policy is to, as far as possible, give choice to
applicants who wish to obtain social housing. This is why the CCP has taken the
decision to operate the Policy through a ‘choice based lettings’ system (CBL).
The aim being to give applicants the best possible choice over where they wish
to live.
For all applicants who are eligible to be registered, they should be able to
express a preference over any area that they would like to live in and the type of
property they would prefer. However, the ability to satisfy that preference might
be limited.
The housing pressures faced limit the degree of choice that can be offered, along
with the responsibility the 6 Cumbria District Councils have to offer housing to
applicants in urgent housing need, including the need to reduce the financial
impact of temporary accommodation on a Council. As a result of housing
pressures there is a limit on the degree of choice that can be offered. The district
councils have to offer housing to applicants in urgent housing need, this reduces
the financial impact of providing temporary accommodation on that Council.
Expressing a preference over where an applicant would prefer to live does not
mean that preference can be met, nor prevent an applicant being offered suitable
accommodation outside of their preferred area.

9

Page 195

Any applicant will be asked to state any area where they believe they cannot live
due to fear of violence, harassment or domestic abuse. The assessment will
then consider the facts and decide whether the applicant can be allowed to
restrict those areas.
The key policies on choice explained
A) When the CCP may make a direct offer outside of the choice based
letting (CBL) system and, in exceptional circumstances, outside of the
CBL band and date order system
Not all properties that become available will be advertised and offered through
the Choice Based Lettings (CBL) system. There may be circumstances where
for urgent operational or financial reasons there is a need to make a direct offer
of housing outside the CBL and, in exceptional circumstances, outside of the
band and date order criteria set out in this policy.
Specifically, this would be where there are urgent operational or financial
reasons. Examples include but are not limited to:
1) Situations where urgent re-housing is required due to an applicants existing
property being uninhabitable, or where there are serious health and safety or
personal protection issues that need to be addressed or in discharge of a
statutory homelessness duty.
2) Urgent housing need situations where it would not be reasonable in the
circumstances to wait for the Choice Based Lettings process to produce an
offer.
3) Where there is an evidenced threat to life in the area in which an applicant
currently lives.
4) Tenants of a CCP Partner in emergency cases whose homes are damaged
by fire, flood or other disaster
5) To facilitate a three way (or greater) mutual exchange. Mutual exchanges are
not an allocation, but when it would make best use of its housing stock and
support the needs of the tenants involved, the CCP may make available a
property for a three-way exchange
6) Direct offers to persons who the council has a duty to rehouse under section
39 of the Land Compensation Act 1973.
7) Direct offers in order to meet an annual lettings plan in the circumstances
where a decision has been taken to adopt an annual lettings plan.
8) Where an applicant is homeless and in temporary accommodation and owed
a section 189B(2) Relief duty or 193(2) main duty a Partner Council may wish
to implement a short term scheme to make direct lettings for a period of time
to move applicants out of temporary accommodation, in order to manage any
budgetary or legal impact. The CCP Board should be informed so that they
can monitor to ensure that any scheme does not undermine the key

10

Page 196

objective, which is to ensure that direct lets do not form more than 15% of all
lettings.
9) If an applicant is not being realistic in the areas they are bidding for
accommodation, and as a result they may be occupying a temporary
accommodation unit that may be needed for another newly presenting
homeless applicant.
10) Where a vacant adapted property or a property designed to disability
standards becomes available and there may be a need to offer that property
to an applicant whose disability need best matches that property, regardless
of the date they were registered.
11) Where the assessment is that it is inappropriate for the applicant to
participate in Choice Based Lettings. For example, vulnerable applicants
nominated by Adult Social Care where work is on-going with social workers
and care managers to decide on the best letting solution for that applicant.
12) Other examples include cases where an applicant is subject to Multi Agency
Public Protection Arrangements (MAPPA), or presents a risk to themselves
or others
Furthermore, we may decide to restrict the time an applicant is able to bid for
accommodation in an area where they would prefer to live. An offer of
accommodation may be made in any area that has been assessed as being
suitable and safe for the applicant to live in.
We will provide information about the number and types of homes, and current
vacancy rates, to help applicants to make informed choices. The more flexible
applicants are in their choice of areas and property types, the sooner they are
likely to be successful in being offered a property that meets their need.
The number of direct offers will be monitored and should add up to no more than
15% of all lettings annually made under the scheme. This is to preserve Choice
Based Lettings as the primary method of letting social housing properties in
Cumbria.
B) Penalty for refusing a set number of offers
Any applicant in Bands A or B who refuses 3 reasonable offers within a 12-month
period will have their application placed into Band C for up to 12 months. This is
to tackle the problem of applicants making unlimited bids that may result in
higher refusal rates with resulting extended re-letting periods.
Criteria setting out what will be considered to be, and not be, a reasonable offer
is set out in Appendix 4. A refusal of an offer of the correct size and type will
normally be considered unreasonable.
C) Offers of accommodation made to any applicant owed any statutory
homelessness duty under Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996

11

Page 197

Specifically, for applicants owed the section 189B(2) ‘relief of homelessness’
duty, or the ‘main homelessness duty’ under section 193(2) of the Housing Act
1996 Part 7, the need to offer suitable housing may be considered more
important than the need for the applicant to wait for an offer of accommodation
in a location where they would prefer to live in.
If an applicant owed any of the statutory homelessness duties set out below
refuses a written offer of suitable social housing accommodation made through
this policy, then the duty owed to them will be discharged and they will lose any
priority status afforded to them because of that homeless duty owed.
Applicants owed a statutory homeless duty will be identified through the IT
system at the shortlisting stage. On identification of a suitable property the RP
and LA partners will agree a process for ensuring the ‘final offer warning letter’
will be sent to the homeless applicant owed a statutory homelessness duty set
out below. This will normally be to inform the relevant local authority Housing
options Team that an offer is to made so they can send out a ‘final offer warning
letter’
In these circumstances unless they have another reason to be awarded a
statutory housing need Band A or B under this policy, they will be placed into
Band C. The offer they have refused will count as the first offer out of the 3 offers
allowed within the 12 months period. They will no longer be owed any banding
award for being owed a statutory homelessness duty, as that duty would have
been brought to an end when they refused a suitable offer of social housing.
A statutory homeless duty is defined as:
a) The prevention of homelessness duty under Section 195(2)
b) The ‘relief of homelessness duty under Section 189B(2)
c) Where the relief duty has come to an end and an applicant is then owed a
section 190 Intentionally homeless temporary accommodation duty to
provide them with a reasonable opportunity to secure alternative
accommodation for occupation (section 190(2) duty),
d) The section 193(2) Main Homelessness duty or the section 193C(4)
‘reduced’ section 193 duty
For operational guidance notes:
Note 1: Where it has been decided to refer the case to another authority at either
the ‘Relief Stage’ or at the ‘Main Duty stage’ of their homeless application, an
applicant will not receive any banding for being owed any homelessness duty as
the Council will owe no duty (other than, depending on the circumstances) an
interim accommodation duty. Being owed an interim accommodation duty
pending the outcome of a local connection referral does not qualify an applicant
to be owed a banding A or B
Note 2: Where a Cumbria District Council has ended any statutory homeless
duty and is exercising its power to provide accommodation pending a review
decision (section 188(3) power) no statutory duty will be owed by the Council
unless the outcome of any review is favourable for the applicant. Therefore
where a review has been requested any banding priority for being owed any of
the homelessness duties will be removed.

12

Page 198

D) Where applicants in Band A have not bid within 3 months of being
awarded Band A
Band A is an award of additional preference based on an applicant’s very urgent
need to be housed. The need to house someone urgently will be undermined if
an applicant fails to bid because they may, for example, be waiting for the
‘perfect property’ to become available.
Therefore an award of Band A will be reviewed after 3 months for any applicant
who has not bid, or where the view is that bids have been made but are not
realistic.
The review after 3 months could result in a decision that:
a) The Band A award should continue with further reviews scheduled for every
3 months, or
b) The Band A award should be removed with the applicant losing additional
preference and being placed into Band B, or
c) That a direct offer should be made as soon as possible due to the urgent
need for the applicant to move.
Note: There may be circumstances where no suitable properties have become
available for an applicant to bid on within the 3-month period. In these
circumstances an applicant will not have Band A removed and will continue to
be able to bid. However, in recognition of their urgent need to move it may be
agreed with the relevant local authority to make a direct offer for any property
that is assessed as suitable to meet their urgent housing need.

13

Page 199

Section 2: Who can apply to the Housing Register and the criteria for
assessing who is eligible to be included

The CCP Housing Register is a single list of applicants across Cumbria who
qualifies to be included on the scheme. It includes new applicants and existing
social housing tenants living in Cumbria who are seeking a transfer.
Anyone over the age of 16 is eligible to join the Housing Register if their current
address is their only home, or sole residence, and they are not already registered
through someone else’s housing application.
If an applicant is under 18 years of age they will not normally be offered a
tenancy. This does not apply to young people living in a foster home or in
residential care provided by Social Services for whom re-housing under the
Children Act has been agreed and who are within 6 months of their 18th birthday.
There is an agreed protocol between the Housing and Social Services
departments covering housing for applicants who are looked after, or were
formerly looked after.
Any offer to an applicant who is under the age of 18 will only be made after their
ability to manage a tenancy has been fully assessed. This assessment is to
make sure that they can cope with being a tenant at a young age and that they
do not risk losing that tenancy offered through a lack of support.
If a person who is 16 or 17 is granted a tenancy, this will be held in trust until
they reach 18. This means that another suitable person (such as a parent, legal
guardian, social worker or relative) will be responsible for the tenancy.
The eligibility persons from abroad qualification rules
Everyone can apply to join the register but there are some groups of people who
by law cannot join the register, regardless of their housing need or
circumstances. These are people who:





Come under the Government’s ‘persons from abroad’ eligibility rules and
cannot lawfully be given housing help;
Do not live habitually in the Common Travel Area (UK, Channel Islands, the
Isle of Man or the Republic of Ireland);
Do not have the right to live in the UK;
Plus other categories of people who the Government may in the future,
decide are not eligible for housing assistance.

Under sections 160ZA (1), (2) and (4) of the Housing Act 1996 the CCP cannot
allocate a tenancy, or nominate a person for housing, if they are a person who
is ineligible for an allocation of housing accommodation by virtue of being a
person subject to immigration control or a person from abroad who is prescribed
as ineligible.
The relevant regulations that apply to eligibility are:

14

Page 200

 Regulations 3 and 4 Allocation of Housing and Homelessness (Eligibility)
(England) Regulations 2006, SI 2006/1294
 All subsequent amendments including ‘The Allocation of Housing and
Homelessness (Eligibility) (England) (Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations
2019 (SI 2019/861)
The rules are complicated and anyone who is impacted or believe they may be
impacted can approach any CCP Partner for advice, or seek independent legal
advice.
The rules will change from 2021 due to the UK’s exit from the EU and new
regulations regarding eligibility for housing based on the EU settlement scheme.
This policy will be amended to take into account any new rules.
The qualification rules adopted under the Policy
In addition to the Government’s ‘persons from abroad’ rules setting out when a
person is ineligible for an allocation of housing accommodation the housing laws
allow for the CCP to define in the Policy who will be regarded as ‘qualifying
persons’ (section 160ZA).
What this means is that under section 160ZA(7) is that the Policy can set out
classes of people who are, or are not, qualifying persons. A number of
qualification rules have been adopted by the CCP. There are also a number of
defined exceptions to all, or an individual qualification rule. The qualification
rules and exceptions are set out below.
Qualification Rule 1: Local Connection
Only those applicants with a local connection to Cumbria and who also have an
assessed statutory housing need, as defined by this policy, are eligible to be
included for the statutory reasonable preference housing needs Bands A and B.
The local connection rules do not prevent an applicant from being awarded Band
C as long as they meet the other qualification rules set, for example – as long
as they are not disqualified through the unacceptable behavior rule.
There will be some properties advertised that may be subject to additional local
connection requirements however, these will be clearly stated in the advert
where this is the case. A local connection is defined as:
a) Have lived within any area of Cumbria for the past year, or for 3 years in the
last 5 and that residence was of their choice.
b) Have immediate family (mother, father, brother, sister, son, daughter) who
are currently living in Cumbria and have done so for at least the last 3 years
c) Are employed in permanent employment in Cumbria. Employment is defined
as paid employment for 16 hours or more per week for a period of one year,
or self-employment where an applicant can demonstrate that the selfemployed work they perform is in the Cumbria area and is on average 16
hours a week or more. The employment must be based on their actual place
of work in the area and not based on a head office or regional office situated
in the area but from which the applicant does not work. Where working hours

15

Page 201

fluctuate i.e. casual or zero hours contract, an average will be taken over the
last three months, or
d) Have close family (normally mother, father, brother, sister, son or daughter)
that have lived in Cumbria for a minimum of the past 3 years. We will consider
whether there are exceptional circumstances where other family members
may be considered as close. For example, the circumstances where an
extended family member brought up a person in the absence of their own
parents.
e) Where there is an exceptional need to move to the area as determined for
very special circumstances.
For the purposes of determining local connection for residence in Cumbria, this
will include:
1) Residency in a non-traditional dwelling, such as a mobile home that is placed
on a residential site, or an official pitch where it is demonstrated that this their
permanent place of residence and can be evidenced through paying council
tax.
2) People who are forced to sleep rough in Cumbria if they meet the qualification
period for residency.
The exemptions to the residency qualification rule are:
1) An applicant is homeless and a Cumbrian Council has accepted the section
189B ‘relief of homelessness duty or the main section 193(2) housing duty
under the Housing Act 1996, and they are not intending to refer the applicant
to another Council under the homelessness local connection rules.
2) A Cumbria District Council has placed an applicant into temporary
accommodation outside of Cumbria.
3) Where there are significant and special circumstances requiring a move into
Cumbria. This will be decided on a case-by-case basis following a request
from the applicant or from the information submitted on their housing register
application. Examples include:
a) Reasons of safety; i.e. when an applicant is fleeing domestic abuse or
hate crime from another area, or
b) Is on a witness protection programme and the CCP have agreed that
there is an essential reason why they need to move to Cumbria
4) Applicants who are leaving an institution such as a prison or secure unit or a
hospital, rehabilitation centre, refuge, hostel or supported accommodation
scheme that is not in Cumbria and the applicant was resident in Cumbria for
one year one year immediately preceding residency in an institution, or 3 out
of the last 5 years immediately before they were accommodated in that
institution.
5) The CCP will consider any application from a gypsy or traveller household
where the applicant may not meet the continuous period of residence rule,
as the period may have been broken by travelling. The CCP will consider the
facts of each case when deciding whether the rule should be waived.

16

Page 202

6) Care Leavers below the age of 25 years who are, or were, owed a duty under
section 23C of the Children Act 1989 by Cumbria County Council and have
been looked after in accommodation outside of Cumbria. This will include
care leavers who are still receiving after care support from Children’s Service
until they are 25, and some care leavers who are in full-time education who
wish to move back to Cumbria on completion of their education.
7) Applicants that satisfy the Allocation of Housing (Qualification Criteria for
Armed Forces) (England) Regulations 2012. These are:
a) Applicants who are serving members of the regular armed forces
b) Applicants who served in the regular armed forces within the 5 years
immediately prior to the date of their application
c) Applicants who are serving or former serving members of the regular armed
forces or reserve forces who suffer from a serious injury, illness or disability
sustained as a result of their service
d) Applicants who are a bereaved spouse/civil partner of a former serving
member of the regular armed forces and have recently ceased (or will soon
cease) to be entitled to reside in services accommodation following the death
of their spouse/civil partner.
8) Applicants who satisfy the right to move criteria. The Right to Move
qualification regulations 20155 states that Local Connection criteria must not
be applied to existing social tenants who seek to move from another Council
district in England and who have a need to move for work related reasons to
avoid hardship.
To qualify the applicant must:
 Be social housing tenant living in England
 Wish to join the Housing Register in Cumbria due to work related reasons
to avoid hardship are able to do so provided that they can provide
evidence to that effect that is accepted.
 Satisfy the criteria that the tenant needs, rather than wishes to move for
work related reasons and if they were unable to do so would result in
hardship.
Qualification rule 2: The requirement to give permission to obtain and
share an applicant’s personal information
This is a condition of being accepted onto the housing register and applies to
the applicant, or any member of the applicant’s household.
Qualification rule 3: Homeownership, or legal interest in homeownership
An applicant cannot qualify for Bands A or B of the housing register (see section
on exemptions) if they own a residential property in the UK or elsewhere,
including freehold, leasehold, joint ownership or shared ownership (applicants
who have been the owner of a residential property within the last 5 years will be
required to provide proof of the proceeds from the sale and of the disposal of the
proceeds). This includes properties owned and rented out to other persons and
or properties in other countries. However, applicants will be able to qualify for
Band C.

17

Page 203

Applicants who own or part own accommodation, or who have a legal interest in
home ownership (for example through marriage or civil partnership in
accommodation owned by their spouse or civil partner) also do not qualify.
However, if as a result of a divorce settlement a Court has ordered that an
applicant may not reside in the former matrimonial or civil partnership home in
which they still have a legal interest for a period which is likely to exceed 5 years,
then the Applicant will be treated as if they do not own, or part own
accommodation.
Qualification rule 4: Financial resources
Applicants who are considered to have sufficient financial resources to buy
suitable accommodation in Cumbria will not qualify for Bands A or B but can
qualify for Band C. ‘Sufficient financial resources’ are defined as sufficient capital
to buy or rent privately; or sufficient income to raise a mortgage to buy or rent
privately; or a combination of both. The income and savings limits are:
1) Applicants (both single persons and couples) who have total savings,
investments and/or assets of £25,000 or more.
2) Applicants whose total gross household income from all sources exceeds an
annual income of £45,000 or more (for single persons) or joint income of
£60,000 or more (for couples).
'Sufficient financial resources' includes any assets or investments even if they
are not immediately available to the applicant, such as any residential or nonresidential property that they own or part own anywhere in the UK or abroad.
Any lump sum received by a member of the armed forces as compensation for
an injury or disability on active service will be disregarded.
Although this qualification rule will mean an applicant cannot be granted the
statutory housing needs bands A or B, it does not prevent them being considered
for any low cost home ownership schemes, such as rent to buy, shared
ownership/equity, discounted market sale and starter homes or lower demand
properties. Information can be given on request regarding which Housing
Associations or developers are currently operating any of the above schemes
and how applications can be made.
Applicants who do not qualify for Bands A or B under the homeownership, legal
interest or financial resources rules may be considered as an exception if:
a) They own or part own accommodation or have a legal interest in
accommodation or have financial resources above the thresholds and
b) They have a substantial disability; and their current home is not suitable for
their specific needs.
This exemption is intended to cover situations where a person owns their own
home but where it is agreed that they are no longer able to manage in it due to
their advancing years, or due to developing a substantial disability that makes
living in their home impracticable. This would be the circumstances where selling

18

Page 204

up is unlikely to provide sufficient funds for the applicant to purchase alternative
accommodation that would be suitable for their disability needs.
Qualification rule 5: Failure to Bid
This is a disqualification rule that will be applied to applicants who are included
on the Housing Register.
The CCP will monitor the bidding patterns to identify applicants who fail to bid
and identify any applicants where their failure to bid could be the result of a
vulnerability and not being able to understand the bidding system. In these
circumstances the rule will not be applied.
Any applicant who has failed to bid for more than twelve months will be removed
from the Housing Register to reduce the administrative burden of maintaining
the register. This is based on the assumption that an applicant who has not bid
for accommodation in 12 months is unlikely to continue to be in housing need.
Any applicant removed from the register can reapply if they have a housing
need.
If an applicant has only registered because they are interested in bidding for
accommodation for a new section 106 rural developments that may be being
built, this will be considered as an exception to the ‘no bid in 12 months’ rule.
Qualification rule 6: Fraud or giving False Information
Applicants who are found to have withheld or given false information may be
removed from the register and will not be able to reapply for a period of 12
months. Decisions to remove the person from the register will be made based
on the seriousness of the false information given, or an assessment of why
important information was withheld.
For details on how we will assess the question of alleged fraud or false
information see appendix 1.3
Qualification rule 7: Circumstances where an applicant has current or
former social housing rent arrears or another relevant recoverable
housing related debt.
This section sets out the rules for when an applicant
a) Will not be allowed to qualify for the Housing Register because of rent arrears
or a housing related debt, or
b) Will be allowed to qualify but will be not be allowed to bid for properties
advertised until the rent arrears or housing related debt have been resolved to
the satisfaction of the CCP using the criteria set out below.
When carrying out an assessment, we will take into consideration all housing
related debts, associated with either a current or former tenancy where this
relates to any social housing provider in the UK. Note the rules in this section
apply only to social housing former or current rent arrears, occupation of

19

Page 205

temporary accommodation debts, and some other forms of housing related debt.
This section does not cover any rent arrears for a private sector tenancy or
licence. This is covered under the unacceptable behaviour rules set out in
Qualification rule 8 below.
Note: the definition of a housing debt will not include debts that are statute
barred. The debt will be considered statute barred where an applicant, or their
representative or someone else they held the account with hasn’t:




Made a payment in the last 6 years
Written to the creditor acknowledging the debt in the last 6 years
Had a county court judgement (CCJ) relating to the debt in the last 6 years

For the purposes of this qualification rule housing related debts include:
a)
b)
c)
d)

Current or former tenancy rent arrears of a social housing tenancy;
Outstanding re-chargeable repairs;
Current and former housing related service charge arrears;
Bed and breakfast or other temporary accommodation charge arrears for a
licence or a tenancy
e) Housing benefit overpayments for a social housing tenancy;
f) Failing to adhere to the terms of an agreed payment plan in relation to rent
arrears or housing debt for a social housing tenancy or temporary
accommodation
g) Any court costs associated with any of the above debts
Housing related debts apply to both the applicant and to any members of their
household that are included in the application.
The purpose of this qualification rule is two fold.
1) To ensure any debt to a former landlord is recovered and
2) To focus on whether an applicant's history creates a risk of future nonpayment, rather than simply on the existence of a current outstanding debt.
The following framework will be used to guide officers to apply this qualification
rule. We will consider:





Whether the applicant still owes that debt, and if they do, the extent of the
arrears/debt and whether it is a recoverable debt or a statute barred debt.
Whether there possible exceptional circumstances that need to be
considered.
Whether the claimant has taken debt advice acted on it, and entered into and
begun to implement any arrangement to clear the arrears/debt.
If an arrangement has been made, the amount of arrears/debt paid off, any
amount outstanding, and the regularity of any payments made.

After applying the above procedure it may be decided that the applicant does
not qualify for the housing register or that they will be allowed to qualify, but not
allowed to bid for advertised properties until the matter has been resolved to the
satisfaction of the CCP.

20

Page 206

There is no time limit regarding when a person can make a new application
following disqualification. Where a new application is made we will assess
whether the applicant has taken appropriate action to address the debt. When
disqualified the applicant will have been informed of the steps they need to take
to resolve the debt in order to qualify.
How decisions for applicants with a social housing debt will be made
a) Applicants with debts of £1,000 or more who have not made any
arrangement to address the debt
Applicants with debts of £1000 or more who have not made any arrangement to
address the debt should be ineligible to join the register unless the
circumstances surrounding the debt are exceptional and the assessment
concludes that there is no real risk of future non-payment.
b) Applicants with debts of £1,000 or more who have made any
arrangement to address the debt
Applicants will be permitted to join the register and be able to bid for
accommodation if they have maintained a payment arrangement for at least 13
weeks and have either:
 Repaid at least £750; or
 Repaid at least 25% of their original debt
Applicants who satisfy the above will be permitted to bid for properties. All
partner landlords are encouraged to abide by these guidelines and to accept
bids on this basis. It is however, accepted that the housing association to whom
the debt is owed may wish to see that a longer period of repayment should be
kept to. Where this is the case the period should not be more than a further 1339 weeks in addition to the 13-week period that the applicant has already paid.
Any requirement by the partner to whom the debt is owed for payments to be
maintained for more than 13 weeks should not prevent an applicant from bidding
for properties advertised by another housing association partner.
All partner landlords are discouraged from requiring a debt of £1000 plus to be
paid in full. This disincentives applicants from making any attempt at payment
and may result in an applicant having to demonstrate an extended repayment
period of several years before they can be considered for accommodation. This
would be unfair on applicant’s who have demonstrated a commitment to pay off
the debt and that the risk of any further debt for a new tenancy is low. It also
makes it more likely that the housing association is unable to recover the debt.
c) Applicants with debts of £1-£499
Applicants with debts of £1-£499 should be eligible to join the register and
eligible to bid, unless there is clear evidence of a future risk of non-payment.
Clear evidence of a future risk could include factors such as:
a) A long history of housing debt;
b) A long history of poor rent payments; and
c) A long history of breached payment arrangements.

21

Page 207

Where such evidence exists the applicant should be unable to bid until there is
evidence of rehabilitation. Evidence of rehabilitation could include factors such
as:
a) Maintaining a payment arrangement for 1-8 weeks;
b) Demonstrating that the causes of the previous problems have been
addressed.
d) Applicants with debts of £500-£999
Applicants with debts of £500-£999 should be eligible to join the register but
ineligible to bid, unless the applicant can demonstrate there is no real risk of
future non-payment.
Evidence there is a no real risk of future non-payment could include factors such
as:
a) A history of not having housing debts;
b) A history of regular rent payments; and
c) A history of maintained payment arrangements.
Where no such evidence exists the applicant should be unable to bid until there
is evidence of rehabilitation. Evidence of rehabilitation could include factors such
as:
a) Maintaining a payment arrangement for 8-26 weeks;
b) Reducing the debt to below £500 (in which case the above rules at c would
apply)
c) Demonstrating that the causes of the previous problems have been
addressed.
Applicants who are disqualified for a housing related debt of £1,000+ should
notify the CCP immediately when they have either repaid at least £750 or repaid
at least 25% of their original debt so they can qualify for the register. If it is agreed
that the matter has been resolved and they can register, their effective date will
be the date they have been assessed as qualifying for the register and will not
be the date of their first application which resulted in the decision that they do
not qualify.
The only exceptions to this qualification rule are applicants who can demonstrate
that their circumstances are exceptional and that they would face serious
hardship or risk through not being allowed to qualify. An exception may be
considered where for example an applicant has a good payment history with a
debt resulting from a one off incident or problem such as relating to Universal
Credit, or benefits reforms, or where a tenant had to flee domestic abuse and a
subsequent debt built up for their tenancy.
Additional procedural information on the consideration of exceptional
circumstances and how applications where there is a ‘Debt Relief Order’,
‘Bankruptcy Declaration’ or ‘Individual Voluntary Agreement (IVA)’ are set out in
appendix 1.4
Qualification rule 8: Serious unacceptable behaviour

22

Page 208

This will apply where an applicant, or any member of their current or prospective
household, has a history of serious unacceptable behaviour that, in the view of
the CCP, makes them unsuitable to be a tenant. It is important to note that
whether an applicant’s behavior means that they are not allowed to register is
entirely a matter for the CCP and that the qualification rule is not restricted to
whether the unacceptable behavior would entitle the Council to an outright
Possession Order if the applicant were to be a tenant. This was the ‘threshold
test’ set by the legislation for Housing Allocation Policies until the Localism Act
was implemented in 2012. Since 2012 the legislation allows qualification for
unacceptable behavior to be defined through the rules adopted in any new
Housing Allocation Policy.
In applying this qualification rule the CCP will decide on the facts of the case
whether:
a) The applicant should not qualify to be included on the Housing Register due
to their (or household member’s) serious unacceptable behaviour, or
b) Will be allowed to qualify but will not be allowed to bid until the applicant (or
household member) has demonstrated to the satisfaction of the assessing
officer that their behavior has changed.
In the circumstances described by b) the applicant will be placed in the band that
reflects their housing need and will continue to accrue ‘time’ on the register for
the band awarded, despite not being able to bid. Once they have resolved their
unacceptable behavior their date within the Band will remain the date they were
awarded that band for their housing need and will not be the date they resolved
the unacceptable behavior to the satisfaction of the CCP.
The rule of non-qualification, or qualification but being unable to bid, will apply
where the CCP is satisfied that an applicant (or a member of their current or
prospective household) has:
1) Demonstrated a serious failure to adhere to the terms of any current or
previous social housing or private rented sector tenancy agreement. This
includes failing to maintain any previous social rented or private sector rented
property within the terms of their tenancy agreement, or committing acts
causing or likely to cause nuisance or annoyance to neighbours or others in
the locality of where they live or where they previously have lived. Nonqualification will apply until the applicant (or a member of their prospective
household) has demonstrated, to the satisfaction of the CCP, that
circumstances have changed such that the previous conduct is unlikely to
reoccur. In many cases this could include demonstrating cooperation with
support agencies leading to a substantial improvement in behaviour.
2) Conduct likely to cause nuisance or annoyance if they were to be offered a
tenancy. This is conduct or behavior that does not only relate to a previous
social housing or private rented sector tenancy agreement but conduct or
behaviour that the CCP has assessed is still current. This includes where an
applicant or a member of their current or prospective household is the subject
of actions being taken by a Council (or some other recognised body) on
grounds of alleged Anti Social Behaviour (ASB).
3) Rent arrears for their last private rented tenancy where the CCP has been
able to obtain information that confirms on the balance of probabilities a debt

23

Page 209

is owed. If there is a debt owed it will be for the assessing officer to decide
on the level and debt and any facts gathered regarding the level of debt and
the reasons for it whether the applicant should be classified as a non
qualifying case or, should be allowed to qualify but prevented from bidding
until the debt is resolved, or should be allowed to qualify with no penalty
applied.
4) Circumstances where the applicant, or any member of their household, has
assaulted a member of staff, whether or not an injunction is being sought or
has already been obtained
Additional guidance for assessing officers and the framework to be used to apply
the test of unacceptable behaviour are set out in appendix 1.5
Qualification rule 9 – Existing CCP Tenants who are not assessed as Band
A or B for having a statutory housing need.
Existing tenants of any Council or Housing Association located in Cumbria or
outside of Cumbria will only be allowed to qualify for the Housing Register if they
have an assessed housing need that would qualify them for Bands A or B.
This does not prevent a tenant who is not in housing need from seeking a
transfer through the ‘Mutual Exchange Scheme’.
How exceptional circumstances will be considered for any of the
qualification rules
The CCP retains the ability, in exceptional circumstances, to exercise its
discretion when applying any of the qualification rules. Note, it is for the applicant
to request that discretion should be applied for exceptional circumstances and
once requested this will be considered by a senior housing operational manager
from the Council normally for the Council area where the applicant has applied
from. A request for a review of a decision that an applicant does not meet the
qualification rule will be taken as a request for any exceptional circumstances to
be considered. The delegated responsible manager for each assessing
organisation will consider:
1) Whether the application would result in the applicant being awarded a
statutory housing need reasonable preference Band A or B under the Policy,
and if so
2) Whether the applicant’s circumstances (or those of a member of the
applicant’s household) are so exceptional that the qualification rule should be
waived.
They will assess the case for exceptional circumstances and will record all
decisions reached along with full reasons for that decision. The applicant will
receive a written decision with the reasons set out.
Please note 1: that the CCP cannot waive the eligibility rules for any applicant
who is not allowed to access social housing under the ‘person from abroad’ legal
eligibility rules set by Central Government.

24

Page 210

Please note 2: In deciding whether an applicant’s circumstances are exceptional
we will fully consider the Equality Act 2010 and Children Act 2004. For the
Equality Act we will specifically consider:
a) Whether the person, or a member of their household that they wish to be
housed with them, meets the definition for one or more of the 9 protected
characteristics in listed in the Equality Act 2010
b) If we agree that the applicant or a member of their household comes under
the definition for a protected characteristic the CCP will fully comply with
section 149 of 2010 Equality Act and ensure that it has obtained all relevant
information relating to the applicant’s protected characteristic and will
consider that if they were not able to qualify for the scheme, whether this
would have an exceptionally detrimental impact on the person with the
protected characteristic, and
c) Ensure that any decision that the applicant’s circumstances are not
exceptional will be a decision that is a proportionate means of achieving the
legitimate aims set out in this policy in section 1.

25

Page 211

Section 3: Applying to join the Housing Register

How to apply
Applications should be made online by accessing the housing allocations section
of the Cumbria Choice website and completing the on-line application form https://www.cumbriachoice.org.uk/Data/ASPPages/1/38.aspx
An applicant will be asked to choose one housing organisation to administer their
application. This can be the local authority for where they are resident or a
housing association partner. If the applicant is a tenant of a ‘Cumbria Choice’
partner their application must be administered by that housing association. If
they are a former tenant of a ‘Cumbria Choice’ partner, that partner must
administer their application.
Applicants can call any of the CCP Council or Housing Association Partners if
they need help to make their application on-line. There is also free access to the
Internet at libraries, Council offices, Housing Association Offices and at some
community facilities. A telephone or office appointment can be offered when an
applicant has no access to the Internet or is unable to use the Internet. To
mitigate any impact it is agreed that paper forms will still be available in
exceptional circumstances where it is agreed an applicant is unable to complete
an on-line form.
The Cumbria Choice website contains a list of all of the supporting documents
that an applicant must provide in order to progress their application. In most
circumstances an applicant will be able to upload their documents.
Where the applicant indicates that they have medical problems they will also be
requested to complete an additional medical assessment form on-line.
Once the on-line application has been received there may be a need for
additional information. If so applicants will receive a phone call, email or letter
setting out the details for any additional information needed.
Prisoners can register in the 6-month period prior to their date of release. They
are able to express an interest in a property in the 2-week period prior to release
but must be able to accept the tenancy on the date required by the housing
provider.
If accepted onto the register, applicants will be informed of:
1) The band they have been placed in (this determines priority)
2) The date of application (may be used to determine priority within the band
allocated)
3) The size and type of properties for which they can bid
4) Their application reference number (applicants will need this to bid)
5) How to appeal against their banding if they think it is wrong.

26

Page 212

They will also receive a user guide. This will inform them about how the scheme
works and will include such information as:
 Where to look for advertised properties;
 How to bid for a property
 What checks are made before any offer is confirmed?
 Feedback on their bid
Where a band is allocated what date will this be from?
The band start date is the date that the housing register application was received
for assessment, unless an applicant’s housing need and/or circumstances
changes and they are as a result placed in a higher band. In these circumstances
they will have their band start date reset as the higher band reflects how long
they have had the higher level of housing need.
Note for eligible homeless applicants who meet the qualification rules to join the
Housing Register the following will apply with regard to their Band start date:
a) Owed a section 195(2) Prevention of homelessness duty – Band date is the
date the duty was owed and not the date of the homelessness application
b) Owed a section 189B (2) Relief of homelessness duty – Band date is the
date the duty was owed and not the date of the homelessness application
c) Owed the Main section 193(2) duty – Band date is the date the Relief of
homelessness duty was owed and not the date the Main duty was owed. To
start the date at the date the Main duty was owed would disadvantage an
applicant by 56 days who has been found to be in priority need and
unintentionally homeless
d) Circumstances where the relief duty has ended and the applicant is assessed
at this point as not being in priority need - Band date is the date the Relief of
homelessness duty was owed and not the date the Relief duty is ended and
the non-priority decision confirmed. To start the date at the date the Relief
duty was brought to an end would disadvantage an applicant by 56 days who
has been found to be homeless but not in priority need
Assessing Applications
In order to assess an applicant’s housing need and therefore their place on the
Housing Register the scheme uses a needs based banding system detailed in
section 4 below.
The Bands are awarded to reflect housing need, whereby the need reflected by
the highest Band indicates the greater need for housing.
Applicants will be required to sign a declaration, or to give informed consent, to:
a) Confirm that the information given is correct and that they will notify the CCP
of any change in their circumstances.
b) Give consent to allow enquiries to be made concerning their eligibility for
housing and level of priority.
c) Give consent to allow information to be provided to other partner
organisations that are part of the scheme.

27

Page 213

It is the responsibility of the applicant to provide all the information requested to
assess their circumstances, and to provide any supporting information or
documents that are requested. Incomplete applications will not be made active
until such time as the CCP is satisfied that it has in its possession all of the
information it requires to complete its assessment.
All incomplete applications will be cancelled after a period of 28 days measured
from the date information has been requested and not provided. If canceled this
does not prevent the applicant making a subsequent application at a later date,
although in such cases the effective date of registration would not be backdated
to the earlier application date.
The CCP may request information or a reference from an applicant’s current or
previous social landlord and may, depending on whether the application gives
rise to any concern, request a reference from the most recent private sector
landlord if the applicant is or has been a private sector tenancy.
Where a landlord does not reply a reminder will be sent, and if still not
forthcoming any other information or records available will be checked to try to
determine whether there have been any concerns over the way an applicant
may have conducted their private rented tenancy. An applicant should not be
disadvantaged if, despite every effort, it is not possible to obtain a reference from
their current or previous landlord.
All applications are subject to certain verification checks and may be
reassessed:







At the point of initial application
Following any change of circumstance notified to the CCP by the applicant
Following any routine validation audits
Following an annual review of the application
At the point of an offer of accommodation
At the point of letting

Checks into any court cases or unspent criminal convictions
In the interests of community all applicants and members of their prospective
household will be requested to disclose any pending court cases or unspent
criminal convictions.
The CCP may use any information disclosed (or any other information obtained
during the assessment or following registration) to ascertain whether the
applicant should be disqualified from joining, or remaining on the register, due
to applying the serious unacceptable behaviour rule including whether they may
pose a serious risk to a community if they were to be housed.
Spent convictions are not required to be disclosed and will not be taken into
account in assessing that person’s eligibility to join the register. The assessment
will instead reflect whether there is evidence of any current serious unacceptable
behavior regardless of whether a person has been convicted in the past for that
behavior.

28

Page 214

If the CCP decide that, on the information obtained during the assessment
process, there is a real pressing need for a ‘Disclosure and Barring Service
(DBS)’ check, or a police check, a supplementary request for information and
declaration will be sent to the applicant asking for more details and for
permission from the applicant for the CCP to make the relevant check. Failure
to give permission may result in the application not being made live whilst the
CCP consider the information available to it or may result in the application being
closed through the applicant failing qualification rule 2 which is to give
permission for the CCP to undertake all reasonable enquiries.
Information gained will not automatically exclude an applicant from the register.
Information received may also be used to make informed decisions about the
suitability of any property that may be offered.
All assessments will be carried out in accordance with the data protection and
information sharing policies and legal requirements.
Who can be included in the Application?
The Application can include the following household members:
a) Spouses or Civil Partners where the applicant lives with and/or intends to live
with their Spouse or Civil Partner.
b) Partners where the applicant is currently cohabiting with a member of the
same or opposite sex.
c) Children who reside with and are dependent upon the applicant. Children
are defined as under 18 for these purposes. Where there is any dispute as
to whether children reside with and are dependent upon the applicant, the
CCP will apply the test in Section 189(1)(b) of Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996
to decide (see below).
d) A Carer where the assessing officer has agreed that on the evidence there
is a need for a live in Carer. The Carer is a person who provides or intends
to provide care for another adult. It is either a relative or friend who assists
another person in their day-to-day life. This is different from someone who
offers care professionally or through a voluntary organisation. Even if a carer
is in receipt of Carer’s Allowance this does not necessarily mean that it is
necessary for them to reside with the person who is being cared for. An
application to include a carer in a housing application will be considered by
the assessing officer’s Manager to determine if the carer has been assessed
by Social Care and Health as needing to provide overnight support. In these
circumstances the applicant must provide supporting evidence from other
agencies e.g. Social Care or a Health professional.
e) Any other household member at the discretion of a manager delegated by
the assessing body to make such decisions.
f) Note: Individuals can only be on 1 application. Where someone has an
application in their own name (or with a partner) they cannot also be included
as a household member on another application unless they are a victim of

29

Page 215

domestic abuse. If this is the case they should remove themselves from their
previous application.
How joint applications will be considered and when will a joint tenancy
normally be granted?
Joint applications will be accepted and will be treated as one application. The
housing need of the full household will be considered in assessing housing need.
Joint tenancies are normally granted where applicants have a long-term
commitment e.g. married and unmarried couples, civil partners but this decision
is down to the individual housing association who will decide whether to allow a
joint tenancy depending on the rules adopted by that association.
Households with access to children/shared residency order or Child
Arrangement Orders
As part of the assessment process the CCP will record whether the applicant
claims to have children that live with them part of the week whether or not this
arrangement is set by the court or not. The CCP will apply the test in Section
189(1)(b) of Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996 to decide whether any child both
lives with and is dependent on the applicant. Unless this test is passed an
applicant will only be able to be considered for the size of accommodation
relevant to their circumstances.
There will be cases where after the section 189(1)(b) assessment it is agreed
that children live with the applicant on a ‘shared arrangement’ even though they
do not exclusively live with the applicant.
In these cases, and in cases where an applicant has contact with children who
stay over but do not live with the applicant, the applicant will be advised as to
what size of property the applicant they are likely to be able to access and the
rules applied by each partner housing association for allocating accommodation
to households where children do not exclusively live with an applicant. The
decision in this respect of each partner Housing Association is likely to vary and
will depend on a number of factors including:
a) The ability of the applicant to afford the rent with or without help from benefits
b) The availability and popularity of family housing in any area that an applicant
expresses a preference to live in. For example a Housing Association may
be willing to be more flexible where a vacancy relates to a flat than a house
as long as the rent is assessed as being affordable.
The requirement to inform the CCP of any change of circumstances
Applicants are required to inform the CCP of any changes in their circumstances,
which affect their housing application.
Examples of a change in circumstances include but are not limited to:

30

Page 216

a. A change of address or contact details, for either themselves or members of
their prospective household;
b. A change in their medical condition or disability (either existing or newly
acquired);
c. Additional family members or other people they wish to add to their
application (It will be for the CCP to decide whether they will allow additional
people to join the application);
d. Any family member or any other person on the application who has left the
accommodation; and
e. Any significant changes in income, savings or assets, which may require a
reassessment under the income and savings qualification rule.
Where there is any change in an applicant‘s circumstances, an on-line change
of circumstances form must be completed, and supporting documents must be
provided. If there is any change to the banding, applicants will be informed in
writing. The onus is on applicants to inform the CCP when there is a relevant
change in their circumstances.
If the change in circumstances results in a higher banding award the effective
date will be the date they moved into the higher band. If the applicant moves to
a lower band there will be no change to their effective date.
Note, a failure to notify the CCP of changes in circumstances may lead to the
offer of any housing being withdrawn and the application suspended whilst the
changes are verified.
Applications from members of the Council, Board Members, and staff
Elected Councillors, or Housing Association Board Members, cannot be involved
in assessing housing applications or the allocation of housing. However, this
does not prevent Councillors seeking or providing information on behalf of
applicants.
In order to ensure that the Council is treating all applicants fairly, any application
for housing from a Councillor, Board Member, or employee of any Cumbrian
Council`s Housing Department or Partner Housing Association will be assessed
in the normal way, but an offer of housing must be approved by the Lead Officer
for the social housing partner advertising the vacant home. Canvassing is not
allowed in any circumstances by or on behalf of members of staff.

Reviewing the Register
Every applicant on the Register will have their application reviewed annually, or
more frequently as decided by the CCP in order to manage the administration of
the register. A letter will be sent to all applicants requesting confirmation of their
current circumstances, and asking if they wish to remain on the register. If a

31

Page 217

reply is not received within 28 days of the date the letter is sent the application
will be cancelled.
Cancelling Applications
An application will be cancelled in the following circumstances:
 At the request of an applicant
 Where an applicant does not respond to an application review, within the
specified time limit set out in any correspondence sent to them
 Where a CCP Partner, or any other Council, or Housing Association has
housed the applicant (unless it is assessed that the applicants’ housing
circumstances still qualify for an award of Band A or B based on their housing
need, but this is unlikely to be the case). An applicant that has been rehoused
and does not have an assessed housing need could of course apply again
and would be included in Band C with a new Band date, which would be the
date of their application.
 When a tenant on the housing register completes a mutual exchange
 Where the applicant moves and does not provide a contact address
 Where the applicant has died
 Where the applicant has not supplied information requested within 28 days
at the application stage or the annual review stage.
Where the information known is that an applicant is vulnerable, the assessing
officer may contact the applicant, or any agency supporting them, to check their
current circumstances before cancelling the application.
If an applicant has moved into private rented accommodation rather than social
housing the application will not be cancelled but if the result of a reassessment
at this stage is that as a result of their changed housing circumstances they no
longer qualify for an award of Band A or B, then they will be allocated Band C.
Any applicant whose application has been cancelled has the right to ask for a
review of that decision.
Deliberate worsening of circumstances
Where there is evidence that an applicant has knowingly and deliberately made
their housing situation worse in order to gain a higher priority on the register, the
assessment of their needs will be based on the circumstances before their
situation changed through their actions to deliberately worsen their
circumstances.
Examples are:




Applicants who have allowed family members or others to move into their
property, who previously had suitable accommodation or the financial means
to secure their own accommodation, and this has resulted in the property
being overcrowded.
Applicants who have moved from previously suitable or more suitable
accommodation which it were reasonable for them to continue to occupy, into
a less suitable property.

32

Page 218






Homeowners who have transferred their property to another family member
within the last 5 years from the date they make their application to the
Register.
Applicants who have given up affordable and suitable private rented
accommodation which they are able to maintain, to move in with other
relatives or friends, creating a situation of overcrowding and/or sharing of
bathroom/kitchen and/or a split household;
Requesting or colluding with a landlord or family member to issue them with
a Notice to Quit

These are examples only. There may be other circumstances where the CCP
decide that an applicant has deliberately worsened their circumstances
The Review Procedure
The CCP is committed to making the correct decisions on all applications.
Notification letters by post or email notifying an applicant of ineligibility or nonqualification for joining the Housing Register, or about the band that they have
been awarded, or about any other decision concerning the facts of an applicant‘s
case, will state that the applicant has a legal right to request a review of the
decision made.
Under the housing legislation that applies to Allocation Policies there is a legal
right to request a review of a decision in the following circumstances:
a) A decision that an applicant is ineligible, or not a qualifying person to join the
Housing Register.
b) A decision regarding which band an applicant has been awarded.
c) The priority date granted for the band awarded.
d) To remove an applicant from the Housing Register.
e) Any decision about the facts of the case that has been used to assess their
application.
f) Where an applicant considers that a decision has been reached based on
incorrect information.
The procedure for how a request for a review will be administered is set out in
appendix 1.6

33

Page 219

Section 4: How an applicant’s housing needs and circumstances are
assessed
The Banding system
The demand for social housing exceeds supply in many areas of Cumbria and
therefore this Allocation Policy intends to prioritise the housing of those
applicants who are assessed as being in the greatest need. Once registered this
does not mean that an applicant has a right to be offered social housing. They
can be considered for housing based on their housing need but many applicants
will unfortunately not have sufficient housing need to be offered a property.
A Banding system will normally be used to decide when to make an offer of
accommodation and to whom, unless the Council or Housing Association apply
the ‘direct lets’ procedure as set out in section 1 of this policy.
There are two statutory housing need bands (A and B) and one non-statutory
housing need band (Band C). The purpose of reducing the number of bands
from 5 under the old policy to 3 is to ensure that the policy is more transparent
and simple to use. Once a band has been allocated based on the applicant’s
housing need, that band would (with the exception of where a direct offer is made
under the policy) operate as a ‘waiting list’ so that applicants can see progression
and be given more accurate information on how long they are likely to wait for
an offer of accommodation depending on the area and type of property they wish
to consider. This system is fairer and aims to build confidence in applicants
regarding the allocations process.
The following section provides details of the 3 bands an applicant may be
awarded. The band in which an application is placed, will be determined by their
housing need. How the policy defines and assesses housing need is described
in the table below. Where there are further details (beyond that contained in the
table) of how the housing need criteria will be assessed, these are set out in
appendix 1, for example, how officers will assess medical housing need claims
(appendix 1.8).
It is important to note that applicants will be placed in the appropriate band when
it is assessed there housing need meets the set threshold. An applicant who
qualifies under more than one housing need criteria will be awarded the highest
priority that any one of their assessed needs is entitled to. For example, an
applicant with a need that is awarded band A and another need that would be
awarded band B will be awarded band A. An applicant with 2 Housing Need
criteria for Band B will still only be awarded band B. This new housing allocation
policy no longer reflects cumulative housing need to ensure that the policy is
seen as being fair and less complicated to understand and administer. This will
also ensure decisions reached are consistent.
The Bands are:
Band A - Urgent housing need to move: These are applicants that are owed
a statutory award of what the ‘Housing Allocation Legislation’ calls ‘reasonable

34

Page 220

preference’ but whom the CCP believes should also be awarded ‘additional
priority preference’ based on their urgent and exceptional housing need.
Band B – Statutory housing need to move: These are applicants that are
owed a statutory award of reasonable preference under the policy and have
been awarded Band B priority based on their statutory housing need. It also
includes certain key workers granted B priority.
Band C – All other applicants in housing need: This is the housing need band
awarded where an applicant is not assessed as coming under the criteria
adopted by the policy for being in a statutory housing need. Applicants placed in
band C can still bid for properties but will not be considered above applicants
from Bands A or B who have bid for the same property.
The CCP wish, over time, to increase the Options available to applicants in all 3
Bands including Band C. We aim to use technology to send direct texts and
emails to inform applicants of available housing options and this may include
information on:
1) Social rented low demand properties available now in any area of Cumbria
2) Older person housing opportunities
3) Affordable homes with specific rural local connection criteria or section 106
agreement
4) Affordable rent
5) Rent to buy
6) Shared ownership/equity
7) Discounted market sale / starter homes
8) Market rented
9) Help to buy opportunities.
The reasonable preference criteria and the Band allocated for that housing
need criteria

Band A: Additional preference for certain homelessness duties
(This is assessed and verified by the Partner Council’s Housing Options
Team)
This banding applies where a Cumbrian Council have accepted:
1) The Section 193(2) main homelessness duty or the Section 193C(4)
‘reduced’ Section 193 duty, or
2) A section 189B (2) Relief duty and the applicant is, at the point of that 189B
duty being accepted, considered likely to be in priority need and
unintentionally homeless, whether a decision to that effect has been made
or not, and the applicant is in temporary accommodation provided by the
Council to meet a section 188 interim accommodation duty.
In these circumstances where an applicant is homeless and in temporary
accommodation and owed a Section 189B(2) relief duty, or 193(2) main duty
or a section 193C(4) reduced main duty the Council will need to move
applicants out of temporary accommodation to manage the budgetary or legal

35

Page 221

impact on the Council. The applicant may still bid for properties advertised but
due to the budgetary pressures faced by the Council and the need to maintain
a supply of available temporary accommodation for new cases presenting as
homeless, the Council is likely to make a direct offer of suitable
accommodation into the private rented sector or social housing regardless of
the preferences expressed by the applicant.
Band A: Additional preference for medical or disability (See appendix 1.8
for full details of the medical need assessment process)
Where an applicant (or a member of their household) is unable to continue to
occupy their current accommodation due to high medical need or disability.
Examples of when Band A may be awarded include:
Applicants ready to be discharged from hospital who: have somewhere to live
but their accommodation is unsuitable due to their medical needs and cannot
be made suitable through adaptations because of cost effectiveness or
structural difficulties or the property cannot be adapted within a reasonable
amount of time.
Applicants who have urgent need to move due to them having medical
problems or disabilities that are being exacerbated by their current housing
situation. This includes applicants:
a) Whose life is at risk due to their current housing conditions or who are
housebound, effectively housebound or cannot access the essential
facilities in their home and there are critical concerns about their safety, for
example through falls due to difficulties with access.
b) Whose condition is terminal and rehousing is required to provide a basis
for the provision of suitable care
c) Whose condition is life threatening and their existing accommodation is a
major contributory factor
d) Whose health is so severely affected by the accommodation that it is likely
to become life threatening for example, where an applicant has significant
mental health problems which are exacerbated by their accommodation
e) With disabilities, who have restricted mobility and are limited by their
accommodation such that they are unable to carry out day-to-day activities
or have difficulties accessing facilities inside and outside of their
accommodation and require rehousing into accommodation suitable for
their use.
f) In overcrowded accommodation which puts the applicant at risk of
infection, for example, where an applicant is suffering from late-stage or
advanced HIV infection
Band A: Additional preference where there is a need to move on welfare
grounds due to exceptional impact on the applicant or a member of their
households well being
Not every circumstance that may present can be captured by the policy so
below are examples of welfare ground cases that will be considered. The list
is not exhaustive:

36

Page 222

a) Suffering extreme violence, harassment or discrimination, whether a
hate crime or otherwise, and that it is not safe for them to remain in their
present home/locality.
b) Applicants who need to move due to domestic abuse threats from an
ex partner or family member they do not live with, extreme threats of
violence, extreme harassment, or other extreme circumstances
deemed to significantly affect a household’s welfare and wellbeing.
c) Exceptional circumstances due to significant problems associated with
the tenant’s occupation of a dwelling in the social or private rented
sector and there is high risk to the tenant or their family’s safety if they
remain in the dwelling/area.
d) For applications in circumstances where there is a serious threat to the
well being of a child and their accommodation is a major contributory
factor to that risk. This will be in circumstances where the relevant
manager in Children’s Services or equivalent assesses the level of risk
exposure in relation to the child or children remaining in the current
property as being so critical that no other reasonable options in relation
to accommodation are available to protect the child.
Band A: Additional preference Armed Forces
Applicants with urgent housing who:
a) Is serving (and will soon leave) the regular forces and is suffering from
serious injury, illness, mental ill health, or disability which is attributable to
the person’s service
b) Has recently ceased, or will ceased to be entitled, to reside in
accommodation provided by the MOD following the death of that person’s
spouse or civil partner who has served in the regular forces and whose
death was attributable (wholly or partly) to that service or
c) Is serving or has served in the reserve forces and is suffering from a
serious injury, illness or disability which is attributable (wholly or partly) to
the persons service
Band A: Additional preference for unfit or unsatisfactory housing
There are 3 circumstances where Band A may be awarded:
1: Applicants without access at all to any of the following facilities:
No access to:
a) A bath or shower
b) A toilet
c) Cooking facilities
d) Running hot water supplies
e) Electric/gas needed for essential activities
Applicants who have access to shared facilities re cooking; bathroom and toilet
will not qualify under these criteria.
2: Exceptional impact cases.

37

Page 223

Applicants who currently occupy a private sector property which has at least
one Category 1 Hazard (excluding overcrowding) under the Housing Health
and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) and where a Prohibition Order has been
served or is intended to be served under the Housing Act 2004 and the effect
of the Prohibition Order is likely to mean that the applicant(s) will lose the use
of their home on a permanent basis. The relevant conditions at the property
must be life-threatening or present an immediate threat of serious injury to the
occupant(s)
This includes a property that has severe damp, major structural defects
including subsidence, flooding, collapse of roof, or have living conditions which
are a statutory nuisance, and there is no prospect of the problems being
remedied within a period considered to be reasonable by the Council and the
household are not able to afford to resolve their own housing problem by
moving to alternative private sector accommodation.
Note - this does not include Council or Housing Association homes as there is
a legal requirement on social landlords to urgently remedy defects that pose
a risk to their tenants
3: Demolition or Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO) cases.
Where the applicant’s property is subject to demolition or subject to a
Compulsory Purchase Order for redevelopment
Band A: Additional preference for severe overcrowding as defined as 2
bedrooms or more overcrowded Note: the measurement of overcrowding is
based on the "bedroom standard" (with some exceptions adopted see below).
This is the non-statutory standard set out in the government's allocation of
accommodation guidance.
Where an applicant household is severely overcrowded defined as requiring
2 or more additional bedrooms to reach the bedroom standard. In calculating
the overcrowding the following circumstances will be disregarded unless there
are exceptional circumstances:
 Children over the age of 16 will be excluded from the calculation
 Cases where extended family had moved into accommodation causing the
2 bedroom plus level of overcrowding
 Where the household contains non-dependent adults as there is more
chance of non dependents being able to resolve their housing
 The CCP will take account of the space and layout of rooms and bedrooms
in deciding whether the 2 bedroom plus priority will be awarded
Band A: Additional preference for applicants nominated by Cumbria
Adult Social Services/Children’s Services in the following
circumstances:



Where there is an essential need to move due to child protection issues
Fostering carers for Cumbria County Council where there is a need to
move to a larger home in order to accommodate a looked after child (this
would not apply where the home required would be 4 bedrooms or more)

38

Page 224




Adoption arrangements where there is a need to move to a larger home in
order to accommodate a looked after child (this would not apply where the
home required would be 4 bedrooms or more)
Applicants owed a duty by Adult Social Services under the Care Act 2014
/ Mental Health Act 1983/2007 who have been assessed by the housing
team as being ready to move onto independent living and have an
appropriate support package in place

Band A: Additional preference for Cumbria County Council Care Leavers
(Former Relevant children) as defined by the Children (Leaving Care) Act
2000 and need to move on
Applicants must be a former “Relevant Child” as defined by the Children
Leaving Care Act 2002 and be a young person at risk of homelessness. The
evidence to support this award will be provided by the council’s leaving care
service and will consist of confirmation that:
a) All referrals by Children’s Services will be made following the provision of
Cumbria’s Joint Protocol for young people
b) The care leaver is ready to move to independent settled housing and is
genuinely prepared for a move to independent living
c) The care leaver possesses the life skills to manage a tenancy including
managing a rent account.
d) The care leaver has either long term or medium term tenancy support
arranged, as required.
e) Ongoing support needs have been assessed and, where appropriate, a
support plan is in place and
f) The CCP’s assessing officer agrees that due to the nature and extent of
their vulnerability, accommodation in the private rented sector would,
through its short-term nature, have a detrimental effect on their well-being
Note: Care leavers will be awarded Band A on proof of their status. If an
application for housing is made before it has been determined by the CCP
assessing officer that the individual is ready for independent living, taking into
account information from the applicant’s support worker and other agencies,
the application will not have any bid considered until the support worker
presents the evidence to the CCP that the individual is ready to move on and
the CCP agree with that evidence.
Band A: Additional preference for applicants who are part of a multiagency public protection agreement (MAPPA).
Band A would apply only where:
a) On the recommendation of the MAPPA partnership the applicant requires
and is suitable for independent housing and qualify for the Housing Register,
and
b) The CCP assessing officer agrees that due to the nature and extent of the
circumstances of the MAPPA case accommodation in the private rented
sector would, through its short-term nature, have a detrimental effect on the
multi agency planning for that individual
Band A: Additional preference for certain MARAC assessed cases

39

Page 225

Applicants fleeing domestic violence and abuse that have been assessed by
MARAC (or any subsequent multi agency arrangement) as needing to move
urgently for the safety and security of themselves and or any dependent
children and are assessed as being in immediate danger, and
a) The MARAC partnership has referred the case and provided evidence as
to why the applicant requires social housing, and
b) The CCP assessing officer agrees that due to the nature and extent of the
circumstances of the MARAC case accommodation in the private rented
sector would, through its short-term nature, have a substantial detrimental
effect on individual or household
Band B – Reasonable preference for certain homelessness duties owed
(This is assessed and verified by the Partner Council’s Housing Options
Team)
Any of the following statutory homeless duties owed by a Cumbrian Council:
a) People where it has been verified that they are rough sleeping in a
Cumbrian Council area regardless of whether they have made a homeless
application
b) Applicants owed the prevention of homelessness duty under Section
195(2) by any Cumbria local authority
c) Applicants owed the ‘relief of homelessness duty under Section 189B(2)
(Note: applicants owed a relief duty and are likely to be in priority need,
unintentionally homeless and are in temporary accommodation will be
placed in Band A)
d) Where the relief duty has been brought to an end and an applicant has
been assessed at that point as not being in priority need
Band B: Reasonable
arrangements

preference

for

insecure

accommodation

“A pregnant woman or applicant with a child or children who are sharing a
home with family who are not part of their household and where:
a) They have no ownership or tenancy rights and the arrangement is short
term and very insecure and only available whilst the applicant is actively
seeking an offer of social housing or alternative accommodation with friends
or in the private rented sector, and
b) They were owed a prevention of homelessness duty as they were assessed
as likely to become homeless within 56 days, and that duty has ended
because they have been allowed to remain at home whilst they bid for social
housing with their Band B priority and it is likely that they can remain for at
least 6 months to a year.
c) The family member with the interest in the home has agreed to allow the
applicant to remain for at least 6 months to a year.
Band B: Reasonable preference for medical or disability housing need
(See appendix 1.8 for full details of the medical need assessment
process)

40

Page 226

Applicants who have need to move due to them having medical problems or
disabilities where their housing conditions exacerbates a serious medical
condition or disability but do not qualify for an award of Band A. This includes
(the examples are to illustrate the level of housing need to be awarded Band
B and is not an exhaustive list).
a) The applicant’s current accommodation to a significant extent directly
exacerbates an existing medical condition, is the direct cause of a medical
condition or impacts on the ease of use of the facilities within their home
for a disabled person.
b) Applicants who have mobility issues and it has been assess need to move
to ground floor or level access accommodation
c) Applicants who have mobility issues and need to move to accommodation
that has level access showering facilities
d) Applicants who have a significant physical or mental health condition that
is directly affected by their accommodation and where a move to
alternative accommodation would help to ease or resolve their condition
e) Applicants who have a medical need for an additional bedroom (e.g.
because they need an overnight carer or need to accommodate a
substantial amount of medical equipment)
Band B: Reasonable preference under the Government’s ‘Right to move’
regulations
Existing social tenants of accommodation in England who the CCP have
assessed as qualifying under the Government’s Right to Move regulations will
be placed into Band B
Allocation to those Applicants who qualify is limited to a maximum of 2% of all
lettings.
Band B: Reasonable preference for ‘move on’ from supported housing
Where the CCP assessing officer after considering evidence from the
applicant’s support officer agrees that due to the nature and extent of their
vulnerability, accommodation in the private rented sector would, through its
short-term nature, have a detrimental effect on their well being.
Before the award is made, ongoing support needs will need to have been
assessed and, where appropriate, a support plan put in place to increase the
chances of the tenancy succeeding and the person must have been assessed
as ready to move on from supported to independent housing.
Band B: Reasonable preference where it is agreed there is a need to
move on welfare or hardship ground:
1) Applicants who need to move closer to a specialist organisation,
agency or institution located in a specific area of Cumbria, where
moving would prevent significant physical, psychological or financial
hardship. (The assessment will include the availability and ability to use
public transport)

41

Page 227

2) Hardship on support grounds: Applicants that have demonstrable
evidence that they provide or receive substantial and on-going support
to or from relatives or friends and where moving would prevent
significant physical, psychological or financial hardship. This award will
only be considered where there are significant medical or welfare
issues including grounds relating to disability. This award for applicants
who give or require support from relatives or friends will only be
considered where there is a severe disability or mental ill health,
medical or welfare issue (relating to the applicant or their household or
the relatives or friends) and there are reasons why this support cannot
be made available through reliance on public transport or the persons
own transport. (The assessment will include the availability and ability
to use public transport).
3) Employment Hardship - Priority will only be given in exceptional
circumstances and applicants will need to show that they need to move
to take up or continue an employment opportunity not available
elsewhere. They will only be considered where they do not live within
a reasonable commuting distance and will be required to provide
confirmation of employment details from the employer. Employment
purposes are defined as: applicants including people needing to move
from outside Cumbria and between Cumbrian Districts, taking up or
continuing permanent employment for a minimum of 16 hours per
week. Under this clause applicants will only be considered where they
do not live within a reasonable commuting distance and will be required
to provide confirmation of employment details from the employer. (The
assessment will include the availability and ability to use public
transport)
Band B: Reasonable preference for being overcrowded by 1 bedroom
Note: the measurement of overcrowding is based on the "bedroom standard"
(with some exceptions adopted see below). This is the non-statutory standard
set out in the government's allocation of accommodation guidance.
Applicant’s living in overcrowded conditions and whose housing
circumstances have been assessed as being 1 bedroom short of what they
need as measured by the bedroom standard.
Or alternative wording
Where an applicant household is overcrowded by one bedroom as measured
by the bedroom standard. In calculating the overcrowding the following
circumstances will be disregarded unless there are exceptional
circumstances:
 Children over the age of 16 will be excluded from the calculation
 Cases where extended family had moved into accommodation causing the
1 bedroom level of overcrowding
 Where the household contain non-dependent adults as there is more
chance of non dependents being able to resolve their housing
The CCP will take account of the space and layout of rooms and bedrooms in
deciding whether the 1 bedroom priority will be awarded

42

Page 228

Band B: Reasonable preference for unsatisfactory housing conditions
or issues of property fitness
Private sector tenants that the relevant Council has determined that the
property poses a category 1 hazard under the Health and Safety fitness rating
and the CCP assessing officer is satisfied that the problem cannot be resolved
by the landlord within 6 months and as a result continuing to occupy the
accommodation will pose a considerable risk to the applicant’s health. This
includes a property that has severe damp, major structural defects including
subsidence, flooding, collapse of roof, or have living conditions which are a
statutory nuisance, and there is no prospect of the problems being remedied
within a 6 month time period, and the household are not able to resolve their
own housing problem by moving to alternative private sector accommodation
Band B: Reasonable preference for under-occupation
Applicants who have a social housing tenancy with a Cumbrian CCP Partner
and are under-occupying social rented accommodation by two or more
bedrooms. The exception to the 2 or more bedroom under occupation rule will
be:
a) Where a tenant occupies a house that they are under occupying by 1
bedroom and a move to a flat would free up that house
b) Where it is agreed that under-occupancy by 1 bedroom will cause
significant financial hardship for tenants. This is where there is clear
evidence that tenants on lower incomes are forced to spend significant
percentages of their incomes on servicing 1 bedroom under-occupancy
deductions
Band B: Local preference for recent ex armed forces applicants
Members of the Armed Forces persons who are serving in the regular forces
who will be discharged within three months and have served for five years
preceding their application for an allocation of housing accommodation as long
as this has not been a dishonorable discharge.
Band B: Local preference for identified ‘Key Workers’
The following key workers whose total gross household income from all
sources does not exceed an annual income of £45,000 or more (for single
persons) or joint income of £60,000 or more (for couples).
1) National Health Service Staff and Social Care staff
2) Community Support Officers
3) Members of the Territorial Army
4) Volunteer Fire Officers
Band C – All other applicants in housing need: This is the housing need
band awarded where an applicant is not assessed as coming under the criteria
adopted by the policy for being in a statutory housing need. Applicants placed
in band C can still bid for properties but will not be considered above applicants
from Bands A or B who have bid for the same property.

43

Page 229

Band C will include applicants who have been assessed as being intentionally
homeless by any Council and since that award has not had settled
accommodation (defined by the CCP assessing officer)

Note applicants who only want to register for a section 106 village or rural
development and have no other statutory housing need will be allocated Band
C.
Advertising Properties
All CCP Partners with social housing stock have agreed to advertise the majority
of their properties through Cumbria Choice. Properties will be advertised on a
weekly basis on the website.
Choice based lettings are about the applicants being given choice about where
they want to live. Properties will be advertised and applicants will be able to
indicate the properties for which they want to be considered by ‘bidding’. Once
the bidding process closes a shortlist will be compiled and the property allocated
will be based on the banding priority of the applications and the time they have
waited as long as they meet the criteria set out in the advertisement.
If a bid is received from an applicant on Cumbria Choice who does not have a
local connection with the Council area where the advertised property is located
then the local connection criteria set out in ‘Section 2 Qualification rule 1’ will be
used to produce the shortlist, unless the property is advertised with no
preference for applicants with a local connection to the area where the property
is located. For properties advertised under a local letting policy the criteria for
that LLP will be used to produce a shortlist.
So far as is possible the CCP will use the CBL letting process, banding priority
system, and waiting time within the band to allocate accommodation. However,
there may be times when a direct letting will need to be made to a property using
the criteria set out in ‘Policy on Choice’ detailed in Section 1. In these
circumstances a property will not be advertised. The aim is that no more than
15% of properties available to let should be allocated through a direct letting in
order to preserve the integrity of the choice based letting process. However, in
the circumstances of a national emergency such as the Covid-19 pandemic
choice based lettings may be suspended, or a much higher percentage of
lettings may be made directly.
Further operational and procedural details are set out in appendix 1.7 covering:
a) Advertising properties
b) The bidding and selection process
c) Offers of accommodation
d) Feedback on lettings
Sheltered Housing
Sheltered accommodation is included within the scheme. It is generally for
people of 60 years and older and offers independent living with the added

44

Page 230

security and support of a warden service. In certain circumstances it may be
advertised for people aged below 60 years. Property advertisements will clearly
state the age requirements of applicants able to ‘bid’ for a property.
Section 106 developments
Under the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 some developments are subject
to Section 106 planning obligations which usually requires properties to be let to
applicants with a local connection to stated Parishes. Where this applies only
those applicants meeting the requirements of the Section 106 agreement will be
eligible for an offer of a property.
Advert details will state when the letting of a property is governed by a Section
106 agreement.
Local Lettings Policies
Local lettings initiatives may be applied to meet the particular needs of a local
ward or area or to address sustainability and community issues to ensure that
the housing allocation scheme is able to contribute to building sustainable
communities. Appendix 3 gives full details for how local lettings policies will be
assessed and applied.
The following are examples of local lettings policies that may be deployed under
this policy. The list is for illustrative purposes and is not exhaustive.
1)
2)
3)
4)
5)
6)

7)
8)

Age restrictions.
Specific local lettings policies for a village or rural parish (see below)
Prioritising applicants who are key workers, as defined by the CCP.
Restrictions on lettings to vulnerable households where there are already a
concentration of supported tenants/residents in a street or block.
Lettings to childless households where there are high concentrations of
children and young people living on a specific estate, street or block.
Disregarding household type or property matching rules to allow, for
example, under-occupation to reduce child density or to account for future
family growth.
Ensuring that there is a balance of working and non-working households
allocated to a scheme.
Enhanced local connection restrictions relating to a specific parish.

New developments will normally have local lettings policies (usually only applies
to first lettings) regardless of whether the new development is subject to a
Section 106 agreement or affordable housing statement. Where a new
development is subject to a Section 106 planning agreement the criteria set will
be followed.
Specific Local Lettings Policies for Rural Villages and Parishes
For some villages and rural parishes where there is a high demand for housing
additional priority may be given to applicants who have a local connection to the
particular village or rural parish. Advert details will state where an applicant
having a local connection to the specific village or rural parish may be given

45

Page 231

priority. Those villages and rural parishes subject to a local lettings policy will
be identified for each Cumbria Council. For some villages or rural parishes the
definition of local connection may be based on locally agreed criteria through the
Parish Council and will not necessarily be the definition set out below. In these
circumstances the property advert will fully set out the local connection criteria.

46

Page 232

Section 5

Appendices

Appendix 1 – Operational and Procedural Instructions, Guidance and
detail for how the Policy will be applied.
Appendix 1.1: Lettings not covered by the Policy
a) Introductory or probationary tenancies – Where an introductory/probationary
tenancy becomes a secure or assured tenancy
b) Family Intervention Tenancies – Introduced by the Housing and
Regeneration Act 2008, Family Intervention Tenancies are a form of
residential tenancy without security of tenure. They may be offered by either
a local housing authority or a housing association to anyone who is a tenant
of a secure (or assured) tenancy subject to a possession order on the
grounds of anti-social behaviour or domestic abuse or anyone who (if they
had a secure or assured tenancy) could have had such a possession order
made against them.
c) Succession under S89 of the Housing Act 1985 (secure tenancies), under
S133 (2) of the Housing Act 1996 (introductory tenancies) or under S90 of
the Housing Act 1985 (fixed term tenancies).
d) Non-Secure tenancies or ‘temporary accommodation’ – Any accommodation
that is provided to meet an interim duty under Part VII of the Housing Act
1996.
e) Temporary decants – Secure or introductory tenants of a local authority or
assured or assured shorthold tenants of Registered Providers who need to
be moved temporarily whilst major work is carried out on their home.
f) Demoted tenancies - Following a successful application for a demotion order
under sections 14 and 15 of the Anti Social Behaviour Act 2003.
g) Mutual exchanges between existing tenants under S92 of the Housing Act
1985 or under S158 of the Localism Act 2011.
h) Assignment to a person who would be qualified to succeed the tenant under
S92 of the Housing Act 1985 (secure tenancies) or S134 Housing Act 1996
(introductory tenancies).
i) Conversion of an introductory tenancy to a secure tenancy under S125
Housing Act 1996).
j) Transfers of secure or introductory tenancies by a court order made under
certain provisions contained within matrimonial, family, children and
partnership legislation.
k) Allocation to a person entitled to rehousing under section 39 of the Land
Compensation Act 1973.

47

Page 233

l) Allocation to a person whose home is repurchased under sections 554 or
555 of the Housing Act 1985 (defective dwellings).
m) The Allocation Scheme does not apply to an allocation to anyone who is
already a secure or introductory tenant or an assured tenant of a private
registered provider of social housing or registered social landlord unless the
person has applied to the CCP for a transfer and the CCP is satisfied that
the person is to be granted reasonable preference under one of the
reasonable preference categories in S166A (3) of the Housing Act 1996

48

Page 234

Appendix 1.2: The details for how the scheme will apply:
4) The General Data Protection Regulations 2018
5) The ‘Privacy Notice’ for the policy, and
6) An applicant’s right to information
General Data Protection Regulations 2018
A Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) will be undertaken for any
proposed changes to the policy or procedures where those changes are likely to
result in a high risk to individuals’ interests in order to comply with the
requirements of General Data Protection Regulation (Regulation (EU) 2016/679)
and Data Protection Act 2018.
Personal information will only be used in ways that the applicant reasonably
expects in order to process their application. This will include the sharing of
information with the Housing Association Partners to this scheme or any other
Housing Association that is not a member of the scheme.
Where it is necessary for personal information to be shared with third parties, it
will be transferred in a secure way to ensure it is not compromised or accessed
by anyone who is not entitled to it.
On a case by case basis, where the law requires or permits, and the disclosure
is necessary and proportionate, information about an applicant may be shared
in the absence of consent without breaching data protection, human rights or the
common law obligation of confidence.
Usually this will involve striking a balance between the rights of the applicant and
other legitimate interests, which may justify the information sharing. An
obligation of confidentiality/privacy may be set aside where the interference is in
accordance with the law, necessary and proportionate to the legitimate aim
being pursued to meet one or more of the following interests:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)

National security
Public safety
The detection or prevention of disorder or crime
Protection of health or morals
The protection of the rights or freedoms of others (e.g. safeguarding public
funds, protecting those at work)

Privacy Notice
All CCP Partners have a responsibility to protect public funds. For Local
authorities this is a legal duty. The CCP partnership may obtain and share
information about the applicant to:




Prevent or detect crime or fraud
Protect public funds
To make sure information is correct

49

Page 235

Third parties include government departments, other Councils, private sector
companies, including companies that assist us in fraud detection and prevention,
such as ‘Credit Reference Agencies’. Information may also be obtained from
social media.
Any use of personal data will be in full accordance with ‘The Data Protection Act
2018’, which incorporates the implementation of the General Data Protection
Regulation (GDPR). A full copy of each CCP Privacy Notice is available on
request via emailing Cumbria Choice @add cumbria choice general query email
address
Right to information
The Freedom of Information Act 2000 makes it a requirement for every public
authority to produce a ‘Publication Scheme’ which sets out all the information it
makes available to the public, and whether copies of that information are
available free of charge. The ‘Publication Scheme’ includes information that a
Council is legally obliged to publish. The Scheme is also intended to assist in
developing a culture in which openness and transparency is encouraged as per
the requirements of the Local Government Act 2000.

50

Page 236

Appendix 1.3 Details of how alleged fraud or providing false information
will be assessed
Section 171(1) of the Housing Act 1996 makes it an offence for anyone, in
connection with the exercise by a local housing authority of their functions under
Part VI of the Housing Act 1996 (and therefore in seeking an allocation of
accommodation) to:
a) Knowingly or recklessly make a materially false statement or
b) Knowingly withhold information that the CCP has reasonably required
him/her to give in connection with the exercise of those functions.
c) A person guilty of this offence is liable on summary conviction to a fine at the
date of this scheme document of up to £5,000.
The circumstances in which an offence is committed could include:
d) Any
false
information
given
on
an
application
housing/accommodation (including transfer applications);

form

for

e) Any false information given in response to subsequent correspondence;
In addition making a fraudulent application for housing may constitute an offence
under the Theft Act 1968 and/or the Fraud Act 2006.
Determination of deliberate intent
In many cases, applicants will have provided incorrect or inadequate information
on their application form, but the assessment concludes that there was no
deliberate intention.
It will be for the assessing officer in the first instance to decide if any errors
contained in an application were deliberately made or not. If the officer is
satisfied that the errors were not deliberate, or that it had no impact on the
application, then no action will be taken though the applicant may be warned
about the need to provide accurate information and the consequences for not
doing so.
However, if the assessing officer has concerns, these will be discussed with their
Manager who will decide if they:
1) Are satisfied that there is insufficient evidence to disqualify the application on
these grounds;
2) Requires more information to be gathered before a decision can be made;
3) Are satisfied that the applicant has provided fraudulent information, or
withheld important information.
The Manager will notify the CCP Board and, in serious cases the Police, in all
cases where serious or systematic fraud is suspected.

51

Page 237

If the decision is that applicant has given false information or withheld
information they will not qualify for the register, or where information emerges
after they have been placed on the register, they will be disqualified. In these
circumstances a letter will be sent to the applicant to notify them of the decision
and they will have a right to seek a review of that decision.

52

Page 238

Appendix 1.4: Additional procedural information on the consideration of
exceptional circumstances and how applications where there is a ‘Debt
Relief Order’, ‘Bankruptcy Declaration’ or ‘Individual Voluntary Agreement
(IVA)’
Note: it is the responsibility of the applicant to make the case as to why their
circumstances are exceptional. Once a request has been made for exceptional
circumstances to be applied the assessing officer will consider that request
under the statutory review procedure. Each request to be considered an
exemption will be assessed on the facts presented. The CCP will also consider
cases where it has assessed that a tenant accrued rent arrears due to the
bedroom tax resulting in the tenant being unable to pay the full rent, or through
having a reduced income as a result of a National Emergency for example the
Covid19 emergency.
Note 1: This qualification rule also applies to applicants currently on the register.
An applicant’s eligibility to remain on the register will be kept under review. An
applicant may be rendered ineligible (or allowed to remain on the register but
not be allowed to bid) at anytime should the CCP become satisfied that there is
new evidence, or a change of circumstances, that mean the rule relating to
former rent arrears or a housing related debt should be applied to their case.
Note 2: For applicants who have had their rent arrears included in a ‘Debt Relief
Order’, bankruptcy declaration or individual voluntary agreement (IVA) a period
of at least 12 months has to pass from the declaration of insolvency to the point
a debt is cleared. Should an applicant maintain their finances for this period, this
will be considered as strong evidence that their previous problem has been
resolved. Should an applicant fail to maintain their finances during this period,
any new social housing debt can be taken into account as normal. Therefore,
we see no benefit of taking into account such debts at a later point.

53

Page 239

Appendix 1.5: Additional guidance for assessing officers and the
framework to be used to apply the test of unacceptable behaviour
Specific examples of serious unacceptable behavior are:
a) Being subject to a court order (including an interim order) for breach of
tenancy conditions
b) Conviction for illegal or immoral use of their current or former home
c) Causing nuisance and annoyance to neighbours or visitors
d) Committing criminal offences in or near the home and still posing a threat to
neighbours or the community
e) Being violent towards a partner or members of the family
f) Allowing the condition of the property to deteriorate
g) Paying money illegally to obtain a tenancy for example a corrupt payment
h) Unlawfully subletting their tenancy
i) Applicants that have been convicted of housing or welfare benefit related
fraud, where that conviction is unspent under the Rehabilitation Offenders
Act 1974.
j) Having unspent convictions where the assessment concludes that the
applicant is unsuitable to be a tenant due to a significant risk to potential
neighbours and/or communities.
k) An applicant or any member of their household has been responsible for any
racial harassment or other hate crime. Racial harassment and Hate Crimes
is defined as racist, religiously aggravated, faith, gender, age, disability, and
trans phobic or homophobic or gender re-assignment harassment or hate
crime. A hate crime or racist incident is defined as any incident which is
perceived to be racist or hate crime related by the complainant or any other
person.
Note: This rule also applies to applicants currently on the register. An applicant’s
eligibility to remain on the Housing Register will be kept under review during their
time on the register. An applicant may be rendered ineligible (or allowed to
remain on the register but not be allowed to bid until the behaviour is resolved)
at anytime during the process should the CCP become satisfied that the rule
relating to unacceptable behaviour should be applied to their case.
Any new application will normally only be reconsidered at the request of the
applicant, and as a guideline the CCP will consider whether there has been no
reasonable cause for complaint or concern against the applicant (or members of
their prospective household) for a period of 12 months.

54

Page 240

Note: Where an applicant has resolved their behaviour to the satisfaction of the
CCP it may still be the case that a CCP Housing Association Partner where the
behaviour occurred might decide they do not want to consider rehousing their
former tenant. However, this will not prevent an applicant from being considered
for housing by another Housing Association.
The assessing officer will be guided by the following considerations:
1) The behaviour need not have led to possession, prosecution or other
enforcement action by a statutory agency, provided that, on the balance of
probability, the household is responsible
2) In normal circumstances the behaviour concerned should have occurred
within the last two years. In cases of a more serious nature, for example,
those involving criminal prosecution, a longer time-scale may be appropriate.
3) There must be reasonable grounds for believing that the behaviour could
continue or be repeated. For example, the applicant may have issued
threats, or there might be a history of repeat offending.
The assessing officer will specifically consider:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)
g)
h)

The seriousness of the applicant’s behaviour
The duration of the behaviour and/or the number and frequency of incidents
The length of time that has elapsed since the behaviour took place
Any facts that indicate that there has been no further cause for concern in
the last 6 to 12 months
Any relevant vulnerability or support needs that may explain the behaviour
Whether there is meaningful engagement with support agencies
Critically, whether there has been a significant and sustained change in the
applicant’s behavior, and
Whether they believe on the evidence that the behavior is likely to still reoccur
now or at the point a tenancy was offered or commenced

Applicants to whom the rule is applied will be written to and informed that:
a) That the unacceptable behavior rule has been applied to their case and either
they do not qualify, or that they qualify but cannot bid until the behavior has
been resolved
b) What they must do to resolve the problem
c) That for either decision i.e. disqualification or qualification but not allowed to
bid, it is the applicant’s responsibility to notify the CCP when they have, in
their view, resolved the issue and that they will need to present evidence to
back up their view.
d) Where an applicant is disqualified for unacceptable behaviour they will have
a right to ask for a review of the decision made to disqualify them.
Note where an applicant is disqualified, any new application will normally only
be reconsidered at the request of the applicant and only where there has been
no reasonable cause for complaint or concern against the applicant (or members
of their prospective household) for a continuous period of 12 months.

55

Page 241

Appendix 1.6: How a request for a review will be administered
1. How a request for a review will be dealt with
2. A review must be requested within twenty-eight days of the date of the letter
advising the applicant of the decision on their application. The CCP has
discretion to extend this time limit, or consider a request made out of time, if
it considers this would be reasonable. Any request for a review out of time
should therefore state why the applicant considers that the 28-day time limit
should be extended.
3. The request for review should be made by email or letter to a Cumbria Choice
Review Requests email account or PO Box address.
4. As a first stage the Housing Association or Partner who has assessed the
applicants case will consider the applicants concerns and provide a response
to the applicant. If the applicant is still unhappy their concerns will then be
treated under the formal review procedure set out below.
5. Once the informal consideration process has been completed and after
receiving a response the applicant has indicated in writing or verbally that
they wish the review to proceed the relevant Cumbrian Council’s Housing
Options Service covering the area where the applicant has applied will
conduct the review or may delegate this task to the CCP Partnership
Manager to undertake the review on behalf of the relevant Council. Please
note these reviews do not form part of the separate homelessness review
process contained within section 202 of the 1996 Housing Act and they will
not be subject to an appeal process pursuant to section 204 of the Housing
Act 1996.
6. The applicant, or their representative, must give reasons why they wish to
have the decision reviewed so that the CCP can ensure that the request falls
under the statutory review request criteria.
7. Upon receipt of a request for a review the CCP will send an
acknowledgement letter explaining the review process and procedure to be
followed.
8. The officer undertaking the review will not normally have been involved in an
original decision.
9. An applicant may be asked to attend an interview and, if so, can be
accompanied by an advisor or friend.
10. Where is appears that the applicant needs an interpreter this can be
arranged.
11. The review will be carried out and the decision and the reasons for it will be
given to the applicant in writing within 56 days of the request being received.
There is no right to request a review of this review decision.

56

Page 242

Appendix 1.7: Further operational and procedural details covering:
a)
b)
c)
d)

Advertising properties
The bidding and selection process
Offers of accommodation
Feedback on lettings

Advertising properties
It should be noted that in certain circumstances a participating Housing
Association might apply their own rules regarding the allocation of
accommodation, for example an association may wish to apply its own test of
affordability. The aim of all CCP partners is to keep these individual association
rules to a minimum. Where there are rules set by an individual Housing
Association that differ from the common policy, the intention is to set these out
in a link to the on-line policy.
Properties will be advertised in an easy to read format. They will usually include
a picture of the property or scheme in which it is located. Property adverts will
include details of the property and will indicate suitable household size as well
as giving information about the local area. The properties will clearly indicate
which housing organisation is the Landlord.
Properties may be advertised during the 4-week notice period given by an
outgoing tenant. If the notice is subsequently withdrawn by the tenant, the
property will unfortunately be unavailable to let.
Direct offers will be made in accordance with the criteria set out in section 1 plus
lettings to extra care housing and some sheltered schemes. Otherwise all
categories of properties will be advertised. General needs properties; properties
that have been adapted for those with disabilities; properties that are specifically
for the elderly and which may have a warden and/or an emergency call system.
Adverts will clearly indicate any restrictions on bidding (e.g. where properties
have been adapted and/or are specifically for people with disabilities) and will
detail any particular criteria that apply (e.g. where full occupancy is required,
affordability criteria etc.)
Bids from applicants will only be accepted if they meet all of the eligibility criteria
for the property. However if their situation is changing imminently, once evidence
has been provided, they will also be accepted.
The bidding and selection process
Properties are advertised on a weekly cycle. Applicants may express an interest
through bidding on any advertised property that meets their needs. For
applicants in bands A or B they are able to place up to 3 bids each week. For
applicants in band C they are able to place unlimited bids in order to improve
their prospects of obtaining an offer of a lower demand property in the
circumstances where there may be several lower demand properties advertised
in that cycle.

57

Page 243

Bids can be made in a number of ways: on the website using the username and
password; by telephoning or visiting the office of a partner organisation; by mail;
by proxy bidding.
Applicants are able to check their position on the list at the time of the bid,
together with the total number of bids already placed. This allows applicants to
make decisions about their choice of property and the likelihood of being
successful. Within the bidding period, applicants may withdraw bids and make
further bids.
Only the applicant whose bid is successful will be contacted unless they refuse
the offer made or are ineligible to be offered the property.
So far as is possible the CCP will use the banding system, and waiting time
within the band to allocate accommodation. However, there may be times when
a direct letting will need to be made to a property using the criteria set out in
‘Policy on Choice’ detailed in Section 1. In these circumstances a property will
not be advertised. The aim is that no more than 15% of properties available to
let should be allocated through a direct letting in order to preserve the integrity
of the choice based letting process. However, in the circumstances of a national
emergency such as the Covid-19 pandemic choice based lettings may be
suspended, or a much higher percentage of lettings may be made directly.
The highest bidder is awarded priority in descending order between Band A,
Band B, and Band C.
Within bands, priority is awarded according to the registration date. However,
there may be other reasons why it would be necessary or advisable to reject a
bid that would otherwise have been successful: for example where there was
restrictive labelling for the property advertised or where the property would not
be suitable for that particular applicant. In the circumstances where the landlord
who has advertised the property has decided that it would not be suitable,
despite the applicant meeting the bidding criteria, there should be a discussion
with the local authority’s Housing Options Team before the bid is rejected.
Unless a property is advertised with restrictions, applicants who are members of
the scheme can bid for any property in Cumbria regardless of where they live in
Cumbria. However, when drawing up the shortlist applicants will be ranked first
by local connection to the Council area where the property is advertised (using
the local connection criteria set out in Qualification rule 1 Section 2 of the Policy)
then by band and date order. There are 3 examples set out below. The exception
to this rule will be where a bid is made by a victim of domestic abuse where it
has been assessed and agreed that they cannot remain in the local authority
area where they are at risk.
Example 1 - Applicant X has a local connection to Eden and this is the area
where the advertised vacant property is located. Applicant X is in Band B. An
applicant living in Allerdale (applicant Y) bids for the property and is in Band A
but has no local connection to Eden. Applicant X will be shortlisted above
applicant Y as they have a local connection with the area where the property is
located.

58

Page 244

Example 2 - Applicant T has a local connection to Eden and this is the area
where the advertised vacant property is located. Applicant T is in Band C. An
applicant living in Allerdale (applicant U) bids for the property and is in Band B
but has no local connection to Eden. Applicant T will be shortlisted above
applicant U as they have a local connection with the area where the property is
located.
Example 3 – Applicant C is from Carlisle and has been assessed as being at
risk in Carlisle due to fleeing domestic abuse. She is staying temporarily with
friends outside of Carlisle. Applicant C has no local connection to Eden and this
is the area where the advertised vacant property is located. Applicant C is in
Band B with an effective date of 1/3/20. She bids for an advertised property in
Eden. Applicant D is from Eden and is also in Band B with an effective date of
the 1/4/20 and bids for the same property. This case would be the exception to
the rule that priority would always be given to the applicant with a local
connection to the local authority where the property is located. Applicant C would
be the successful bidder based on her band and effective date.
In the circumstances where there are two households with the same Band and
registration date that bid for a property a decision to offer the property will be
based on the household who is assessed as being most suitable for that
property.
Where the property advert has indicated specific requirements such as age or
accessibility, only those applicants meeting those requirements will be eligible
for an offer.
Offers of accommodation
This section sets out the procedure that will apply to making an offer of
accommodation once an applicant has been selected from a shortlist of
successful applicants bidding for that property.
Once selected and, prior to an offer being made, the Council or Housing
Association landlord for that property will carry out a further verification of their
eligibility and priority. In certain situations the offer will not be made, or if made
may be withdrawn if:
 Since joining the scheme an applicant has become ineligible.
 On verification of the applicants’ details, the priority band has been incorrectly
awarded due to the information received by the applicant, or due to mistakes
in the assessment of the application itself.
 The applicants’ circumstances have changed since the priority band was
awarded and the applicant is no longer entitled to the same level of priority.
 The landlord has evidenced housing management reason not to offer the
property.
If an applicant does not reply to an invitation in writing, by letter or email or text,
to view a property within 2 working days of receiving an offer then the offer will

59

Page 245

be deemed to have been refused and the property will be offered to the next
applicant on the shortlist who qualifies for that offer.
A suitable and reasonable offer of accommodation is defined in appendix 4 of
the policy.
There may, unfortunately, be exceptional circumstances where following a
viewing or notification of offer an offer may still be withdrawn. This can be done
up to the point when a tenancy agreement is signed. Examples of reasons when
a property offer may be withdrawn are:










The property is not suitable for the households needs
The property fails to become available
There is an issue and concern for community safety
It comes to light that information has been withheld
It comes to light that that the household or member of the household has a
property related debt
The offer has been made in error
The households circumstances changed
The property is required for an emergency
It transpires that the rent would not be affordable

There must be clear grounds recorded by the Council or a Partner Housing
Association on the IT operating system if a decision is taken to refuse or bypass
an applicant who is top of any shortlist. Where an applicant has been refused or
bypassed because they have failed a verification check or that their
circumstances have changed they should be informed of the reason and how it
now effects their application.
For all other reasons for example, issues of public safety, risk, or sustainability
of the tenancy, an applicant, upon request, will be informed of the reason behind
the decision to refuse or bypass them.
Feedback on Lettings
A main aim of the Cumbria Choice scheme is to operate an open and transparent
lettings system.
The result of lettings made through the scheme will be published on the Cumbria
Choice web site and at the end of the property advert newssheet.

60

Page 246

Appendix 1.8: Assessing whether an applicant qualifies for a priority band
A or B on the basis of medical priority
The assessment: Awarding Medical Priority for significant Medical Conditions
that are being made worse by an applicant’s housing circumstances
The framework that will be applied to assess medical impact cases
This appendix provides detailed operational guidance to help officers to make
their decisions on whether medical or welfare impact priority should be awarded.
Applicants will be asked for information and any supporting documentary
evidence, regarding how their health or welfare are affected by their current
home, or why the applicant’s health cannot be managed in their current
accommodation. They will be asked to complete medical information questions
set out in the on-line application form and may, depending on their answers, be
asked to complete a follow up form to allow the assessing officer to obtain more
information.
On receipt, the assessing officer will consider whether any supplementary
information is needed from any other relevant professional, who may be able to
explain the impact the applicant’s current accommodation is having on their
medical condition or disability.
While this information is being provided, and pending the assessment of medical
priority, applicants who qualify for the register and have another statutory
housing need will be registered and placed in a band according to that need.
Where no other housing need exists, the application will remain as pending until
any medical priority is determined
The assessing officer supported, where necessary, by a senior officer, will
normally make a decision whether or not to award a priority based upon the
information provided. They will use the guidance notes and assessment
framework in this appendix to help them make a decision.
If the assessing officer is of the view that it would be beneficial to obtain an
opinion from an independent Medical Advisor, or Occupational Therapist they
will make a referral. A Medical Advisor will not normally be asked to carry out a
medical examination and their opinion will be based on the information provided
by the applicant and any supporting information from a medical professional and
any information submitted by any organization supporting the applicant.
Applicants are not required to provide any supporting medical evidence in
support of their application before an assessment is made although where this
is available they should provide it in support of their case.
Where the assessing officer believes that further medical information is required
before they can make an assessment they may request it from a relevant
medical professional dealing with the applicant.

61

Page 247

It is important to note that the assessing officer is not making a medical opinion.
The role of the officer is to consider evidence re the impact of an applicant’s
current housing circumstances on any medical condition or disability.
Medical priority will not normally be awarded in the following circumstances:
a) Where the applicant has a health issue, however severe, that is not impacted
by the accommodation occupied
b) Health problems that are not affected by housing or cannot be improved by
moving
c) Where a move would only make a marginal improvement to the applicant’s
condition
d) Medical impacts caused by housing defects that are likely to be rectified in a
reasonable time frame.
e) Where another reasonable course of action is available to the applicant to
resolve their difficulties.
f) Time-related medical problems (e.g. pregnancy-related problems or a broken
leg)
g) Disrepair problems not impacting significantly on the applicant’s medical
condition. (Note under the policy an applicant may receive priority separately
for living in unfit or unsatisfactory housing depending on the assessment
made of their circumstances and impact).
h) Overcrowding not impacting significantly on the applicant’s medical
condition. (Note under the policy an applicant may receive priority separately
for being overcrowded).
i) If the situation can be resolved by equipment or minor adaptations which can
be implemented in a reasonable period of time.
Applicants who require support to live independently with their medical condition
will be placed in a priority band for their medical need but will be suspended from
bidding until an appropriate package of support has been agreed. If no
appropriate support package has been agreed the applicant will not be offered
accommodation whilst a support plan/package is pursued.
Each individual on the application with a health or welfare problem will be
assessed. If there is more than 1 member of the household whose health and/or
welfare is being affected by their housing, their application will be awarded the
need relating to the severest problem.
Where an applicant has been placed in bands A or B as a result of a medical
need this may be reviewed on a regular basis to ensure the award is still relevant.
The review will determine whether the level of priority is still appropriate. The
review may involve a phone-call to the applicant and/ or support agency, an
email, or a home visit.
Once the assessment has been completed the applicant will receive a letter or
email advising them of the outcome, and if a priority band is awarded what that
band is.
Where an applicant already registered notifies a change of medical
circumstances that are impacted by their current housing the applicant’s priority
will be re-assessed using the same process.

62

Page 248

This section below quotes examples of when Bands A or B could be awarded.
These are just examples and an assessment will be made on the facts of the
case.
Band A: Covers urgent and immediate medical impact problem
This top category band A will be reserved for exceptional cases where an
applicant’s health is seriously at risk (including a risk to life) due to the associated
medical and housing difficulties that are inherent in their existing
accommodation.
Band B: Covers serious medical impact problem
A band B award also reflects urgent medical impact cases that have a clear
relationship with the applicant’s existing housing circumstances.
The detail for the operational guidance that used to assess medical cases
1. The applicant will be asked to indicate on their on-line application form
whether they or anyone in their household has an illness or disability that is
affected by their current accommodation.
2. If the information returned on the on-line form does not clearly address the
impact of the applicant’s current housing on their condition, the assessing
officer will contact the applicant to ask them specifically to describe how the
current housing is impacting on the condition described (a standard
letter/form will be used).
3. The email/letter will explain that where supporting information from a health
professional is available, the applicant should provide this information to
support their application, but that we do not, as a matter of course, require
an applicant to submit a medical report, or obtain letters from their GP before
an assessment will be progressed. We do not wish to create further work or
costs for doctors or applicants by insisting that medical reports are produced
before an application can be considered.
4. It is expected that the majority of cases can be assessed by the assessing
officer by using this guidance and where necessary taking advice from a
senior officer. Only where relevant and appropriate will advice from an
independent medical advisor or OTT be sought.
5. Depending on the seriousness of the circumstances claimed the case might
be referred to an independent medical advisor or OTT to provide advice on
the possible impact of any medical or disability condition to help address the
impact of the applicant’s current accommodation on that condition.
6. In the circumstances where the assessing officer believes there may be an
urgent and immediate need, due to the severity of the impact of their current
housing on an applicant’s disability, the case can (with a senior officer’s
approval) be submitted to Cumbria County Council’s Occupational Therapy
Team (OTT) for a more detailed assessment. In order to do this the OTT
may visit the home of the applicant and consider any supporting information
and may recommend whether Band A or B priority should be awarded, based
upon the severity of the case and the urgency of the need for re-housing.
7. The OT may also make recommendations re the type of housing that the
applicant may need.

63

Page 249

8. Where priority is awarded applicants will only be considered for the type of
accommodation assessed as being required. For example, if it is assessed
that an applicant needs to move to a bungalow because due to their condition
they need to use a wheelchair, they will only be considered for suitable
properties that meet this need.
9. There will be occasions when advice, or clarification, from a GP or hospital
consultant may need to be sought. For example, where it is claimed that an
applicant’s housing circumstances is severely affecting their mental health.
10. Where the information indicates that the applicants condition is not so urgent
and immediate that they are unable to live in their current home, or that there
is insufficient evidence that the medical condition would be significantly
improved by alternative housing no award of priority band A or B will be
made.
11. The following list sets out some of the circumstances that may qualify for an
award of priority banding:
a) An applicant’s inability to manage stairs, control temperature, etc.
b) Where an applicant is confined to their existing accommodation due to the
physical nature of that accommodation
c) Where an applicant’s accommodation is having a significant or exceptional
impact or is causing an applicant’s mental or physical health.
d) An applicant’s restricted ability to fend for him/herself in the accommodation
which may put them at significant risk due to the physical nature of the
accommodation
e) The need for adapted housing and/or extra facilities
f) The need for sheltered or supported housing due to the impact of their current
housing on a medical condition.
g) The need for alternative housing as part of a care plan
When assessing whether to award band A or B or no band, the assessing officer
will follow the 5-stage process set out below:
1. Is the medical/disability issue serious enough for a priority banding to be
considered?
2. If the medical condition is serious enough for a priority banding to be
considered the assessing officer should then decide if there is a direct link
between the identified medical problem and the applicant’s current housing
accommodation/situation, i.e. on the facts obtained (from the applicant and any
medical information or reports submitted including any advice from an
independent medical advisor or OTT) is the officer accept that the applicant’s
current housing accommodation/circumstances is making their medical
condition substantially worse, or will make it worse.
3. In practical terms the officer should consider the adverse effect this has on
the applicant’s ability to manage day-to-day tasks in their current home. The
applicant’s current housing accommodation/circumstances may be impacting on
their medical condition or disability but not to the extent that an award of band A
or band B priority should be granted under the criteria adopted for the policy.
The examples listed for an award of band A or band B should be used to guide
the officer when making their decision.
4. Before making an award the assessing officer needs to be satisfied that there
is a realistic expectation that the impact on the identified medical
condition/disability would be removed or significantly improved through the
provision of alternative accommodation.

64

Page 250

5. If the officer is satisfied that the impact on the identified medical
condition/disability would be removed or significantly improved they would then
decide whether to award Band A or B depending on the severity of the impact
and using the examples below to guide them.
More extensive examples to help the assessing officer to decide if band A
should be awarded on medical or disability grounds
These examples are intended to guide the assessing officer on the threshold set
for a band A or band B priority award, or whether no award should be made.
They will also serve to help an applicant understand the threshold for a priority
award to be given.
The following are examples of cases that may qualify for Band A award. It may
apply to the applicant or a member of their household:
1. Applicants who have a progressive, chronic or life-threatening medical
condition and cannot be discharged from hospital because they do not have
any accommodation, or their accommodation is unsuitable for example,
because they cannot access toilet and/or bathing facilities in the property.
This will include cases that cannot be discharged from hospital due to their
accommodation being unsuitable.
2. Applicants who have a progressive, chronic or life threatening medical
condition and urgently need to move to accommodation with significant
disabled adaptations, such as accommodation suitable for a wheelchair user.
3. An immediate life threatening condition which is seriously affected by the
current housing and where re-housing would make that condition significantly
easier to manage
4. A serious illness, where an applicant is receiving palliative care and urgently
requires rehousing to facilitate the on-going provision of that care
5. A life limiting condition and their current accommodation is affecting their
ability to retain independence or enable adequate care
6. The applicant’s health is so severely affected by the accommodation that it
is likely to become life threatening, e.g. applicant has severe mental health
problems that are significantly exacerbated by their accommodation;
7. A new and life-changing condition that severely impairs their mobility,
meaning they are unable to carry out day-to-day activities, or have difficulty
accessing facilities inside and outside of their accommodation and require
housing into suitable accommodation
8. Where their current property leaves a person at risk of infection, e.g. where
an applicant is suffering from late-stage or advanced AIDs
9. Due to limited mobility a person is unable to access essential parts of the
property e.g. bathroom/toilet.
10. A member of the household is elderly or disabled or has a progressive illness
and is likely to require admission to hospital or residential/nursing care in the
immediate future and re-housing would enable the person to remain at home.
11. Armed forces personnel who need to move to suitable adapted
accommodation because of a serious injury, medical condition or disability
that he or she has sustained as a result of service.
12. Veterans who have actively served in the armed forces and are suffering
from severe post traumatic stress disorder or serious illness directly related
to service in the forces

65

Page 251

13. People who have a severe mental health or learning disability which
significantly affects their ability to lead a normal life and which puts them at
risk of admission to hospital or residential care.
14. People living in a mobile home, caravan or converted vehicle which, due to
medical conditions, the vehicle cannot meet their essential needs
15. Where remaining in the current accommodation poses a significant risk of
serious and permanent injury and/or permanent severe disability
16. Where the applicant is prevented from having access to kidney dialysis,
respiratory, or other similar essential equipment. This will normally apply
where these circumstances are likely to prevent someone from remaining in
their home for all or most of the time. Such a condition would be likely to be
ongoing, rather than a temporary condition
17. Someone with a medical or disability who’s housing has rendered them
housebound
18. Where a move would avoid the need for another service (e.g. Social
Services) from having to provide a significant level of support. This might
include for example residential care; overnight care provision, or other
support with similar resource implications
19. Where someone suffers with epilepsy or other conditions that cause frequent
and unpredictable falls and all medical interventions to prevent them have
been investigated. This will involve an assessment of the layout of their
current accommodation, for example the number and nature of steps, stairs
or other hazards that may increase the risk of serious injury
20. Where it is impossible for the person to use essential facilities within the
home and no adaptation is possible
21. The applicant or household member requires significant disabled adaptations
to meet their needs and this is not possible in their current accommodation
or would not be cost effective.
More extensive examples to help the assessing officer to decide if band B
should be awarded on medical or disability grounds
1. Applicants who have significant mobility issues and would benefit from a
move to ground floor or level access accommodation
2. Applicants who have significant mobility issues and would benefit from a
move to accommodation that has level access showering facilities
3. Applicants who have a significant physical or mental health condition that is
directly affected by their accommodation and where a move to alternative
accommodation would help to ease or resolve their condition
4. Applicants who have a medical need for an additional bedroom for example,
because they have been assessed as requiring an ‘overnight carer’, or they
need more space to accommodate a substantial amount of medical
equipment.
5. Applicants whose housing is unsuitable for severe medical reasons, or due
to a disability, but who are not housebound, or whose health, or safety is not
at such a risk level to require immediate urgent housing may be awarded
band B
6. Children with severe conditions such as autism, or cerebral palsy where their
long term needs cannot be met without long term settled accommodation.
7. A person whose disability means that re-housing would help them to
overcome physical barriers created by their current accommodation that they
struggle with e.g. stairs and steps.

66

Page 252

8. A person with a severe disability requiring some adaptations to their property
that cannot be provided for in their current accommodation.
9. Where an applicant can access their home, but struggles to access normal
day-to-day facilities within it (e.g. bath/shower/toilet) without experiencing
significant difficulty, pain or other discomfort. This would include cases where
an adaptation is possible but cannot be undertaken in a reasonable period of
time. (Note: any priority would be removed if an adaptation is completed, or
work started)
10. An applicant is suffering from a long-term mental illness that is being
exacerbated by their accommodation. There will normally not only be GP
involvement, but other specific mental health support already provided.
11. Where an applicant is only not housebound due to significant support that is
available to enable them to get out of their accommodation
12. An applicant or member of their household with a terminal illness, or long
term medical debilitating condition, whose current accommodation is not
necessarily having a significant impact on their condition but where it is
agreed by the council that their quality of life would be significantly improved
by moving to alternative more suitable accommodation, or accommodation
that is nearer to support that is essential for their well being.

67

Page 253

Appendix 2 – Definition of Terms
Accessibility – Used here the term refers to how ‘user friendly’ the service is to
all people who may want to use it.
Adapted Property – Property that is suitable for those with a physical disability
i.e. where a stair lift has been fitted.
Automatic Bidding – Within the ICT system a means of expressing an interest in
a property for someone, without making the bid themselves.
Banding Scheme – The method by which customers are prioritised for social
housing (previously ‘points schemes’).
Bidding – The term used to describe people who register an interest in a property
(no money is involved in making the bid).
Choice Based Lettings (CBL) – The system of letting property that gives
customers choice in where they live through advertising property.
Housing Register – One list for all of Cumbria of people applying for social
housing (previously ‘housing waiting lists’).
Applicants – Those people applying to the scheme for housing.
Effective Date – The date used to decide between customers in the same Band
to establish who has waited longest.
Fully Occupied – Bedrooms in the property that are being fully used in terms of
the household occupying the property in accordance with the table in Appendix
6. When they are not fully used the property could be considered under
occupied.
Hard to Let – Low demand property where it takes longer to find a tenant.
Housing Options – A term used to describe a service that advises customers of
all their choices and includes mutual exchanges, low cost home ownership and
renting in the private sector.
Letting Policy – The means by which it is decided how property will be offered to
customers.
Local Lettings – Policy made in local areas (to tackle specific, identified housing
management issues) on how property will be offered that differs in some part
from the overall scheme policy.
Management Discretion – Property that is offered directly to an identified person
without being advertised.
Partnership – The name for the District Councils and housing associations that
have funded, developed and continues to operate the scheme.

68

Page 254

Proxy Bidding – a Local Authority or Registered Provider places bids on the
customer’s behalf.
Social Housing Providers – The term for a variety of housing organisations that
provides not for profit housing and included local authorities, housing
associations.

69

Page 255

Appendix 3: How any local lettings policy will be applied and reviewed
Local lettings initiatives may be applied to meet the particular needs of a local
ward or area or to address sustainability and community issues to ensure that
the housing allocation scheme is able to contribute to building sustainable
communities.
They will be tailored to fit local situations in well-defined communities (such as a
particular block of flats, an individual street, or new housing development, or may
be applied to a parish or a village in a rural area). Each local lettings policy will
be based on a detailed analysis of relevant information gathered from a variety
of sources and may include, for example, evidence from internal departments,
partner Housing Associations, local Councillors, and the community itself.
(Evidence may include information such as tenant profiling, the incidence of antisocial behaviour, and stock turnover in a particular block, street or area, a
neighbourhood plan or the need to provide housing for local people in rural
villages and parishes, or evidence from the Local Housing Authority internal
departments i.e. environmental health).
The following are examples of local lettings policies that may be deployed under
this policy. The list is for illustrative purposes and is not exhaustive.
1) Age restrictions.
2) Prioritising applicants who are key workers, as defined by the CCP.
3) Restrictions on lettings to vulnerable households where there are already a
concentration of supported tenants/residents in a street or block.
4) Lettings to childless households where there are high concentrations of
children and young people living on a specific estate, street or block.
5) Disregarding household type or property matching rules to allow, for
example, under-occupation to reduce child density or to account for future
family growth.
6) Ensuring that there is a balance of working and non-working households
allocated to a scheme.
7) Enhanced local connection restrictions relating to a specific parish.
New developments will normally have local lettings policies (depending on the
planning permission or agreement reached these may apply to first lettings only
or be ongoing) regardless of whether the new development is subject to a
Section 106 agreement or affordable housing statement. Where a new
development is subject to a Section 106 planning agreement the criteria set will
be followed.
In order to ensure a reasonable mix of household sizes and types, and families
with children of different ages, a local lettings policy will normally be used for
new developments larger than four properties. The local authority may set
restrictions on the number of lettings, which can be made to families with young
children, for example, or the number of families who are not working.
How will a local lettings policy be assessed and agreed?

70

Page 256

The process for agreeing local letting policies may differ across the Cumbrian
region. In some districts the decision is made by the Council and in other districts
the decision is for the stock holding CCP partner in consultation with the Council.
There must be a clear evidence base for adopting a local lettings policy. The
following framework will be used to decide whether a local lettings policy is
appropriate:
1) That there is a clear definition of the objective to be achieved by that
particular local lettings policy.
2) That there is a clear evidence base to back up the need for a local lettings
policy.
3) That any potential equality impact has been considered.
4) How long the local lettings policy is intended to operate.
5) When the local lettings policy should be reviewed.
A written record of each policy adopted or rejected should be kept.
It is the intention that local lettings policies will be fluid with new policies being
added as are required and existing policies being deleted once the objective for
that policy has been met. Local lettings polices must be approved by the
exceptions panel before they are applied.
All local letting polices will be reported to the CCP Board who will discuss any
polices where there is any dispute over the wish to apply a local letting policy.
The intention is for all current local lettings policies to be listed as a link to the
on-line version of this policy so the public can see which polices are in operation
at any point in time. In addition any property advert will state whether there are
any local lettings restrictions or criteria.

71

Page 257

Appendix 4: Definition of a reasonable offer
A refusal of an offer of the correct size and type will normally be considered
unreasonable.
Guidance on reasonable and unreasonable refusals:
1) Property size
The property must be the appropriate size for the household's needs at the time
of making the offer. Where the family composition has changed, so that the
property offered is too small or large for the applicant's needs, the refusal will be
recorded as reasonable.
It is the applicant’s responsibility to ensure that they register any change in their
circumstances that will affect the number of bedrooms to which they are entitled.
Where the applicant refuses a property because it is too small on grounds of the
need for an additional or larger bedroom(s) due to medical/mobility factors, but
it meets the lettings standard, this will normally be considered to be an
unreasonable refusal unless the applicant provides new medical information at
the offer stage that is accepted by the CCP.
2) Property type
It will not be considered to be a reasonable refusal due to a dislike of the property
type. Therefore an applicant cannot reasonably refuse an offer because for
example, it is in a tower block, it does not have a garden or a particular heating
system, it is on a wrong floor, or does not have a lift. If the applicant states
medical grounds for refusing the property, these should already have been
disclosed and considered as part of the assessment of their application, unless
new information is submitted that is accepted by the CCP.
Where specialist accommodation is offered to a household inappropriately, this
is considered to be a reasonable refusal. This may be for example:
a) Offers of wheelchair standard housing to households which do not have
wheelchair users
b) Offers made to disabled applicants which are unsuitable for their needs,
for example where they are unable to open a door entry system because
the doors are too heavy
c) Offers of sheltered housing where the applicant is not of the appropriate
age.
3) Property condition
Where a property is refused on grounds of repair/decoration, this will be
considered an unreasonable refusal unless the voids team decides to withdraw
the property from letting for further works to be carried out.

72

Page 258

4) Area of choice
Where the offer is not within one of the applicant's specified areas, the refusal
will not be considered to be reasonable. It should also be noted that where an
applicant is made a direct offer such as: where the applicant has been assessed
as being statutory homeless and are owed a statutory homeless duty, area of
choice will not apply.
5) Racial harassment
Where an applicant from a black or ethnic minority household refuses the
property prior to viewing because the previous tenant was rehoused as a result
of racial harassment, or there is a known problem of racial harassment in the
vicinity of the property, the refusal is considered reasonable.
6) Choice of landlord
An applicant receiving a direct offer cannot choose whether they are rehoused
by the Council or by a Housing Association or a specific Housing Association.
Therefore, any refusal of Housing Association property because, for example,
there is no Right to Buy, or Right to Acquire, or the rent is higher than another
social landlord will not be considered to be reasonable (unless in the example of
the rent level the assessment is that the offer is unaffordable for the applicant in
question).
7) Pets
One of the conditions of the tenancy agreement is that a tenant must obtain the
written consent of the landlord before keeping domestic pets.
Any intention to keep a pet must comply with the Council’s or partner Housing
Association’s tenancy terms and conditions, which means that permission must
be sought and agreed prior to signing the tenancy agreement for the property.
Therefore any refusal on the basis that permission has not been granted to keep
a pet is not reasonable.

73

Page 259

Appendix 5: Contact Details for all Partner Organisations
Accent Housing Association
Ambassador House
Dalton Road
Barrow-in-Furness
LA14 1HZ
Tel: 0345 6780555
Allerdale Borough Council
Allerdale House
New Bridge Road
Workington
CA14 3YJ
Tel: 03031 231702
Barrow Housing Department
Town Hall
Duke Street
Barrow-in-Furness
LA14 2LD
Tel: 01229 876550
Carlisle City Council
Civic Centre
Rickergate
Carlisle
CA3 8QG
Tel: 01228 817200
Copeland Borough Council
The Market Hall
Market Place
Whitehaven
CA28 7JG
Tel: 01946 598300
Eden District Council
Mansion House
Friar Gate
Penrith
CA11 7YG
Tel: 01768 817817
Eden Housing Association
Blain House
Bridge Lane
Penrith
CA11 8QU
Tel: 01768 861400

74

Page 260

Home Group
PO Box 115
Duke Street
Whitehaven
CA28 0BT
Tel: 0345 1414663
Impact Housing Association
Nook Street
Workington
CA14 4EH
Tel: 0344 8736290
Riverside Housing Association
English Gate Plaza
Botchergate
Carlisle
CA1 1RP
Tel: 0345 111 0000
South Lakeland District Council
South Lakeland House
Lowther Street
Kendal
LA9 4DQ
Tel: 01539 733333
South Lakes Housing
Bridge Mills Business Centre
Stramongate
Kendal
LA9 4BD
Tel: 0300 303 8540
Castles and Coasts Housing Association
3 Castle Street
Carlisle
CA3 8SY
Tel: 0800 0851171

75

Page 261

Appendix 6 - Household Type and Property Size – This will need to be
amended according to the overcrowding rules that the CCP want to adopt
as discussed in overcrowding section of the section 4 banding table
This table provides guidance on the size of home that different types of
household can bid for on Cumbria Choice. This is supplemented by the more
detailed information which each housing provider places in individual
advertisements and in guidance published on the Cumbria Choice website.
Household

Bedsit

1 bed

2 bed

3 bed

Single person

D

D

2
Adults
(couple
including
same
sex
couples)
2 Adults (non
couple)
Single 1 child

D

D

*

4 bed

5+bed

D
D

Single 2 child
Single
3
Child
Single 4 or
more children
Couple
1
child
Couple
2
child
Couple
3
child
Couple 4 or
more children

NB

D

Households with access to children will not be able to include them
as part of the household when looking at eligibility for property size.
See section 2.1 Households with access to children/joint custody.

76

Page 262

Key

Number of bedrooms allowed for this household type
Number of bedrooms allowed for this household type, subject to
the ages of the children.
Two children under the age of 10 are usually expected to share a
bedroom.
Two children of the same sex are usually expected to share a
bedroom until they are 16.
Once a child is 16 a separate bedroom is allowed.
D

Allowed by discretion only when stated in the advertisement.
This is most likely to apply in one of the following circumstances:
 There is low demand for the type of property in the location
 There is lack of supply of smaller homes in the location
 A local lettings or s106 policy applies

*

Some providers may only allow households with children to bid on
houses

77

Page 263

Appendix 7 - Right to Move Qualifying Criteria
To meet the Allocation of Housing (qualification criteria for the Right to Move England) Regulations 2015, a local connection may not be applied to existing
social tenants seeking to transfer from another local authority district in England
who: 



Have reasonable preference under Section 166(3)(e) because of a need to
move to the Local Authority’s district to avoid hardship, and
Need to move because the tenant works in the district, or
Need to move to take up an offer of work

QUALIFYING CRITERIA
This applies to existing social housing tenants: 



Who need to move within a Local Authority area or to another local authority
area to avoid hardship, and
Who need to move because the tenant works in the district, or
Who need to move to take up an offer of work?

What the Local Authority should take into account: Need to Move:
Tenants must need to move, not simply want to move. Factors to consider in
determining `need` are: 






The distance and/or time taken to travel between home and work.
Availability and affordability of transport as against earnings.
Nature of the work and whether similar opportunities are available nearer
home.
Other personal factors, for instance medical conditions, child care
Length of work contract.
Would failure to move mean a lost opportunity to improve employment
circumstances or prospects?

Work:
`Work` only qualifies as `work` if it is not: Short term:
-

Consider whether the work is regular or intermittent (particularly relevant for
the self-employed).
Consider the period of employment – a contract of less than 12 months could
be considered short-term.

Marginal:
-

Less than 16 hours per week could be considered marginal
Consider the level of earnings.

78

Page 264

Voluntary:
-

Unpaid, or expenses only.

Ancillary:
-

That is, if the person works occasionally in another local authority area, but
main place of work is a different area, the work is excluded.

Verification and Evidence
The tenant must be able demonstrate that he/she has a genuine job offer and
that he/she has a genuine intention to take it up.
Appropriate evidence could include: 




A formal offer letter.
A contract of employment.
Wage/salary slips covering a certain period, or bank statements (zero hour
contracts).
Tax and benefits information, for example proof of receipt of working tax
credit.

79

Page 265

Appendix 8: Person(s) Who Will Take Specific Decisions this will be added
to the final policy

80

Page 266

Appendix 9: How major changes will be considered by each of the 6 Cumbrian
Councils
Will be added to the final policy

81

Page 267

Appendix 10: The revised Equality Impact Assessment June 2020
This is attached to the policy as a separate document given its length. A copy can be
emailed on request.

82

Page 268

Appendix 3 Cumbria Choice Based Lettings Board Consultation Responses
Table 1
Table 1 below details the proposed changes to the qualification rules. Responses are outlined in Table 2.
Qualification rule 1 – Local Connection
It is proposed that the Policy will restrict access to the high housing need
Bands A and B to customers who can evidence a local connection with
Cumbria. This would prioritise Cumbrian households for the higher 2
bands but there would be exceptions for people without a local
connection if they were homeless or victims of domestic violence.
Comment:

Page 269

Therefore to qualify for Bands A or B the customer must have a local
connection with Cumbria. This could be set as:
Option A:
a) Living in Cumbria for the last year, or 3 years in the last 5 and/or
b) Having close family living in Cumbria and/or
c) Working in Cumbria as long as this isn’t casual work.
Option B
a) Living in Cumbria for the last year, or 3 years in the last 5 and/or
b) Having close family living in Cumbria that provide essential support
and/or
c) Working in Cumbria - defined as Employment is defined as paid
employment for 16 hours or more per week for a period of one year,
or self-employment where an applicant can demonstrate that the
self-employed work they perform is in the Cumbria area and is on
average 16 hours a week or more.
If the customer doesn't meet one of the above they can still register but
will be placed in band C
1

Qualification rule 4: Financial resources

If the customer earns above a set net income or has savings above a set
threshold they will either not be able to qualify for the register or will
not be able to qualify for Bands A or B but would still be allowed to be
placed in Band C despite their income or savings.

Page 270

We would like your views on which option should be included and if you
support income or savings thresholds what these should be?
Qualification rule 5: Failure to Bid
Many customers once they register don't bid for the properties
advertised. We think that if someone hasn't made one bid in 12 months
that they should be removed from the register. This will cut down on the
time and costs in administering the housing register. This rule would not
stop a customer from reapplying at a later date.
Qualification rule 6: Fraud or giving False Information
If someone has lied or withheld information in an attempt to get social
housing we think they should not be able to register, or if they are
already registered and we discover they have led or withheld
information they will be removed from the register. This would be
serious cases of lies or withholding information that were intended to
obtain social housing by deceit.
Qualification rule 7: Circumstances where an applicant has current This rule in the current policy is being amended to help customers who
or former social housing rent arrears or another relevant have former social housing rent arrears or housing related debt to be
recoverable housing related debt
able to obtain social housing.
For customers with serious rent arrears it will continue to be the case
that they cannot qualify for the housing register until they have reduced
the debt to a level we agree is reasonable.
However, for customers who owe less than £1000 they will be able to
qualify and be banded for their assessed housing need but they will not
be offered a property until they have resolved the debt to a level we
think is reasonable in the circumstances. There will be clear criteria for
what they have to do to resolve the issue and they will continue to ‘move

2

Qualification rule 8: Serious unacceptable behaviour

Page 271

up the queue for their band’ so they have not ‘lost out’ whilst resolving
the debt.
This rule in the current policy is being amended to encourage customers
to tackle any unacceptable behavior issues, or ASB issues before they
will be able to be considered for an offer of social housing.
For customers with a history of serious unacceptable behavior that has
not been resolved when they apply to join the housing register it will
continue to be the case that they cannot qualify for the register until
they have resolved the problem to the satisfaction of Cumbria Choice.
That is not a change from the current policy.
However, it is proposed that customers presenting with more minor
issues that are assessed as needing to be resolved will be allowed to
qualify and will be banded for their assessed housing need. However,
they will not be offered a property until they have resolved their
behavior to a level that will give us confidence that they will be good
tenants in the future.
There will be clear criteria for what they have to do to resolve their
behavior and they will continue to ‘move up the queue for their band’
so they have not ‘lost out’ whilst they resolve the problem.

Policy Changes set out in the draft Policy A, B and C, pages 10 – 12 are described below.
1) We are making the rules clearer regarding when a direct letting outside of the choice based letting system will be allowed.
a) Other examples include cases where an applicant is subject to Multi Agency Public Protection Arrangements (MAPPA), or presents a
risk to themselves or others
2) We are proposing a penalty for applicants who refuse 3 reasonable offers in a 12-month period.

3

All applicants will continue to qualify for 3 reasonable offers in a 12-month period. If an applicant in the high need Bands A or B refuses
3 reasonable offers in that 12 months they will be ‘downgraded’ to Band C for 12 months. This is to stop applicants biding for properties
they are not committed to taking which has the consequence that properties take longer to let and cost the social housing landlord
money in lost rent. The definition of a reasonable offer is clearly set out in the new policy.
3) We are setting out how we propose to give choice to registered customers who have a local connection with the local authority area
where a vacant property is advertised whilst at the same time encouraging mobility across Cumbria
We want to encourage mobility by allowing everyone registered to be able to bid for most of the properties advertised regardless of
whether they have a local connection with the local authority area where the property is vacant. There will be exceptions, for example
where there is a new development under a section 106 Planning Agreement that requires tenants to have a close local connection.

Page 272

However, to ensure that properties are prioritised for customers who have a local connection to the area where the property is advertised
we intend in the first instance to shortlist customers who have bid and have a local connection to the Council area where the property is
advertised. We think this is a fair process and protects areas of higher demand for residents who have a connection to an area, but at
the same time encourages customers to be more mobile in contemplating moving across Cumbria as if no one with a local connection
bids then the customer who has a connection to Cumbria but not to the particular Council area will then be considered for that property
based on their band and date in band.
Table 2
Table 2 outlines proposed changes as described above, together with consultation responses received from the Board’s consultation.
Change
number

1

The changes we are thinking of making (Please read the 1) Do you agree with the change that is proposed?
explanation for the proposed change above and give us your 2) Do you have any other comments on the change that is
views on whether you support the change or disagree).
proposed – All stakeholders who answered this question
answered Yes.
We want to reduce the number of Bands from 5 to 3
Q1 - Do you agree Y/N – 13 = Yes, 3 = No
(See explanatory note on P2 above)
Q2 – Any other comments
General comments received:

4

Page 273
5



Would like an additional reduced preference band for ASB,
arrears, no local connection and unreasonable refusal



It will make for a clearer process for applicants.



Concern that people who are non-Statutory Homeless,
where a direct duty is not owed, are placed into Band C
with everyone else. These clients can be particularly
vulnerable and may some additional differentiation,
particularly if the cumulative need rule is removed.



This will make the allocation to a Band easier and fairer.



This will make the Policy easier to understand for
customers and partners administering the Housing
Register.



The existing system works well, why change it?



We believe that a simplification of the scheme stands to
benefit applicants. The retention of two priority bands will
still permit a distinction between applicants with a high
and urgent need for accommodation.



While we understand the motivation to simplify and to
adopt more of a “waiting list” approach we think that
there is a demonstrable need for this number of bands,
and the negatives are outweighed by the positives



It will make for a clearer process

2

Page 274
6



Concern that those who are non-statutory Homeless,
where a direct duty is not owed, are placed into Band C
with everyone else. These clients can be particularly
vulnerable and may need to be identified separately,
particularly if the cumulative need rule is removed.



This will make the allocation to a Band easier and fairer.

We intend to keep an ‘Open Register’ meaning anyone can Q1 - Do you agree Y/N - 15 = Yes, 1 = No
apply to join the housing register (See explanatory note on P3 Q2 – Any other comments
above)
General comments received:


Do not agree with this entirely



If you do not already have one, then may I suggest an
Exclusions register as well (Internal use Only) to allow staff
a quick reference check facility?



the Housing Register must remain an ‘Open Register’ as
they enable anyone to apply for a property regardless of
their circumstances.



We do not believe that the pressure on social housing is so
great that there is a need to restrict those who can join the
scheme. There are many genuine circumstances in which a
person will require new accommodation but fall outside of
the criteria for the new bands A and B. Such applicants

should be permitted to join the register and obtain
properties not selected by those with a higher priority.


3

We are adding to and amending the qualification rules for when 4 = Yes
a customer is able to join the Housing Register. Tell us if you
agree with the rule or not and whether you would make any General comments received:
changes to it.
 In principle but believe that ASB tenants should be
disqualified.

Page 275


3Q1

See comments on attached policy (Allerdale attachment)

See comments on attached policy (Allerdale attachment)

Qualification rule 1 – Local Connection (See explanatory note on Q1 - Do you agree there should be a local connection qualification
P4 above)
rule Y/N – 15= Yes.
Q2 – If you agree there should be should a qualification rule for
local connection do you prefer option A or option B (see details in
notes above on page 4) – 8 = A, 7 = B
General comments received:


7

We would prefer option A as it better reflects the diverse
family set ups of our clients where relationships can change
but they still geographically need to be near family.



If you agree there should be should a qualification rule for
local connection do you prefer option A or option B (see
details in notes above on page 4) – I agree with Option 1



Restrictive - See comments on attached policy (Allerdale
attachment)

Q3 – Any other comments
General comments received:
prefer option A mainly as I don’t think the criteria should
consider ‘essential support’ as the reason to wish to live
close to family. I also think that ‘essential support’ will be
difficult to define and require people to provide evidence
which will create more work and time to assess people.



Cumbria has a super aging population and it is important to
have vibrant mixed communities and encourage those who
have permanent employment in the area. It should also
include applicants with a permanent job offer in the
locality. There should be an ‘and/or’ in the listing as
otherwise it sounds like applicants must meet all criteria.



Who makes this decision – the Council or Cumbria Choice?
Need to be clear.

Page 276



3Q2

8

Qualification rule 2: The requirement to give permission to Q1 - Do you agree Y/N – 15 = Yes
obtain and share an applicant’s personal information
Q2 – Any other comments

(See explanatory note on P4 above)
General comments received:

Page 277

3Q3



So long as you abide by the Data Protection Act. And the
staff are bound by that.



We see no problems with this qualification, provided
normal data protection rules are applied.



Very clear information needs to be provided as to the use
of the information and why.



See feedback sent to Rebecca Boardley from James Dixon

Qualification rule 3: Homeownership or legal interest in home Q1 - Do you agree that people who own their own home should
ownership (See explanatory note on P4 and 5 above)
not qualify for the higher bands A or B Y/N – 10= Yes, 5 = No
Q2 – Any other comments
General comments received:


9

I think there should be option B – people should be able to
register but would qualify for band C unless there is
evidence to support a higher banding. Whilst it would be
easy to say that homeowners should not be able to register
for social housing, I also believe that there are always
exceptions to a rule based on circumstance and so these
criteria should remain open to prevent people from ‘falling
through the gaps’

Page 278
10



Should not be on the register.



The policy needs to be flexible enough to accommodate
those who have had a relationship breakdown, neither
party can afford to take on the property, and where there
is no equity. Likewise, homeowners and applicants with
own financial resources are often the only applicants
interested in low demand sheltered schemes.



I believe A however this would need to be looked at on an
individual basis ie. If someone is fleeing a violent
relationship or has a physical disability/urgent health need
where urgent rehousing is needed.



If person owns home and wants to move to social housing,
it’s possible it’s because they can’t cope – e.g mortgage
arrears. They may be threatened with homelessness and
need to be on upper bands.



This must include where the property is on the market.
Until legally sold they still own and are not homeless



Should be dependent on social need.



Please see comments relating to DV victims who are
homeowner



Unless there is Domestic Violence. However, consideration
needs to be made for those who may own their home but
are living in unsuitable accommodation and are unable to

afford to put it right and/or they are unable to resolve their
housing need for instance; disrepair/ disability and unable
to adapt the property/ threats of violence/ experiencing
ASB/ Harassment etc

Page 279
11



The financial criteria could be based on lower quartile
prices/rents set out in the Councils’ Strategic Market
Assessments (SHMA) so it can be determined whether an
applicant can satisfy their housing need on the open
market or not and then BMRA for rental. This could
determine if 25% of income or over would be spent on rent
costs if looking at a market rent.



We believe the proposals need to be amended to focus on
whether the ownership/interest allows the applicant to
house themselves. Applicants who can house themselves
should be placed in Band C. Applicants that cannot do so
should not suffer any penalty. Proposal- The rules should
be amended to only exclude applicants who: Own or have
a legal interest in a property; and Are, in practice, able to
use their ownership/interest to house themselves.



In some instances, people own accom but the Courts will
allow them to return – exclusion areas, child protection,
DA cases - but they cannot sell accommodation. Where
this is the case there could be a “by exception” rule



See attached draft policy document for any additional
comments referenced to this (Allerdale)



3Q4

We feel that people should be able to register, and each
case should be treated on its own merit. If there is very
little equity in the home, or the home is unsuitable for the
applicant’s needs, or they are in financial hardship, there
should be the discretion within the policy to
accommodate those needs.

Qualification rule 4: Financial resources (See explanatory note Q1 - Do you agree that people who have a certain level of income
on P5 above)
or savings should not qualify be able to qualify for the higher bands
A or B Y/N - 12 = Yes, 3 = No

Page 280

General comments received:

12



Depends on individual circumstances.



We feel that social housing offers a level of stability and
right to tenure which all our clients should have access to
should they need it.



We do agree with this change and (of the two options at
page 21 of the draft policy) support Option 1. However, we
some amendments are needed to ensure hardship is
avoided.



See attached draft policy document for any additional
comments referenced to this (Allerdale)



There should be discretion within the policy - We feel that
this depends upon each individual circumstance. Including

the average house-price of the area requested, and the
specific needs of the household need to be considered
alongside the income/savings.


Agree if a person has the means to source their own
alternative accommodation they should do this. There
needs to be some support to help them to do this or they
could end up hitting the homelessness services.

Q3 – If you have answered yes what do you think that the income
or savings thresholds should be set at for non qualification?
General comments received:

Page 281
13



Full time minimum wage.



£16,000 savings (same as Universal Credit): £10-12k
pretax income



Any thresholds need to consider the differences between
LA areas and house prices/rental prices. For example,
£25,000 may be a lot of money in Carlisle or parts of West
Cumbria but it isn’t a lot in parts of South Lakeland,
Allerdale or Eden



Would need discussed and agreed at a strategic group to
identify thresholds

Page 282
14



This should be based on their ability through savings /
income to acquire an appropriately sized property on the
open market.



Income set at £24,000 and savings at £16,000



income or savings thresholds should be set at for nonqualification – a calculation based on local average
incomes in relation to local average market rents which
could be updated each year and a percentage such as 25
% of gross annual income could be applied ie if they earn
over the average gross income for the area and if 25% of
their gross income is less than the average market value
rentals for the property size in the area they require, then
they qualify



If you have answered yes what do you think that the
income or savings thresholds should be set at for nonqualification £25000.00



We consider the example limits at page 20-21 of the draft
policy as reasonable. Income levels of £45,000-£60,000
and accessible savings of £25,000 will exclude those who
clearly have the ability to house themselves. At the same
time these limits are high enough to ensure that those in
genuine need are not excluded from the priority bands.



We think it is important to make this relative to the local
housing cost. The amount of money required to rent
privately or purchase a house varies widely across Cumbria.

We do not think it is fair to penalise people who have
perhaps lived in a more affluent area all their life who are
then unable to afford to buy or rent. We feel that the
threshold needs to be relative to the area being considered.


Homeowners and applicants with own financial resources
are often the only applicants interested in low demand
properties and should not be penalized because they have
savings.



All pensions and benefits should be exempt. All serving and
retired Military personnel should be exempt.

Page 283

Q2 – Any other comments
General comments received:

15



We think it is important to make this relative to the local
housing cost. The amount of money required to rent
privately or purchase a house varies widely across Cumbria.
We do not think it is fair to penalize people who have
perhaps lived in a more affluent area all their life who are
then unable to afford to buy or rent. I think the threshold
needs to be relative to the area being considered.



Homeowners and applicants with own financial resources
are often the only applicants interested in low demand
sheltered schemes.



All pensions and benefits should be exempt. All serving and
retired Military personnel should be exempt.



social housing should be for those in housing need and if
they have the means to resolve their housing need with
their finances they should not be prioritized over those who
are unable to afford to resolve their housing need and this
must be balanced with the need to have resilient
communities including those who have employment.



Opposition to Option 2 in the draft policy

Page 284

We do not agree with the proposal to link the earnings limits to
the Local Housing Allowance rates. Our first objection relates to
the complexity of such a scheme. Each application would require
the calculation of the applicant's relevant LHA rate, incorporate a
multiplier and then compare with the applicant's income. This is
likely to add time and costs to the running of the scheme,
disadvantaging both applicants and landlords.
Additionally, LHA rates differ depending on the number of
bedrooms a household is classed as requiring. There are multiple
rules that dictate when a household is/is not classed as needed a
certain number of bedrooms. There is a likelihood that many
applicants will seek to challenge the decision on the number of
bedrooms. Dealing with those challenges will place further
pressure on the scheme. The delays possible in concluding this,
potentially lengthy, process means there is a real risk that
qualifying applicants with urgent housing needs will be denied

16

access to the priority bands. Such applicants would be at risk of
suffering severe hardship.
Our second objection relates to the use of LHA rates as a fair
indicator of the housing market in different areas of Cumbria. The
LHA rates are set by government who can increase, decrease or
freeze the rates arbitrarily. LHA rates are assessed yearly, but
frequently do not keep pace with increases in private rents. From
2016 to 2020 the government froze LHA rates completely. This
amounted to a real term cut in the rates at a time the cost of
renting privately continued to increase.

Page 285

We believe these issues make it clear that LHA rates cannot be
relied on to provide a proper indication of the market rates areas
of Cumbria. There is already a disconnect between the LHA rates
and the actual costs of renting in Cumbria. In the future there is
the risk for this disconnect to increase further, depending on
government policy.
Proposal
Amend the rules to:



17

Exclude assets that applicants , in practice, cannot use to
house themselves.
Increase the income limits in cases of applicants with
unusually large families. An alternative would be to
provide a general exception for applicants who can
demonstrate they cannot house themselves, despite their
apparent income/assets.

3Q5



Consider merging this rule with Qualification Rule 3



Considering simply the applicant’s income or considering
the household as a whole eg working partner/non
dependents?

Qualification rule 5: Failure to Bid (See explanatory note on P5 Q1 - Do you agree Y/N – 13 = Yes, 2 = No
above)
Q2 – Any other comments
General comments received:

Page 286
18



We feel there needs to be consideration for any exceptions,
if someone can provide a reasonable explanation for a lack
of bidding then there is the option to be able to reinstate
their original banding



Clear notice of taking off register should be given at least 3
times by letter (many may not operate email themselves)



Those in priority need bands ie homeless and medical that
haven’t bid for say 6 months should have their priority
removed.



Clients who are on remand or in Custody night be forced
off the waiting list when they have genuine reason for not
bidding. This should not be a blanket policy, but cases
looked at on an individual basis.

We believe that 12 months is a sufficient length of time to
wait before it is sensible to assume the applicant no longer
wants/needs social housing.



Applicants living in a rural area where turnover is very low
may not have any suitable properties to bid on within a 12month period if they want to remain in local area



See attached draft policy document for any additional
comments referenced to this (Allerdale)



We feel there needs to be consideration for any exceptions,
if someone is able to provide a reasonable explanation for
a lack of bidding then there is the option to be able to
reinstate their original banding - Clear notice of taking off
register should be given at least 3 times by letter (many
may not operate email themselves) - Those in priority need
bands ie homeless and medical that haven’t bid for say 6
months should have their priority removed. - Clients who
are on remand or in Custody night be forced off the waiting
list when they have genuine reason for not bidding. This
should not be a blanket policy, but cases looked at on an
individual basis.
Automated bids should be in place for those to whom the
council have a statutory duty to provide housing. Areas of
choice needs to be agreed and the additional preference
only applied to the areas that are not deemed to be
‘aspirational’ moves but are like for like.

Page 287





19

3Q6

Qualification rule 6: Fraud or giving False Information
(See explanatory note on P5 above)

Q1 - Do you agree Y/N – 15 = Yes, 1 = No
Q2 – Any other comments
General comments received:

Page 288
20



We would look for assurances that this could be reviewed
within a timescale and/or appealed dependent on the
circumstances which led to the individual making the
fraudulent claim.



We believe exclusion for 12 months is a reasonable
response to the deliberate giving of false information. The
right to request a review of a prejudicial decision should
permit genuine applicants to avoid being penalised.



However clearer guidance is required than is provided in
the Note above – omission is not necessarily deception –
online forms can be tricky to complete as they require
prescriptive answers and there is a concern over lack of
confidentiality when providing convictions.
Additionally, when assisting people with applications we
suggest the RSL contacts the “Probation Officer” to obtain
unspent convictions, but this follow up may not be done at
the application processing stage and potentially causes
problems down the line



See attached draft policy document for any additional
comments referenced to this (Allerdale)

3Q7

Page 289
21



We would look for assurances that this could be reviewed
within a timescale and/or appealed dependent upon the
circumstances which led to the individual making the
fraudulent claim.



This would need to be carefully monitored and investigated
by a person not involved in the allocation of properties to
ensure a fair and consistent approach is taken not simply a
‘gut feeling’ approach.

Qualification rule 7: Circumstances where an applicant has Q1 - Do you agree Y/N – 11 = Yes, 4 = No
current or former social housing rent arrears or another Q2 – Any other comments
relevant recoverable housing related debt
(See explanatory note on P5 above)
General comments received:


Rent should be mandatorily paid from their benefit or wage
to the social landlord by bank transfer.



Currently the policy states that ‘tenants transferring within
the Scheme will need to have a clear rent account (page 14)
and a satisfactory property report. However, this may not
necessarily be required if there is an urgent need for
rehousing.’ This needs to be kept in the policy to prevent
applicants building up arrears and moving from partner to
partner organization.



Apart from demonstrating they are clearing the previous
rent arrears they need to be able to clearly show how they

intend to avoid a repeat situation should they be offered a
new home.

Page 290
22



Answered No providing the situation is strictly monitored.



Please see additional comments raised in email (copied at
the end of questionnaire)



However, there cannot be a blanket rule Decisions of this
nature should take into account how the debt arose in the
first place and ability to pay the rent/housing costs. It
should also not put people who are owed a homeless duty
at a disadvantage. Would suggest that there needs to be
evidence of action taken by the previous landlord such as
possession action or debt action and efforts by both parties
to resolve past debt. The issue should be more about
showing commitment/ effort to address the debt rather
than reducing debt by a specific figure as this could take
someone an unrealistic length of time or may force them
into further financial problems by prioritizing this debt over
current commitments. Also the length of time since the
debt should be taken into account, how far do we go back?
Should we stop at a specific time frame ie 6 years which
equates to the Statutory limits for general debt collection.
This section needs a bit further clarity and consistency.
Under point 1. In the section it mentions that applicants
should have a regular payment record of 13 weeks or more
and under c) a CCP assessing officer may decide that after
a payment pattern of 8 weeks that an applicant may be able
to bid. It should be clearer how applicants need to

demonstrate exceptional circumstances and, rules around
statutory homeless duties.

Page 291
23



Please see additional comments raised at end.



We agree there is a place within any Allocations Policy for
these provisions and we believe there is a need for
transparency, clarity and guidance over what is meant by
these terms. While we concur with the need to retain a
degree of flexibility over their interpretation it is important
that there is consistency of interpretation across
organisations and for individual applications. We think it
would therefore be helpful to define what is and what isn’t
meant by serious unacceptable behaviour and significant
former rent arrears; what might be acceptable / not
acceptable as mitigating evidence; and what evidence /
behaviour is and isn’t acceptable to demonstrate change.



See attached draft policy document for any additional
comments referenced to this (Allerdale)



We believe that the explanation notes provided on p5 is
insufficient and will lead to inconsistent decision making
across organisations and with individual applicants.



Answered No providing the situation is strictly monitored.



We have some concerns over the reasonable test as this
will differ from the RPs rental needs to the needs of the
individual. For some people who are on a low income and

have debt social housing is the only way to access
accommodation as the PRS is not available to them. This
could lead to those most vulnerable being either stuck in
detrimental living conditions or in TA as they are unable to
clear arrears.

3Q8

Qualification rule 8: Serious unacceptable behavior
(See explanatory note on P6 above)

Q1 - Do you agree Y/N – 13 = Yes
Q2 – Any other comments
General comments received:

Page 292
24



Very important that behavioral standards are upheld,
otherwise social housing will become a ghetto as indeed
some areas already are, where people don’t want to live



Currently the policy states that ‘tenants transferring within
the Scheme will need to have a clear rent account (page 14)
and a satisfactory property report. However, this may not
necessarily be required if there is an urgent need for
rehousing.’ This needs to be kept in the policy to prevent
applicants with a poor tenancy history moving from partner
to partner organization.



We agree there should be more flexibility, but we would
also like to see specific details about what is meant by
‘resolved’ and who will be included in decision making – e.g
would Probation or support providers be consulted in
relation to risk?

Should not be considered as tenants.



concerns over decisions and can these be discussed with us
to mitigate and provide suggestions case by case?



what is ‘serious anti-social behaviour’ - I would suggest that
this can only happen where someone has been evicted due
ASB or other court action taken by the previous landlord (ie
there must be proven evidence of the ASB such as court
order for possession or injunction action by the landlord/
police/ other organization or individual) – the proposal is to
consider improved behaviour – how can the applicant
prove or show that they have changed their behavior? How
long is reasonable to consider this and what proof is
required? Also if the ASB action was over 5 years ago is it
still relevant? Most new tenants are given introductory or
starter tenancies therefore any ASB which occurs during
this time could be dealt before it expires or they can be
given an extension. Under 3. E) meaningful engagement
with support agencies should also consider cases where
there is a package of support in place and also cases where
the Local Authority has a statutory homeless duty that may
link into support that can be provided.



It is clearly reasonable to impose penalties where there
have been serious incidents of unacceptable behaviour. We
believe the categories and examples of unacceptable
behaviour set out on pages 28 and 29 of the draft policy
successfully define unacceptable behaviour without being
overly broad.

Page 293



25

Page 294
26



We do believe the proposals could be improved via the
addition of a clearer separation between behaviour which
will result in exclusion and behaviour with will prevent an
applicant from bidding. At present there are no detailed
rules or guidance setting out the distinction. We are
concerned that a lack of a clear distinction will result in a
lack of consistency between different decision makers.
Additional challenges from tenants are also likely, arguing
that their case should fall within the lessor category.
Proposal - Amend the rule to provide a framework or
guidance as to when behaviour will merit a full exclusion
and when behaviour will merit only a prohibition on
bidding.



We agree there is a place within any Allocations Policy for
these provisions and we believe there is a need for
transparency, clarity and guidance over what is meant by
these terms. While we concur with the need to retain a
degree of flexibility over their interpretation it is important
that there is consistency of interpretation across
organisations and for individual applications. We think it
would therefore be helpful to define what is and what isn’t
meant by serious unacceptable behaviour and significant
former rent arrears; what might be acceptable / not
acceptable as mitigating evidence; and what evidence /
behaviour is and isn’t acceptable to demonstrate change.

Page 295
3Q9

27



We believe that the explanation provided on p6 is
insufficient and will lead to inconsistent decision making
across organisations and with individual applicants.



See attached draft policy document for any additional
comments referenced to this (Allerdale)



We agree there should be more flexibility, but we would
also like to see specific details about what is meant by
‘resolved’ and who will be included in decision making –
e.g would Probation or support providers be consulted in
relation to risk?



Again the test is applied by the administrators of the
policy which in SLDC is the largest social housing provider
so there is a risk that the test is unfair and based on
personal opinion and business view rather than fact and a
real risk management basis to provide accommodation to
those most vulnerable in our communities.



What will be the test for this – is it a comprehensive test
across all applications or on a case by case basis by each
provider? The criteria needs to be clear.

Qualification rule 9: CCP Tenants not assessed as Band A or Band Q1 - Do you agree Y/N – 14 = Yes 1 - No
B Housing Need and wanting to transfer should seek to do so Q2 – Any other comments
through the Mutual Exchange Scheme
(See explanatory note on P6 above)
General comments received:

Mutual exchange should be only option



What does this mean? Cumbria choice partnership tenants
cannot join register unless in A or B category and so those
who do not have a ‘need’ for a move will have to use mutual
exch instead – ‘right to move’ considers move for work
purposes –



There are good reasons an existing CCP tenant would want
to move, but not have a housing need sufficient to merit
placement in Bands A or B. Excluding such applicants may
cause them hardship. Examples include: Overcrowded
households that fall outside of the definitions in Bands A
and B; Households under-occupying by one bedroom; Low
income households moving to reduce travel costs;
Households moving to take up employment and not
covered by the definition of "employment hardship" in
Band B.



We disagree that the costs involved in re-letting a property
justifies the more restrictive stance. We believe an
allocation scheme should primarily focus on the fair
distribution of social housing rather than on a reducing in
landlord's costs.



We do not agree that these issues can be adequately
corrected via the mutual exchange scheme. This scheme is
entirely dependent on a tenant with a suitable property

Page 296



28

being willing to move and to move to the applicant's area.
Such factors can never be guaranteed.

Page 297

4

29



Proposal The rules should be amended to allow current CCP
tenants to bid for properties in Band C. Alternatively,
current CCP tenants could be permitted to bid in Band C if
they can demonstrate a good reason for moving that falls
outside of Bands A and B.



We think Mutual Exchange Scheme needs to much better
promotion

We want to make the rules clearer regarding when a direct Q1 - Do you agree Y/N - 15 = Yes
letting outside of the choice based letting system will be Q2 – Any other comments
allowed.
(See explanatory note on P7 above)
General comments received:


Eden Housing Association do very few direct lets



this should be monitored and also who makes the decision
regarding the direct let?



Additional clarity of when offers outside of the scheme will
be made is beneficial to all parties. We consider the
proposed rules wide enough to cover all the situations
there a genuine need for a direct offer.

Page 298

5

30



See attached draft policy document for any additional
comments referenced to this (Allerdale)



All partners should have the ability to carry out direct lets
when circumstances require it, i.e. urgent DA cases, County
Lines moves etc. to ensure the safety of the applicant and
their household. This should be the RP’s and at the LA’s
request.



How will this work with the previous point of ASB and
addressing behavior. Who will attend the MAPPA meetings
and agree to rehousing

We are proposing a penalty for applicants who refuse 3 Q1 - Do you agree Y/N - 14 = Yes, 1= No
reasonable offers in a 12-month period.
Q2 – Any other comments
(See explanatory note on P8 above)
General comments received:


Dependent on state of property at re-let



If there is not a reduced preference banding, there is no
penalty for applicants that do this in a Band C



Unless women/men fleeing D/V to ensure the only housing
options are not within the vicinity of where the perpetrator
lives

Page 299



We would like to see more specific detail about an appeals
system. Some vulnerable clients may not fully understand
the process and refuse offers before support is in place?



it is important that people on the register are actively
seeking a new home and in housing need otherwise it gives
a misleading impression of housing need in the area and it
means those in actual need may have to wait longer to be
housed, it is also not best use of time of those involved in
assessing applications and lettings



Amend the rule to permit applicants 6 refusals every 12
months before being subjected to penalties.



In principle agree - See attached draft policy document for
any additional comments referenced to this (Allerdale)



However, this should take into account the following: The
condition of the property at re-let, - If there is not a reduced
preference banding there is no penalty for applicants that
do this in a Band C - unless women/men fleeing D/V to
ensure the only housing options are not within the vicinity
of where the perpetrator lives - We would like to see more
specific detail about an appeals system? Some vulnerable
clients may not fully understand the process and refuse
offers before support is in place
Are there going to be formal homeless offers made to
applicants?



31

6

We are proposing to remove the ‘Cumulative Need’ rule from Q1 - Do you agree Y/N – 14 = Yes 1 = No
the Policy
Q2 – Any other comments
(See explanatory note on P8 above)
General comments received:
We understand that the cumulative need process may be
challenging to administer. However, as stated above, we
are concerned that there is no ability to prioritise within
Band C those who are non-statutory homeless.



We believe that the simplification of the banding system
makes the cumulative need rules unnecessary. The current
rules only permit promotion from Band C to Band B. The
merging of these two 'lesser' priority bands eliminates the
need for an additional method of moving between them

Page 300





7

32

We think this one of the positives around having 5 Bands,
so that applicants can move to Band B under cumulative
need, but not to Band A
We are setting out how we propose to give choice to registered Q1 - Do you agree Y/N – 12 = Yes, 3 = No
customers who have a local connection with the local authority This isn’t very clear as to what it means.
area where a vacant property is advertised whilst at the same Q2 – Any other comments
time encouraging mobility across Cumbria
(See explanatory note on P8 above)
General comments received:


Not in customer best interest, Dependent on age and need.



We must give some preference to applicants with a local
connection to Eden as our most popular stock is in Penrith

and most of it is not covered by Section 106’s. If this was
not the case there may be a need for more LLP’s to ensure
that local people we able to be rehoused in their home
town

Page 301
33



We feel this will only be relevant in hard to let properties
and will confuse people. Realistically clients without a local
connection will be wasting a bid if they are bidding on
popular properties and vulnerable clients may not
understand this.



Individuals with local connections must be given first choice
within their local area. This promotes community cohesion
and avoids the negativity of new residents as being seen to
be ‘helicoptered in’. Rural areas may also be seen to be
more idyllic but bring with them more specific challenges
than urban areas eg transport, costs etc#



The wording is not clear as to what this means for the
proposal and is ambiguous. The idea of the review is to
ensure it is clear for customers to understand I don’t think
this ticks that box. Does it mean - anyone can apply for a
vacant property irrespective of local connection but only
those with a connection will be shortlisted/prioritized but
if there are no such local persons the property can go to
anyone that has a connection to Cumbria? Except
properties with section 106s attached. – if this is the case I
am inclined to agree because the register should be for
those actively seeking accommodation as long as

customers are aware of properties becoming available and
know how to bid.

Page 302
34



We believe the rule should be amended to permit
applicants to be assessed as if they did have a local
connection, in cases where the applicant: Needs to move
outside of their local authority area; and Needs to move
urgently.



See attached draft policy document for any additional
comments referenced to this (Allerdale)



We must give some preference to applicants with a local
connection to Eden as our most popular stock is in Penrith
and most of it is not covered by Section 106’s. If this was
not the case there may be a need for more LLP’s to ensure
that local people we able to be rehoused in their home
town



Individuals with local connections must be given first choice
within their local area. This promotes community cohesion
and avoids the negativity of new residents being seen to be
‘shipped in’. Rural areas may also be seen to be more idyllic
but bring with them more specific challenges than urban
areas, i.e. lack of public transport, higher fuel/energy costs
etc. which people may not be aware of who live outside of
the area.



How does this work in cases where there is a duty to
prevent or relive homelessness due to DA?

8

We intend to expanded criteria for when a customer will qualify Q1 - Do you think the housing need circumstances we have listed
for the statutory housing need bands A and B and have set out for Band A are right? If not what would you change? – 8 = Yes
clearer criteria for when a band will be awarded to ensure
assessments are always consistently applied.
General comments received:
A number of changes are proposed to the banding system and
these are out in the summary table below

Page 303

The changes are:
a) Clearer definitions used for when an applicant does or does
not qualify
b) Some changes to the circumstances when someone will be
awarded Bands A or B to try and be fairer in the way we band
different housing problems need group compared to another
c) There are a small number of new housing need circumstances
added to the banding groups A and B
Look at the proposed banding table below and answer these 3
questions.
1. Do you think the housing need circumstances we have listed
for Band A are right? If not what would you change?
2. Do you think the housing needs circumstances we have
listed for Band B are right? If not what would you change?
3. Are there any other housing circumstances you think may
have been missed that should be added to the urgent of high
housing needs bands A or B for example some key workers,
or people leaving the armed forces?

35



All except infection clause. In era of covid 19, everyone
falls into this category and I do not believe an exception of
another bedroom should be made.



Band A severe overcrowding – We would opt for option 2
definition as gives more clarity on overcrowding.



I agree housing need circumstances we have listed for
Band A are right



See full comments at the end.



As we believe the 5 Bands should remain 8.1, 8.2, & 8.3 are
difficult to answer. - However one element that stands out
very clearly as anomalous and a little incongruent is the
comparison of the situation of someone who is homeless,
but not owed the full duty – for instance they are nonpriority. (Under the proposed system they would be placed
in Band B). However someone who is housed but who has
no access to facilities listed in Band A: Unfit or
unsatisfactory housing, would be placed in Band A, selfevidently – even if they were they to become homeless

they had no needs etc which would lead to them being
owed the full duty.





See attached draft policy document for any additional
comments referenced to this (Allerdale)
All except infection clause. In era of covid 19, everyone
falls into this category and I do not believe an exception
of another bedroom should be made.
Band A severe overcrowding – We would opt for option 2
definition as gives more clarity on overcrowding

Page 304

Q2 - Do you think the housing needs circumstances we have listed
for Band B are right? If not what would you change? – 7 = Yes
General comments received:

36



Re: overcrowding, I would choose the second wording.



Band B Under occupation – Current policy awards
preference to those who have 1 or more rooms left
unoccupied, albeit in different bands depending on the
number of rooms unoccupied. EHA award customers
incentives to move to free up accommodation for those
even in 2 bed moving to 1 bed which is causing hardship
for them. Under the proposed new policy they would get
no priority and fall into Band C and as an existing social
housing tenant under qualification rule 9 would not be
able to apply for an transfer.

Page 305



Band B Insecure accommodation arrangements – We
would opt for Option 1, although this is only due to not
understanding why we would offer a boost in their
relevant date part, so this means we would change the
effective date to 6 months earlier so that they go above
other band B? is that right? Is this fair if someone for
urgent medical need has been waiting the same time as
this person but there have not been any suitable
properties come up?



Band B - Overcrowded by 1 room I would chose alternative
wording as clearer on this covers/means and is the same
as Band A definition



Band B - Right to Move – Can these applicants not go into
Band C, do we have to give a priority



I agree housing need circumstances we have listed for
Band B are right



See attached draft policy document for any additional
comments referenced to this (Allerdale)



Re: overcrowding, we would choose the second wording.

Band B Under occupation – Current policy awards preference
to those who have 1 or more rooms left unoccupied, albeit in
different bands depending on the number of rooms
unoccupied. EHA award customers incentives to move to free
up accommodation for those even in 2 bed moving to 1 bed
37

which is causing hardship for them. Under the proposed new
policy they would get no priority and fall into Band C and as an
existing social housing tenant under qualification rule 9 would
not be able to apply for an transfer.

Page 306



Band B Insecure accommodation arrangements – We
would opt for Option 1, although this is only due to not
understanding why we would offer a boost in their relevant
date part, so this means we would change the effective
date to 6 months earlier so that they go above other band
B? is that right? Is this fair if someone for urgent medical
need has been waiting the same time as this person but
there have not been any suitable properties come up?



Band B - Overcrowded by 1 room I would chose alternative
wording as clearer on this covers/means and is the same as
Band A definition



Band B - Right to Move – Can these applicants not go into
Band C, do we have to give a priority

Q3 - Are there any other housing circumstances you think may
have been missed that should be added to the urgent of high
housing needs bands A or B for example some key workers, or
people leaving the armed forces? – 3 = Yes, 2 = No
General comments received:


38

This is really useful and supports getting key workers into
the area, however how do we measure the level of

shortage?
pulled?

Would there be somewhere this could be

Page 307



You have included National Health Service Staff. You
should also include Care Staff in this category.



This should take into account the Armed Forces Covenant
signed up to by all the Local Authorities. What about
bereaved widows of armed forces personnel?



Should also look at the key worker definitions as there
seems to be quite a few missing.



See attached draft policy document for any additional
comments referenced to this (Allerdale)



This could prove useful in attracting key workers into the
area, however each LA needs to identify who would be a
key worker in their district in order to make this work. A
key worker in Eden could be classified as someone who
works not only in the public sector, such as Police, nurses,
teachers etc, but could also be agricultural workers, those
in the hospitality trade (including center parcs
employees) & seasonal workers, or those in the tourism
industry.

Q4 – Any other comments
General comments received:

39

Band B: key workers – I would include only NHS staff who
work on the frontline in hospitals



Band B: I would not include TA members.



There is no mention of the EU Settlement Scheme in the
new policy. This is something to think about post Brexit
as it may affect applicants eligibility for social housing.



We feel this is an opportunity to review policies regarding
unspent convictions. It would be good to see that the
policy ensures that decisions around convictions and risk
are not based o blanket policies, and that there are
safeguards so that decisions take into account the views of
practitioners providing current or recent support around
offending behavior and are not just made by Cumbria
Choice officers in isolation. The same applies to issues
relating to ASB



This review is also an opportunity to review the process or
decision to ask for references. Obtaining references can
be challenging for people who have lived an unsettled way
of life/have experienced homelessness and there needs to
be flexible approaches to thinking about an individual’s
suitability for accommodation.



As a retired serviceman, it might be considered biased of
me to comment; however all service personnel have
endured hardships over their careers and quite a few have
been displaced to different areas of the country by the end

Page 308



40

date. I feel it only fair to provide some kind of incentive for
the key workers and service personnel.


All of this is dependent on past history, discretion in
placements necessary next to owner occupiers.



See attached draft policy document for any additional
comments referenced to this (Allerdale)

The proposed banding table and which housing need circumstances would qualify

Page 309

2: Exceptional impact cases.
Applicants who currently occupy a private sector property which has at least one Category 1 Hazard (excluding overcrowding) under the Housing
Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) and where a Prohibition Order has been served or is intended to be served under the Housing Act 2004
and the effect of the Prohibition Order is likely to mean that the applicant(s) will lose the use of their home on a permanent basis. The relevant
conditions at the property must be life-threatening or present an immediate threat of serious injury to the occupant(s)
This includes a property that has severe damp, major structural defects including subsidence, flooding, collapse of roof, or have living conditions
which are a statutory nuisance, and there is no prospect of the problems being remedied within a period considered to be reasonable by the
Council and the household are not able to afford to resolve their own housing problem by moving to alternative private sector accommodation.
Note - this does not include Council or Housing Association homes as there is a legal requirement on social landlords to urgently remedy defects
that pose a risk to their tenants please can this sentence be included in the policy for avoidance of doubt
Band A: Severe Overcrowding as defined as 2 bedrooms or more overcrowded

41

Where an applicant household is severely overcrowded defined as requiring 2 or more additional bedrooms to reach the bedroom standard. In
calculating the overcrowding the following circumstances will be disregarded unless there are exceptional circumstances:





Children over the age of 16 will be excluded from the calculation WHY? Shouldn’t it be 18+?
Cases where extended family had moved into accommodation causing the 2 bedroom plus level of overcrowding
Where the household contains non-dependent adults as there is more chance of non dependents being able to resolve their housing
The CCP will take account of the space and layout of rooms and bedrooms in deciding whether the 2 bedroom plus priority will be awarded

Band A: Applicants nominated by Cumbria Adult Social Services/Children’s Services in the following circumstances:

Page 310






Where there is an essential need to move due to child protection issues
Fostering carers for Cumbria County Council where there is a need to move to a larger home in order to accommodate a looked after child
(this would not apply where the home required would be 4 bedrooms or more)
Adoption arrangements where there is a need to move to a larger home in order to accommodate a looked after child (this would not apply
where the home required would be 4 bedrooms or more)
Applicants owed a duty by Adult Social Services under the Care Act 2014 / Mental Health Act 1983/2007 who have been assessed by the
housing team as being ready to move onto independent living and have an appropriate support package in place

Band A: Cumbria County Council Care Leavers (Former Relevant children) as defined by the Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000 and need to move
on
Applicants must be a former “Relevant Child” as defined by the Children Leaving Care Act 2002 and be a young person at risk of homelessness.
The evidence to support this award will be provided by the council’s leaving care service and will consist of confirmation that:
a) All referrals by Children’s Services will be made following the provision of Cumbria’s Joint Protocol for young people
b) The care leaver is ready to move to independent settled housing and is genuinely prepared for a move to independent living
c) The care leaver possesses the life skills to manage a tenancy including managing a rent account.
d) The care leaver has either long term or medium term tenancy support arranged, as required.
e) Ongoing support needs have been assessed and, where appropriate, a support plan is in place and

42

f) The CCP assessing officer agrees that due to the nature and extent of their vulnerability, accommodation in the private rented sector would,
through its short-term nature, have a detrimental effect on their well-being
Note: If an application for housing is made before it has been determined by the CPP assessing officer that the individual is ready for independent
living, taking into account information from the applicant’s support worker and other agencies, the application will not have any bid considered
until the support worker presents the evidence to the CPP that the individual is ready to move on and the CPP agree with that evidence.
Band B: Overcrowded by 1 bedroom
Applicant’s living in overcrowded conditions and whose housing circumstances have been assessed as being 1 bedroom short of what they need
as measured by the bedroom standard.

Page 311

Or alternative wording
Where an applicant household is overcrowded by one bedroom as measured by the bedroom standard. In calculating the overcrowding the
following circumstances will be disregarded unless there are exceptional circumstances:
 Children over the age of 16 will be excluded from the calculation why? Should it be 18+?
 Cases where extended family had moved into accommodation causing the 1 bedroom level of overcrowding
 Where the household contain non-dependent adults as there is more chance of non dependents being able to resolve their housing
The CPP will take account of the space and layout of rooms and bedrooms in deciding whether the 1 bedroom priority will be awarded

Band B Key Workers
1)
2)
3)
4)

43

National Health Service Staff
Community Support Officers
Members of the Territorial Army
Volunteer Fire Officers

Add any other comments you may have about the changes or if you run out of space to give your answers in the section above just write the
number of the change here and give your answer

Additional Comments
Qualification rule 7 I feel needs to be looked at on a case by case basis. The process of recharging or ‘another recoverable housing related
debt’ has blocked many a move for clients in the past. Again to the most part they could be fair charges?? But I am wondering about hoarding
when it is now a classified mental health condition. Should this just be classed as unacceptable behavior as in most cases it’s not that straight
forward

Page 312

CBL consultation comments/questions
Care Leavers’ Protocol (pg 16)
This has been discussed for some time and, in some districts, we have a well developed draft. Feedback has been requested about whether
the process that is outlined in this Protocol is acceptable to CBL partners. If this process (as outlined in the attached document) is acceptable,
could this be referenced in the new guidance?
Page 16 – “ability to manage tenancy this is full accessed” or something along those lines. Who accesses this???
Section 2 (pg 19)
“Care Leavers below the age of 21 years who are owed a duty under section 23C of the Children Act 1989 by Cumbria County Council and have
been looked after in accommodation outside of Cumbria.” Could this be extended to be in line with the Children’s Act so that those care
leavers who are open to Children’s Service until they are 25 some care leavers who are in full-time education, they may not look to move back
until they are 25 and may still have a PA working with them. Could we not extend the age range to 25?
Page 19 – wording to include maybe those care leavers in full time education or employment so that it covers them up to 25.
Page 25 – Debt limits are a little harsh, could it not be under £200 able to register and bid with proof that a plan is setup. The £200 to £1000
able to register and not bid, then anything over this is a no no. Just if you have someone who’s missed a month’s rent for whatever reason, if
they’ve just started employment in supported and treated themselves rather than pay rent then they can’t bid on houses. But equally I
suppose it’s a very definite structure and actually we do say that if they have rent arrears then there are circumstances etc.
44

Date of registration
Point of clarification: do we still encourage young people to register aged 16yrs, even though they are unable to bid until they are older?
How to Apply (pg 32)
Could something be included in this section re care leavers, linking to the Care Leavers’ Protocol in terms of the process and setting out at
what age is it suggested that young people register for CBL.
Page 38 – Grey area of worsening circumstances so that people can get a bigger house, hopefully common sense prevails so that if a family
member returns to a family home that it’s a positive reason for getting a bigger house etc.
Page 42 – I like the text and email idea of letting them know about properties

Page 313

Section 4 (pg 47 – 50)
Care Leavers’ Banding: currently care leavers are awarded a Band B on proof of their status; this is not mentioned in the draft guidance and we
would want this to continue. Could a specific section on care leavers added to the Band B tables on pages 47 – 50, with reference be made to
the forms that need to be completed, as per the draft Care Leavers’ Protocol.
Page 49 – Universal credit isn’t linked to amount of hours worked anymore it’s about how much they earn. Just to keep in mind.
Page 51 - Is three bids a week enough for a band C person? If you’ve got people we’re encouraging to bid and if there happy to live anywhere
can this be looked at? Band A and B could still be limited or could this be staggered so that Band A is 3 bids, band B 5 bids, Band C unlimited 10
etc.


There is no mention of the EU Settlement Scheme in the new policy.
applicants eligibility for social housing.



I believe that individual circumstances need taken into consideration for each application, especially if a person has been in a coercive
and controlling relationship. Some of our Pause women are sent to prison, as they have been controlled to be involved in criminality by
their partners, who has also made them accrue debts etc.

This is something to think about post Brexit as it may affect

In respect to the below circumstances would travellers, (some of whom would not have access to some of the facilities listed), would they
automatically go to band A, if they wanted to secure social housing?
45

_______________
There are 3 circumstances where Band A may be awarded:

Page 314

1: Applicants without access at all to any of the following facilities:
No access to:
a) A bath or shower
b) A toilet
c) Cooking facilities
d) Running hot water supplies
e) Electric/gas needed for essential activities
Applicants who have access to shared facilities re cooking; bathroom and toilet will not qualify under these criteria.
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
___________________________________
Could consideration be given in relation to terminology being changed in the policy for care leavers? Could ‘care experienced’ be used instead
?. Our Pause women nationally, prefer to have been known as the latter.

Copeland Comments
 Pg 14 - The RP will need to contact HOT for us to then send out the final offer letter. This needs to be a process that is adhered to every
time by the RP as this affects our discharge duty. The new system will have to comply with this and make it obvious that HOT are
involved.
 Pg 18 - My preferred option 2 for LC rules. I believe they should follow the homeless legislation
 Pg 20 - What happens when they are DV victims? We get a lot of DV home owners who just want to walk away. Can there be something
in here that references DV victims?
 Pg 26 - I feel,DV vcitims need mentioned here. We always come up against barriers when DV victims are joint tenants and need to flee
or move. Always expected to pay arrears in full before eligible. DV should trump arrears if high risk etc.
 Pg 27 - What does this constitute of? Can we have a clear list of what behaviours include.
46








Pg 27 - One of the qualifying rules cannot be unreasonable, like we have seen in the past ie: 6 months positive history for a rough
sleeper
Pg 28 -Is this just the last p sector accommodation, or can the previous or historic arrears from p sector
Pg 30 - Not unreasonable requests like 6 months positive tenancy history before they will be eligible
Pg 34 - Can we have a definition of spent convictions?
Pg 52 - HOT need to be kept in the loop if involving our clients. Certainly if they are going to be offered a property. We need contacted
first.
Pg 53 - I feel that there is still gaps here for skipping. Clarity is needed and homeless cases, HOT needs to be contacted before skipping
to explain the reasons and to see if we can help in any way. This is still too vague for the RPs to skip.

Key worker list seems quite short – where is this definition? Will it not include police or teachers? Or is it just volunteers and NHS?
Citizens Advice Comments

Page 315

3Q1 We do agree a local connection requirement could be implemented for the new bands A and B. We agree with the inclusion of the exemptions
listed on page 18 and 19 of the draft policy. These are essential as a blanket ban would run the risk of causing severe hardship to applicants
with special and unusual circumstances.
We believe the less restrictive provisions in Option A should be adopted. We suggest a slight change to the wording of Option A is needed – to
incorporate self-employment into the criteria.
We disagree with the adoption of Option B. The more restrictive provisions are not necessary and will introduce a large amount of
unnecessary complexity to the provisions.
The requirement that close family members be providing essential support appears particularly problematic. The notion of "essential support"
is difficult to define exactly and will be open to subjective interpretations by both landlords and tenants.

47

As an example, page 18 of the draft policy state that helping to carry out a weekly shop would constitute low level support that would not be
considered essential. However, a disabled applicant may be unable to obtain food without such assistance. They would almost certainly
maintain that the support with their shopping is essential.
The adoption of Option B would inevitability lead to landlords being required to adjudicate on a large number of cases that do not fit neatly
into the guidelines. Many applicants who are rejected will seek to challenge the decisions, adding further complexity and costs.
Some individuals may also misunderstand the rules and fail to apply, in circumstances where they would be assessed as having a connection.
Other individuals may experience difficulties or delay in providing proof they meet the Option B conditions. Any applicant able to join the new
Band A and B will be vulnerable and/or will have an urgent need to move. The placing of unnecessarily complex hurdles in front of those
applicants carries the risk of causing them significant hardship.

Page 316

Finally, we believe that the adoption of Option B would not achieve any significant advantages. We are unaware of any major problem
currently being caused by applicants who would be excluded by Option B but not Option A. The adoption of Option B would, therefore,
introduce complexities affecting a large number of applicants but would have only a small impact on the number of applicants actually
permitted to join the new Bands A and B.
3Q7 - We do not agree with this change. There are several improvements present in the proposed changes, but we believe that multiple
problems are also present.
Detailed response
Improvements over the previous policy
We support the proposal (at page 24 of the draft policy) to remove debts accrued in private tenancies from this category. Disputes with private
landlords over alleged debts can be complex and difficult to properly determine. Such debts are better dealt with via the more flexible rules on
unacceptable behaviour.

48

We agree with the proposal (also at page 24 of the draft policy) to exclude debts that are statute barred. Debts that have not been enforced
for over 6 years should not factor into assessments of applicants. It is unlikely that debts this old can be fairly used to judge an applicant's
current circumstances or ability to maintain a tenancy.
We support allowing applicants with debts of over £1,000 a possible method of being included on the register. We do believe there are still
limitations to this policy and detail these points below.
We support the change from requiring full re-payment of a debt before bidding is permitted to requiring that the debt be "resolved". We agree
it should be possible for applicants to be allowed to bid before clearing a debt in full. We believe some problems with this approach remain
and detail these points below.
Problems with the approach to debts of over £1,000

Page 317

We agree that social landlords will want to recover high debts owed by former tenants. We also understand that landlords will be reluctant to
let properties to those that have accrued high debts in previous properties.
Despite this, we are concerned that the approach to applicants with high debts can be counterproductive and inconsistent with the approach
adopted for other forms of unacceptable behaviour.
We frequently encounter applicants who have a low amount of disposable income and cannot clear a high debt within a short timeframe. As
an example, an applicant with a debt of £1,700 and disposable income of £5.00 per week would take 6½ years to fully repay it.
A requirement that the debt be cleared in full disincentives such applicants from making any attempts at payment, as they have no real chance
of achieving any benefit. This creates a risk that applicants will see their situation as hopeless, ignore the debt and seek housing in the private
sector. Alternatively, they may feel forced to declare themselves insolvent. Neither course results in benefits for either landlords or applicants.
Not only does the current approach disincentive repayments. It is inconsistent with the approach taken to other forms of unacceptable
behaviour. Applicants guilty of serious anti-social behaviour or guilty of fraud are all in principle able to be accepted onto the register and bid
after only 12 months. Even an applicant that took 2-3 years to demonstrate a change in behaviour could be housed significantly faster than an
indebted applicant. There is no equivalent in other forms of unacceptable behaviour to the open ended requirement to "resolve" a debt.
49

Indeed there is no requirement for applicants guilty of fraud/anti-social behaviour to have compensated their victims before being permitted
to access the register.
Additionally, it is important to note that, unlike applicants excluded due to anti-social behaviour or fraud, many applicants with high debts will
have no practical responsibility for the debt. Take for example, a debt resulting from damage caused by one tenant in a jointly rented property.
In this situation the second joint tenant could not be held practically or morally responsible for the debt and may otherwise be an excellent
tenant. Despite this, the second joint tenant faces tougher rules and a period of exclusion potentially much longer than an applicant directly
responsible for anti-social behaviour or fraud.
We do not believe the current proposals go far enough to addressing these concerns. The ability for applicants with high debts to be permitted
on the register after a 13 week payment arrangement is beneficial, but is undermined by the inability of applicants to then bid for housing.

Page 318

We believe there needs to be a clear route for applicants with high debts to rehabilitate themselves within a reasonable timeframe. We
believe this route needs to end with the applicant regaining the ability to bid and, to align with the approach to other unacceptable behaviour,
should be able to be completed within 12 months.
We have included an example of an amended rule below:
1. Applicants with debts of £1,000+
a. Should be ineligible to join the register or bid, unless the circumstances surrounding the debt are exceptional and there is no
real risk of future non-payment.
b. Ineligible applicants should be permitted to join the register (but not bid for properties) if they have maintained a payment
arrangement for at least 13 weeks and have either:
i. Repaid at least £750; or
ii. Repaid at least 25% of their original debt
c. Applicants who satisfy b. above should be permitted to bid for properties if they can demonstrate evidence of rehabilitation.
d. Evidence of rehabilitation could include factors such as:
i. Maintaining a payment arrangement for a further 13-39 weeks;
ii. Demonstrating that the causes of the previous problems have been addressed.

50

Problems with the approach to debts of below £1,000
We accept that the concerns present with higher debts will also be present, to a lesser extent, with lower debts. Nevertheless, we believe the
problems described above are more pronounced. Applicants can take several years to clear debts equivalent to only a few weeks/months' of
rent. In practice the inability to bid for accommodation will often be just as damaging for vulnerable applicants than complete exclusion. Even
a short delay to clear a very small debt could have severe consequences for an applicant in immediate need.
We note there is no equivalent sanction in the policy for other forms of unacceptable behaviour. For example there is no penalty for applicants
guilty of minor anti-social behaviour.
The proposed change to allow an applicant to bid once the debt is "resolved" is beneficial, but does not go far enough to address these
concerns.

Page 319

We believe there should be a difference in approach to debts that are over/under £500. In our opinion preventing tenants with low or very low
debts from bidding for any length of time will be disproportionate in almost all cases. This is especially where applicants have a good payment
history in general with a debt resulting from a one off incident or problem (for example relating to Universal Credit or benefits reforms). We
suggest that guidelines are added to set out situations where very low debts will not impact registration or banding at all. We also suggest the
guidelines provide other applicants with lower debts an easier route to having the debt "resolved".
We note that there are currently no guidelines as to when a debt will be considered to be resolved. We believe that leaving this issue entirely
to a discussion between the scheme and the creditor landlord will result in inconsistent decision making and a lack of transparency. This is
particularly the case given that the same set of rules apply to debt of £9 and £900. Given the importance of determining when a debt is
resolved, we suggest that clear guidelines are adopted.
We have included an example of an amended rule below:
1. Applicants with debts of £1-£499
a. Should be eligible to join the register and eligible to bid, unless the scheme has clear evidence of a future risk of non-payment.
b. Clear evidence of a future risk could include factors such as:
i. A long history of housing debt;
51

ii. A long history of poor rent payments; and
iii. A long history of breached payment arrangements.
c. Where such evidence exists the applicant should be unable to bid until there is evidence of rehabilitation.
d. Evidence of rehabilitation could include factors such as:
i. Maintaining a payment arrangement for 1-8 weeks;
ii. Demonstrating that the causes of the previous problems have been addressed.

Page 320

2. Applicants with debts of £500-£999
a. Should be eligible to join the register but ineligible to bid, unless the applicant can demonstrate there is no real risk of future
non-payment.
b. Evidence there is a no real risk of future non-payment could include factors such as:
i. A history of not having housing debts;
ii. A history of regular rent payments; and
iii. A history of maintained payment arrangements.
c. Where no such evidence exists the applicant should be unable to bid until there is evidence of rehabilitation.
d. Evidence of rehabilitation could include factors such as:
i. Maintaining a payment arrangement for 8-26 weeks;
ii. Reducing the debt to below £500 (in which case the above rules would apply)
iii. Demonstrating that the causes of the previous problems have been addressed.
Approach to debts included in a form of insolvency
We disagree with the proposal (on page 27 of the draft policy) to continue to take into account debts cleared by a Debt Relief Order,
Bankruptcy or IVA.
We note that a period of at least 12 months has to pass from the declaration of insolvency to the point a debt is cleared. Should an applicant
maintain their finances for this period, there is strong evidence their previous problem have been resolved. Should an applicant fail to maintain
their finances during this period, the new debt can be taken into account as normal. Therefore, we see no benefit of taking into account such
debts at a later point.

52

Applications for insolvency inevitably occur during periods of serious financial hardship and extreme vulnerability. A decision to declare
insolvency is never taken lightly and (particularly in the cases of Debt Relief Orders) generally can only occur after the taking of specialist
advice. We believe that continuing to judge an applicant's suitability to be a tenant based on debts accrued during such periods is unfair. A
focus on an applicant's behaviour in the 12 months following insolvency is a far better indicator of whether their financial problems are
resolved or ongoing.
We note that a period of 12 months with no re-occurrence of problems permits applicants guilty of fraud or anti-social behaviour to be
allocated housing. We are aware of no good reason why the approach should be harsher for applicants that have genuinely lost control over
their finances before successfully addressing the problem.
We are also concerned about the lack of guidance as to when a debt cleared by insolvency will/will not be considered. Leaving this issue open
creates a risk of inconsistent application by landlords, a lack of clarity in decision making and increased challenges by applicants. As a minimum
we suggest clear guidance is added to identify when such debts will/will not be taken into account.

Page 321

Concerns regarding overall approach
We suggest consideration is given to whether the focus of the policy should be on re-payment or resolution of a debt rather than on the risk (if
any) of future non-payment.
We note that the primary risk to landlords taking on new tenants is the risk of non-payment of future financial obligations. The existence (or
not) of an outstanding debt is not the best indicator of this and is highly dependent on an individual's circumstances.
This issue is particularly prevalent in cases when the debt is relatively low and set against a long history of good payments. We question
whether there is a benefit to disadvantaging such tenants at all. Equally, we point out that a focus on re-payment favours those with financial
resources, regardless of their actual payment history or future risk.
For example:


53

Applicant A has a long history of rent arrears and late payments. They are in well paid employment and/or can raise a lump sum from
family members.



Applicant B has a long history of good payments but has accrued debt due to a one off event outside of their control. They are on a low
income and can only afford low repayments.

In this example Applicant A is clearly the higher risk with Applicant B posing little or no risk to a future landlord. Despite this, Applicant A can
clear the debt and gain the ability to bid within a few days or weeks. Applicant B may have to wait months or years.
We suggest that all or part of the qualification rule could be amended to focus on whether an applicant's history creates a risk of future nonpayment, rather than simply on the existence of a current outstanding debt.
Proposal
We believe the rules should be amended to:

Page 322

a) Provide applicants with over £1,000 of debt a clear route to gain the ability to bid that can be completed within no more than 12
months.
b) Provide rules or guidance as to when applicants with low debts can be admitted with no penalty and/or what will be considered to
amount to resolution of such a debt.
c) Provide clear guidelines as to when applicants with higher debt (but still less than £1,000) will be considered to have had their debts
resolved.
d) Remove debts included in insolvency procedures from consideration or (if this is not done) provide clear guidelines as to when such
debts will/will not be taken into account after the 12 period of insolvency has ended.
Consideration should also be given to re-focusing the rule on the overall behaviour/risk of applicants rather than any debt currently
outstanding.
8. Band A: exceptional impact cases
We disagree with the exclusion of overcrowding from this category. If overcrowding is severe enough to amount to a category 1 hazard and
justify a prohibition order, it should allow a priority banding to be awarded.

54

We disagree that there should be blanket exclusion of Council and Housing Association properties from this provision. While it is much less
likely that such landlord would fail to comply with their repairing obligations, the policy should be flexible enough to award priority in the
event this does occur.
Band A and Band B: overcrowding
This section bases overcrowding on the "bedroom standard". We assume this is the non-statutory standard set out in the government's
allocation of accommodation guidance.
We disagree with the proposal (at pages 45 and 49 of the draft policy) to exclude children over 16 and non-dependent adults from the
calculation. This does not follow the government's guidance, which recommends a minimum standard of one bedroom for each:

Page 323






Married or cohabiting couple;
Adult aged 21 years or more;
Pair of adolescents aged 10-20 years of the same sex; and
Pair of children aged under 10 years regardless of sex.

We do not agree with the argument that over 16s and non-dependant adults are fundamentally able to locate their own accommodation. 1618 year olds are not normally able to obtain accommodation via the Cumbria Choice scheme or take on a private let. Non-dependants can face
significant problems in locating their own accommodation. Problems can include lower incomes, lack of deposits for private lets etc.
The effect of the exclusions will be to artificially lower the number of people classed as living in a property. Applicants who are genuinely
overcrowded would be denied priority as a result.
Band B: under-occupation
We disagree with the proposal (at pages 49-50 of the draft policy) to limit of this provision to those who are under-occupying by 2 or more
bedrooms.

55

Under-occupancy by 1 bedroom still carries the potential to cause significant financial hardship for tenants. Tenants on lower incomes can be
forced to spend significant percentages of their incomes on servicing 1 bedroom under-occupancy deductions. Such tenants are at increased
risk of falling into rent arrears, accruing other debts, or being unable to pay essential bills.
We further note that the effect of Qualification Rule 9 (preventing existing CCP tenants without a Band A or Band B housing need from joining
the register) combined with this provision will effectively trap tenants under-occupying by 1 bedroom. They will be unable to join the register
and obtain a more affordable property.
Trapping tenants in properties they will struggle to afford will be both detrimental to them and be counterproductive for landlords. Such
tenants are at much higher risk of accruing rent arrears and of being unable to re-pay any arrears rapidly. Landlords stand to incur significant
losses in unpaid rent as well as in legal costs. Tenants stand to accrue significant debts and face re-possession from their home.

Page 324

We do not believe the exception permitting a move from a house to a flat is sufficient to address this problem. This exception will not cover
those under-occupying in flats, nor those that want/need to move to a house. Additionally, we do not see any fundamental reason why
individuals seeking to move to smaller flats should be prioritised. The hardship caused by under-occupancy deductions makes no such
distinction. We do not believe applicants should be denied access to the scheme for a seemingly arbitrary reason.
Proposal
Amend the banding rules to:
a) Permit overcrowding under the HHSRS to allow applicants to qualify for Band A
b) Align the method of calculating overcrowding to the governments guidance for the "bedroom standard"
c) Permit applicants under-occupying by 1 bedroom to be placed in Band B.

Allerdale Commnents
See attached for all comments and amendments relating to the feedback from Allerdale Borough Council in the draft policy.
Please note that we would expect to see the Duty to Cooperate legislation included in this policy.
56

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/52/section/170
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/52/section/213
Additional comment from OT: Single people whom are wheelchair dependent only usually want 1 bedroomed properties, so they don’t have to
pay bedroom tax. However 1 bedroomed bungalows that is wheelchair accessible for the person to easily move around in their wheelchair are
limited and in many cases the individual always ends up looking for two bedroomed bungalows. Is there scope for an exemption with RPs to
provide a two bedroom but only charge rent for a one bedroom property?
Eden DC –
Additional Comments

Page 325

Qualification rule 7 - We feel this needs to be looked at on a case by case basis. The process of recharging or ‘another recoverable housing
related debt’ has blocked many moves for clients in the past. We don’t feel that hoarding when it is now a classified mental health condition.
Should this just be classed as unacceptable behavior as in most cases it’s not that straight forward

CBL consultation comments/questions
Care Leavers’ Protocol (pg 16)
This has been discussed for some time and, in some districts, we have a well-developed draft. Feedback has been requested about whether
the process that is outlined in this Protocol is acceptable to CBL partners. If this process (as outlined in the attached document) is acceptable,
could this be referenced in the new guidance?
Page 16 – “ability to manage tenancy this is full accessed” or something along those lines. Who accesses this???
Section 2 (pg 19)
“Care Leavers below the age of 21 years who are owed a duty under section 23C of the Children Act 1989 by Cumbria County Council and have
been looked after in accommodation outside of Cumbria.” Could this be extended to be in line with the Children’s Act so that those care
leavers who are open to Children’s Service until they are 25 some care leavers who are in full-time education, they may not look to move back
until they are 25 and may still have a PA working with them. Could we not extend the age range to 25?
Page 19 – wording to include maybe those care leavers in full time education or employment so that it covers them up to 25.
Page 25 – Debt limits are a little harsh, could it not be under £200 able to register and bid with proof that a plan is setup. The £200 to £1000
able to register and not bid, then anything over this is a no. Just if you have someone who’s missed a month’s rent for whatever reason, if
57

they’ve just started employment in supported and treated themselves rather than pay rent then they can’t bid on houses. But equally I
suppose it’s a very definite structure and actually we do say that if they have rent arrears then there are circumstances etc.
Date of registration
Point of clarification: do we still encourage young people to register aged 16yrs, even though they are unable to bid until they are older?
How to Apply (pg 32)
Could something be included in this section re care leavers, linking to the Care Leavers’ Protocol in terms of the process and setting out at
what age is it suggested that young people register for CBL.
Page 38 – Grey area of worsening circumstances so that people can get a bigger house, hopefully common sense prevails so that if a family
member returns to a family home that it’s a positive reason for getting a bigger house etc.
Page 42 – I like the text and email idea of letting them know about properties

Page 326

Section 4 (pg 47 – 50)
Care Leavers’ Banding: currently care leavers are awarded a Band B on proof of their status; this is not mentioned in the draft guidance and we
would want this to continue. Could a specific section on care leavers added to the Band B tables on pages 47 – 50, with reference be made to
the forms that need to be completed, as per the draft Care Leavers’ Protocol.
Page 49 – Universal credit isn’t linked to amount of hours worked anymore it’s about how much they earn. Just to keep in mind.
Page 51 - Is three bids a week enough for a band C person? If you’ve got people we’re encouraging to bid and if there happy to live anywhere
can this be looked at? Band A and B could still be limited or could this be staggered so that Band A is 3 bids, band B 5 bids, Band C unlimited 10
etc.
There is no mention of the EU Settlement Scheme in the new policy. This is something to think about post Brexit as it may affect applicants
eligibility for social housing.
I believe that individual circumstances need taken into consideration for each application, especially if a person has been in a coercive and
controlling relationship. Some of our Pause women are sent to prison, as they have been controlled to be involved in criminality by their
partners, who has also made them accrue debts etc.
In respect to the below circumstances would travellers, (some of whom would not have access to some of the facilities listed), would they
automatically go to band A, if they wanted to secure social housing?

58

There are 3 circumstances where Band A may be awarded:
1: Applicants without access at all to any of the following facilities:
No access to:
f) A bath or shower
g) A toilet
h) Cooking facilities
i) Running hot water supplies
j) Electric/gas needed for essential activities
Applicants who have access to shared facilities re cooking; bathroom and toilet will not qualify under these criteria.

Page 327
59

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 328

Appendix 4
Cumbria Choice Headline Figures
Total number of active applicants registered up to 31/03/2020
Local Authority

Total

Allerdale Borough Council

2036

Barrow Borough Council

1521

Carlisle City Council

4979

Copeland Borough Council

1319

Eden District Council

975

South Lakeland District Council

3947

Total

14777

Minimum bedroom requirement for active applicants registered up to 31/03/2020
Minimum bedrooms required
Local Authority

Total
1

Allerdale Borough
Council

2

3

4

5

1251

522

252

10

1

2036

857

409

249

5

1

1521

Carlisle City Council

2909

1300

741

27

2

4979

Copeland Borough
Council

842

294

179

3

1

1319

Eden District Council

585

255

132

2

1

975

South Lakeland District
Council

2433

1061

441

12

0

3947

Total

8877

3841

1994

59

6

14777

Barrow Borough Council

Applicants registered up to 31/03/20 by Local Authority and band.

Page 329

Local Authority

Band A

Band B

Band C

Allerdale Borough Council

34

98

422

Barrow Borough Council

33

105

366

Carlisle City Council

74

212

1214

Copeland Borough Council

47

100

306

5

21

188

91

167

760

284

703

3256

Eden District Council
South Lakeland District Council
Total

Lettings by Local Authority and band during financial year 2019-2020
Local Authority

Anonymised

Allerdale Borough Council

Band A

Band B

27

32

43

Barrow Borough Council

3

20

88

Carlisle City Council

4

25

66

Copeland Borough Council

8

19

46

Eden District Council

45

5

17

South Lakeland District Council

12

52

55

Total

99

153

315

Bandings Breakdown as at 1.4.19 – Local Authority Housing Statistics
There are currently 5 bands A to E with E being the lowest band for reduced preference.
Band
Reasonable
Preference A-C
D-E
Total

Number in band
908
2545
3453

Breakdown of reasonable preference Bands A-C
Reasonable preference
category

As at 1.4.19

Previous year 1.4.18

a. People who are homeless
within the meaning given in Part
VII of the Act (other than in b
below), regardless of whether
there is a statutory duty to house
them

64

64

Page 330

b. People who are owed a duty
by any local housing authority
under section 190(2), 193(2) or
195(2) of the Act (or under
section 65(2) or 68(2) of the
Housing Act 1985) or who are
occupying
accommodation secured by any
such authority under section
192(3) of the Act
c. People occupying insanitary or
overcrowded housing or
otherwise living in unsatisfactory
housing conditions
d. People who need to move on
medical or welfare grounds,
including grounds relating to a
disability
e. People who need to move to a
particular locality in the district of
the authority, where failure to
meet that need would cause
hardship (to themselves or to
others)

36

37

474

461

290

248

105

101

Source: Local Authority Housing Statistics 2019

Page 331

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 332

Appendix 5

South Lakeland District Council
Health, Social, Economic & Environmental Impact Guidance & Proforma
Project, policy or programme:
Health Impacts

Potential Impacts
Positive

No
impact

Negative

Not
sure

Comments

Recommendations

It is considered
revisions to the Policy
will have a positive
effect on employment
through the Right to
Move.

Implement and
monitor the Right to
Move within the Policy.

It is considered that
the revisions to the
Policy will have a
positive effect on

Implement revisions to
improve clarity and
transparency.

Please tick the appropriate box

Environmental Conditions
Air quality

N

Water quality and
pollution

N

Built environment

N

Natural environment
and biodiversity

N

Energy
consumption/efficiency

N

Noise

N

Transport

N

Recycling

N

Food production

N

Social and Economic Factors
Employment

Y

Income

N

Poverty

N

Education, skills and
training

N

Housing

Y

Page 333

Appendix 5
Project, policy or programme:
Health Impacts

Potential Impacts
Positive

No
impact

Negative

Not
sure

Comments

Recommendations

Please tick the appropriate box

meeting housing
need, improving
transparency and
consistency in the
application of the
Policy.
Crime

N

Work environment

N

Factors that impact a person’s ability to improve their own health and wellbeing
Nutrition and diet

N

Physical activity

N

Alcohol

N

Drugs

N

Risk taking behaviour

N

Smoking

N

Loneliness and
isolation

N

Access to services, spaces or social opportunities that impact health
Communication
methods

N

Active travel

N

Access to leisure

N

Access to culture

N

Access to green
spaces

N

Page 334

Appendix 6
CUMBRIA CHOICE: REVISED HOUSING ALLOCATIONS SCHEME EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT
(EQIA) JUNE 2020
Date approved
Approved by:
Next Review Date:

June 2020

Background

Page 335

Under Part VI of the Housing Act 1996, every local authority is required to adopt a ‘Social Housing Allocation Policy’, the purpose of
which is to determine priorities in allocating housing and to set out the procedures to be followed. The Allocation Scheme
determines individual priority for housing. In June 2020 the ‘Cumbria Choice’ Allocation Policy was reviewed and a number of
changes made. Cumbrian Choice is the adopted social housing allocation policy for all 6 Cumbrian local authorities.
Cumbria Choice is a sub regional partnership between the 6 local authority districts and 8 ‘Registered Provider’ housing
associations that own social housing stock across Cumbria.
The revised policy was subject to a public consultation from 23rd April 2020 ending on 21st May. The consultation involved:
 Sending out a detailed consultation survey (attached at appendix 1 with a summary of the consultation responses). This was sent
out with a copy of the draft policy.
 The survey and draft policy was sent to all relevant stakeholders including specialist organisations working with groups and
individuals owed a protected characteristic including organisations working with disability, mental health, domestic abuse, older
persons and race. In total over 350 stakeholders and individuals were sent the survey

 The survey was also sent to a group of service users who had previously indicated that hey would like to be involved in the
consultation exercise.
 The survey was also posted on the Cumbria Choice Website so that anyone registered could make comments.
This Equality Impact Assessment (EQIA) and has been finalised in the light of the consultation responses.
Comments received were logged and considered against the policy proposals. Some minor changes have been
made as a result of the consultation. The changes were strongly supported by stakeholders who responded to the
survey.

Page 336

Under the Equality Act 2010, when adopting a new Allocation Policy a local authority is required to have due regard to the need to:
a) Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by, or under the Act
b) Advance equality of opportunity between those with a protected characteristic and those without
c) Promote good relations between those with a protected characteristic and those without
The ‘protected characteristics’ in law are: age; disability; gender reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex;
sexual orientation. It also covers marriage and civil partnership with regard to eliminating discrimination. The equalities impact
assessment set out below, has considered the impact of the changes to the Allocation Policy on the protected groups and, where
there is an impact, set out the justification for continuing with the policy change along with the actions that will be taken to reduce any
impact that has been identified.
The key objectives for reviewing the social housing allocation policy are:
a) To continue to support local people most in need of housing in Cumbria
b) To simplify the policy so that it is easier for customers to use, is transparent, and is accepted by customers as a fair way to allocate
social housing when it is often in short supply.
c) To ensure the policy contributes towards creating mixed and sustainable communities where people of different backgrounds and
socio economic groups live side by side including the need to the problem in some areas where there is not as high a demand for
social housing as there is in other parts of Cumbria.

Details of the changes to the ‘Cumbria Choice’ policy
There were a number of important changes proposed and these are explained below using the explanation set out in the consultation
survey.
1) We want to reduce the number of Bands from 5 to 3
The Cumbria Choice Partnership has received regular feedback from users and stakeholders that the allocation policy is too
complicated and confusing. One of the main concerns expressed is that customers do not understand why there needs to be 5 Bands
and inevitably this encourages ‘higher band chasing’ which, in turn, increases the officer time needed to administer the scheme.

Page 337

The proposed solution is to move to a simple 3-band system with the time a person joined the register determining their place in the
queue for the band they have been allocated.
Band A will be for the most urgent housing need cases that need to move quickly.
Band B will be everyone else that the legislation states has a statutory housing need.
Band C will be everyone else.
This aim of this simple change is to build trust in the system as it will become more of a ‘waiting list’ queuing system recognised by
everyone using it as a fair way to allocate a limited resource where there is often over demand for certain property types or areas.
2) We intend to keep an ‘Open Register’
Many local authorities restrict their Housing Registers so that only customers who are assessed as having what is called by the
allocations legislation ‘a statutory housing need’ can join the register
We intend to continue to operate an open register in Cumbria. Everyone will still be able to register regardless of whether they meet
the definition for a statutory housing need (unless there is evidence of serious unacceptable behaviour or significant former rent
arrears). Those customers who are not assessed as having a statutory housing need will be placed in the Band C. This still means
they have a chance of being housed but when they bid for accommodation they will be ‘shortlisted’ below customers from the higher

statutory housing need bands A and B. We think this is a fair system that gives everyone some chance of being considered for social
housing.
3) We are adding to, and amending the qualification rules for when a customer is able to join the Housing Register
The current policy has a number of qualification rules that decide whether an applicant will be allowed to join the Housing Register in
Cumbria. We are amending some of the rules regarding when a customer can qualify to be included on the Housing Register, and in
addition creating a rules for when a customer can qualify for Band C but not for the higher needs Bands A and B. We want to know
what you think of each of these qualification rules. They are set out in the table below with an explanation for what we are trying to
achieve.

Page 338

Two of the key rule changes relate to customers where there is evidence of former social housing rent arrears or unacceptable
behaviour. The objective is to be much clearer with customers what they have to do to resolve the issue in question but to discourage
some previous practices whereby they may be ‘arbitrary blocked’ from being considered for social housing. The new rules mean
fewer will be disqualified but they will not be offered social housing until they have demonstrated the changed behaviour required to
be considered to be a good tenant.
Qualification rule 1 – Local Connection

It is proposed that the Policy will restrict access to the high housing
need Bands A and B to customers who can evidence a local
connection with Cumbria. This would prioritise Cumbrian
households for the higher 2 bands but there would be exceptions
for people without a local connection if they were homeless or
victims of domestic violence.
Therefore to qualify for Bands A or B the customer must have a
local connection with Cumbria. This could be set as:
Option A:
a) Living in Cumbria for the last year, or 3 years in the last 5
b) Having close family living in Cumbria
c) Working in Cumbria as long as this isn’t casual work.

Option B
a) Living in Cumbria for the last year, or 3 years in the last 5
b) Having close family living in Cumbria that provide essential
support
c) Working in Cumbria - defined as Employment is defined as
paid employment for 16 hours or more per week for a period of
one year, or self-employment where an applicant can
demonstrate that the self-employed work they perform is in the
Cumbria area and is on average 16 hours a week or more.

Page 339

If the customer doesn't meet one of the above they can still register
but will be placed in band C
Qualification rule 2: The requirement to give permission to Unless the customer gives permission to enable enquires to be
obtain and share an applicant’s personal information
made to assess their application and circumstances, they will not
be able to qualify for the housing register. This is to combat
possible fraudulent applications.
Qualification rule 3: Homeownership or legal interest in home If the customer owns their home they will either a) not be able to
ownership
qualify to be included on the register, or b) will not be able to qualify
for Bands A or B but would still be allowed to be placed into Band
C. We would like your views on this rule and if you support it which
should it be a) or b)?
Qualification rule 4: Financial resources
If the customer earns above a set net income or has savings above
a set threshold they will either not be able to qualify for the register
or will not be able to qualify for Bands A or B but would still be
allowed to be placed in Band C despite their income or savings.
We would like your views on which option should be included and
if you support income or savings thresholds what these should be?

Qualification rule 5: Failure to Bid

Page 340

Many customers once they register don't bid for the properties
advertised. We think that if someone hasn't made one bid in 12
months that they should be removed from the register. This will cut
down on the time and costs in administering the housing register.
This rule would not stop a customer from reapplying at a later date.
Qualification rule 6: Fraud or giving False Information
If someone has lied or withheld information in an attempt to get
social housing we think they should not be able to register, or if
they are already registered and we discover they have led or
withheld information they will be removed from the register. This
would be serious cases of lies or withholding information that were
intended to obtain social housing by deceit.
Qualification rule 7: Circumstances where an applicant has This rule in the current policy is being amended to help customers
current or former social housing rent arrears or another who have former social housing rent arrears or housing related
relevant recoverable housing related debt
debt to be able to obtain social housing.
For customers with serious rent arrears it will continue to be the
case that they cannot qualify for the housing register until they
have reduced the debt to a level we agree is reasonable.
However, for customers who owe less that £1000 they will be able
to qualify and be banded for their assessed housing need but they
will not be offered a property until they have resolved the debt to a
level we think is reasonable in the circumstances. There will be
clear criteria for what they have to do to resolve the issue and they
will continue to ‘move up the queue for their band’ so they have not
‘lost out’ whilst resolving the debt.
Qualification rule 8: Serious unacceptable behaviour
This rule in the current policy is being amended to encourage
customers to tackle any unacceptable behavior issues, or ASB
issues before they will be able to be considered for an offer of
social housing.

Page 341

For customers with a history of serious unacceptable behavior that
has not been resolved when they apply to join the housing register
it will continue to be the case that they cannot qualify for the
register until they have resolved the problem to the satisfaction of
Cumbria Choice. That is not a change from the current policy.
However, it is proposed that customers presenting with more minor
issues that are assessed as needing to be resolved will be allowed
to qualify and will be banded for their assessed housing need.
However, they will not be offered a property until they have
resolved their behavior to a level that will give us confidence that
they will be good tenants in the future.
There will be clear criteria for what they have to do to resolve their
behavior and they will continue to ‘move up the queue for their
band’ so they have not ‘lost out’ whilst they resolve the problem.
Qualification rule 9: CCP Tenants not assessed as Band A or Existing Housing Association and Barrow Council tenants who
Band B Housing Need
have a housing need will be able to join the Housing Register.
However, there is a problem in existing tenants who do not have a
housing need wishing to transfer to another social housing
property. Each transfer costs the social housing landlord
thousands of pounds in costs to re-let the property.
We think that tenants who do not have a housing need should still
be able to seek a transfer through the Mutual Exchange Scheme
but not through the housing register.

4) We are making the rules clearer regarding when a direct letting outside of the choice based letting system will be allowed.
The current policy on making a ‘direct letting’ will be made clearer regarding when a direct let will be allowed. The Policy intention is
that direct lets should account for no more than 10%-15% of all lettings to preserve the integrity of the choice based letting system.

The main examples of when a direct offer will be considered due to exceptional reasons are:
a) Urgent housing need situations where it would not be reasonable in the circumstances to wait for the Choice Based Lettings
process to produce an offer such as a threat to life in the area in which an applicant currently lives.
b) Tenants of a Cumbria Choice Partner in emergency cases whose homes are damaged by fire, flood or other disaster
c) Where an applicant is homeless and in temporary accommodation and owed a section 189B(2) Relief duty or 193(2) main
duty and the Cumbria Choice Board agree with a request from a Partner Council to allow direct lettings to move applicants out
of temporary accommodation in order to manage any budgetary or legal impact.

Page 342

d) Where a vacant adapted property or a property designed to disability standards becomes available and there may be a need
to offer that property to an applicant whose disability need best matches that property, regardless of the date they were
registered.
e) Other examples include cases where an applicant is subject to ‘Multi Agency Public Protection Arrangements’ (MAPPA), or
may present a risk to themselves or others
5) We are proposing a penalty for applicants who refuse 3 reasonable offers in a 12-month period.
All applicants will continue to qualify for 3 reasonable offers in a 12-month period. If an applicant in the high need Bands A or B
refuses 3 reasonable offers in that 12 months they will be ‘downgraded’ to Band C for 12 months. This is to stop applicants biding for
properties they are not committed to taking which has the consequence that properties take longer to let and cost the social housing
landlord money in lost rent. The definition of a reasonable offer is clearly set out in the new policy.
6) We are proposing to remove the ‘Cumulative Need’ rule from the Policy
We propose to remove the ‘cumulative housing need’ rule from the scheme to make the scheme more transparent for customers and
easier to understand and to administer. Under the current policy customers who have two or more of the housing needs as listed in
Band C are ‘promoted’ into Band B. This is called the cumulative need rule.

Under the new policy we propose that an applicant who meets 2 of the housing need criteria for band B will still only be awarded
band B and not promoted to Band A. The old policy of cumulative need has been extremely hard for officers to assess and results in
people constantly requesting that their circumstances reassessed in the hope of qualifying for the higher band.
7) We are setting out how we propose to give choice to registered customers who have a local connection with the local
authority area where a vacant property is advertised whilst at the same time encouraging mobility across Cumbria
We want to encourage mobility by allowing everyone registered to be able to bid for most of the properties advertised regardless of
whether they have a local connection with the local authority area where the property is vacant. There will be exceptions, for example
where there is a new development under a section 106 Planning Agreement that requires tenants to have a close local connection.

Page 343

However, to ensure that properties are prioritised for customers who have a local connection to the area where the property is
advertised we intend in the first instance to shortlist customers who have bid and have a local connection to the Council area where
the property is advertised. We think this is a fair process and protects areas of higher demand for residents who have a connection
to an area, but at the same time encourages customers to be more mobile in contemplating moving across Cumbria as if no one with
a local connection bids then the customer who has a connection to Cumbria but not to the particular Council area will then be
considered for that property based on their band and date in band.
8) We intend to expanded criteria for when a customer will qualify for the statutory housing need bands A and B and have
set out clearer criteria for when a band will be awarded to ensure assessments are always consistently applied.
The criteria for when a customer will qualify for the Housing Need Bands A and B will be expanded and made far clearer. This will
make it easier for applicants and their representatives to understand if they qualify, and far easier for officers assessing their case to
made consistent and timely decisions regarding whether a customer qualifies for a high needs the Band A or B.

The Equality Impact Assessment (EQIA)

This EQIA considers the changes to the Allocations Policy and assesses their impact on those applicants/households within the
protected characteristic groups. The assessment considers whether an impact that is identified is considered to be a positive, negative
or neutral impact. Where negative the EQIA sets out what steps have or will be taken to reduce that impact.
Data, guidance and evidence used to assess the EQIA
This assessment has been drawn up using a broad range of data available to officers about applicants on the Housing Register. In
addition to the legislation and case law governing allocations, regard has been had to the government guidance on the allocation of
housing, the Equality Act 2010 and recent case law on the operation of Section 149 of that act.

Page 344

It is recognised that the current ‘Cumbria Choice’ scheme does not have a comprehensive set of data for the households on the
housing register and for those rehoused. This is, in part, due to the limitations of the current operating system to develop
comprehensive monitoring and performance reports. Raw data can be captured but has not been configured into reports based on
the protected groups. This is a critical task for the project plan implementing a new IT operating system. A further problem with the
data is that a large number of applicants fail to complete the personal data section of the application form.
Moving forward Cumbria Choice needs to be able to monitor those on the register who are bidding for properties as well as those
applicants who are housed under the policy. This will allow the local authorities and partners to analyse if those housed by each
protected group is proportional to the proportion from each group registered.
A new IT operating system is being purchased. To ensure that Cumbria Choice has better information to review the EQIA in the future
the following actions will be taken:
1) The on-line applicant form will be amended to encourage more applicants to fully complete the relevant sections,
2) Officers will, on contact with an applicant, request any applicant who has not completed the personal information section to do so.
3) Changes will be made to the home page for the applicant’s on-line account to show a message explaining the importance of
providing the information.
4) At the point all applicants are written to asking them if they wish to remain on the Housing Register they will be prompted to
complete the personal data section

The data that does exist indicate that the following groups are over-represented in the high priority groups on the Housing
Register:
 Families with children
 BME households
 Households with disabled or long-term health problems.
 Female headed households
Research shows that this is common for all local authority allocation schemes and is explained by socio economic factors and
poverty.
The new EQIA assessment is set out in the table below and has been structured to consider:

Page 345

a) Part A - Firstly, each Individual protected group in the context of the changes, and then
b) Part B - The changes in the context of their impact on all of the protected groups
The consultation responses summarised
All 8 changes proposed were strongly supported including each of the 9 qualification rules set out in change 3. A number of
changes have been made as a result of the consultation feedback. These amendments include:
a) Allowing applicants where it is agreed need to move from one Cumbrian Council district to another due to domestic abuse, the
same priority in any shortlist as an applicant who has an established local connection to the area where a property is advertised.
b) Making the criteria clearer for an applicant with housing debt as to when they may qualify for the housing register with no
penalty, and where a penalty is applied more clarity on the criteria to be applied for the actions needed to resolve the debt so
that they may be considered for an offer of social housing
c) Helping to define which keyworkers should be given band B priority under the scheme.
Part A – Consideration of each Individual protected group in the context of the changes

Protected
characteristic

Potential issue
where there may
be a positive or
negative impact

Impact
Observations and Recommendations
Judgement
+/-

Relevant
comments
or Action/s
to reduce
any impact

Age

Page 346

The scheme will
Negative
require applications
to be made on-line
as opposed to
submitting a paper
form.
The impact could
be that older
people are less
able to use an online application
form and the
system of bidding
for properties
through choice
based lettings

The new
website
FAQs section
will be
amended to
To mitigate any impact it is agreed that each partner will assist older inform
and vulnerable people to:
applicants
that help is
 Fill out their on-line application and
available if
 To make bids under CBL
they are
 Plus paper forms will still be available in exceptional
having
circumstances where it is agreed an applicant is unable to
difficulty in
complete an on-line form
using any of
the online
On-line applications and CBL bidding on-line has been operating for
application
several years. There is no evidence reported from applicants or
and bidding
stakeholders that customers are experiencing difficulty in applying for
processes.
accommodation, or using the CBL system
On-line applications have been the preferred method for the vast
majority of residents in Cumbria to make their applications, but in
some areas applications are still made by way of a paper form.

The intention
is to add a
web chat
option on the
website to

Page 347

There is evidence
nationally that
younger people
find it easier to
access services
online rather by
filling out forms.
Young people may
be disadvantaged
by a system where
access is by paper
form

Positive

Seeking to deliver
Negative
more of the
application process
on-line could
disadvantage those
applicants without
internet access and
these tend to be
older applicants, or
applicants most
impacted by
poverty

It is reported by partners re the age profile of the Housing Register,
that the majority of applicants are under 40. Delivering the
application and bidding system on line is an advantage to younger
people

Libraries have free public PC’s. There are also free computer
training sessions available across Cumbria.
Information is available from any CCP partner on the availability of
free local public internet access.
There are numerous PCs in Council and Housing Association
partner offices and the offices of other public authorities.
Currently CCP partners report that the vast majority of bids are
placed electronically. There are however alternative ways to bid.
The office of National Statistics reported that In 2018, 90% of adults
in the UK were recent internet users, up from 89% in 2017. 8.4% of

further help
applicants
No additional
comments

There is
sufficient
internet
access points
and support
available in
Cumbria to
help people
without
access to the
internet.

adults had never used the internet in 2018, down from 9.2% in 2017.
Virtually all adults aged 16 to 34 years were recent internet users
(99%) in 2018, compared with 44% of adults aged 75 years and
over. The majority of the users of the CBL scheme are likely
therefore to be confident in using on-line facilities and the scheme
has ensured that there are sufficient protections in place for those
applicants who are not confident of accessing the service online.

Page 348

Young People Care Leavers

Positive

What is the impact
of the changes on
the housing
prospects of
applicants with a
disability

Positive

Care leavers and young people ready to move on from supported
accommodation benefit from the proposals as they are placed in
Band A the highest priority Band. This should mean that they are
provided with an offer of social housing in a relatively short time
period
Band A priority is also granted for children assessed as needing an
urgent move for child protection concerns, and for residents who
need larger accommodation to foster or adopt.

No additional
comments

Disability
No additional
The revised policy actively promotes the needs of disabled groups by comments
ensuring that applicants with mobility problems are prioritised for
accommodation that is suitable for them.
On the limited statistical information available it is estimated that for
the Housing Register as a whole up to 25% of applicants have some
level of disability.
Many applicants with a physical disability where their current housing
circumstances impact on their disability will be prioritised for housing
under the Policy. Disability is recognised in both of the 2 priority
bands A and B.

Many applicants with a severe mental health condition and are
homeless will be prioritised under the policy through being awarded
reasonable preference for being owed a statutory homelessness
duty
The Council is also committed to capturing better information about
social housing void properties to classify those that have or can be
adapted.

Page 349

How accessible are Positive
the application and
bidding processes
for applicants with
a disability?

The intention is to move to a new IT operating framework. The new
website will be developed to ensure that it is fully compliant with all
accessibility requirements. Actions that will be explored include:
a) To ensure that the website is W3C 1.0 compliant
b) That information is available on how to adjust type, font size,
colour contrast and how to make the applicant’s computer speak
text aloud.
c) To implement a drop down menu for people who need to read
information in a language other than English.
d) The ability to receive a letter in audio.

The Council
will seek in
the future,
where the IT
allows, to
monitor data
on the
frequency of
applicants
accessing
their account
to check
whether
some
applicants
are being
disadvantage
d

Transgender/
Gender
reassignment
Is there an impact
Neutral
of the policy, or the
changes, on
transgender/gender
reassignment
applicants

Page 350

Pregnancy
maternity

Applicants who have undergone gender reassignment – can, as with
any other applicant, apply to join the housing register and will qualify
as long as they meet the eligibility and qualification criteria.
The revised policy provides band A priority for applicants who have
been subject to extreme harassment. Nationally statistically many
people who have undergone gender reassignment report higher
levels of harassment.

The scheme
will more
proactively
collect
monitoring
information
for this group
but has
insufficient
data at
present

and
No further impact
identified

Positive
The majority of the Register is made up of applicants that are
female-headed households with up to 10% being pregnant (based on
national estimates). Pregnant women are more likely to have
become homeless due to being excluded from a family home, or
homeless due to domestic abuse, or homeless due to being unable
to continue to afford the rent on a private rented property once they
have given birth given the cost of childcare.
The homeless and survivors of domestic abuse are given a high
priority for housing under the Policy and therefore pregnant women

No additional
comments

as a groups are likely to be advantaged and not disadvantaged by
the Policy
Race

Page 351

The changes to the
residency
requirement for
banding priority
under the Housing
Register may
impact on
refugees, non
British nationals
and Irish Travellers

Negative

A residency requirement of 1 year or 3 years in the last 5 to qualify
for the higher needs bands A or B will have some impact on,
refugees, non-UK nationals and Irish Travellers. The revised
scheme has attempted to:
Strike the right balance between disadvantage to some groups of a
residency requirement and the policy aims of the residence
requirement, which is to prioritise applicants who can demonstrate a
positive commitment to Cumbria through being settled in the area.
That is why:
a) A 1 year qualification has been chosen instead of 2 or 3 years
which is the norm for the vast majority of local authorities (based
on the national statistical local authority returns to MHCLG)
b) The policy still allows applicants without the required residency
period to qualify for the register (unlike most local authority
schemes), awards them band C and means they may be still be
successful in bidding for properties.
c) To mmitigate any impact the policy is careful to build in
exemptions and consideration of exceptional circumstances for
applicants who do not meet the residency rules.
This impact and mitigation is considered more fully below in the
section on the impact of the Policy changes across all of the
protected groups

No additional
comments

On-line access for
making an
application and
bidding will impact
on applicants
whose first
language is not
English

The new Cumbria Choice website will have information for people
who need to contact or talk to a partner in language other than
English and there is a translation option for the on-line form and
accompanying information.
This is considered to be a low risk because if a person’s command of
English is particularly poor they are likely to have access to someone
with interpretation skills.

Page 352

The new Policy has been designed to be more ‘straightforward’
and easier to understand reducing the potential impact on applicants
who do not have English as their first language. As is currently the
case, Officers can provide advice and assistance for people who may
have difficulty understanding the policy

Religion / belief
Is there an impact
of the Policy or the
Policy changes on
applicants with a
religion or belief?

Neutral

It can be difficult to distinguish what are factors to do with a person’s
religion as opposed to their ethnic or cultural origins. At present there
is only generalised information for the Housing Register.

There will be
more effort
on collecting
more
accurate
information in
order to be
able to asses
any impact as
the policy and

the EQIA is
reviewed
Sexual
orientation
Is there an impact
of the policy
changes on
applicants re their
sexual orientation?

Neutral

The revised policy provides band A priority for applicants who have
been subject to extreme harassment. Nationally, statistically many
people report higher levels of harassment due to their sexual
orientation.

Page 353

More effort
will be made
on collecting
the
information in
order to be
able to asses
any impact as
the policy and
the EQIA is
reviewed

Sex
Is their any
Negative
potential gender
bias in the changes
proposed?

Females make up the majority of the housing register. This is
because women are likely to be the main carers and are more likely
as a result to come under one of the reasonable preference
categories for a statutory housing need. This is likely to continue.
A large proportion of the register is made up of ‘female headed’
households. The changes will not impact on the proportions of
female headed households owed a statutory housing need

No additional
comments

Married, civil partners and co-habiting couples, same sex couples,
brothers and sisters who wish to live together, can make
applications.

General
comments
impact
safeguards

on
and

Overall the changes proposed will have a positive impact for many of
the protected groups identified under the Equality Act. Where there
could be a negative impact the policy changes have been carefully
constructed to keep any negative impact on any group to a minimum.

Page 354

Although it can always be argued that any change that positively
impacts on the chances of social housing for one or more protected
groups may have a negative impact on another protected group any
impact is not considered to be substantial.
There is a further protection in that all applicants have a statutory
right to seek a review of their housing application if they are
dissatisfied with the Council’s decision regarding how they have
been assessed and the band they have been awarded.
The policy has been amended to provide all applicants with the
opportunity to submit reasons why they believe their case should be
considered for exceptional circumstances and where requested this
will now be considered under the statutory review process ensuring
senior officer scrutiny of their request and improved consistency in
decision making.
Part B
All Groups/Several
Consideration of Groups
the changes in

the context of
their impact on all
or several of the
protected groups

Page 355

The impact of
moving to a simple
3-band system with
the time a person
joined the register
determining their
place in the queue
for the band they
have been
allocated
The policy makes
changes to the
local connection
rules impacting on
whether an
applicant may be
awarded a priority
band A or B.

Neutral

This aim of this simple change is to build trust in the system as it will
become more of a ‘waiting list’ queuing system recognised by
everyone using it as a fair way to allocate a limited resource where
there is often over demand for certain property types or areas.
This is assessed as having a neutral impact, as the 2 high need
bands A and B are retained and applicants with a protected
characteristic dominate these bands.

Negative
To qualify for the higher priority bands A or B an applicant must have
a local connection with Cumbria. This is defined under the new policy
as:
a) Living in Cumbria for the last year, or for 3 years in the last 5
b) Having close family living in Cumbria
c) Be working in Cumbria as long as this isn’t casual work.

The scheme
will analyse
the equality
profile of
households
who will
potentially be
affected by
the proposed
changes to
local
connection
rules

Statutory guidance from the Government’s MHCLG Department
strongly encourages all local authorities to adopt a minimum 2 - year
residency test as part of their qualification criteria.

Page 356

In accordance with Government Guidance there is the intention to
embrace the idea of giving greater priority to applicants in housing
need with a local connection to Cumbria based on residency,
employment, or close family. However, the changes have sought to
strike the right balance between the potential disadvantages for
some groups of a residency requirement set against the policy aims
of adopting a residency requirement, which is to prioritise applicants
who can demonstrate a positive commitment to Cumbria through
being settled in the area.
The compromise chosen therefore is a 1 year residency rule to
qualify for the higher priority bands A or B instead of 2 or 3 years
residency rule to qualify for the register at all, which is the norm for
the vast majority of local authorities (based on the data for local
authority statistical returns to MHCLG 18/19).
A key safeguard is that the policy will still allow applicants unable to
meet a 1 year residency period to qualify for the register (unlike most
local authority schemes) and they will be placed into Band C. This
means they may still be successful in bidding for properties that are
in less popular areas
Local connection rules including length of residency were
overwhelmingly supported in the consultation feedback.
Adopting a residency rule is considered as particularly necessary
given that the rental market in some parts of Cumbria is an affordable

option for those seeking to rent privately in the region. It means that
without a rule any applicant can apply for social housing, and their
housing need may attract band A or B priority regardless of the fact
that they may have only just moved into Cumbria. This is important
for local authorities that have limited access to social housing in
areas of high demand and seeks to prioritise limited social housing
resources for applicants who have an established connection to the
area.
The partnership is mindful of any potential impact of introducing local
connection rules on applicants who are classified as a protected
group under the Equality Act.

Page 357

We are satisfied that the 1 year residency rule, employment and
close family connection rules, are a proportionate means of achieving
a legitimate aim which is to prioritise people with a local connection
without preventing any access to housing for those in housing need
without a local connection.
The Council is satisfied that it has brought in changes that achieve
an appropriate balance and namely that any indirect discrimination of
the local connection rules on applicants from a protected group will
be minimised through the actions set out below and that any impact
is proportionate.
The new policy has been careful to build in safeguards and
exemptions to the local connection rules and the residency rule in
particular. The safeguards include the ability for an applicant to retain
their local connection where they have left the area due to:
1) Being in hospital, or

2) Having to move out of the area for care, or
3) Being accommodated in supported accommodation outside the
district, or
4) Having been placed into temporary accommodation outside of
their ‘home’ district Cumbrian Council, or
5) Applicants who are leaving an institution such as a prison or
secure unit or a hospital, rehabilitation centre, refuge, hostel or
supported accommodation scheme and were resident for 1 year or 3
out of the previous 5 years immediately before they moved into their
current accommodation.

Page 358

Exemptions from the local connection rules for exceptional
circumstances will also be considered for:
1) Any application from a Gypsy or Traveller household that does
not meet the continuous period of residence rule, as the period
may have been broken by periods of travelling.
2) Care leavers below the age of 21 years who are owed a duty
under Section 23C of the Children Act 1989 by any local authority
Children Services Department and have been accommodated
within Cumbria for a continuous period of at least two years
3) Reasons of safety; i.e. when an applicant is fleeing domestic
abuse or hate crime from another area, or
a) Is on a witness protection program, or
b) Where by not moving to the area this would be detrimental to
their wellbeing or cause significant hardship.

Going forward there is a commitment to monitor and analyse the
equality profile of households who will potentially be affected by the
local connection rules and in particular the 1 year residency rule.
A residency requirement of 1 year will impact to some extent on,
refugees and non-UK nationals, Irish Travellers (though safeguards
have been built in for travellers). The Council has sought to strike
the right balance between disadvantage to some groups of a
residency requirement and the policy aims of the residence
requirement, which is to prioritise applicants who can demonstrate a
positive commitment to Cumbria Choice and are settled in the area
as defined by 1years residence, employment or close family
associations.

Page 359

It is likely that for residents who have not resided in Cumbria for more
than a year the rule will impact to some extent on BME residents,
former asylum seekers and Irish travellers who will not be able to
access the higher priority bands A or B until they meet the 1 year
residency criteria, or other local connection rule such as employment.
It should be noted however, that this will not stop them from bidding
with their band C status and they may still be successful in obtaining
an offer of social housing.
It is also the case that levels of ‘inward migration’ into Cumbria is
relatively low compared to other local authority areas of England.
The Statutory Guidance issued by the Government expressly
highlights the need for local authorities to take account of special
circumstances. The changes on residence achieve this, for example,

by protecting people who are moving into the district to escape
violence
Furthermore, it should be noted that all applicants to the housing
register would be equally disadvantaged through the 1-year
residency rule.
To summarise the impact of the residency criteria is not considered
to be substantial and the 6 local authorities have been careful to
reduce the impact through the following actions:

Page 360

1 - The residency criteria is set at 1 year which is the number of
years suggested in the Government’s own guidance. We have been
careful not to adopt a ‘2 or 3 years or more’ residency rule which
would have a greater negative impact.
2 - The proposed allocations policy recommends that exceptions to
the 1-year local connection requirement be made in appropriate
cases, such as applicants who have been subjected to domestic
violence.
3 - By permitting exemptions to avoid hardship, the circumstances of
all applicants can be fully considered and the possibility of an
applicant suffering any disadvantage avoided.
4 - There is an exemption for applicants where there are additional
health, welfare or care/support needs that is reliant on the relative
being within the area
5 - All applicants have a statutory right to seek a review of their
housing application if they are dissatisfied with the decision re the
band they have been awarded. This provides an applicant with the
opportunity to submit reasons why they believe their case should be
considered under the exceptional circumstances part of the policy.

6 - The Policy includes other ways an applicant can obtain the higher
A or B banding for their housing need other than being resident for 1
year. The alternatives are where an applicant is employed in
Cumbria for as little as 16 hours a week, or has close relatives living
in Cumbria.
7- Any disadvantage is only for a relatively short time period until the
applicant can evidence residency for 1 year after which an applicant
will be allocated the band that fully reflects their housing need.

Page 361

The specific
change to include
the ability to qualify
for households who
are employed in
the area

Negative or
neutral and
positive in
the longer
term

One of the policy aims is to reduce inequality and poverty over the
long term by encouraging employment
A key aim of this policy change is to encourage those who work in
Cumbria to be able to work, live and settle in Cumbria. This is
especially relevant where they are unable to afford to rent or buy and
have a housing need.
The criteria has been deliberately set as paid employment for 16
hours or more per week for a period of one year, or self-employment
where an applicant can demonstrate that the self-employed work
they perform is in Cumbria. This recognizes that many women with
childcare challenges may only be able to work part time.
The policy aim is to make a contribution to rebalancing communities
on social housing estates seeking a balance of households that are
dependent on benefits and are economically active.
There will be little impact on other households who don't work and
live in Cumbria Choice and have a protected characteristic, as most

The scheme
will analyse
the equality
profile of
households
who will
potentially be
affected by
the proposed
changes to
local
connection
rules for
employment

of these applicants will qualify for a priority band under the 1-year
residency rule.
Unlike many other local authorities we have been careful not to build
into the shortlisting rules work as a determining factor for prioritising
applicants, as this could have a disproportionate impact on
applicant’s who are not able to work and come under the definition of
one or more of the protected characteristics.

Page 362

The specific
change to include
under the local
connection rules
family (normally
mother, father,
brother, sister, son
or daughter) that
have lived in the
area for a minimum
of the past five
years.
What is the
assessed impact of
the revised income,
savings/assets
thresholds on
applicants with a

Neutral or
positive

Many of the mitigating actions and considerations set out in the
section on the residency rule above apply equally here
This rule allows an applicant who is not resident or employed in
Cumbria Choice to qualify under the local connection rules if they
have close family living in Cumbria.
This rule is likely to be positive for those applicants from a relevant
protected group who live outside of Cumbria but have close family
living in Cumbria and would be unable to qualify for another reason

Neutral or
negative

There were income and savings qualification thresholds under the
previous Policy. These have been revised and are:
Applicants who are considered to have sufficient financial resources
to buy suitable accommodation in Cumbria will not qualify for Bands
A or B but can qualify for Band C. ‘Sufficient financial resources’ are

The Council
will monitor
the number of
applications
rejected for
an award of

protected
characteristic under
the Equality Act?

defined as sufficient capital to buy or rent privately; or sufficient
income to raise a mortgage to buy or rent privately; or a combination
of both. The income and savings limits are:
Applicants (both single persons and couples) who have total savings,
investments and/or assets of £25,000 or more.
Applicants whose total gross household income from all sources
exceeds an annual income of £45,000 or more (for single persons)
or joint income of £60,000 or more (for couples).

Page 363

Those applicants with savings or income above the thresholds will be
able to join the register and will be placed in band C and will also be
advised on homeownership options and market and intermediate rent
options.
Although some applicants from a protected group will be impacted by
this policy many other protected group applicants are on low incomes
or have no savings and will benefit, because there will be fewer
applicants on the register in bands A or B competing for housing.
The Council is satisfied that:
The new policy contains a wide range of exemptions to the
Income and savings thresholds compared to the previous policy and
that these exemptions are targeted at applicants likely to be from a
protected group based on age or disability.
Furthermore, any negative impact on protected groups is reduced by
the fact that they will have the income level or savings to obtain an

the higher
bands A or B
due to high
income levels
or savings

alternative housing solution and by the fact that there is a process in
the policy to consider exceptional circumstances.
A key safeguard is that the policy will still allow applicants whose
income or savings are above the thresholds to still qualify for the
register (unlike most local authority schemes) and they will be placed
into Band C. This means they may still be successful in bidding for
properties that are in less popular areas

Page 364

All groups
We will continue to Positive
operate an open
register in Cumbria.
Everyone will still
be able to register
regardless of
whether they meet
the definition for a
statutory housing
need (unless there
is evidence of
serious
unacceptable
behaviour or
significant former
rent arrears). How
might this impact

Although not a change to the policy the continuation of an open
register will not impact on the objective that social housing should
continue to be prioritized for those applicants assessed as being in
the greatest housing need (bands A and B) and that these
households are overrepresented by applicants who meet the
protected groups criteria.
However, many applicants without an assessed statutory housing
need still meet the protected groups criteria. The continuation of an
open register is therefore likely to benefit these applicants because
they may be successful in bidding for lower demand properties.

on the protected
groups?

The new Policy
includes the ability
to apply local
lettings policies

Page 365

Neutral at
this stage.
Each local
lettings
policy will
need to
consider
any
equalities
impacts
before
being
adopted.

Although this isn’t a change to the new policy as local letting policies
were always allowable under the current policy, the new policy sets
out a clear framework for how these polices will be agreed and
requires an evidence base and a strict timetable for reviewing the
impact. The equalities impact of local lettings policies had not been
assessed fully under the current policy. There will now be a clear
equalities consideration as part of the process for agreeing any LLP
policy and a clear equalities monitoring on the impact of any policy.
Local lettings policies have the potential to have an impact on the
housing prospects of a number of disadvantaged groups. Such a
policy restricts allocations within a small geographical area in order
to achieve certain policy and good management outcomes. An
example might be lower child densities in certain block or road, or to
restrict the number of vulnerable people allocated accommodation in
a block where there are already a number of people housed with
complex needs and there is evidence that the number is causing
housing management issues for a landlord and impacting on other
residents.
The Allocations Policy is framed to allow for individual lettings plans
to be developed and approved on a case-by-case basis. Each local
letting plan will have to have an evidence base and be approved
through a clear transparent process. Any equalities impact must be

We will fully
consider the
equalities
impact of any
local letting
policy in
deciding
whether to
approve any
LLP and will
then monitor
the on-going
impact

Page 366

Applicants with
former/current rent
arrears or serious
unacceptable
behaviour who are
assessed as being
in housing need will
be assessed as
either non
qualifying or
allowed to qualify
but not allowed to
bid until the issue
has been resolved.

The
changes
will have
positive
implications

considered as part of the assessment process when deciding
whether on not to approve a local lettings plan.
Applicants with former/current rent arrears or serious unacceptable
behaviour that are in housing need will be assessed as either non
qualifying or allowed to qualify but not allowed to bid until the issue
has been resolved.

The number
of
households
impacted by
policy will be
This isn’t a change to the Policy but a clarification of how these rules carefully
will be applied. Under the previous policy section an applicant could monitored
be disqualified for former rent arrears or unacceptable serious
behaviour. The previous policy lacked clarity resulting in some
applicants being ‘stuck’ and unable to access social housing due to
previous rent arrears or behaviour but a lack of clarity for how the
policy would be applied and what an applicant needed to do to resolve
a problem led to inconsistency in the application of the policy. Many
applicants where the policy was applied would be in a protected group.
Changes have been made that will benefit these applicants. These
are:
a) Much clearer criteria for when an applicant will or will not qualify
b) Exemptions and exceptional circumstances consideration built into
the Policy.
c) Agreement with the Registered Provider housing associations on
the approach to take regarding when an applicant should be
considered for an offer accommodation in respect of what
‘resolving their arrears or unacceptable behaviour means. This will
mean fewer applicants are ‘stuck’ with no solution.

d) Where applicants qualify but are unable to bid until the matter has
been resolved they will be allocated the correct band for their
housing need and will continue to accrue ‘time in band’ priority
which will be an advantage to them when they have resolved the
issue.

Page 367

Although the housing related debt and unacceptable behaviour rules
will impact negatively on some applicants from a protected group we
are satisfied that:
 The rules are a proportionate means of achieving a legitimate aim
which is to ensure that new tenants pay the rent and resolve
previous housing debt owed to a social landlord, or resolve
unacceptable behaviour, and
 The changes that achieve an appropriate balance with
safeguards and exemptions so that any indirect discrimination on
applicants from a protected group has been minimised through
the safeguards introduced in the new Policy and are
proportionate.

Making direct lets
/sensitive lettings
outside of the CBL
system in certain
circumstances

Positive for
the
protected
groups of
sex,
disability

The revised Policy allows more flexibility in certain circumstances to
make the best use of the housing stock. The vast majority of general
needs properties will continue to be allocated via choice based
lettings but there will be times when a housing association or Council
needs to directly match a property to an applicant.

A target
figure of no
more than
15% has
been set to
ensure that
the integrity

and sexual
orientation
Neutral for
the other
groups

Page 368

If an applicant in
the high need
Bands A or B
refuses 3
reasonable offers
in that 12 months
they will be
‘downgraded’ to
Band C for 12
months

Negative

The policy lists the circumstances when a direct letting may be
applied and includes MAPPA, MARAC or other sensitive lets or
where there is a need to move due to extreme risk of domestic
violence or harassment or witness protection.
Where direct lets are made in sensitive circumstances this is often
where an applicant may be a victim of domestic abuse or is being
harassed or has complex needs. A direct sensitive let will allow the
best match to be made depending on the circumstances and needs
of a particular applicant. This is an advantage to a number of
protected groups for disability, sex (women are more likely to be
victims of domestic abuse)

of the CBL
system is
retained. The
percentage of
direct lets will
be carefully
monitored

For the other protected groups making direct lets outside of the policy
band and date order will have a minimal negative impact as these will
only be made in limited circumstances
Applicants in Bands A or B who refuse 3 offers following a successful
Regular
bid or direct allocation will be downgraded to Band C for a period of 12 analysis of
months.
the number
and needs of
applicants
We will implement clear operational procedures for the assessing
downgraded
officers to take into account people with mental health or support
needs where their condition may impact on their behaviour and their to Band C
because they
ability to keep appointments in the normal way. Officers will look at
refused 3
the individual circumstances for all applicants before applying the
reasonable
rule.
offers will be
An additional safeguard is that the new Policy clearly defines what a needed to
reasonable offer is. This will ensure consistency in the application of ensure that
the refusal policy.
specific

The view is that allowing an applicant to refuse 3 reasonable offers
before being downgraded to Band C is a reasonable compromise
between allowing choice and managing re-letting times for the
partners. It is not expected that many applicants will have the rule
applied, as having the rule in place will focus applicants on seriously
considering any property they bid for.
It is also likely to be positive in that some applicants in a high band
who are in a protected group refuse offers of accommodation waiting
for what they perceive to be the ‘perfect’ offer. This leaves them in
unsuitable housing for a longer period of time. This policy will help
tackle this problem

Page 369

Where an applicant is owed a homeless duty 1 suitable offer will end
the homeless duty (this is required by the homelessness legislation)
but they would still be able to receive 2 more offers if their housing
need means they would still qualify for a Band A or B.
Even if they have no other statutory housing need they would still
qualify for the Housing Options Band C and be able to access lower
demand properties and be entitled to 2 more offers in a 12 month
period.
Removal of
‘cumulative
housing need’ rule
from the scheme to
make the scheme
more transparent

Neutral or
negative

The change is to remove the ‘cumulative housing need’ rule from the
scheme to make the scheme more transparent for customers and
easier to understand and to administer. Under the current policy
customers who have two or more of the housing needs as listed in
Band C are ‘promoted’ into Band B and meeting 2 band B criteria
would be promoted to band A. This is called the cumulative need rule.

groups are
not being
adversely
affected

for customers and
easier to
understand and to
administer

There may be some impact on applicants who meet the protected
group criteria and have more than one assessed housing need.
Under the new policy an applicant who meets 2 of the housing need
criteria for band B will still only be awarded band B and not promoted
to Band A. The old policy of cumulative need has been extremely
hard for officers to assess resulting in inconsistency in applying the
rule and applicants constantly requesting that their circumstances
reassessed in the hope of qualifying for the higher band.

Page 370
Applicants who
have a local
connection with the
Cumbrian local
authority where a
vacant property is
advertised will be
given priority in any
shortlist
The impact of the
expanded criteria

Neutral

Positive

There is mitigation built into the decision to remove the cumulative
need rule in that band A criteria has been clarified to include
applicants with an exceptional or urgent housing need therefore
reducing the need for a cumulative need rule.
There is also a positive impact in that applicants in the current band
C are less likely to have a protected characteristic. By being able to
meet 2 band C criteria they would be placed on an equal footing with
applicants with a band B need and band B contains more applicants
that have a protected characteristic.
This is not a direct change to the policy but an amendment to provide
greater clarity.
For any shortlist an applicant that has a local connection with the
Cumbrian local authority where a vacant property is advertised will be
given priority over applicants who bid without that local connection. This
could impact on victims of domestic abuse but the policy has
safeguards built in so that any DA cases where it is agreed that they
need to move as they cannot stay in their local authority district due to
risk, will be treated equally on any shortlist.
The criteria for when a customer will qualify for the Housing Need
Bands A and B will be expanded and made far clearer. This will make

for when a
customer will
qualify for the
statutory housing
need bands A and
B and have set out
clearer criteria for
when a band will
be awarded to
ensure
assessments are
always consistently
applied

it easier for applicants and their representatives to understand if they
qualify, and far easier for officers assessing their case to made
consistent and timely decisions regarding whether a customer
qualifies for a high needs the Band A or B.
This decision has a positive impact in that the criteria for being
granted a band A or B award has been expanded for medical,
disability, hardship, risk and move on meaning that more applicants
from a protected group will qualify for a higher band award.

Page 371

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 372

Item No.16
South Lakeland District Council
Cabinet
Wednesday, 24 June 2020

Commissioning Strategy 2020
Portfolio:
Report from:
Report Author:
Wards:
Forward Plan:

Councillor Andrew Jarvis - Finance and Resources Portfolio Holder
David Sykes - Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources
Paul Mountford - Performance, Innovation and Commissioning Specialist

All Wards
Included in the Forward Plan as published on Tuesday, 26 May 2020

1.0

Expected Outcome

1.1

A strategic and integrated approach to how we best turn the Council’s priorities into
actions for the benefit of the people and communities of South Lakeland to deliver:


improved outcomes for local people,



improved engagement of local communities and providers, and



improved satisfaction with services.

2.0

Recommendation

2.1

It is recommended that Cabinet:
(1)

Approve the Commissioning Strategy 2020 for consultation as part of
the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework as outlined in paragraph 4.4
of the report.

3.0

Background and Proposals

3.1

Commissioning is the whole cycle of how our services, programmes, projects and
partnerships are planned, designed, developed, delivered managed, evaluated and
terminated.

3.2

Our Commissioning Strategy, as detailed in Appendix 1, seeks to turn the Council
Plan into action. By doing so we will:


best meet the needs and priorities for South Lakeland,



inform and reflect policy direction,



guide the choice of service or delivery models and the market to meet those
needs; and set out how customer and/ or community preferences can influence
our choices to meet those needs; and



ensure that services and programmes are delivered in the most cost effective
way, having regard to social value, economic and environmental value and
continually evaluate the impact and outcomes.

3.3

Our Commissioning Strategy sets out our commitment to improving outcomes for
local people through effective integrated commissioning.

3.4

The council is increasingly using commissioning to modernise and dynamically drive
improvements in its services, recognising its strategic role in improving customer
satisfaction and the value for money we provide to local people.

Page 373

3.5

Developments at national level support the need for an increased shift towards a
commissioning based approach to the delivery of council services.

3.6

The purpose of our Commissioning Strategy is to:


support a shift in thinking about how services and programmes provided to
residents of South Lakeland will be designed and delivered in the future,



set out our commitment to improving outcomes for local people through
integrated activity and more effective commissioning practices,



introduce a set of corporate criteria for commissioning to help guide how the
services and programmes provided to residents of South Lakeland are designed
and provided supporting improvement in customer satisfaction and the delivery of
our budget; and



set out the operational basis on which our approach to commissioning will be
achieved including the creation and delivery of a strategic commissioning
programme.

3.7

Commissioning is defined as “the cycle of assessing the needs of people in an area,
designing and then securing appropriate service.”

3.8

Our Commissioning Strategy will deliver real benefits:


joined-up service delivery planning and decision making,



innovation in service design and delivery,



savings through targeted need and avoidance of duplication and/ or over-lap,



savings through new service delivery methods,



savings through decommissioning; and



enhanced capability for actively managing emerging agendas.

3.9

Our Commissioning Strategy will ensure a co-ordinated approach within the
organisation, which will respond to the will and ambition set out in the Council Plan.

3.10

Our Commissioning Strategy is designed to ensure compliance with existing
legislation, predominantly the EU Procurement Directives, and reflects all related
legislation and national policy drivers including the Social Value Act, Localism Act,
advances in Equalities legislation, National Procurement Strategy, Transformational
Government Agenda, the ‘Roots’ Review and the Sustainable Task Force’s Report
‘Procuring the Future’.

3.11

The Commissioning Strategy is complementary to the Council’s existing Sustainable
Procurement and Commissioning Strategy, approved as part of the Council’s Policy
Framework in 2016 and updated in February 2019. The existing strategy primary
focus is procurement, being the process of acquiring goods, works and services. At
the time of approving the update in February 2019, it was acknowledged that the
strategy would need review to ensure it meets the Council’s needs in the future under
the Customer Connect model.

3.12

It is proposed that our Commissioning Strategy takes precedence over the Council’s
Sustainable Procurement and Commissioning Strategy in so far as it refers to
commissioning. Officers of the Council will provide a further report on the updating of
the Councils Procurement Strategy.

Page 374

3.13

Our Sustainable Procurement and Commissioning Strategy introduces the concept of
commissioning as “securing services that address the needs and wishes of the
service user as determined through research and planning.”

3.14

Commissioning is rooted in challenge and change and involves a process which
involves evaluating need, looking at new ways of working and being open to how and
in what way a service is delivered. While commissioning may involve the use of an
external supplier, commissioning involves an approach open to the consideration of
change.

3.15

Our Commissioning Strategy sets the framework for how we use the total resources
available to the Council in order to improve outcomes for South Lakeland residents in
the most efficient, effective, equitable and sustainable way.

3.16

Procurement considerations and activity form specific stages of the commissioning
cycle and represent part of the strategic and integrated approach to how we best turn
the Council’s priorities into actions for the benefit of the people and communities of
South Lakeland.

3.17

Our Commissioning Strategy involves a range of activities, currently reflected in part
through the work of Overview and Scrutiny Task and Finish Groups, which help to
identify the needs and priorities for our area, develop policy direction and service
models to meet those needs of which the commissioning cycle involves a broader
discussion between needs assessment, resources, delivery and evaluation.

3.18

Our Commissioning Strategy would ensure that robust performance management
arrangements are in place. This will enable us to monitor expectations of outcomes
from commissioning and allow us to monitor the environmental and social value
relative to resources invested to evaluate impact, identify ways to improve
performance, and enhance the performance of existing activities.

3.19

In approving our Commissioning Strategy it is proposed that the Council’s Monitoring
Officer make the required amendments to the Council’s Constitution as outlined in
Appendix 2. The amendments are to Part 3 - Responsibility of Functions section 2,
section 6 and Part 2, Article 13 paragraph 13.03(b) Key decisions.

3.20

The Commissioning Strategy is now presented, providing the strategic approach to
turning the Council Plan into activity which best meet the needs and priorities for
South Lakeland. It will be supported by the existing [procurement] strategy’s focus on
process of procurement.

4.0

Consultation

4.1

In October 2017 Council approved the implementation of a new Future Operating
Model (FOM) based on detailed service by service activity analysis, refined maturity
assessment, cost analysis and a technology assessment.

4.2

The model sets out how the Council will deliver services to customers and how the
customer will interact with the Council. Based on local choice, the organisational then
developed through detailed design based on agreed design principles, local
constraints and corporate ambition.

4.3

To ensure there are effective systems to manage, optimise and monitor delivery of
commissioned activity both strategic and service level performance monitoring and
management will be coordinated, ensuring remedial action is taken where
appropriate and a co-ordinated reporting of performance to the Executive and
Management Team.

Page 375

4.4

All processes set out in our Commissioning Strategy will follow the Council’s
Constitution Rules of Procedure Part 4 - Budget and Policy Framework Procedure
Rules. The Strategy is part of the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework. As such
Cabinet are being requested to approve the strategy for consultation and the strategy
will proceed to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Cabinet and Council in July
2020.

5.0

Alternative Options

5.1

Our Council’s Commissioning Strategy is a critical element of our transformation and
supports the delivery of the Council Plan priorities and outcomes.

6.0

Links to Council Priorities

6.1

Seeking continuous improvement in what we do, ensuring that our actions address
the needs of South Lakeland.

6.2

Elected members play a crucial role in our Commissioning Strategy:

7.0



working with officers to set out the strategies and frameworks to work within,



participate in the commissioning process to ensure priorities are appropriately
reflected, and



scrutinise decision-making to ensure the process and its outcomes are
meeting strategic policy goals.

Implications

Financial, Resources and Procurement
7.1.1

The Local Government Act 1999 s3(2), which was later reinforced by the Best Value
Statutory Guidance 2011, placed a duty on all Local Authorities to secure Best Value,
with strategy and good commissioning and procurement skills widely recognised as
essential to delivering value for money.

7.1.2

Our Commissioning Strategy should be read in conjunction with the Council’s
Constitution Rules of Procedure Section 4 which details the contract procedure rules
to be followed.

7.1.3

Additionally, the Council’s procurement Toolkit provides guidance and templates
which are available to support staff in meeting their procurement responsibilities.

Human Resources
7.2.1

An integrated commissioning based approach will inform the delivery of strategies,
planned services, actions and projects, including whether and how activities are
internally or externally commissioned.

Page 376

Legal
7.3.1

With all decision making and particularly those related to changes to service
commissioning, decommissioning or recommissioning there are requirements to
carry out public consultation. Legal Governance and Democracy Specialists will
provide advice on the requirements for meaningful consultation on any future
commissioning proposals. Legal Governance and Democracy Specialists will also
advise Services on the appropriate decision making route for any proposals.

7.3.2

Legal provide advice on the procurement process and on entering into contracts,
variations to contracts and renegotiations with suppliers/ providers in accordance
with the Contract Procedure Rules in the Constitution and with legislation.

7.3.3

The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 calls for all public sector commissioning
to factor in economic, social and environmental well-being in connection with public
service contracts. The Procurement Policy Note 10/12 provides further advice for
commissioners and procurers. This Commissioning Strategy seeks to align our
approach with existing Legislation including the Localism Act and our Public Sector
Equality Duties under the Equality Act 2000.

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental
7.4

Have you completed a Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact
Assessment? No

7.5

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact Assessments form part of the
overall strategic commissioning cycle.

7.6

We will, at all stages, ensure our commissioning framework follows professional
standards and legal requirements.

Equality and Diversity
7.7

Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No

7.8

Equality Impact Analysis form part of the overall strategic commissioning cycle.

7.9

We will, at all stages, ensure our commissioning framework follows professional
standards and legal requirements.

Risk
Risk

Consequence

Controls required

Service delivery is fragmented.

Service areas use differing
sets of criteria.

The importance of a
common language.

Lack of consideration of options
for delivery.

Basic commissioning
principles are not in place.

Proportionate
commissioning approach
to everything we do including projects and
partnership work.

Scoped out needs are not
explicit, explained and justified.

Exceptions lead to
criticism of strategy.

The need to be clear that
the approach is about
critically examining
existing activity as well as
new areas and that our
commissioning model is
not about outsourcing.

Page 377

Contact Officers
Paul Mountford, Performance, Innovation and Commissioning Specialist p.mountford@southlakeland.gov.uk
Appendices Attached to this Report
Appendix No.

Name of Appendix

1

Commissioning Strategy 2020

2

Constitutional Amendment requirements arising from the Commissioning
Strategy 2020

Background Documents Available
Name of Background document

Where it is available

Sustainable Procurement and
Commissioning Strategy 2016 to 2019

Sustainable Procurement and
Commissioning Strategy (2019 update)

Future Operating Model (FOM) (October
2017)

SLDC Future Operating Model - Business
Case (October 2017)

South Lakeland District Council Constitution
(November 2019)

SLDC Constitution (November 2019)

Tracking Information
Signed off by
Legal Services
Section 151 Officer
Monitoring Officer
CMT

Date sent
15 May 2020
15 May 2020
15 May 2020
4 June 2020

Circulated to
Lead Specialist
Human Resources Lead Specialist
Communications Team
Leader
Committee Chairman
Portfolio Holder
Ward Councillor(s)
Committee
Executive (Cabinet)
Council

Date sent
15 May 2020
15 May 2020
15 May 2020
29 May 2020
29 May 2020
29 May 2020
Not Applicable
Not Applicable
24 June 2020
Not Applicable

Page 378

Date Signed off
26 May 2020
4 June 2020
8 June 2020
4 June 2020

DRAFT
South Lakeland District Council

Appendix 1

Commissioning Strategy 2020

We are committed to a strategic and integrated approach to how we best turn
the council’s priorities into actions for the beneﬁt of the people and
communities of South Lakeland. We call this commissioning.

Purpose
Commissioning is the whole cycle of how our services are planned,
designed, developed, delivered and managed.
Our Commissioning Strategy seeks to turn the Council Plan into
action. By doing so we will:
•

Best meet the needs and priorities for South Lakeland,

•

Inform and reflect policy direction,

•

Guide the choice of service or delivery models and set out how customer and/ or
community preferences can influence our choices to meet those needs,

•

Ensures that services and programmes are delivered in the most cost effective
way, having regard for social value, and continually evaluate the impact and
outcomes.

Enabled by
The development and planning of resources and approaches through the following
strategies:
Council Plaommissioning strategy

Medium term
financial plan

Customer
strategy

Approach
The commissioning cycle
Analyse - Understanding need and priorities
Engage with local communities, providers and the Voluntary
Sector and consider all available evidence (performance
data, customer feedback, Value for Money profiles etc.) in
order to understand local needs and priorities.
Plan - Catering for need - What do we need to do?
Determine the required outcomes and consider options for
delivery.
Do - Meeting need - How will we do it?
Secure the best delivery models to achieve the required
outcomes within affordability constraints through options
such as procuring new solutions, amendments to contracts,
grants, service redesign and renegotiation or resource
reallocation.
Review - Have we met need? How do we know we
have achieved it?
Review contracts and delivery through performance
management activities to ensure that outcomes are being
achieved, needs are met and resources and outcomes are
sustainable.

People
strategy

Managed through
To help us monitor the outcomes and achievements from our commissioned services
and projects we will have a robust performance management framework in place.
We will, at all stages, ensure our commissioning approach follows professional
standards and legal requirements.

Performance Management
Framework and Risk

Governance

Beneﬁts for the council’s delivery
Centred on people - shared information on service
experience

Collaborative - develop relationships based on trust
Innovative - social return on investments
Sustainable - socially, environmentally and financially
Aﬀordable - economic and efficient services
Better evidenced - single view of the customer
Challenging - transparent about cost and performance
Continuous and planned - constantly evaluate and
measure

Re-commission/Decommission - invest in what we
know is successful

Aligned activity - smarter and flexible to capitalise on
opportunities

Provider neutral - focus on local need
Page 1 of 2

Page 379

June 2020

DRAFT
South Lakeland District Council

Commissioning Strategy 2020

How we will commission

How our commissioning strategy ﬁts in

Our strategic approach will enable the Council Plan priorities to
be achieved through an integrated approach to commissioning
across the council.

Council Plan
Commissioning strategy
Medium term
financial plan

Customer
strategy

Outcomes - actual need
Culture - service offering
Activity - aligned to our priorities
Engagement - service users and
providers

Jointly - consider the benefits
Experience - single service delivery
Quality - efficiency and value

People
strategy

Innovative - individual and
community needs

Support - tap into specialist
knowledge

Evaluation - effectively meet needs
Understanding - in-house
provision

Value - return from investment

The framework diagram below illustrates how we take practical steps to prioritising existing and proposed activities in response to drivers for
action, scale of commissioning activity and apply appropriate process:

Page 2 of 2

Page 380

June 2020

Appendix 2

Constitutional Amendment requirements arising from the Commissioning Strategy 2020
Current Constitutional wording

Proposed Constitutional amendment and
wording

Part 3 Responsibility for Functions
3. Scheme of Delegation to Officers B General
2. To the Chief Executive and Directors

Part 3 Responsibility for Functions
3. Scheme of Delegation to Officers B General
2. To the Chief Executive and Directors

2.1. To take all steps necessary to deliver the
services for which they are responsible, subject
to the incurring of expenditure up to a
maximum of £50,000 on any one item
identifiable within a specific budgetary
provision or, to the extent that the Budget itself
is not sufficiently specific , within the detailed
estimates prepared for the purposes of the
Budget

2.1. To take all steps necessary to deliver the
services for which they are responsible, subject
to the incurring of expenditure up to a
maximum of £50,000 on any one item
identifiable within a specific budgetary
provision or, to the extent that the Budget itself
is not sufficiently specific , within the detailed
estimates prepared for the purposes of the
Budget. In the case of Operational
Commissioning decisions to make decisions on
all matters up to a value of £60,000.
2.2. In consultation with the relevant Portfolio
Holder to make decisions on Service
Commissioning decisions on all matters
between the costs range of £60,000 to
£100,000.

6. To each lead Specialist or Operational Lead

6. To each lead Specialist or Operational Lead

6.1. Authority to exercise any power delegated
to his/ her Director in this Section of Part 3
thereof that relates to his/her area of
responsibility.

6.1. Authority to exercise any power delegated
to his/ her Director in this Section of Part 3
thereof that relates to his/her area of
responsibility.
6.2. In the case of Local and Operational
Commissioning decisions to make decisions on
all matters up to a value of £10,000 that relates
to his/her area of responsibility.

Part 2 Article 13 - Decision Making
13.03 Types of decision
(b) Key decisions.
A key decision means an executive decision
which, in relation to an executive function, has
a significant effect on communities in two or
more Wards of the Council and/or is likely to
result in the Authority incurring expenditure or
making savings above £100,000.

All Strategic commissioning decisions will be
treated as Key decisions and the requirements
of Executive Key decision making will be
followed and the decision will be made by the
Cabinet.

Page 381

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 382

Item No.17
South Lakeland District Council
Cabinet

Wednesday 24 June 2020
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000
Annual Review
Portfolio:

Councillor Eric Morrell, Customer and Commercial Service and People
Portfolio Holder

Report from:

David Sykes, Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources

Report Author:

Linda Fisher, Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead Specialist
(Monitoring Officer)

Wards:

N/A

Forward Plan:

Not applicable

1.0

Expected Outcome

1.1

That the operation of the Council’s surveillance policies and practices under the
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (“RIPA”) are reviewed.

2.0

Recommendation
It is recommended that Cabinet:
(1)

Considers and notes the review of the operation of the Council’s policies
and procedures as regards RIPA for the year 2019/20

(2)

Endorses the constitutional amendment to list David Sykes as Senior
Information Risk Officer.

(3)

Endorses the updates to job titles resulting from Customer Connect
within the Council Guidance on Surveillance under RIPA.

3.0

Background and Proposals

3.1

Review of RIPA

3.1.1

This report is an annual review of the Council’s operation of RIPA for the period
between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020. During that period there have been no
applications for any authorisation for Directed Surveillance or use of Covert Human
Intelligence Source. At the date of this report there are no live authorisations or
applications for authorisation. There have also been no non RIPA authorisation
requests.

3.1.2

RIPA regulates covert investigations by a number of bodies, including local authorities.
The legislation was introduced to ensure that individuals’ rights are protected while
also ensuring that public authorities have the powers they need to do the job
effectively. The Council is included within the RIPA framework with regard to the
authorisation of both Directed Surveillance and of the use of Covert Human Intelligence
Sources and has adopted a Surveillance Policy.

Page 383

3.1.3

RIPA requires that when the Council undertakes Covert Surveillance for the purposes
of a specific investigation in a manner that is likely to lead to the obtaining of private
information about a person, a specific internal authorisation is required from a
designated council officer. The surveillance contemplated in these circumstances is
defined as Directed Surveillance. RIPA requires that when the Council arranges for a
person to form a relationship with another person for the covert purpose of obtaining
and disclosing information about that other person, a specific internal authorisation is
required from a designated council officer. The surveillance contemplated in these
circumstances is defined as use of a Covert Human Intelligence Source.

3.1.4

Since 1 November 2012 the Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 has additionally required
that authorisations for both Directed Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence
Sources need be approved by the Magistrates’ Court before they take effect. In order
to give such approval, the Magistrates have to be satisfied that:
 There were reasonable grounds for the Authorising Officer approving the
application to believe that the Directed Surveillance or deployment of a Covert
Human Intelligence Source was necessary and proportionate and that there
remain reasonable grounds for believing so; and
 The Authorising Officer was of the correct seniority; and
 The granting of the authorisation was for the prescribed purpose of preventing
or detecting crime.

3.1.5

The Investigatory Powers Act 2016 (‘the Act’), which came into force on 30 December
2016 sets out how communications data can be obtained. Much of the Act is only
relevant to local authorities in a peripheral way. Local authorities are not included in
the Schedule 4 list of relevant public authorities that may obtain communications data
and section 61 specifically excludes local authorities from being able to obtain internet
connection records (ICRs). However, section 73 defines local authorities as a relevant
public authority for the purposes of Part 3 of the Act and section 78 – 79 set out the
circumstances in which local authority authorisation for obtaining communications data
(other than ICRs) can be granted.

3.1.6

In order to obtain communications data, the following tests must be satisfied:
 It must be for the purpose of preventing or detecting crime or of preventing
disorder;
 It must be for the purpose of preventing or detecting crime or of preventing
disorder;
 The local authority must be part of a collaboration agreement that has been
published and has been certified by the Secretary of State;
 The authorisation must be granted by a designated senior officer, which means
a director, head of service, service manager, or equivalent or a higher person;
 It must be granted to an officer of a local authority that is either a ‘supplying’ or
‘subscribing’ authority under the collaboration agreement. (The Council have
not entered into a collaboration agreement.);
 A person who is acting as the single point of contact must be consulted, unless
the circumstances are exceptional, i.e. an imminent threat to life; and
 The conduct authorised must be proportionate to what is sought to be achieved
and judicial approval from a justice of the peace obtained.

3.1.7

The Office of Surveillance Commissioners (OSC) advises that authorities should
provide levels of training appropriate to the needs of users. The Council requires
training should be undertaken once every two years. Relevant officers attended
training in February 2019. The Council’s procedures are available on the intranet and
the Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead Specialist (Monitoring Officer) is

Page 384

available to provide advice to officers on compliance with RIPA. Therefore it is
considered that this frequency of training is appropriate.
3.1.8

The general rules applicable to employee surveillance as espoused by the DPA, the
General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and the employment code will remain the
same. The Council must demonstrate and record its general obligation of data
protection by design and default as detailed under Chapter 4, Section 57 of the Data
Protection Act 2018.

3.1.9

Impact assessments - One of the main recommendations is that employers should
undertake an impact assessment before undertaking surveillance. This is best done in
writing and should, among other things, consider whether the surveillance is necessary
and proportionate.

3.1.10 Chapter 4 of the Data Protection Act 2018 and Article 35 of the GDPR introduces the
concept of a Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) (also known as a Privacy
Impact Assessment) as a tool, which can help data controllers (in this case employers)
identify the most effective way to comply with GDPR obligations. A DPIA is required
when the data processing is ‘likely to result in a high risk to the rights and freedoms of
natural persons’. Employee monitoring is very likely to be considered as high-risk
processing under article 35 requiring a DPIA.
3.1.11 Before doing a DPIA, the data protection officer’s advice, must be sought as well as
the views (if appropriate) of data subjects or their representatives. The views of the
Information Commissioners Office (ICO) may also have to be sought. In all cases the
data controller, in this case the Council, is obliged to retain a record of the DPIA which
may be reviewed by the ICO at a later date in the event of an audit or investigation
arising from the data controller’s use of personal data.
3.1.12 Article 6 - lawfulness - All forms of processing of personal data (including employee
surveillance) have to be lawful by reference to the conditions set out in article 6 of the
GDPR (equivalent to Chapter 2, Section 8 of the Data Protection Act 2018). One of
these conditions is consent. Consent is more difficult under the Data Protection Act
2018 and GDPR. This is especially so for employers conducting employee
surveillance. Part 1, section 2(1)(a) of the Data Protection Act 2018 makes specific
regard to the lawful and fair processing of personal data on the basis of the ‘data
subject’s’ consent or another specified basis.
3.1.13 Article 6 states that the legitimate interests condition shall not apply to processing
carried out by public authorities in the performance of their tasks. Therefore the Council
must consider the applicability of the legal obligation and public interest/official
authority conditions (articles 6(1)(c) and 6(1)(e) respectively) as justification for the
surveillance.
3.2

CCTV Policy

3.2.1

The Closed Circuit Television (CCTV) Policy provides clear guidelines on the Council’s
use of CCTV and to protect the organisation from allegations of misuse of the system
and to protect staff and the public from any abuse of the CCTV system. The CCTV
Policy was reviewed by the Council in 2019 as part of the Surveillance Camera
Commissioner Self-Assessment. The purpose of the Self-Assessment was for the
Council to satisfy itself that it meets the principles of the Surveillance Camera Code of
Practice. A copy of the completed Self-Assessment is at Appendix 1.

3.2.2

In addition to the above, the Council reviewed the CCTV Policy as part of the
Assurance Review of Data Protection Compliance in March 2020. The Council is
satisfied that the current CCTV Policy meets the audit recommendations.

3.2.3

As part of the annual RIPA review, relevant officers have confirmed the CCTV Policy
has been adhered to throughout the period 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020.

Page 385

3.3

Council Constitution

3.3.1

An amendment to the Council’s Constitution is proposed to clarify the authorised
officers. It is proposed that the Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources is
named as the Senior Information Risk Officer rather than the RIPA Monitoring Officer
for to avoid any misunderstanding.

3.4

Council Guidance on Surveillance under RIPA (‘RIPA Guidance’)

3.4.1

Whilst reviewing the RIPA operations of the Council, the Council’s RIPA Guidance has
also been considered and reviewed.

3.4.2

It is noted that minor changes to the RIPA Guidance are required to reflect the changes
to various job titles as a result of the Council’s Customer Connect Programme and
these will be made as a result of the RIPA review.

4.0

Consultation

4.1

Copies of the current guidance and relevant forms for RIPA are all placed on the
Council’s intranet and web site.

4.4

The Portfolio Holder has been consulted and is content with the review set out in this
report.

5.0

Alternative Options

5.1

The review has been undertaken to comply with legislation and the report is presented
for information and note. An alternative option is not presented.

6.0

Links to Council Priorities

6.1

The review links into the Council Plan vision of ‘working together to make South
Lakeland the best place to live, work and explore’.

7.0

Implications

Financial, Resources and Procurement
7.1

There are no financial implications arising from this report.

Human Resources
7.2

There are no human resources implications save for the need to ensure that
appropriate staff and members are given sufficient training in this area of law and
practice.

Legal
7.3

The legal implications are as set out in the report.

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental
7.4

Have you completed a Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact
Assessment? No

7.5

If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: This
report is considered to have a neutral impact on sustainability

Equality and Diversity
7.7

Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No

7.8

If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons:
Obtaining authorisation protects the Council and its officers from complaints of
interference with the rights protected by Article 8(1) of the European Convention of
Human Rights. Provided activities undertaken are reasonable and proportionate they

Page 386

will not be in contravention of Human Rights legislation. The satisfaction of such tests
should ensure no breach of the Equality Act 2010.
Risk
Risk

Consequence

Controls required

Failure to comply with the terms
of the legislation

Criminal enforcement
action by the Council
would be at risk of failure
due to challenges to the
evidence.

Compliance with the
legislation, training and
regular reviews.

Failure to review and update
policies following legislative
changes

Council could fail to meet
legal requirements

Ensure regular review and
compliance with legislation

Contact Officers
Linda Fisher Tel 01539 793370 Email linda.fisher@southlakeland.gov.uk
Appendices Attached to this Report
Appendix 1 – Surveillance Camera Commissioner Self-Assessment
Background Documents Available
Name of Background document

Where it is available

Council Guidance on RIPA

https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/media/1917/guidanc
e-on-surveillance-under-ripa-2000.pdf

Tracking Information
Signed off by
Legal Services
Section 151 Officer
Monitoring Officer
CMT

Date sent
N/A
04/04/2020
N/A
04/06/2020

Circulated to
Director
Human Resources Manager
Communications Team
Leader
Committee Chairman
Portfolio Holder
Ward Councillor(s)
Committee
Executive (Cabinet)
Council

Date sent
04/06/2020
05/06/2020
05/06/2020
N/A
N/A
05/06/2020
N/A
N/A
24/06/2020
N/A

Page 387

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 388

APPENDIX 1

Page 389

Page 390

Page 391

Page 392

Page 393

Page 394

Page 395

Page 396

Page 397

Page 398

Page 399

Page 400

Page 401

Page 402

Page 403

Page 404

